
           

 

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

City Council Work Session
August 8, 2023

6:00 P.M.
City Hall - Council Chambers - 6131 Taylorsville Road - Huber Heights, Ohio

 

           
1. Call Meeting To Order/Roll Call   
 

2. Approval Of Minutes   
 

A. July 18, 2023   
 

B. July 19, 2023   
 

C. July 20, 2023   
 

3. Work Session Topics Of Discussion   
 

A. City Manager Report   
 

B. Board Of Zoning Appeals Update
 

C. Thomas Cloud Park - Shelter #1 - Roof Repair/Replacement - Award Contract
 

D. Thomas Cloud Park - Walking Path
 



E. Pickleball Courts - Contract Amendment
 

F. Case BDP 23-17 - BP-OTP, LLC - Rezoning/Basic Development Plan - 4949
Chambersburg Road

 
G. Case RP 23-18 - City Of Huber Heights - Vacate Thorngate Drive

 
H. Fishburg Road Widening Project - Solicit Bids

 
I. 2024 Sidewalk Program - Resolution Of Necessity

 
J. Mast Arm/Stamped Cross Walk Installation - Brandt Pike/Old Troy Pike

 
K. East Sanitary Sewer Extension Project Design - Contract Modification

 
L. Powell Road Realignment Project Design - Award Contract

 
M. Water Infrastructure Update/Water Main Replacement Project

 
N. Metro Rose, LLC - Development Agreement

 
O. CR Dayton - Lease Amendment - 6061 Brandt Pike

 
P. Title Sponsorship - The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night

 
Q. City Manager Search Process Update

 
4. Adjournment   
 



   
AI-9408     Topics of Discussion      B.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Board Of Zoning Appeals Update
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

N/A

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Board Of Zoning Appeals Update

Purpose and Background
Representatives of the Board Of Zoning Appeals will give an update presentation on the activities and work of the
Board Of Zoning Appeals.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
AI-9360     Topics of Discussion      C.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Thomas Cloud Park - Shelter #1 - Roof Repair/Replacement - Award Contract
Submitted By: Linda Garrett
Department: Public Works Division: Public Works
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Thomas Cloud Park - Shelter #1 - Roof Repair/Replacement - Award Contract

Purpose and Background
The Public Works Division requests authorization to award the bid to Maxim Roofing for roof replacement/repair of
Shelter #1 at Thomas Cloud Park.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: Parks and Recreation Fund
Cost: $39,000
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Quotes 
Resolution 











CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO AWARD A BID FOR SERVICES RELATED TO 
THE REPLACEMENT AND REPAIR OF CITY PROPERTY LOCATED AT THOMAS CLOUD 
PARK AT SHELTER #1 LOCATED AT 4707 BRANDT PIKE FOR THE CITY OF HUBER 
HEIGHTS PARKS AND RECREATION DIVISION. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights recognizes its obligation and need to safely maintain City 
properties and for efficient operations; and 
 
WHEREAS, a competitive bidding process was utilized to obtain a reputable firm to provide the 
services related to the repair and replacement of the roof; and 
 
WHEREAS, pricing for the roof repair and replacement meets the specifications of the Parks and 
Recreation Division and is available through the general contractor company, Maxim Roofing 
Company, 500 West Dayton Drive, Fairborn, Ohio, 45324; and  
 
WHEREAS, the funds for the purchase are available within the Capital Fund for Fiscal Year 2023. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1.        The City Manager is hereby authorized to purchase contractual services related to the 
roof repair and replacement of City property located at Thomas Cloud Park at Shelter #1 for the 
Parks and Recreation Division from Maxim Roofing Company for Fiscal Year 2023 in an amount 
not to exceed $39,000.00. 
 
Section 2.   It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 3. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________, 2023; 
______ Yeas; ______ Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
_____________________________  __________________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
_____________________________  __________________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9392     Topics of Discussion      D.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Thomas Cloud Park - Walking Path
Submitted By: Stephanie Wunderlich
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Thomas Cloud Park - Walking Path

Purpose and Background
This agenda item is for discussion concerning the possible installation of a walking path or widened sidewalk at
the front of Thomas Cloud Park along Brandt Pike.  A map is included showing the existing utilities in the area of
the proposed path.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Map 
Map - Existing Pipeline Locations 







   
AI-9406     Topics of Discussion      E.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Pickleball Courts - Contract Amendment
Submitted By: Bryan Chodkowski
Department: Public Works
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Pickleball Courts - Contract Amendment

Purpose and Background
The City adopted Resolution No. 2023-R-7294 on June 26, 2023 which authorized the City Manager to enter into a
contract with Total Tennis, Inc. for the repair and refurbishment of the City's pickleball courts.  The total cost for
this contract is an amount not to exceed $191,000 and provides for a total playing surface of 34' X 58' for courts
that measure 20' X 44'.  Upon further consideration, the City desires to ensure that the authorized repairs and
refurbishment of the pickleball courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book which recommends a total playing
surface of 30’ X 60'.

An amendment to the City’s current contract with Total Tennis, Inc. is necessary to ensure that the authorized
repairs and refurbishment of the pickleball courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book standards.  This legislation
would authorize the City Manager to amend the scope of work now under contract with Total Tennis, Inc to ensure
repairs and refurbishment of the pickleball courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book recommended total playing
surface of 30’ X 60’ for a cost not to exceed $240,600.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: Parks And Recreation Fund
Cost: $240,600
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:
$191,000 has already been appropriated to this project.  The amendment, if approved, would add $49,600, for a
total appropriation of $240,600.  This appropriation includes a 15% contingency.

Attachments
Resolution 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 
AMENDING THE CONTRACT BETWEEN THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS AND TOTAL 
TENNIS, INC. FOR SERVICES RELATED TO PROVIDING FOR THE REPAIR AND 
REFURBISHMENT OF THE CITY’S PICKLEBALL COURTS. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights (the “City”) adopted Resolution No. 2023-R-7294 on June 
26, 2023 authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with Total Tennis, Inc. for the repair 
and refurbishment of the City’s pickleball courts in an amount not to exceed $191,000.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, upon further consideration, the City desires to ensure that the authorized repairs and 
refurbishment of the pickleball courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book recommended standards 
for a total playing surface of 30’ X 60’; and 
 
WHEREAS, an amendment to the City’s current contract with Total Tennis, Inc. is necessary to 
accomplish Council’s desire to ensure that the authorized repairs and refurbishment of the pickleball 
courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book standards. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1.   The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to amend the scope of work now 
under contract with Total Tennis, Inc to ensure the repairs and refurbishment of the City’s pickleball 
courts meet the USA Pickleball Rule Book recommended standards for a total playing surface of 30’ 
X 60’ for a cost not to exceed $240,600.00. 
 
Section 2.   Monies necessary to fund this contract shall be drawn from the Parks and Recreation 
Fund line-item 218.216.5730, Capital Improvements. 
 
Section 3.  It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 4.   This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2023; 
______  Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
____________________________  __________________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
____________________________  __________________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9388     Topics of Discussion      F.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Case BDP 23-17 - BP-OTP, LLC - Rezoning/Basic Development Plan - 4949 Chambersburg Road
Submitted By: Geri Hoskins
Department: Planning Division: Planning
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: SmartBoard Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Case BDP 23-17 - BP-OTP, LLC - Rezoning/Basic Development Plan - 4949 Chambersburg Road

Purpose and Background
The applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, is requesting approval of a Rezoning from Office (O1) to Planned Commercial (PC)
and a Basic Development Plan to construct a 5,915 square foot Wawa convenience store with fueling pumps.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Staff Report 
Decision Record 
Drawings 
Site Plan 
Elevations 
Floor Plan 
Traffic Impact Study 
Fire Assessment 
Minutes 
Ordinance 



1 

Memorandum 
Staff Report for Meeting of July 11, 2023 

 
To:                 Huber Heights City Planning Commission 
 
From:             Aaron K. Sorrell, City Planner 
   
Date:              July 5, 2023 
 
Subject:         BDP 23-17  (Wawa Convenience Store) 
  4949 Chambersburg Road 
 
 
Department of Planning and Zoning                          City of Huber Heights 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: BP-OTP, LLC  – Applicant 
 Adam Malonjao - Owner 

  
DEVELOPMENT NAME:  Wawa Convenience Store 
 
ADDRESS/LOCATION: 4949 Chambersburg Road 

 
ZONING/ACREAGE: Planned Commercial (PC) / 2.96 Acres 
 General Office (O-1) / 4.79 Acres 
 
EXISTING LAND USE:  Single-family home and vacant ground 
 
ZONING 
ADJACENT LAND:   North: O-1 

East: O-1 & R-4 
     West: R-1 
     South: PC 
 
REQUEST:                                    The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 

2.44 acres from O-1 to PC and approval of a Basic 
Development Plan of 5.41 acres to facilitate the 
construction of a 5,915 SF Wawa convenience store 
with fueling pumps.  

 
The remaining northern 2.34 acres will remain 
undeveloped and retain O-1 zoning.  
      

ORIGINAL APPROVAL:              N/A  
 
APPLICABLE HHCC:      Chapter 1171, 1176  



2 

 
CORRESPONDENCE:      In Favor – None Received 
                                           In Opposition – None Received  
 
Overview  
The applicant seeks to construct a new 5,915 SF Wawa convenience store with eight 
fueling pumps at the corner of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. Wawa is 
entering the Dayton area market, and this will be its first Huber Heights store. 
 
The proposed store will sit on 5.41 acres, of which approximately three (3) acres are 
zoned Planned Commercial and approximately 2.4 acres are zoned O-1. Convenience 
stores and fueling stations are permitted in the Planned Commercial District but not the 
O-1. Thus, a replat and rezoning are included in the Basic Development Plan 
application.  
 
Nearby commercial and retail uses at this intersection include Walgreens on the 
southwest corner; KeyBank on the northeast corner; and Speedway at the southeast 
corner. 
 
Site Characteristics 
Approximately half the site is currently developed as a single-family house in a densely 
wooded and landscaped lot. The other half is wooded, undeveloped land. There is a 
steep grade change with the plateau of the site approximately 30 feet above the 
Chambersburg / OTP intersection. The grade change between the road and the site 
becomes less dramatic as one travels east on Chambersburg and north on Old Troy 
Pike.  
 
While the proposed store is located in the general clearing of the lot, grading will be 
required to develop the building pad, parking area, fueling bays and access drives. 
However, it does appear that grading will end approximately 80 feet from the east 
property line and have no impact on the home north of the site. 
 
The site has access to all necessary utilities. Additionally, the applicant will dedicate the 
required right-of-way for the planned Chambersburg widening and multi-use path. 
 
 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 – General Provisions, Chapter 
1176 – Planned Commercial, Chapter 1181 – General Provisions, Chapter 1182 – 
Landscaping, and Chapter 1185 – Parking and Loading.  
 
Chapter 1171.05 - Contents of basic development plan, states: 
(a) The basic development plan shall consist of at least the following information together 
with such other data and materials as may be required by the City: 
 



3 

(1) Site plan showing the actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon or 
to be changed in its use together with the location of the existing and proposed 
structures with approximate square footages, number of stories including heights of 
structures; 
(2) Typical elevation views of the front and side of each type of building; 
(3) Planning location and dimensions of all proposed drives, service access road, 
sidewalks and curb openings; 
(4) Parking lot areas (show dimensions of a typical parking space), unloading areas, 
fire lanes and handicapped parking; 
(5) Landscaping plan, walls and fences; 
(6) Storm water detention and surface drainage; 
(7) Exterior lighting plan; 
(8) Vehicular circulation pattern; 
(9) Location and square footage of signs; 
(10) Topographic survey; and 
(11) Listing of proposed uses taken from the list of permitted and special uses of the 
PUD zoning district to which rezoning is being sought. 

(b) The Planning Commission shall schedule both the proposed rezoning and the issue 
of approval of the basic development plan for a combined public hearing, following which 
it shall make its recommendation indicating approval, approval with modification or 
disapproval. 
 
Chapter 1171.06 - General standards for approval, states:  
The Planning Commission shall review the application, prepared development plan and 
the facts presented at the hearing. The applicant shall have the burden of proof. No 
approval shall be given unless the Commission shall find by a preponderance of the 
evidence that such PUD on the proposed locations: 
 
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 
other applicable plans and policies; 
(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule of 
development submitted by the developer; 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways on 
the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or 
occupants of the proposed development; 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police 
protection, and schools; 



4 

(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the 
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health, 
safety and welfare; 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible 
with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking 
and loading areas, or accessways; 
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to the 
degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and other 
wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily designed for or 
occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of technical reasons; 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities and 
services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 
(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of 
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall 
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 
 
 
Staff Analysis 
The staff analysis addresses the rezoning request and elements of the Basic 
Development Plan and standards for approval.  

Rezoning Analysis: 
The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 2.44 acres from O-1 General 
Office to Planned Commercial (PC).     

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan 
The City's comprehensive plan indicates the site is within the Estates pattern area 
adjacent to the Southtown pattern area. The Estates development pattern area 
recognizes that is area is where large-scale development is unlikely to occur and where 
large-lot residential development is appropriate. This is particularly true on the west side 
of the pattern area where environmental constraints, such as flooding, limit the 
development potential. 

However, that is not to say the area is determined to be exclusively residential. One of 
the key elements within the Estates development pattern area is to "allow for 
incremental, contextually relevant non-residential uses and amenities." This site is on 



5 

the east edge of the pattern district, not subject to flooding and at the intersection of two 
major roadways. Additionally, all necessary utilities are available.   

Given the location of this site and its context within the Estate pattern district, staff feels 
the rezoning from O-1 to PC is consistent with the comprehensive plan. 

 

Basic Development Plan Analysis: 
The applicant proposes constructing a 5,915 SF convenience store and four-island 
fueling center. The applicant has submitted all necessary plans and studies for the 
Basic Development Plan review.  
Conformance With Planned Commercial District Requirements: 
Uses:  Retail uses and filling stations are principally permitted in the district. 
Development Standards:  

• The site plan meets all parking and building setback and yard requirements. 

• Nineteen street trees are required. The preliminary landscaping plan shows 19 
street trees. However, due to grading issues and Chambersburg Road's planned 
widening, most of them are not near the sidewalk. During the Detailed 
Development plan review, staff will work with the applicant to place the required 
trees appropriately. 

• The lighting plan submitted with the application meets all requirements. The 
proposed fixture height is 20 feet, and the fixture types meet the code. The 
photometric analysis indicates no light trespasses across the property lines.  

• The building design substantially meets the exterior material recommendation. 
Not including glazing, the building's entire exterior is 68% masonry. The front 
façade is 78% masonry and glazing. Approximately 28% of the exterior is a wood 
composite accent siding. 

• All utilities are below ground. 
 

Parking and Loading: 
• The applicant proposes 53 parking spaces, more than the code requires. Parking 

stall dimensions are 10' x 20', as required.  
 
 Landscaping:  

• The plans appear to meet the landscaping requirements but will be verified when 
the detailed development plan is submitted.  

 
Signs: 

• A sign package was not submitted with the application and will be reviewed when 
the detailed development plan is submitted. The elevations indicate three wall 
signs, and the site plan indicates two monument signs.  

 



6 

 
Conformance with General Standards of Approval: 
Below is the staff analysis of conformance with the general standards of approval.  
 
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 

other applicable plans and policies; 
 
It is the staff's opinion that the proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan and 
thoroughfare plan. The site is located at the intersection of arterial and collector streets.  
 
(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule 

of development submitted by the developer; 
 
While no development schedule has been submitted, the applicant has stated to staff 
that they will initiate construction shortly after all plans are approved by the City and 
County. There are no concerns on the part of staff that the applicant would have 
difficulty financing and constructing the project in a reasonable time.   
 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways 
on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or 
occupants of the proposed development; 
 
It is important to note that the traffic counts were taken when school was in session,  
and they represent an accurate assessment of the existing peak traffic volume. The 
traffic study estimates there will be 541 AM and 467 PM weekday peak hour trips. 
This store's net new peak hour trips are estimated at 129 AM and 1179 PM. It's 
important to note that the study estimates that 76% of those trips are pass-by, meaning 
those vehicles are on the road regardless of whether the Wawa development is 
constructed.  
The traffic study indicates that no drop-down lanes are necessary. The applicant is 
required to dedicate additional ROW along Chambersburg Road to facilitate the 
construction of a future roadway widening.  
 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police 
protection, and schools; 
 
Staff does not anticipate any undue burden on public services. The area has adequate 
utility and street capacity.   We are unaware of any policing concerns, and the 
development will comply will all building and fire code requirements.  
 
(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the 
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health, 
safety and welfare; 
 



7 

Any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission or City Council will be 
memorialized in the PUD legislation and remain in effect unless modified by the 
Planning Commission or City Council.  
 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible 
with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking 
and loading areas, or accessways; 
 
The staff believes the site plan is generally well arranged, and internal circulation is 
efficient and compatible with the intended use. Pedestrian connections between the 
streets and the store are provided. The landscaping requirements will be reviewed with 
the Detailed Development application.    
 
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to 
the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 
 
The site will retain a significant amount of wooded area to the west and north. 
Additionally, the existing decorative retaining wall will remain.  
 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 
 
As discussed, the site has significant topographic features. The grading plan illustrates 
significant grading on the site's west, south and northeast edges. The grading should 
not impact the properties west or north of the site since there is an adequate buffer 
between the property lines and the extent of the grading activities. The applicant is 
grading to a 3:1 slope and providing vegetative ground cover, which will limit erosion.  
 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and 
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily 
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of 
technical reasons; 
 
All utilities will be placed underground. 
 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities 
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 
 
Staff does not anticipate any additional public services required to support this 
development.   
 



8 

(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of 
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 
 
All proposed uses are consistent with the Planned Commercial district zoning being 
requested as part of this application. The traffic study does not indicate that this 
development will generate excessive traffic.   
 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall 
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 
 
The staff believes the rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan and will not 
adversely affect surrounding properties.  
 
 
Additional Comments: 
 
Fire:  See attached. 
 
City Engineer:  The engineer has reviewed the site plan and requested additional right 
of way along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. The applicant has indicated that 
they will revise their plans accordingly. 

   
Recommendation 
Staff supports the partial rezoning from General Office (O-1) to Planned Commercial. It 
is the staff's opinion that the requirements of Section 1171.06 can be met, and 
recommends approval of the rezoning and Basic Development Plan with the following 
conditions: 

• The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site's 
perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. Healthy trees shall 
be identified and incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject 
to approval as part of the Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also 
develop a plan to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval. 

• The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree placement 
during the Detailed Development Plan phase. 

• Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the 
Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission. 

• Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except 
the following are prohibited: 

o Vehicle sales, rental or service 
o Sweepstakes Cafes 
o Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.) 
o Dry cleaners 
o Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission 



9 

• The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the 
corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the 
City engineer requires. 

 

Planning Commission Action 
 
Planning Commission may take the following actions with a motion to:  

1) Recommend approval of the rezoning and basic development plan application, 
with or without conditions. 

2) Recommend denial of the rezoning and basic development plan. 
3) Table the application to gather additional information. 

 



BDP 23-17 – Decision Record 

 1 

 
 

 

 

Planning Commission Decision Record 
 
 
WHEREAS, on June 16, 2023, the applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, requested 
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan.  
Property is located at 4949 Chambersburg Road, further identified as 
Parcel Number P70 04004 0017 of the Montgomery County Auditor’s May 
(Case BDP 23-17), and; 
 
WHEREAS, on July 11, 2023, the Planning Commission did meet and fully 
discuss the details of the request. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission 
hereby recommended approval of the request. 
 
Ms. Thomas  moved to approve the request by the applicant, BP-OTP, 
LLC, for approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development 
Plan.  Property is located at 4949 Chambersburg Road, (Case BDP 23-
17), in accordance with the recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum 
dated July 5, 2023, with the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the 
site's perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. 
Healthy trees shall be identified and incorporated into the 
landscaping plan as appropriate, subject to approval as part of the 
Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also develop a plan 
to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval. 

2. The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree 
placement during the Detailed Development Plan phase. 

3. Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved 
in the Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission. 

4. Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 
1176.01, except the following are prohibited: 

a. Vehicle sales, rental or service 
b. Sweepstakes Cafes 



BDP 23-17 – Decision Record 

 2 

c. Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto 
titles, etc.) 

d. Dry cleaners 
e. Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning 

Commission 

5. The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan 
indicating the corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and 
Chambersburg Road, as the City engineer requires. 

Seconded by  Ms. Vargo. Roll call showed: YEAS:  Mr. Cassity, Mr. 
Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.   Motion 
to recommend approval carried 5-0. 
 
_____________________________   _______________ 
Terry Walton, Chair      Date 
Planning Commission 



V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

01
-C

O
V

R
.D

W
G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

PLANS PREPARED BY:

AERIAL MAP
SCALE: 1" = 150'±

SOURCE: GOOGLE MAPS PRO, DATE RETRIEVED 03/28/2023

PROJECT
SITE

PLAN REFERENCE MATERIALS:
1. THIS PLAN SET REFERENCES THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS

INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO:
· ALTA / NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY PREPARED BY RVP

SURVEYING, DATED 03/24/2023
· GEOTECHNICAL REPORT PREPARED BY INTERTEK PSI,

DATED 02/13/2023
· PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT REPORT

PREPARED BY INTERTEK PSI DATED JANUARY 31, 2023.
· LOCATION MAP OBTAINED FROM UNITED STATES

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, DAYTON NORTH QUADRANGLE,
OHIO - MONTGOMERTY COUNTY, 7.5-MINUTE SERIES,
DATED 2019.

· ZONING MAP OBTAINED FROM CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
GIS

· AERIAL MAP PROVIDED BY GOOGLE EARTH PRO, DATE
RETRIEVED 03/28/2023

2. ALL REFERENCE MATERIAL LISTED ABOVE SHALL BE
CONSIDERED A PART OF THIS PLAN SET AND ALL INFORMATION
CONTAINED WITHIN THESE MATERIALS SHALL BE UTILIZED IN
CONJUNCTION WITH THIS PLAN SET. THE CONTRACTOR IS
RESPONSIBLE TO OBTAIN A COPY OF EACH REFERENCE AND
REVIEW IT THOROUGHLY PRIOR TO THE START OF
CONSTRUCTION.

AS SHOWN

COVER SHEET

C-1

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

R

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

LOCATION MAP
SCALE: 1" = 1000'±

SOURCE: USGS TOPOGRAPHICAL MAPS, DATE RETRIEVED 03/28/2023

ZONING MAP
SCALE: 1" = 150'±

SOURCE: CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ZONING MAP & MONTGOMERY COUNTY GIS, DATE RETRIEVED 03/28/2023

APPLICANT
BP-OTP, LLC

20411 WEST 12 MILE ROAD, SUITE 200
CITY OF SOUTHFIELD, MICHIGAN 48076

(248) 797-0003
PATRICK@BLUEPENINSULA.NET

OWNER
ADAM MALONJAO

1480 N 2200 W
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 84116

SHEET INDEX
DRAWING TITLE SHEET #
COVER SHEET C-1

SITE PLAN C-2

GRADING PLAN C-3

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN C-4 & C-5

UTILITY PLAN C-6

LIGHTING PLAN C-7

LANDSCAPING PLAN C-8

LANDSCAPING DETAILS C-9

FUEL DELIVERY TRUCK CIRCULATION
(WB-50) C-10

STORE DELIVERY TRUCK CIRCULATION
(WB-67) C-11

FIRE TRUCK CIRCULATION
(OLD TROY PIKE) C-12

FIRE TRUCK CIRCULATION
(CHAMBERSBURG) C-13

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS C-14 THRU
C-18

SITE

Rutherford, NJ · New York, NY · Boston, MA
Princeton, NJ · Tampa, FL · Detroit, MI

www.stonefieldeng.com

Headquarters:  92 Park Avenue, Rutherford, NJ 07070

Phone 201.340.4468 ·  Fax 201.340.4472

PARCEL ID: P70 04004 0017 & P70 04004 0026
SECTION 28, TOWN 2, RANGE 8 BTM

4949 CHAMBERSBURG ROAD
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, MONTGOMERY COUNTY, OHIO

SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS
FOR

CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES

ADDITIONAL SHEETS
DRAWING TITLE SHEET #
ALTA / NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY 100 & 101

O
LD

 T
RO

Y 
PI

KE CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
RO

Y 
PI

KE

R-6

PC

R-4

R-4

B-1
PP

PO

R-1 PROJECT
SITE

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
DESCRIPTION OF 5.4105 ACRES AT OLD TROY PIKE AND CHAMBERSBURG ROAD, HUBER
HEIGHTS, OHIO:

SITUATED IN THE STATE OF OHIO, COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY, CITY OF HUBER
HEIGHTS, LOCATED IN SECTION 28, TOWN 2, RANGE 8 BTM, BEING ALL OF THE 2.968
ACRES CONVEYED TO ADAM MALONJAO IN INSTRUMENT NO. 2019-00018975 AND
2.4426 ACRES OF THE 4.7964 ACRES (4.7976  ACRES BY SURVEY) CONVEYED TO ADAM
MALONJAO IN INSTRUMENT NO. 2022-00056216, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF OLD TROY PIKE (STATE
ROUTE 202) AND THE CENTERLINE OF CHAMBERSBURG ROAD (60’ WIDE), BEING THE
POINT OF BEGINNING:
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF CHAMBERSBURG ROAD, NORTH
85°30’17” WEST, 513.31 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF THE 2.992 ACRE
PARCEL CONVEYED TO JOSEPH NAHUM IN IR#2018-00050848 AND THE
SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID 2.968 ACRE PARCEL;
THENCE NORTHERLY, ALONG THE COMMON LINE NAHUM & MALONJAO, NORTH
3°43’44” EAST, 463.55 FEET;
THENCE EASTERLY, ALONG A NEW DIVISION LINE THROUGH THE 4.7964 ACRE
MALONJAO PARCEL, SOUTH 84°33’23” EAST, 513.21 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF OLD
TROY PIKE;
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF OLD TROY PIKE, SOUTH 3°41’37”
WEST, 455.06 FEET, BEING AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 5.4105 ACRES OF
LAND MORE OR LESS.
BASIS OF BEARINGS: THE BEARINGS SHOWN HERON ARE BASED ON THE CENTERLINE
OF OLD TROY PIKE
(SOUTH 3°41'37” WEST) AS DETERMINED BY GPS OBSERVATIONS UTILIZING THE ODOT
VRS/RTK NETWORK, OHIO STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, NAD 83(2011).

WAWA STORE #: 7200

WAWA SITE DATA TABLE

PARCEL ID: P70 04004 0017 & P70 04004 0026

ADDRESS 4949 CHAMBERSBURG
ROAD

JURISDICTION CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS

EXISTING ZONING PLANNED COMMERCIAL &
GENERAL OFFICE

LAND USE OFFICE & COMMERCIAL

TOTAL SITE AREA 338,262 SF

WAWA SITE AREA 247,809 SF

BUILDING AREA 5,915 SF (0.14 AC)

MINIMUM REQUIRED PARKING 1 SPACE PER 125 GFA
= 47 SPACES
1 SPACE PER EACH
EMPLOYEE
= 4 SPACES
TOTAL 51 SPACES

PARKING PROVIDED (TOTAL) 53 SPACES (INCLUDING 3
ADA SPACES)

ZONE A 22 SPACES (INCLUDING 3
ADA SPACES)

ZONE B 21 SPACES

ZONE C 10 SPACES (INCLUDING 2
AIR PUMP SPACES)

FRONT YARD SETBACK
(CHAMBERSBURG ROAD)

75 FT

FRONT YARD SETBACK
(STATE ROAD 202)

75 FT

REAR YARD BUILDING SETBACK 25 FT

REAR PARKING SETBACK 15 FT

FRONT PARKING SETBACK
(CHAMBERSBURG ROAD)

25 FT

FRONT YARD SETBACK
(STATE ROAD 202)

25 FT

BUILDING TYPE U59 FB-R

CANOPY CONFIGURATION STACKED

CANOPY TYPE SLOPED

NUMBER OF MPD'S 8

TYPE OF MPD'S (8) 3+1+1



X
X

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

75
 F

T
 F

R
O

N
T

 Y
A

R
D

 S
ET

BA
C

K

25
 F

T
 F

R
O

N
T

 Y
A

R
D

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K

10
 F

T
 R

.O
.W

. L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 S

T
R

IP

A

A

U59 FB-R
5,915 SF

53 PARKING SPACES

25 FT REAR YARD BUIDLING SETBACK

10 FT REAR YARD PARKING SETBACK

25
 F

T
 R

EA
R

 Y
A

R
D

 B
U

ID
LI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K

10
 F

T
 R

EA
R

 Y
A

R
D

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K

75 FT FRONT YARD SETBACK

25 FT FRONT YARD PARKING SETBACK

10 FT R.O.W. LANDSCAPE STRIP

67.7'

91
.6

'

161.0'

15
7.

3'

12

6

10

6

9
8

2

20
'

20
'

30
'

20' 35' 13' 30' 13' 35'
10

'
8'

8'

20
'

20
'

30
'

10'

10'

10'

10'

20
'

35
'

11'

20
'

35
'

10'

106.2'

33'

15
'

76
.8

'

112.1'

10
8.

9'

56'

13
0'

47
9.

4'

513.3'

30'

30'

30
'

18'30'

18
6.

8'

15'

15
'

10
'

10'

10
'

8'
8'

8'

PROPOSED PARCEL
(81,941 SF; 1.88 AC)

PROPOSED PARCEL
(203,403 SF; 4.67 AC)

34
'

14
'

34
'

34
'

14
'

15
'

4.5'

2'(TYP.)

13' 5.5'

53
'

15
2'

35
'

513.0'

453.3'

10
'

110.7'
227.2'

X X X X X X X

5'

5' 10'

PROPOSED 6'X6'
VENT STACK PAD

PROPOSED 5 FT WIDE
ROCK BED

PROPOSED STORAGE TANKS
ONE (1) 22K GALLON
THREE (3) 20K GALLON

PROPOSED 4'X3'
AIR PUMP PAD

PROPOSED TRANSFORMER
WITH BOLLARDS ON

CONCRETE PAD

PROPOSED TRASH ENCLOSURE
ON 8" FIBER MESH CONCRETE

PROPOSED FUEL
PRICING ID SIGN

PROPOSED
PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED FULL
MOVEMENT DRIVEWAY

PROPOSED FULL
MOVEMENT DRIVEWAY

PROPOSED FUEL
PRICING ID SIGN

PROPOSED ACCESS
EASEMENT

PROPOSED LIMIT OF
RIGHT-OF-WAY

PROPOSED ICE BOX

PROPOSED CO2 TANK

PROPOSED 4" WHITE
STRIPING FOR ALL

NON -ADA PARKING
SPACES (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED
PROPANE KIOSK

PROPOSED STAMPED
CONCRETE (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED FLOW
ARROWS (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED STOP SIGN AND
STOP BAR (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN
CROSSWALK

PROPOSED E-FREE
(3+1+1) MPD

PROPOSED 6" THICK
FIBER MESH CONCRETE

FOR PARKING SPACES

PROPOSED 4" THICK
FIBER MESH CONCRETE

FOR SIDEWALKS

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN
RAMP(TYPICAL)

PROPOSED FLUSH
CURB(TYPICAL)

PROPOSED 8" FIBER
MESH CONCRETE MAT

PROPOSED
FUEL CANOPY

PROPOSED FUEL
DISPENSER (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED BUILDING
OVERHANG

PROPOSED
ADA PARKING
AREA W/ SIGN
ON BOLLARD

PROPOSED 6"
BOLLARD AT 5'
MAX O/C (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED RETAINING
WALL WITH FENCE
(REFER TO GRADING PLAN)

PROPOSED
ABOVEGROUND

DETENTION BASIN

PROPOSED LIMIT
OF CONCRETE
SIDEWALK

PROPOSED LIMIT OF
CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED LIMIT OF
CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED LIMIT
OF CONCRETE
SIDEWALK

PROPOSED LIMIT OF
CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CT BOX

PROPOSED WAWA F1
CONCRETE CURB &
GUTTER (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED FULL DEPTH
ASPHALT PAVEMENT

(TYPICAL)

PROPOSED LOADING ZONE (8"
THICK FIBER MESH CONCRETE)

PROPOSED
OVERHEAD DOOR

PROPOSED LIMIT OF SIDEWALK.
(TO BE COORDINATED WITH
FUTURE R.O.W. WORK)

PROPOSED FLUSH
CURB (TYPICAL)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT
& (2) BOLLARDS

30
.0

'

10.0'

15.0'

50.0'

PROPOSED LIMIT OF
RIGHT-OF-WAY

GENERAL NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AND FAMILIARIZE THEMSELVES
WITH THE EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS AND THE PROPOSED SCOPE
OF WORK (INCLUDING DIMENSIONS, LAYOUT, ETC.) PRIOR TO
INITIATING THE IMPROVEMENTS IDENTIFIED WITHIN THESE
DOCUMENTS. SHOULD ANY DISCREPANCY BE FOUND BETWEEN THE
EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS AND THE PROPOSED WORK THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN,
LLC. PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY PERMITS AND
ENSURE THAT ALL REQUIRED APPROVALS HAVE BEEN OBTAINED
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. COPIES OF ALL REQUIRED
PERMITS AND APPROVALS SHALL BE KEPT ON SITE AT ALL TIMES
DURING CONSTRUCTION.

3. ALL CONTRACTORS WILL, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
LAW, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS STONEFIELD ENGINEERING &
DESIGN, LLC. AND IT'S SUB-CONSULTANTS FROM AND AGAINST ANY
DAMAGES AND LIABILITIES INCLUDING ATTORNEY'S FEES ARISING
OUT OF CLAIMS BY EMPLOYEES OF THE CONTRACTOR IN ADDITION
TO CLAIMS CONNECTED TO THE PROJECT AS A RESULT OF NOT
CARRYING THE PROPER INSURANCE FOR WORKERS COMPENSATION,
LIABILITY INSURANCE, AND LIMITS OF COMMERCIAL GENERAL
LIABILITY INSURANCE.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT DEVIATE FROM THE PROPOSED
IMPROVEMENTS IDENTIFIED WITHIN THIS PLAN SET UNLESS APPROVAL
IS PROVIDED IN WRITING BY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN,
LLC.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO DETERMINE THE MEANS AND
METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT PERFORM ANY WORK OR CAUSE
DISTURBANCE ON A PRIVATE PROPERTY NOT CONTROLLED BY THE
PERSON OR ENTITY WHO HAS AUTHORIZED THE WORK WITHOUT
PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT FROM THE OWNER OF THE PRIVATE
PROPERTY.

7. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO RESTORE ANY DAMAGED OR
UNDERMINED STRUCTURE OR SITE FEATURE THAT IS IDENTIFIED TO
REMAIN ON THE PLAN SET. ALL REPAIRS SHALL USE NEW MATERIALS
TO RESTORE THE FEATURE TO ITS EXISTING CONDITION AT THE
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.

8. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO PROVIDE THE APPROPRIATE SHOP
DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA, AND OTHER REQUIRED SUBMITTALS
FOR REVIEW. STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. WILL REVIEW
THE SUBMITTALS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DESIGN INTENT AS
REFLECTED WITHIN THE PLAN SET.

9. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL IN
ACCORDANCE WITH MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL
DEVICES, LATEST EDITION.

10. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO PERFORM ALL WORK IN THE
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROPRIATE
GOVERNING AUTHORITY AND SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
PROCUREMENT OF STREET OPENING PERMITS.

11. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO RETAIN AN OSHA CERTIFIED
SAFETY INSPECTOR TO BE PRESENT ON SITE AT ALL TIMES DURING
CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION ACTIVITIES.

12. SHOULD AN EMPLOYEE OF STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC.
BE PRESENT ON SITE AT ANY TIME DURING CONSTRUCTION, IT DOES
NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR OF ANY OF THE RESPONSIBILITIES
AND REQUIREMENTS LISTED IN THE NOTES WITHIN THIS PLAN SET.

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

02
-S

IT
E.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

SITE PLAN

C-2

1" = 30'

OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS
CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROPOSED

§ 1185.12.C.6.B FILLING STATIONS: 53 SPACES

1 SPACE PER 125 SF,

PLUS 1 SPACE / EMPLOYEE

(5,915 SF)(1/125 SF) = 47 SPACES

(4 EMPLOY.)(1 / EMPLOY.) = 4 SPACES

TOTAL: 47 + 4 = 51 SPACES

§ 1185.03.A PARKING DIMENSIONS: 10 FT x 20 FT,

10 FT x 18 FT, 25 FT AISLES 30 FT AISLES

§ 1185.13.B.1 LOADING: 1 SPACE

1 SPACE, 10 FT x 25 FT 18 FT x 152 FT

§ 1185.06.A INTERIOR PARKING LANDSCAPING

5% OF TOTAL AREA

(25,141 SF)(0.05) = 1,257 SF 2,246 SF

SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS
CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROPOSED

§ 1189.07.B QUANTITY:

1 GROUND SIGN PER FRONTAGE 2 SIGNS

(1 SIGN)(2 FRONTAGES) = 2 SIGNS

§ 1189.05.B.1 RIGHT-OF-WAY SETBACK: 15 FT

15 FT

§ 1189.07.B SIGNAGE AREA:

75 SF < 75 SF

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED FLUSH CURB

PROPOSED BUILDING

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED AREA LIGHT

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL

SETBACK LINE

PROPOSED BUILDING DOORS

PROPOSED SIGNS / BOLLARDS

PROPERTY LINE

LAND USE AND ZONING
PARCEL ID: P70 04004 0017 & P70 04004 0026

PLANNED COMMERCIAL (PC) & GENERAL OFFICE (O-1)

PROPOSED USE

FILLING STATION PERMITTED USE

CONVENIENCE STORE PERMITTED ACCESSORY USE

ZONING REQUIREMENT REQUIRED PROPOSED

MINIMUM LOT AREA N / A 202,375 SF (4.65 AC)

MINIMUM LOT WIDTH N / A 513.0 FT

MAXIMUM IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE N / A -

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT N / A -

MINIMUM FRONT YARD SETBACK 75 FT 186.8 FT

MINIMUM RIGHT-OF-WAY SETBACK 75 FT 186.8 FT

MINIMUM SIDE YARD SETBACK N / A 161.0 FT

MINIMUM REAR YARD SETBACK N / A 157.3 FT

MINIMUM RIGHT-OF-WAY PARKING
SETBACK

25 FT 108.9 FT

MINIMUM NON-BUSINESS PARKING
SETBACK

15 FT 108.9 FT

PROPOSED FENCE

XX



X
X

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

5249
866.410

5250
864.960

5252
912.460

5253
865.869

5254
864.019

5258

5259
901.259

5263
900.488

5264
899.570

5265
898.441

5266
901.738

5267
901.542

5269
900.580

5270
901.410

5273
902.309

5274
901.079

5277
900.849

5280
901.791

5283
900.951

5284
901.141

5285
912.851

5286
912.470

5288
912.792

5295
911.679

5297
913.070

5298
911.919

5299
912.611 5306

912.230

5307
912.211

5310
903.700

5314
903.300

5315
903.149

5317
911.489

5319
908.910

904.721

5321
903.198

5324
903.320

5332
902.759

5341
899.901

5342
898.832

5343
902.030 5347

902.080

5358
899.872

5363
902.601

5364
866.099

5365
867.578

5366
865.689

5367
863.222

5370
864.199

5371
915.990

5373
913.851

5374
914.051

5376
915.731

5377
915.459

5378
914.501

5379
914.829

5380
914.219

5382
914.639

5384
914.891

5385
914.809

5387
915.301

5388
914.839

5390
914.681

5392
914.110

5394
913.710

5395
913.999

5396
915.731

5397
914.950

5399
914.199

5400
915.000

5402
914.648

5403
914.901

5404
913.530

5405
915.292

5406
914.711

5407
915.688

5408
914.639

5409
914.901

5410
915.131

5412
914.340

5413
913.599

5414
914.882

5416
914.829

5417
914.730

5418
914.780

5421
914.819

5422
914.619

5423
915.360

5424
915.229

5425
914.872

5426
915.029

5427
914.471

5429
914.429

5430
914.570

5431
865.059

5432
864.189

5433
866.059

5434
867.060

5436
914.419

5437
915.400

916.259

5445
914.760

5446
915.531

5447
915.121

914.061

5451
914.721

5452
915.721

5453
915.511

5454
914.370

5458
914.629

5459
914.721

5462
915.131

5463
915.922

5464
913.520

5465
915.561

5466
914.521

5467
913.261

5468
914.911

5469
913.740

5473
914.990

5474
913.851

5476
913.940

5477
915.160

5478
915.259

5481
916.141

5482
915.019

5483
914.882

5486
915.771

5487
914.882

5488
914.042

5489
914.960

5491
914.350

5495
914.071

5496
915.688

5499
914.858

5500
913.779

5501
914.540

5502
915.840

915.160

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

FF = 895.50

MH

MH

M
HM
H

MH

RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE

R
ID

G
E

LI
N

E

RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE
RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE

B-8:  BEDROCK @ 898.2 FT

B-7: BEDROCK @ 895.15 FT

B-1: BEDROCK @ 900.0 FT

B-2: BEDROCK @ 894.5 FT

B-6: BEDROCK @ <892 FT

B-5: BEDROCK @ <873.5 FT

B-3: BEDROCK @ 891.5 FT

B-4: BEDROCK @ 893.6 FT

NO.D-202
RIM: 895.00

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO.D-201
TOP OF CURB: 894.50
RIM: 894.00

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-106
TOP OF CURB: 892.00
RIM: 891.50

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO. D-103
TOP OF CURB: 892.35
RIM: 891.85

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO.D-101
TOP OF CURB: 893.20
RIM: 892.70

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-107
TOP OF CURB: 894.20
RIM: 893.70

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-401
RIM ADJUSTEMENT: 881.50

EXISTING STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO. D-105
RIM: 891.50

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

NO. D-104
RIM: 891.50

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

NO.D-301
TOP OF CURB: 889.80
RIM: 889.30

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. OS-1
RIM: 884.00

PROPOSED STORMWATER
OUTLET STRUCT.

NO. EX-1
RIM: 868.23

EXISTING STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO.D-102
RIM: 892.50

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

TC
BC

896.50
896.00

TC
BC

896.25
895.75

TC
BC

893.50
893.00

G 895.35

TC
BC

893.50
893.00

G 895.50

G 895.20

TC
BC

894.75
894.25

TC
BC

892.65
892.15

TC
BC

892.25
891.75

FF 895.50

FF 895.50

FF 895.50

FF 895.50

G 895.50

G 895.50

G 895.50

G 895.50

G 895.00

G 895.00

G 895.00

G 895.50

FF 895.50

TC 895.80
BC 895.30

TC 895.55
BC 895.05

TC 895.65
BC 895.15

TC 895.40
BC 894.90

TC 895.40
BC 894.90G 895.50

TC 895.40
BC 894.90

TC 895.65
BC 895.15

TC 895.40
BC 894.90

TC 895.80
BC 895.30

TC 895.55
BC 895.05

TC
BC

896.50
896.00

TC
BC

896.50
896.00

TC
BC

895.00
894.50

TC
BC

894.65
894.15

TC
BC

889.75
889.25

TC
BC

890.00
889.50

TC
BC

895.00
894.50

G 893.90

TC
BC

896.00
895.50

TC
BC

895.75
895.25

G 895.00

TC
BC

894.50
894.00

TC
BC

894.05
893.45

TC
BC

893.25
892.75

G 894.25

G 893.75

G 893.75

G 892.65

G 892.65

TC
BC

892.85
892.35

TC
BC

892.75
892.25

TC
BC

893.10
892.60

G 893.75

TC 894.00
BC 893.50

TC
BC

891.25
890.75

TC
BC

891.90
891.40

TC
BC

891.00
890.50

TC
BC

890.10
889.60

TC
BC

890.00
889.50

TC
BC

889.50
889.00

TC
BC

888.95
888.45

TC
BC

889.00
888.50

TC
BC

882.25
881.75

TC
BC

882.50
882.00

TC
BC

881.75
881.25

TC
BC

881.70
881.20

TC
BC

893.50
893.00

TC 891.50
BC 891.00(EX)

TC 884.83
BC 884.33(EX)

G 897.50

G 897.55

TC 895.70
BC 895.20

TC 895.50
BC 895.00

G 894.80

G 891.20

G 890.05

G 888.90

TW878.40(EX)
BW 872.50(EX)

TW 908.00
BW 900.00

TW 909.00
BW 903.00

TW 909.00
BW 903.00

TW 908.00
BW 902.50

TW 909.00
BW 902.50

G 874.00(EX)

G 875.00(EX)

G 876.00(EX)

G 877.00(EX)

G 878.00(EX)

G 878.80(EX)

G 873.00(EX)

G 872.00(EX)

G 871.00(EX)

G 870.00(EX)

TW878.40(EX)
BW 872.00(EX)

TW878.40(EX)
BW 873.00(EX)

TW 883.00
BW 883.00

TW 888.00
BW 882.00 TW 888.00

BW 882.00

TC 879.70
BC 879.20(EX)

TC 882.65
BC 882.15(EX)

G 893.50

G 893.10

G 893.05

G 892.55

G 892.50

G 878.75(EX)

TC 893.70
BC 893.20

TC 893.70
BC 893.20

G 892.80
G 892.75

G 894.95

TC
BC

892.90
892.40

G 892.70

G 893.30

G 893.30

TC
BC

893.35
892.85

G 893.50

TC
BC

893.45
892.95

G 894.80

88
1

88
3

896
897

88
5

88
7

88
9

89
1

893

89
1

89
0

88
9

88
7

88
5

88
3

88
1

88
8

88
6

88
4

88
2

908
907 90

5

906

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

88
2

88
4

88
6

88
8

89
0

89
2

894

88
9

897
896

89
5

894

892

891

890

889

888

887
886 885 884 883

89
2

88
8 887

886

890

891

892

893

894

893
892

891
890

889
888

887
886

885
884

883
882

881

895

894

895

895

88
3

88
288

488
5

88
6

88
788
8

889

890

891

892

892

901
899900

898

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

90
4

902

90
9

90
3

90
8

90
7

90
5

90
6

904 903

892
891

890
889

888

89
3

887

885

883

88
1

886

884 88
2

880

891

890

889

892893

88
0

87
8

882

88
0

879

881
880

879
878

877

893

893

893

893

894

894

89
4

893

894

89
3

895

895

87
7

87
8

87
9

88
0

88
1

88
2

88
3

88
4

883

884

885

886
887

888

89
2

881
882

880

87
7

87
9

87
8

87
9

87
6

87
0

87
1

87
2

87
3

88
1

88
0

87
4

87
5

87
7

90
3

90
4

90
5

90
6

90
7

90
8

90
9

91
0

90
9

909

TC
BC

894.00
893.50

FC 893.35

FC 893.30

G 893.35

G 893.40

G 894.05

TC 895.25
BC 894.75

GRADING NOTES

1. ALL SOIL AND MATERIAL REMOVED FROM THE SITE SHALL BE
DISPOSED OF IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL
REQUIREMENTS.  ANY GROUNDWATER DE-WATERING PRACTICES
SHALL BE PERFORMED UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF A QUALIFIED
PROFESSIONAL.  THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO OBTAIN ALL
NECESSARY PERMITS FOR THE DISCHARGE OF DE-WATERED
GROUNDWATER.  ALL SOIL IMPORTED TO THE SITE SHALL BE
CERTIFIED CLEAN FILL. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN RECORDS OF
ALL FILL MATERIALS BROUGHT TO THE SITE.

2. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE TEMPORARY AND/OR
PERMANENT SHORING WHERE REQUIRED DURING EXCAVATION
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO UTILITY TRENCHES, TO
ENSURE THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY OF NEARBY STRUCTURES AND
STABILITY OF THE SURROUNDING SOILS.

3. PROPOSED TOP OF CURB ELEVATIONS ARE GENERALLY 4 INCHES TO 7
INCHES ABOVE EXISTING GRADES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. THE
CONTRACTOR WILL SUPPLY ALL STAKEOUT CURB GRADE SHEETS TO
STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. FOR REVIEW AND
APPROVAL PRIOR TO POURING CURBS.

4. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO SET ALL PROPOSED UTILITY
COVERS AND RESET ALL EXISTING UTILITY COVERS WITHIN THE
PROJECT LIMITS TO PROPOSED GRADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY
APPLICABLE MUNICIPAL, COUNTY, STATE AND/OR UTILITY
AUTHORITY REGULATIONS.

5. MINIMUM SLOPE REQUIREMENTS TO PREVENT PONDING SHALL BE AS
FOLLOWS:
· CURB GUTTER: 0.50%
· CONCRETE SURFACES: 1.00%
· ASPHALT SURFACES: 1.00%

5. A MINIMUM SLOPE OF 1.00% SHALL BE PROVIDED AWAY FROM ALL
BUILDINGS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE POSITIVE DRAINAGE
FROM THE BUILDING IS ACHIEVED AND SHALL NOTIFY STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. IF THIS CONDITION CANNOT BE MET.

6. FOR PROJECTS WHERE BASEMENTS ARE PROPOSED, THE DEVELOPER IS
RESPONSIBLE TO DETERMINE THE DEPTH TO GROUNDWATER AT THE
LOCATION OF THE PROPOSED STRUCTURE. IF GROUNDWATER IS
ENCOUNTERED WITHIN THE BASEMENT AREA, SPECIAL
CONSTRUCTION METHODS SHALL BE UTILIZED AND
REVIEWED/APPROVED BY THE CONSTRUCTION CODE OFFICIAL. IF
SUMP PUMPS ARE UTILIZED, ALL DISCHARGES SHALL BE CONNECTED
DIRECTLY TO THE PUBLIC STORM SEWER SYSTEM WITH APPROVAL
FROM THE GOVERNING STORM SEWER SYSTEM AUTHORITY.

ADA NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MAXIMUM 2.00% SLOPE IN
ANY DIRECTION WITHIN THE ADA PARKING SPACES AND ACCESS
AISLES.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE COMPLIANT SIGNAGE AT ALL
ADA PARKING AREAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE GUIDELINES.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MAXIMUM 5.00% RUNNING
SLOPE AND A MAXIMUM OF 2.00% CROSS SLOPE ALONG WALKWAYS
WITHIN THE ACCESSIBLE PATH OF TRAVEL (SEE THE SITE PLAN FOR
THE LOCATION OF THE ACCESSIBLE PATH).  THE CONTRACTOR IS
RESPONSIBLE TO ENSURE THE ACCESSIBLE PATH OF TRAVEL IS 36
INCHES WIDE OR GREATER UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE WITHIN
THE PLAN SET.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MAXIMUM 2.00% SLOPE IN
ANY DIRECTION AT ALL LANDINGS.  LANDINGS INCLUDE, BUT ARE
NOT LIMITED TO, THE TOP AND BOTTOM OF AN ACCESSIBLE RAMP,
AT ACCESSIBLE BUILDING ENTRANCES, AT AN AREA IN FRONT OF A
WALK-UP ATM, AND AT TURNING SPACES ALONG THE ACCESSIBLE
PATH OF TRAVEL.  THE LANDING AREA SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM
CLEAR AREA OF 60 INCHES BY 60 INCHES UNLESS INDICATED
OTHERWISE WITHIN THE PLAN SET.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MAXIMUM 8.33% RUNNING
SLOPE AND A MAXIMUM 2.00% CROSS SLOPE ON ANY CURB RAMPS
ALONG THE ACCESSIBLE PATH OF TRAVEL.  WHERE PROVIDED, CURB
RAMP FLARES SHALL NOT HAVE A SLOPE GREATER THAN 10.00% IF A
LANDING AREA IS PROVIDED AT THE TOP OF THE RAMP. FOR
ALTERATIONS, A CURB RAMP FLARES SHALL NOT HAVE A SLOPE
GREATER THAN 8.33% IF A LANDING AREA IS NOT PROVIDED AT THE
TOP OF THE RAMP.  CURBS RAMPS SHALL NOT RISE MORE THAN 6
INCHES IN ELEVATION WITHOUT A HANDRAIL.  THE CLEAR WIDTH
OF A CURB RAMP SHALL BE NO LESS THAN 36 INCHES WIDE.

6. ACCESSIBLE RAMPS WITH A RISE GREATER THAN 6 INCHES SHALL
CONTAIN COMPLIANT HANDRAILS ON BOTH SIDES OF THE RAMP
AND SHALL NOT RISE MORE THAN 30” IN ELEVATION WITHOUT A
LANDING AREA IN BETWEEN RAMP RUNS.  LANDING AREAS SHALL
ALSO BE PROVIDED AT THE TOP AND BOTTOM OF THE RAMP.

7. A SLIP RESISTANT SURFACE SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED ALONG THE
ACCESSIBLE PATH AND WITHIN ADA PARKING AREAS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE A MAXIMUM OF ¼ INCHES
VERTICAL CHANGE IN LEVEL ALONG THE ACCESSIBLE PATH.  WHERE
A CHANGE IN LEVEL BETWEEN ¼ INCHES AND ½ INCHES EXISTS,
CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT THE TOP ¼ INCH CHANGE IN
LEVEL IS BEVELED WITH A SLOPE NOT STEEPER THAN 1 UNIT
VERTICAL AND 2 UNITS HORIZONTAL (2:1 SLOPE).

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ANY OPENINGS (GAPS OR
HORIZONTAL SEPARATION) ALONG THE ACCESSIBLE PATH SHALL
NOT ALLOW PASSAGE OF A SPHERE GREATER THAN ½ INCH.

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

03
-G

R
A

D
.D

W
G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

GRADING PLAN

C-3

1" = 30'

RIDGELINE

PROPERTY LINE

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

PROPOSED GRADING CONTOUR

PROPOSED GRADING RIDGELINE

PROPOSED DIRECTION OF DRAINAGE FLOW

PROPOSED GRADE SPOT SHOT

PROPOSED TOP OF CURB /
BOTTOM OF CURB SPOT SHOT

TC 100.50
BC 100.00

G 100.00

PROPOSED TOP OF WALL /
BOTTOM OF WALL SPOT SHOT

TW 102.00
BW 100.00

100



E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

W W

EEEE

E
E

E

E E
E

E

X
X

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

FF = 895.50

MH

MH

M
HM
H

MH

RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE

R
ID

G
E

LI
N

E

RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE
RIDGELINE

RIDGELINE

NO.D-202
RIM: 895.00
INVERT (N): 892.50
INVERT (NE): 892.50
INVERT (SE): 892.50
INVERT (S): 892.00

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO.D-201
TOP OF CURB: 894.50
RIM: 894.00
INVERT (N): 891.00
INVERT (SE): 890.90

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-106
TOP OF CURB: 892.00
RIM: 891.50
INVERT (W): 888.50
INVERT (SE): 888.40

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO. D-103
TOP OF CURB: 892.35
RIM: 891.85
INVERT (NW): 888.40
INVERT (NE): 886.98
INVERT (SW): 886.88

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO.D-101
TOP OF CURB: 893.20
RIM: 892.70
INVERT (NW): 889.46
INVERT (E): 885.92
INVERT (S): 885.82

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-107
TOP OF CURB: 894.20
RIM: 893.70
INVERT (E): 890.70

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. D-401
RIM ADJUSTEMENT: 881.50

EXISTING STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO. D-105
RIM: 891.50
INVERT (NW): 887.93
INVERT (S): 887.83

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

NO. D-104
RIM: 891.50
INVERT (N): 887.51
INVERT (SW): 887.41

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

NO.D-301
TOP OF CURB: 889.80
RIM: 889.30
INVERT (E): 885.30

PROPOSED STORMWATER
CURB INLET

NO. OS-1
RIM: 884.00
WEIR: 882.00
INVERT (W): 876.00
ORIFICE: 876.00
INVERT (E): 876.00
SUMP: 874.00

PROPOSED STORMWATER
OUTLET STRUCT.

NO. EX-1
RIM: 868.23
INVERT (NW): 866.55
INVERT (S): 866.43
INVERT (NE): 866.13

EXISTING STORMWATER
CATCH BASIN

NO.D-102
RIM: 892.50
INVERT (NE): 889.42
INVERT (W): 889.32

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANHOLE

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT
INVERT: 893.50

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT
INVERT: 893.50

PROPOSED 141 LF 12" HDPE
@ 1.56% SLOPE

PROPOSED 93 LF 12"
HDPE @ 0.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT

INVERT: 890.50

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT

INVERT: 890.17

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT

INVERT: 889.83

PROPOSED ROOF LEADER
WITH CLEANOUT

INVERT: 889.50

PROPOSED 102 LF 6" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 1.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED 55 LF 6" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 2.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED 64 LF 12"
HDPE @ 0.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED 87 LF 12"
HDPE @ 0.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED 40 LF 12"
HDPE @ 1.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED 30 LF 4" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 3.33% SLOPE

PROPOSED 30 LF 4" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 3.33% SLOPE

PROPOSED WYE
CONNECTION
INVERT: 891.71

PROPOSED 104 LF 12"
HDPE @ 0.96% SLOPE

PROPOSED 144 LF 12"
HDPE @ 1.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED 53 LF 12"
HDPE @ 7.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED HEADWALL
INVERT: 881.85

PROPOSED CULVERT
INVERT: 880.40

PROPOSED CULVERT
INVERT: 881.00

PROPOSED 120 LF 12"
HDPE @ 0.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED 60 LF 12"
HDPE @ 5.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED CULVERT
INVERT: 882.30 PROPOSED 25 LF 12"

HDPE @ 1.00% SLOPE

PROPOSED CULVERT
INVERT: 876.25

PROPOSED 90 LF 12"
CL. IV RCP @ 10.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED
RIPRAP BERM

PROPOSED 5,000
CF FOREBAY

PROPOSED EMERGENCY OVERFLOW
INVERT: 882.50

PROPOSED 46 LF 12"
HDPE @ 1.00% SLOPE

EXISTING STRUCTURE LID TO BE
REPLACED WITH FLUSH GRATE

PROPOSED 18 LF 4" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 3.33% SLOPE

PROPOSED 68 LF 4" SCHD. 40
SDR 26 @ 1.46% SLOPE

88
1

88
3

896
897

88
5

88
7

88
9

89
1

893

89
1

89
0

88
9

88
7

88
5

88
3

88
1

88
8

88
6

88
4

88
2

908
907 90

5

906

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

88
2

88
4

88
6

88
8

89
0

89
2

894

88
9

897
896

89
5

894

892

891

890

889

888

887
886 885 884 883

89
2

88
8 887

886

890

891

892

893

894

893
892

891
890

889
888

887
886

885
884

883
882

881

895

894

895

895

88
3

88
288

488
5

88
6

88
788
8

889

890

891

892

892

901
899900

898

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

90
4

902

90
9

90
3

90
8

90
7

90
5

90
6

904 903

892
891

890
889

888

89
3

887

885

883

88
1

886

884 88
2

880

891

890

889

892893

88
0

87
8

882

88
0

879

881
880

879
878

877

893

893

893

893

894

894

89
4

893

894

89
3

895

895

87
7

87
8

87
9

88
0

88
1

88
2

88
3

88
4

883

884

885

886
887

888

89
2

881
882

880

87
7

87
9

87
8

87
9

87
6

87
0

87
1

87
2

87
3

88
1

88
0

87
4

87
5

87
7

90
3

90
4

90
5

90
6

90
7

90
8

90
9

91
0

90
9

909

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR TO PERFORM A TEST PIT PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION (RECOMMEND 30 DAYS PRIOR) AT LOCATIONS OF
EXISTING UTILITY CROSSINGS FOR STORMWATER IMPROVEMENTS.
SHOULD A CONFLICT EXIST, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY
NOTIFY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. IN WRITING.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL START CONSTRUCTION OF STORM LINES AT
THE LOWEST INVERT AND WORK UP-GRADIENT.

3. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO CALL THE APPROPRIATE
AUTHORITY FOR NOTICE OF CONSTRUCTION/EXCAVATION AND
UTILITY MARK OUT PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION IN
ACCORDANCE WITH STATE LAW.  CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO
CONFIRM THE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL LOCATION OF UTILITIES
IN THE FIELD.  SHOULD A DISCREPANCY EXIST BETWEEN THE FIELD
LOCATION OF A UTILITY AND THE LOCATION SHOWN ON THE PLAN
SET OR SURVEY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. IMMEDIATELY IN WRITING.

4. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO MAINTAIN A RECORD OF THE
AS-BUILT LOCATIONS OF ALL PROPOSED UNDERGROUND
INFRASTRUCTURE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE ANY
DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE AS-BUILT LOCATIONS AND THE
LOCATIONS DEPICTED WITHIN THE PLAN SET. THIS RECORD SHALL BE
PROVIDED TO THE OWNER FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF WORK.

EXCAVATION, SOIL PREPARATION, AND DEWATERING NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO REVIEW THE REFERENCED
GEOTECHNICAL DOCUMENTS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, THESE
DOCUMENTS SHALL BE CONSIDERED A PART OF THE PLAN SET.

2. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO PREPARE SUBGRADE SOILS
BENEATH ALL PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS AND BACKFILL ALL
EXCAVATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH RECOMMENDATIONS BY THE
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER OF RECORD.

3. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING SHORING FOR
ALL EXCAVATIONS AS REQUIRED.  CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE THE
SHORING DESIGN PREPARED BY A QUALIFIED PROFESSIONAL.
SHORING DESIGNS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. AND THE OWNER PRIOR TO THE START
OF CONSTRUCTION.

4. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THAT ALL OPEN
EXCAVATIONS ARE PERFORMED AND PROTECTED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE LATEST OSHA REGULATIONS.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DEWATERING DESIGN
AND OPERATIONS, AS REQUIRED, TO CONSTRUCT THE PROPOSED
IMPROVEMENTS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN ANY REQUIRED
PERMITS FOR DEWATERING OPERATIONS AND GROUNDWATER
DISPOSAL.

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT PLAN

C-4

1" = 30'

RIDGELINE

PROPERTY LINE

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

PROPOSED GRADING CONTOUR

PROPOSED GRADING RIDGELINE

100

PROPOSED STORMWATER STRUCTURES

PROPOSED STORMWATER PIPING

MHMH

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

04
-0

5-
ST

R
M

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

MH

MH PROPOSED UNDERGROUND
OUTLET STRUCTURE

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS STANDARD UTILITY NOTES:

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARD 
DRAWINGS.  IF NO CITY STANDARD IS AVAILABLE, THEN STANDARD
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FROM THE MONTGOMERY COUNTY,
OHIO ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT OR THE STATE OF OHIO
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION “CONSTRUCTION & MATERIALS
SPECIFICATIONS” (LATEST EDITION) SHALL BE FOLLOWED.

2. ALL UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION WITHIN THE EXISTING  AND
PROPOSED RIGHT-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS SHALL BE  BACKFILLED
WITH GRANULAR FILL MATERIAL IN  ACCORDANCE WITH CITY
SPECIFICATIONS AND COMPACTED  BEFORE SUB-GRADE APPROVAL.

3. ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY SERVICE LATERALS ARE TO BE  INSTALLED
FROM MAIN TO RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE BEFORE  STREETS ARE SURFACED.

4. ALL CATCH BASINS (CURB AND GUTTER INLET) ODOT TYPE 3A UNLESS
OTHERWISE  SPECIFIED. THE CASTING HOOD SHALL HAVE "DUMP NO
WASTE” LETTERING AND FISH IMAGE.

5. ALL STORM SEWER PIPE SHALL BE REINFORCED CONCRETE  ASTM C-76,
CLASS IV, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL MANHOLES TO BE TYPE "A", UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
7. CHANNEL BOTTOMS OF ALL MANHOLES.
8. CURB RAMPS TO BE LOCATED AS INDICATED ON PLANS AND

CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY SPECIFICATIONS.
9. CONCRETE CURBING TO BE A TYPE SPECIFIED IN THE CITY OF  HUBER

HEIGHTS STANDARD DRAWINGS. EXTRUDED OR PRECAST CURB IS
NOT PERMITTED.

10. ALL FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE REPLACED OR  CONNECTED
TO THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

11. SITE GRADING WITHIN SUBDIVISIONS SHALL BE SUCH THAT
ALL LOTS WILL READILY DRAIN. LOTS SHALL HAVE A 1.5%
MINIMUM SLOPE IN GRASS AREAS. OVERLAND FLOW ON              LOTS
SHALL BE LIMITED TO A MAXIMUM DISTANCE OF THREE HUNDRED
(300) FEET UNLESS APPROVED BY THE CITY              ENGINEER.

12. ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE SHOWN IN THEIR
APPROXIMATE LOCATION ACCORDING TO THE BEST AVAILABLE
INFORMATION. FORTY-EIGHT (48) HOURS BEFORE DIGGING IS TO
COMMENCE, THE CONTRACTORS SHALL NOTIFY THE FOLLOWING
AGENCIES: THE OHIO UTILITIES  PROTECTION SERVICE (OUPS) AT
1-800-362-2764; THE DAYTON  POWER & LIGHT CO. AT 937-866-3303,
AND ALL OTHER  AGENCIES WHICH MIGHT HAVE UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES INVOLVING THIS PROJECT AND ARE NON-MEMBERS OF OUPS.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE APPROPRIATE MEASURES TO
CONTROL SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGH THE  LIFE
OF THE CONTRACT. THESE MAY INVOLVE THE USE OF  HAY AND
STRAW BALES, DIKES, SEDIMENT PITS, MULCHES,  FILTER FABRICS AND
OTHER DEVICES AND METHODS. PARTICULAR CARE SHALL BE TAKEN
TO AVOID EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION ON EXISTING PAVED AND
GRAVELED  AREAS.

14. ROOF AREA DRAIN LINES SHALL NOT BE EXTENDED THROUGH CURBS
BUT SHALL BE DIRECTLY CONNECTED TO THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

15. ALL METAL CASTINGS SHALL BE PAINTED WITH TWO COATS  OF
BLACK ASPHALTUM PAINT.

16. ALL EXISTING MONUMENTS SHALL BE PROTECTED AND OR
REFERENCED BY THE CONTRACTOR. MONUMENTS SHOWN ON  THE
PLANS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DETAILS
SHOWN ON MONTGOMERY COUNTY STANDARD  CONSTRUCTION
DRAWING MC-1. MONUMENT BOXES SHALL BE LOCATED AT
ROADWAY PI, PC, PT POINTS AS WELL AS CROSS STREETS CENTERLINE.

17. CONSTRUCTION STAKING MUST BE FURNISHED FOR THE CITY
INSPECTOR TO VERIFY CONFORMANCE TO THE DESIGN PLAN.
CONSTRUCTION STAKING IS REQUIRED AT SUFFICIENT DENSITY TO
ENSURE THE CITY INSPECTOR CAN VERIFY THE WORK PERFORMED BY
THE CONTRACTOR.  CONTACT THE CITY INSPECTOR TO ENSURE
ADEQUATE CONSTRUCTION STAKING IS FURNISHED.

18. ALL SURVEY MUST BE PERFORMED BY THE STATE OF OHIO LICENSED
SURVEYOR.



X

X

X

X

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

C
TP

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD
O

LD
 T

R
O

Y 
PI

KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

EXISTING DEVELOPMENT SITE

13,037 SF = 0.30 AC IMPERVIOUS C= 0.95

185,182 SF = 4.25 AC PERVIOUS (HSG 'C') C= 0.45

198,219 SF = 4.55 AC TOTAL AREA, C = 0.48

X

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SITE

75,979 SF = 1.74 AC IMPERVIOUS C= 0.95

122,240 SF = 2.81 AC PERVIOUS (HSG 'C') C= 0.45

198,219 SF = 4.55 AC TOTAL AREA, C = 0.64

STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT PLAN

C-5

1" = 60'

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

04
-0

5-
ST

R
M

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

PROPOSED STORMWATER BASIN - 10-YEAR EVENT

EXISTING SITE: 1-YEAR EVENT

EXISTING SITE COVERAGE
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 120'60'60'

1" = 60'

PROPOSED SITE COVERAGE
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 120'60'60'

1" = 60'

PROPOSED SITE: 1-YEAR EVENT

CRITICAL STORM EVENT
17,440 CF / 10,047 CF = 1.735 = 73.5% INCREASE

DESIGN RELEASE RATE (10-YR) < EXISTING SITE RUNOFF (1-YR)
1.57 CFS < 1.59 CFS

5,000 CF FOREBAY PROVIDED



S

S

S S

TPELEC

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

FF = 895.50

MH

MH

M
HM
H

MH

MH

MH

G

E

T

S

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

W W

EEEE

E
E

E

E
E

E

S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

E

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

FF = 895.50

MH

MH

M
HM
H

MH

SA
N

SA
N

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

SA
N

SA
N

SAN

W

W W W W W
W W W W W W W W

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

E/
T

/C

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

MH

MH

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

PROPOSED CONNECTION TO EXISTING UTILITY
POLE.  CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM FEASIBILITY OF
CONNECTION WITH ELECTRIC AUTHORITY PRIOR
TO CONSTRUCTION.

CONNECTION TO PROPOSED
PRIVATE 1.5" SDR 11 HDPE
SANITARY FORCE MAIN.
REFER TO SANITARY FORCE
MAIN INSET

PROPOSED TRANSFORMER
ON REINFORCED CONCRETE

PAD WITH BOLLARDS

PROPOSED 284 LF OF
UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC /

TELECOMMUNICATION CONDUIT

PROPOSED 82 LF OF
UNDERGROUND

ELECTRIC CONDUIT

PROPOSED 199 LF OF 2"
BLACK POLY WATER SERVICE

PROPOSED
WATER METER PIT

G

PROPOSED
GAS METER

E

PROPOSED
ELECTRIC METER

PROPOSED SANITARY
CLEANOUT (TYPICAL)

E/T/C E/T/C
T

PROPOSED 1,250 GAL EXTERIOR
GREASE INTERCEPTOR

PROPOSED GAS CONDUIT

PROPOSED 33 LF 4"
SDR 35 SANITARY LINE

PROPOSED 3/4" POLYETHYLENE
WATER SERVICE FOR PRESSURE
WASH

PROPOSED 444 LF 6" SDR 35
SANITARY LINE @1.50% SLOPE

PROPOSED 45 LF 4" SDR 35
SANITARY LINE

PROPOSED 12"x8" TAPPING SLEEVE CONNECTION
TO EXISTING WATER MAIN.  CONTRACTOR TO

CONFIRM FEASIBILITY OF CONNECTION AND
DIRECTIONAL DRILLING METHODS WITH PROPER

AUTHORITY PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

PROPOSED 8" GATE
VALVE IN WELL

PROPOSED 90° BEND

PROPOSED 241 LF OF 8"
CLASS 54 DUCTILE IRON

WATER MAIN

20
'

PROPOSED 20 FT WATER
MAIN EASEMENT

PROPOSED HYDRANT
ASSEMBLY, REFER TO
CITY STANDARD DETAIL

PROPOSED 16 LF OF 8"
CLASS 54 DUCTILE IRON

WATER MAIN

PROPOSED CONNECTION TO
EXISTING UTILITIES. ROUTING TO
BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO THE START
OF CONSTRUCTION.

SAN

PROPOSED 45° TAPPING SLEEVE TO 8"
MAIN. REFER TO CITY STANDARD WATER
MAIN SERVICE CONNECTION DETAIL

PROPOSED UTILITY CROSSING.
CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN
MINIMUM 18" VERTICAL
CLEARANCE. (TYPICAL)

S

NO. S-101
RIM: 880.75

PROP. DUPLEX GRINDER
PUMP STATION

PROPOSED ENVIRONMENT ONE
DH152-93 GRINDER PUMP IN
STATION TANK, DEDICATED
FOR PRIVATE USE ONLY

213
'

32
7'

PROPOSED REDUCER & 5 LF
OF 6" CLASS 54 DUCTILE

IRON WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 3 LF OF 2" TYPE
'K' COPPER & CURB STOP

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO CALL THE APPROPRIATE
AUTHORITY FOR NOTICE OF CONSTRUCTION/EXCAVATION AND
UTILITY MARK OUT PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION IN
ACCORDANCE WITH STATE LAW.  CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO
CONFIRM THE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL LOCATION OF UTILITIES
IN THE FIELD.  SHOULD A DISCREPANCY EXIST BETWEEN THE FIELD
LOCATION OF A UTILITY AND THE LOCATION SHOWN ON THE PLAN
SET OR SURVEY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. IMMEDIATELY IN WRITING.

2. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO PROTECT AND MAINTAIN IN
OPERATION ALL UTILITIES NOT DESIGNATED TO BE REMOVED.

3. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPAIRING ANY DAMAGE TO
ANY EXISTING UTILITY IDENTIFIED TO REMAIN WITHIN THE LIMITS OF
THE PROPOSED WORK DURING CONSTRUCTION.

4. A MINIMUM HORIZONTAL SEPARATION OF 10 FEET IS REQUIRED
BETWEEN ANY SANITARY SEWER SERVICE AND ANY WATER LINES. IF
THIS SEPARATION CANNOT BE PROVIDED, A CONCRETE
ENCASEMENT SHALL BE UTILIZED FOR THE SANITARY SEWER SERVICE
AS APPROVED BY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC.

5. ALL WATER LINES SHALL BE VERTICALLY SEPARATED ABOVE SANITARY
SEWER LINES BY A MINIMUM DISTANCE OF 18 INCHES. IF THIS
SEPARATION CANNOT BE PROVIDED, A CONCRETE ENCASEMENT
SHALL BE UTILIZED FOR THE SANITARY SEWER SERVICE AS APPROVED
BY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC.

6. THE CONTRACTOR TO PERFORM A TEST PIT PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION (RECOMMEND 30 DAYS PRIOR) AT LOCATIONS OF
EXISTING UTILITY CROSSINGS FOR WATER AND SANITARY SEWER
CONNECTION IMPROVEMENTS.  SHOULD A CONFLICT EXIST, THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC. IN WRITING.

7. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING GAS,
ELECTRIC AND TELECOMMUNICATION CONNECTIONS WITH THE
APPROPRIATE GOVERNING AUTHORITY.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL START CONSTRUCTION OF ANY GRAVITY
SEWER AT THE LOWEST INVERT AND WORK UP-GRADIENT.

9. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO MAINTAIN A RECORD SET OF
PLANS REFLECTING THE LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES THAT
HAVE BEEN CAPPED, ABANDONED, OR RELOCATED BASED ON THE
DEMOLITION/REMOVAL ACTIVITIES REQUIRED IN THIS PLAN SET. THIS
DOCUMENT SHALL BE PROVIDED TO THE OWNER FOLLOWING
COMPLETION OF WORK.

10. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO MAINTAIN A RECORD OF THE
AS-BUILT LOCATIONS OF ALL PROPOSED UNDERGROUND
INFRASTRUCTURE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE ANY
DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE AS-BUILT LOCATIONS AND THE
LOCATIONS DEPICTED WITHIN THE PLAN SET. THIS RECORD SHALL BE
PROVIDED TO THE OWNER FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF WORK.

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

06
-U

T
IL

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

UTILITY PLAN

C-6

1" = 30'

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

SAN

E/T/C

T/C

W

E

G

S

PROPOSED SANITARY LATERAL

PROPOSED DATA CONDUITS

PROPOSED ELECTRICAL/DATA CONDUITS

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED DOMESTIC WATER SERVICE

PROPOSED ELECTRIC CONDUITS

PROPOSED GAS LINE

PROPOSED VALVE

PROPOSED SANITARY MANHOLE /
CLEANOUT

T PROPOSED TRANSFORMER ON
CONCRETE PAD WITH BOLLARDS

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS STANDARD UTILITY NOTES:

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARD DRAWINGS.
IF NO CITY STANDARD IS AVAILABLE, THEN STANDARD DRAWINGS
AND SPECIFICATIONS FROM THE MONTGOMERY COUNTY, OHIO
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT OR THE STATE OF OHIO DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION “CONSTRUCTION & MATERIALS SPECIFICATIONS”
(LATEST EDITION) SHALL BE FOLLOWED.

2. ALL UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION WITHIN THE EXISTING  AND
PROPOSED RIGHT-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS SHALL BE  BACKFILLED
WITH GRANULAR FILL MATERIAL IN  ACCORDANCE WITH CITY
SPECIFICATIONS AND COMPACTED  BEFORE SUB-GRADE APPROVAL.

3. ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY SERVICE LATERALS ARE TO BE  INSTALLED
FROM MAIN TO RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE BEFORE  STREETS ARE SURFACED.

4. ALL CATCH BASINS (CURB AND GUTTER INLET) ODOT TYPE 3A UNLESS
OTHERWISE  SPECIFIED. THE CASTING HOOD SHALL HAVE "DUMP NO
WASTE” LETTERING AND FISH IMAGE.

5. ALL STORM SEWER PIPE SHALL BE REINFORCED CONCRETE  ASTM C-76,
CLASS IV, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL MANHOLES TO BE TYPE "A", UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
7. CHANNEL BOTTOMS OF ALL MANHOLES.
8. CURB RAMPS TO BE LOCATED AS INDICATED ON PLANS AND

CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY SPECIFICATIONS.
9. CONCRETE CURBING TO BE A TYPE SPECIFIED IN THE CITY OF  HUBER

HEIGHTS STANDARD DRAWINGS. EXTRUDED OR PRECAST CURB IS
NOT PERMITTED.

10. ALL FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE REPLACED OR  CONNECTED
TO THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

11. SITE GRADING WITHIN SUBDIVISIONS SHALL BE SUCH THAT
ALL LOTS WILL READILY DRAIN. LOTS SHALL HAVE A 1.5%
MINIMUM SLOPE IN GRASS AREAS. OVERLAND FLOW ON              LOTS
SHALL BE LIMITED TO A MAXIMUM DISTANCE OF THREE HUNDRED (300)
FEET UNLESS APPROVED BY THE CITY              ENGINEER.

12. ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE SHOWN IN THEIR
APPROXIMATE LOCATION ACCORDING TO THE BEST AVAILABLE
INFORMATION. FORTY-EIGHT (48) HOURS BEFORE DIGGING IS TO
COMMENCE, THE CONTRACTORS SHALL NOTIFY THE FOLLOWING
AGENCIES: THE OHIO UTILITIES  PROTECTION SERVICE (OUPS) AT
1-800-362-2764; THE DAYTON  POWER & LIGHT CO. AT 937-866-3303,
AND ALL OTHER  AGENCIES WHICH MIGHT HAVE UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES INVOLVING THIS PROJECT AND ARE NON-MEMBERS OF OUPS.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE APPROPRIATE MEASURES TO
CONTROL SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGH THE  LIFE
OF THE CONTRACT. THESE MAY INVOLVE THE USE OF  HAY AND
STRAW BALES, DIKES, SEDIMENT PITS, MULCHES,  FILTER FABRICS AND
OTHER DEVICES AND METHODS. PARTICULAR CARE SHALL BE TAKEN
TO AVOID EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION ON EXISTING PAVED AND
GRAVELED  AREAS.

14. ROOF AREA DRAIN LINES SHALL NOT BE EXTENDED THROUGH CURBS
BUT SHALL BE DIRECTLY CONNECTED TO THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

15. ALL METAL CASTINGS SHALL BE PAINTED WITH TWO COATS  OF
BLACK ASPHALTUM PAINT.

16. ALL EXISTING MONUMENTS SHALL BE PROTECTED AND OR
REFERENCED BY THE CONTRACTOR. MONUMENTS SHOWN ON  THE
PLANS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DETAILS
SHOWN ON MONTGOMERY COUNTY STANDARD  CONSTRUCTION
DRAWING MC-1. MONUMENT BOXES SHALL BE LOCATED AT
ROADWAY PI, PC, PT POINTS AS WELL AS CROSS STREETS CENTERLINE.

17. CONSTRUCTION STAKING MUST BE FURNISHED FOR THE CITY
INSPECTOR TO VERIFY CONFORMANCE TO THE DESIGN PLAN.
CONSTRUCTION STAKING IS REQUIRED AT SUFFICIENT DENSITY TO
ENSURE THE CITY INSPECTOR CAN VERIFY THE WORK PERFORMED BY
THE CONTRACTOR.  CONTACT THE CITY INSPECTOR TO ENSURE
ADEQUATE CONSTRUCTION STAKING IS FURNISHED.

18. ALL SURVEY MUST BE PERFORMED BY THE STATE OF OHIO LICENSED
SURVEYOR.

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS STANDARD SANITARY NOTES:

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE QUALIFIED TO CONSTRUCT  SANITARY
SEWERS. ALL SUCH WORK SHALL BE  CONSTRUCTED ACCORDING TO
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS  SPECIFICATIONS.

2. SANITARY SEWER PIPE AND FITTINGS SHALL BE PVC S3034 SDR 26.
3. SANITARY SEWER PIPE JOINTS SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM D 3212 FOR

PVC.
4. ROOF DRAINS, FOUNDATION DRAINS AND OTHER CLEAN  WATER

CONNECTIONS TO THE SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM  ARE PROHIBITED.
5. NO CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMMENCE UNTIL ALL PERMITS  HAVE

BEEN ISSUED.
6. ALL UTILITY TRENCHES WITHIN THE EXISTING OR PROPOSED  STREET

RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH  COMPACTED
GRANULAR MATERIAL CONFORMING TO ODOT 310 IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE CITY SPECIFICATIONS.

7. NO ADDITIONS, DELETIONS OR REVISIONS TO THE SANITARY  SEWER
ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN  APPROVAL BY THE CITY
OF HUBER HEIGHTS.

8. WATER LINES CROSSING ANY AND ALL SEWERS SHALL HAVE  A
MINIMUM VERTICAL SEPARATION OF 18" BETWEEN THE  OUTSIDES OF
THE WATER MAIN PIPE AND THE SEWER PIPE.  ONE FULL LENGTH OF
WATER MAIN PIPE SHALL BE  CENTERED AT THE POINT OF CROSSING
SUCH THAT BOTH  JOINTS WILL BE EQUIDISTANT AND AS FAR FROM
THE SEWER  AS POSSIBLE. IF WATER CROSSES BELOW SANITARY
SEWERS, THE SEWER MUST BE WATER MAIN MATERIAL FOR THAT
SPAN.

9. ALL SERVICE LATERALS SHALL BE PVC SCHEDULE 40 AND ARE TO BE
INSTALLED FROM MAIN TO RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT BEFORE
STREETS ARE SURFACED.

10. ALL MANHOLES SHALL BE PRECAST IN ACCORDANCE WITH  CITY
STANDARDS. MANHOLE STEPS SHALL BE PLASTIC.  ALL  MANHOLE
FRAMES AND LIDS SHALL BE DUCTILE IRON TRAFFIC BEARING WITH
VENT HOLES TO BE AT THE  OPTION OF THE CITY ENGINEER.

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS STANDARD WATER NOTES:

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE QUALIFIED TO CONSTRUCT  WATER
MAINS. ALL WATER LINES AND APPURTENANCES SHALL BE
CONSTRUCTED ACCORDING TO CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
SPECIFICATIONS.

2. WATER MAINS, BENDS AND FITTINGS SHALL BE DUCTILE  CAST IRON
PIPE AND CONFORM TO ANSI A-21.51 (AWWA C 151), CLASS 53. BENDS
AND TEES SHALL BE RESTRAINED  USING BOTH MEGA LUGS AND
CONCRETE THRUST BLOCKS  FOR THE LENGTH DETERMINED BY THE
CITY INSPECTOR.

3. ALL WATER MAINS SHALL HAVE 4' -6" MINIMUM COVER.
4. NO SERVICE CONNECTIONS SHALL BE MADE TO THE WATER  MAIN

UNTIL THE MAIN LINE HAS BEEN INSPECTED, TESTED,  DISINFECTED
AND RELEASED FOR TAPS.

5. NO CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMMENCE UNTIL ALL PERMITS  HAVE
BEEN ISSUED.

6. ALL UTILITY TRENCHES WITHIN THE EXISTING OR PROPOSED
PAVEMENT OR EASEMENTS SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH  COMPACTED
GRANULAR MATERIAL CONFORMING TO ODOT  310 IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE CITY SPECIFICATIONS.

7. NO ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, OR REVISIONS TO THE WATER  FACILITIES
ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN  APPROVAL BY THE CITY
OF HUBER HEIGHTS.

8. ONLY CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS OR UNITED WATER  PERSONNEL
SHALL OPERATE MAIN LINE WATER VALVES.

9. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 2' FROM AND  WITHIN 5' OF
THE CURB OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT AND 4"  OPENING TO FACE THE
STREET.

10. WATER LINES CROSSING ANY AND ALL SEWERS SHALL HAVE  A
MINIMUM VERTICAL SEPARATION OF 18" BETWEEN THE  OUTSIDES OF
THE WATER MAIN PIPE AND THE SEWER PIPE.   ONE FULL LENGTH OF
WATER MAIN PIPE SHALL BE  CENTERED AT THE POINT OF CROSSING
SUCH THAT BOTH  JOINTS WILL BE EQUIDISTANT AND AS FAR FROM
THE SEWER  AS POSSIBLE. IF WATER CROSSES BELOW SANITARY
SEWERS,  THE SEWER MUST BE WATER MAIN MATERIAL FOR THAT
SPAN.

11. ALL SERVICE LATERALS ARE TO BE INSTALLED FROM MAIN  TO RIGHT
OF WAY OR EASEMENT BEFORE STREETS ARE  SURFACED.

12. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THE LOCATION AND DEPTH  OF
EXISTING WATER MAINS BEFORE CONSTRUCTION OF NEW  WATER
MAIN AT PROPOSED CONNECTIONS.

13. ALL GATE VALVES ARE TO BE LOCATED AT TEES OR CROSSES  WITH A
L' MAXIMUM NIPPLE BETWEEN TEE OR CROSS AND  VALVE. ALL PLUGS
ARE TO BE CONNECTED TO VALVES  EXCEPT WHERE SHOWN ON
PLANS. PLUGS SHALL BE TAPPED  WITH A 3/4" SHUT OFF VALVE FOR
RELEASE OF AIR AND FOR  FLUSHING.

14. ALL VALVES AND FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL HAVE RIGHT HAND
(CLOCKWISE) OPENING DIRECTION.

15. GATE VALVES SHALL HAVE RESILIENT SEATS RATHER THAN  BRASS
SEATS. OPERATING RODS SHALL HAVE O-RING WATER  SEALS RATHER
THAN PACKING GLANDS.

16. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS IN SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SHALL
BE MUELLER CENTURION 250  MODEL A423 WITH 5-1 1/4" MAIN VALVE
OPENING  WITH ONE 5" STORTZ  OUTLET WITH CAP AND 2 2-½”
OUTLETS WITH CITY OF DAYTON THREADS.

17. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS IN MULTI FAMILY RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL
DISTRICTS SHALL BE MUELLER CENTURION 200 MODEL A-425 WITH 5-1
1/4" MAIN VALVE OPENING TWO WAY WITH ONE 4" STORTZ OUTLET
WITH CAP AND ONE 5" STORTZ OUTLET WITH CAP.  OPERATING NUT
TO BE A 1” SQUARE.

18. THE FIRE HYDRANT BREAKAWAY FLANGE SHALL BE  LOCATED 4"
ABOVE THE TOP OF CURB.

19. FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE PRIMED WITH RED OXIDE PRIMER  AND
PAINTED WITH TWO (2) COATS OF RED ENAMEL FROM  THE
BREAK-AWAY FLANGE TO THE TOP OF THE HYDRANT.   LOWER
SECTIONS OF THE HYDRANT, INCLUDING THE BARREL  SHALL BE
PAINTED WITH AN ASPHALTUM PAINT.

20. WATER SERVICE LINES SHALL BE 1" TYPE K COPPER PER CITY
STANDARDS. METER YOKES AND METER VAULTS SHALL BE  PER
MONTGOMERY COUNTY STANDARDS.

21. BOLLARDS, WHERE REQUIRED, SHALL BE CONCRETE FILLED  8"
DIAMETER POSTS WITH FOUNDATIONS SET 42" BELOW  GRADE IN A
CONCRETE FILLED EXCAVATION.

22. ALL HYDRANTS SHALL HAVE CITY OF DAYTON THREADS  RATHER
THAN NATIONAL STANDARD THREADS EXCEPT FOR  THE STREAMER
CONNECTION WHICH SHALL BE A STORTZ  FITTING.

SANITARY FORCE MAIN INSET
SCALE: 1" = 200'

PROPOSED PUMP
STATION

PROPOSED ±450
FT FORCE MAIN

PROPOSED
CONNECTION
TO EXISTING
DOWNSTREAM
MANHOLE

PROPOSED 444
GRAVITY SEWER

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y

 P
IK

E

JOHANNSEN AVE



S

S

S
S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.8 0.7 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2.2 1.4 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 2.6 2.7 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 2.6 2.8 0.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 2.4 1.8 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 1.7 1.7 0.7 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 2.2 2.0 0.8 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.9 3.1 1.1 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.5 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.9 1.2 0.8 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.8 3.1 1.5 1.2 2.2 1.8 2.2 2.1 1.6 2.3 2.7 2.8 2.5 1.0 0.6 0.6 0.8 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.9 2.0 1.2 1.3 2.2 3.3 3.1 2.0 1.6 1.7 2.4 2.3 1.4 0.8 0.5 0.6 1.3 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 1.0 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.4 1.7 1.7 1.5 1.2 1.1 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.6 1.1 3.0 2.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.8 1.3 1.7 1.6 2.1 3.0 1.9 1.8 2.2 0.9 0.7 2.7 4.0 5.3 6.0 4.6 2.5 2.5 1.8 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.4 1.0 2.2 4.5 2.5 3.4 5.0 3.1 4.8 4.4 2.0 1.2 4.9 12.4 16.5 23.0 18.1 3.6 1.2 0.9 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3 1.1 3.4 4.8 2.7 3.6 4.3 2.9 3.1 2.0 1.5 6.4 16.3 20.5 27.7 21.1 4.4 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 1.0 1.8 2.5 2.9 1.7 1.5 7.5 15.7 19.6 25.3 19.5 5.0 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3 0.8 1.8 3.1 0.0 2.8 2.3 1.4 5.5 16.2 20.3 27.4 25.1 5.5 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.7 1.6 2.0 0.0 2.3 2.7 1.5 6.5 14.8 19.0 25.0 20.4 7.5 0.9 0.9 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.2 5.8 3.5 1.7 1.2 4.8 15.0 19.9 25.5 26.9 7.2 2.0 1.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.3 7.3 2.9 1.7 1.1 5.0 13.8 17.8 23.8 20.4 9.9 3.1 1.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.7 4.7 4.7 2.1 4.8 3.9 1.3 4.3 13.5 18.6 23.2 29.0 9.5 3.2 1.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.4 1.2 2.6 3.0 3.4 5.4 2.9 4.0 2.4 1.0 2.9 10.0 14.5 17.4 19.9 8.3 2.1 1.8 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.8 2.2 1.9 2.6 3.2 1.9 1.5 1.4 0.7 1.8 4.3 4.6 5.7 3.8 2.1 1.1 1.0 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.8 1.2 1.5 1.7 1.6 1.5 1.3 1.1 0.9 0.8 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.4 1.1 0.8 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.7 1.3 2.4 2.8 2.2 2.1 2.7 3.3 2.4 1.7 1.2 1.0 1.2 2.1 3.1 2.8 1.7 0.8 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.8 2.0 2.7 3.0 3.1 2.2 3.1 2.4 2.4 2.3 1.8 1.2 1.2 2.1 1.4 1.8 1.5 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3 0.7 1.2 1.2 0.7 1.1 1.1 0.8 0.2 0.4 2.0 2.6 1.3 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.1 2.8 1.6 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.6 2.7 1.6 0.6 0.4 0.3 0.5 1.0 1.2 1.4 1.3 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.7 1.2 1.1 2.1 2.5 2.7 2.5 1.7 2.5 2.8 2.8 1.9 0.8 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.8 0.8 1.0 1.5 2.7 2.8 1.7 1.4 1.4 1.8 1.6 0.9 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

A  (20')

A  (20')

A  (20') A  (20')

A  (20')

A  (20')

A  (20')

A  (20')

A  (20')
A  (20')

A  (20')

B  (15')

B  (15')

B  (15')

B  (15')

B  (15')
B  (15')

C  (22.75')
(2 TYPICAL)

C  (22.75')
(2 TYPICAL)

C  (22.75')
(2 TYPICAL)

C  (22.75')
(2 TYPICAL) C  (17.25')

(2 TYPICAL)

C  (17.25')
(2 TYPICAL)

C  (17.25')
(2 TYPICAL)

C  (17.25')
(2 TYPICAL)

B  (15')

B  (15')

A  (20')

GENERAL LIGHTING NOTES

1. THE LIGHTING LEVELS DEPICTED WITHIN THE PLAN SET ARE
CALCULATED UTILIZING DATA OBTAINED FROM THE LISTED
MANUFACTURER. ACTUAL ILLUMINATION LEVELS AND PERFORMANCE
OF ANY PROPOSED LIGHTING FIXTURE MAY VARY DUE TO
UNCONTROLLABLE VARIABLES SUCH ARE WEATHER, VOLTAGE
SUPPLY, LAMP TOLERANCE, EQUIPMENT SERVICE LIFE AND OTHER
VARIABLE FIELD CONDITIONS.

2. WHERE APPLICABLE, THE EXISTING LIGHT LEVELS DEPICTED WITHIN
THE PLAN SET SHALL BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THE EXISTING
LIGHT LEVELS ARE BASED ON FIELD OBSERVATIONS AND THE
MANUFACTURER'S DATA OF THE ASSUMED OR MOST SIMILAR
LIGHTING FIXTURE MODEL.

3. UNLESS NOTED ELSEWHERE WITHIN THIS PLAN SET, THE LIGHT LOSS
FACTORS USED IN THE LIGHTING ANALYSIS ARE AS FOLLOWS:
· LIGHT EMITTING DIODES (LED): 0.90
· HIGH PRESSURE SODIUM: 0.72
· METAL HALIDE: 0.72

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY STONEFIELD ENGINEERING &
DESIGN, LLC. IN WRITING, PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION,
OF ANY PROPOSED LIGHTING LOCATIONS THAT CONFLICT WITH
EXISTING/ PROPOSED DRAINAGE, UTILITY, OR OTHER IMPROVEMENTS.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO PREPARE A WIRING PLAN AND
PROVIDE ELECTRIC SERVICE TO ALL PROPOSED LIGHTING FIXTURES.
THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO PREPARE AN AS-BUILT PLAN OF
WIRING AND PROVIDE COPIES TO THE OWNER AND STONEFIELD
ENGINEERING & DESIGN, LLC.

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

07
-L

G
H

T
.D

W
G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

LIGHTING PLAN

C-7

1" = 30'

A  (XX')

X.X

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION
PROPOSED LIGHTING FIXTURE
(MOUNTING HEIGHT)

PROPOSED LIGHTING INTENSITY
(FOOTCANDLES)

PROPOSED AREA LIGHT

PROPOSED BUILDING MOUNTED  LIGHT

LLFDISTRIBUTIONQUANTITYLABELSYMBOL

CREE EDGE SERIES LED AREA LIGHT W/ BACK
LIGHT SHIELD - 60 LED - 525mA - 57K - SINGLE

LUMINARIE SCHEDULE

MANUFACTURER

ARE-EDG-3MB-XX-06-E-UL -XX -525-XXXX-57K

IES FILE

0.90TYPE III12A

SECURITY LIGHTING

CREE LIGHTING

LIGHTING REQUIREMENTS
CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROVIDED

§ 1181.21(c)(12) PROPERTY LINE ILLUMINATION:

NON-RESIDENTIAL: 1.0 FC 2.8 FC (W)

RESIDENTIAL: 1.0 FC 0.0 FC

§ 1181.21(c)(1) MAXIMUM FIXTURE MOUNTING HEIGHT:

25 FT 20 FT

§ 1181.21(c)(5) REQUIRED UNIFORMITY: 2.79

AVERAGE TO MINIMUM RATIO: 4:1

§ 1181.21(c)(11) MINIMUM REQUIRED ILLUMINATION:

PARKING AREAS: 0.2 FC 2.45 FC

LOADING / UNLOADING AREAS: 0.4 FC 3.18 FC

WALKWAYS: 0.2 FC 3.56 FC

BUILDING ENTRANCES (FREQUENTLY USED): 1.0 FC 3.35 FC

BUILDING ENTRANCES (INFREQUENTLY USED): 0.2 FC 3.05 FC

(W) WAIVER

CANOPY LIGHT (C)
NOT TO SCALE

BUILDING WALL LIGHT (B)
NOT TO SCALE

AREA LIGHT (A)
NOT TO SCALE

SEC-EDG-4M-XX-06-E-UL-700-57KB 8 TYPE IV 0.90 CREE LIGHTING
CREE EDGE SERIES LED SECURITY WALL
PACK - 60 LED - 700mA - 57K

C 16 CREE LIGHTINGTYPE III304 SERIES LED RECESSED CANOPY LUMINAIRE
- 60 LED - 700mA - 57K

0.90 CAN-304-PS-XX-06-UL-700-57K

WAWA LIGHTING REQUIREMENTS
CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROVIDED

§ 7(1)(A) UNIFORMITY RATIO: 6-8 : 1

§ 7(1)(B) ZONE 1: PARKING AREA AND INTERNAL DRIVE

MINIMUM: 0.25 FOOT-CANDLES 0.60 FC

AVERAGE: 2.00 - 4.00 FOOT-CANDLES 2.45 FC

§ 7(1)(C) ZONE 2: BUILDING SIDEWALKS

MINIMUM: 1.00 FOOT-CANDLES 1.30 FC

AVERAGE: 3.00-5.00 FOOT-CANDLES 3.56 FC

§ 7(1)(D) ZONE 3: BUILDING FACADE

AVERAGE: 5.00 FOOT-CANDLES 5.48 FC

§ 7(1)(E) ZONE 4: DELIVERY AREA

MINIMUM: 15.00 FOOT-CANDLES AT BASE OF DOOR 9.2 FC

§ 7(1)(F) ZONE 5: CANOPY

AVERAGE: 35.00 - 40.00 FOOT-CANDLES (TYPICAL
SUBURBAN LOCATION)

19.95 FC

§ 7(1)(G) ZONE 6: ENTRANCE/ EXIT DRIVEWAYS (AT ROW)

OLD TROY PIKE:

AVERAGE: 5.00 FOOT-CANDLES 1.66 FC

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD:

AVERAGE: 5.00 FOOT-CANDLES 2.11 FC

§ 7(8) STANDARD POLE: 20 FT HEIGHT 20 FT



SA
N

SA
N

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

SA
N

SA
N

SAN

W

W W W W W
W W W W W W W W

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

E/
T

/C

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

E/
T

/C
E/

T
/C

MH

MH

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

G

E

E/T/C E/T/C
T

SAN

S

MH

MH

M
HM
H

MH

88
1

88
3

896
897

88
5

88
7

88
9

89
1

893

89
1

89
0

88
9

88
7

88
5

88
3

88
1

88
8

88
6

88
4

88
2

908
907 90

5

906

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

88
2

88
4

88
6

88
8

89
0

89
2

894

88
9

897
896

89
5

894

892

891

890

889

888

887
886 885 884 883

89
2

88
8 887

886

890

891

892

893

894

893
892

891
890

889
888

887
886

885
884

883
882

881

895

894

895

895

88
3

88
288

488
5

88
6

88
788
8

889

890

891

892

892

901
899900

898

90
2

90
1

89
9

90
0

89
8

89
7

90
4

902

90
9

90
3

90
8

90
7

90
5

90
6

904 903

892
891

890
889

888

89
3

887

885

883

88
1

886

884 88
2

880

891

890

889

892893

88
0

87
8

882

88
0

879

881
880

879
878

877

893

893

893

893

894

894

89
4

893

894

89
3

895

895

87
7

87
8

87
9

88
0

88
1

88
2

88
3

88
4

883

884

885

886
887

888

89
2

881
882

880

87
7

87
9

87
8

87
9

87
6

87
0

87
1

87
2

87
3

88
1

88
0

87
4

87
5

87
7

90
3

90
4

90
5

90
6

90
7

90
8

90
9

91
0

90
9

909

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

EEE

E
E

E

X
X

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

U59 FB-R
5,915 SF

53 PARKING SPACES

PROPOSED PARCEL
(81,941 SF; 1.88 AC)

PROPOSED PARCEL
(203,403 SF; 4.67 AC)

X X X X X X X

60'

60'

60
'

EXISTING WOODED AREA
TO REMAIN

1 EXISTING TREE TO
REMAIN AND ACCOUNT
FOR CHAMBERSBURG ROAD
STREET TREE REQUIREMENT

2 ACE 1 SYR

3 ACE

2 TIL

15 TAX 16 GLA

7 GLA

2 SYR

2 ACE 3 TIL

10 AZA

18 RUD

4 PAN

4 PAN

18 RUD

61 CAR 77 CAR

44 CAR

8 CAR

62 CAR

1 GLE

18 RUD

10 AZA

4 PAN

4 PAN

1 GLE

AREA TO BE LAWN

AREA TO BE LAWN

AREA TO BE LAWN

AREA TO BE LAWN

AREA TO BE LAWN

67 CAR 49 CAR

172 CAR

AREA TO BE LAWN

17 TREES TO
ACCOUNT FOR

TREE REPLACEMENT
REQUIREMENTS

2 SYR

2 SYR

2 SYR

AREA TO BE SEEDED
WITH MILLBORN SEEDS
OHIO ALL CRP WET MIX
(5,941 SF)

14 GLA 8 TAX 20 AZA

15 HYD

15 TAX

15 FOR

10 GLA

10 GLA

5 AZA

9 TAX

PARKING LOT TREE
REQUIREMENT ZONE

(2 TREES REQUIRED
WITHIN 60 FT OF EVERY

PARKING SPACE)

PROPOSED TRASH
ENCLOSURE

12 JUN

1 ACE

3 GLE

4 AME

15 VIB

AREA TO BE SEEDED
WITH MILLBORN SEEDS

SHORT & SHOWY GRASS
AND WILDFLOWER MIX

(13,151 SF)

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

08
-0

9-
LA

N
D

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

LANDSCAPING PLAN

C-8

1" = 30'

R

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

LANDSCAPING NOTES

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL DISTURBED GRASS AND
LANDSCAPED AREAS TO MATCH EXISTING CONDITIONS UNLESS
INDICATED OTHERWISE WITHIN THE PLAN SET.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL DISTURBED LAWN AREAS
WITH A MINIMUM 4 INCH LAYER OF TOPSOIL AND SEED.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE MULCH AREAS WITH A MINIMUM
3 INCH LAYER OF MULCH .

4. THE MAXIMUM SLOPE ALLOWABLE IN LANDSCAPE RESTORATION
AREAS SHALL BE 3 FEET HORIZONTAL TO 1 FOOT VERTICAL (3:1
SLOPE) UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE WITHIN THE PLAN SET.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO LOCATE ALL SPRINKLER HEADS
IN AREA OF LANDSCAPING DISTURBANCE PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RELOCATE SPRINKLER
HEADS AND LINES IN ACCORDANCE WITH OWNER'S DIRECTION
WITHIN AREAS OF DISTURBANCE.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL DISTURBED
LANDSCAPED AREAS ARE GRADED TO MEET FLUSH AT THE
ELEVATION OF WALKWAYS AND TOP OF CURB ELEVATIONS EXCEPT
UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE WITHIN THE PLAN SET. NO ABRUPT
CHANGES IN GRADE ARE PERMITTED IN DISTURBED LANDSCAPING
AREAS.

LANDSCAPING AND BUFFER REQUIREMENTS

CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROPOSED

YARD LANDSCAPING

§ 1176.03.(b)(1) ALL YARDS WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN SHALL BE LANDSCAPED AND NOT USED
FOR PARKING MINIMUM 15 FT ALONG THE PROPERTY LINES

COMPLIES

STREET TREES

§ 1181.17. 1 TREE FOR EVERY 40 LF OF FRONTAGE

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD: 429 FT

(316 FT) * (1 TREE / 40 FT FRONTAGE) = 8 TREES 1 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN
7 TREES PROPOSED

OLD TROY PIKE: 573 FT

(419 FT) * (1 TREE / 40 FT FRONTAGE) = 11 TREES 11 TREES PROPOSED

UTILITY SCREENING

§ 1181.18.(3) A CONTINUOUS PLANTING, HEDGE, OR FENCE ENCLOSING ANY SERVICE STRUCTURE(1)

ON ALL SIDES IS REQUIRED
SCREENING PROVIDED

THE HEIGHT OF THE SCREENING MATERIAL SHALL BE (1) FT HIGHER THAN THE SERVICE
STRUCTURE

COMPLIES

PLANT MATERIAL USED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE EVERGREEN COMPLIES

OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS

§ 1182.03.(b)(3)B. MINIMUM 25% OPEN SPACE IS REQUIRED TO BE MAINTAINED NEAREST TO ANY PUBLIC
RIGHT-OF-WAY VISIBLE BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC
(203,403 SF) * (0.25) = 50,851 SF 52,329 SF PROVIDED

25% OF THE OPEN SPACE PROVIDED SHALL BE LOCATED IN THE FRONT YARDS AND SIDE
YARDS
(50,851 SF) * (0.25) = 12,713 SF 13,082 SF PROVIDED

R.O.W. PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING

§ 1182.04.(a)(1) WHEN A PARKING LOT IS LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY A
LANDSCAPED STRIP SHALL BE PROVIDED ONT HE PROPERTY BETWEEN THE PARKING LOT
AND THE RIGHT OF WAY

LANDSCAPED STRIP
PROVIDED

§ 1182.04.(a)(2)A. LANDSCAPED STRIP WIDTH: 10 FT 10.00 FT PROVIDED

1 SHADE TREE FOR EVERY 35 LF OF FRONTAGE

(493 FT) * (1 TREE / 35 FT FRONTAGE) = 14 TREES 14 TREES PROPOSED

10 SHRUBS FOR EVERY 35 LF OF FRONTAGE

(493 FT) * (10 SHRUBS / 35 FT FRONTAGE) = 141 SHRUBS 141 SHRUBS PROPOSED

PERIMETER PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING

§ 1182.04.(b)(1) 10 FT WIDE LANDSCAPED STRIP REQUIRED BETWEEN THE PARKING LOT AND ANY
ADJACENT PROPERTY LINE

10.00 FT STRIP PROVIDED

1 SHADE TREE FOR EVERY 35 LF OF PARKING LOT PERIMETER

(177 FT) * (1 TREE / 35 FT FRONTAGE) = 5 TREES 5 TREES PROPOSED

3 SHRUBS FOR EVERY 35 LF OF PARKING LOT PERIMETER

(177 FT) * (3 SHRUBS / 35 FT FRONTAGE) = 16 SHRUBS 16 SHRUBS PROPOSED

INTERIOR PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING

§ 1182.04.(c) 4% OF THE TOTAL VEHICULAR USE AREA SHALL BE PERVIOUS AND LANDSCAPED

(35,230 SF) * (0.04) = 1,409 SF 1,940 SF PROVIDED

§ 1182.04.(c)(1) AT LEAST 2 SHADE TREES SHALL BE LOCATED WITHIN 60 FT OF EVERY PARKING SPACE DOES NOT COMPLY (W)

§ 1182.04.(c)(2)A. TERMINAL ISLANDS ARE REQUIRED AT THE ENDS OF PARKING BAYS COMPLIES

MINIMUM WIDTH: 9 FT 10.52 FT PROVIDED

75% OF THE TERMINAL ISLANDS SHALL BE PLANTED WITH PERENNIALS AND SHRUBS
MAXIMUM 2 FT HIGH

COMPLIES

THE REMAINING 25% OF THE TERMINAL ISLANDS SHALL BE COVERED WITH GRASS OR
MULCH

COMPLIES

§ 1182.04.(c)(5)A. MINIMUM 60 SF OF PLANTING SPACE SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR EACH TREE COMPLIES

NO TREE PLANTING AREA SHALL BE LESS THAN 6 FT WIDE COMPLIES

BUFFER AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

§ 1182.05.(a)(3)D. DENSE EVERGREEN PLANTINGS MAY BE USED FOR SCREENING PROVIDED

§ 1182.05.(a)(4)A. SIDE AND REAR YARDS FOR NONRESIDENTIAL USES ABUTTING RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS
SHALL PROVIDE SCREENING MINIMUM 6 FT HIGH

PROVIDED

§ 1182.05.(a)(4)E.5. BUFFER TYPE 4 REQUIRED ALONG WEST AND NORTH PROPERTY LINE. BUILDINGS OR USES
SHALL BE SET BACK MINIMUM 50 FT FROM ALL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT LOT LINES AND
SCREENING SHALL BE PROVIDED ALONG MUTUAL PROPERTY LINES

COMPLIES (2)

LOADING AREA SCREENING

§ 1182.05.(B)(1) ALL LOADING AREAS SHALL BE SCREENED FROM RESIDENTIAL ZONES PLANTINGS PROPOSED
SUPPLEMENTING EXISTING
WOODED AREA TO REMAIN

(W)
(1)

(2)

WAIVER
SERVICE STRUCTURES INCLUDE STORAGE TANKS, DUMPSTERS, ELECTRICAL TRANSFORMERS, AND OTHER EQUIPMENT PROVIDING SERVICE TO
A NON-RESIDENTIAL BUILDING OR SITE.
PROPOSED BUILDING AND PARKING LOT IS SET BACK MINIMUM 157.58 FT AWAY FROM THE NEAREST PROPERTY LINE WITH ADDITIONAL
SCREENING PROVIDED.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIREMENTS

CODE SECTION REQUIRED PROPOSED

§ 1182.12.(c) REPLACEMENT PLANTS MUST BE THE SAME
SIZE AND SPECIES OR MUST BE
EQUIVALENT IN TERMS OF QUALITY AND
SIZE TO ANY EXISTING TREES ON SITE OF
THE SAME SPECIES AT TIME OF PLANTING

COMPLIES

TOTAL TREES REMOVED = 17 TREES 17 REPLACEMENT TREES PROPOSED

MILLBORN SEEDS OHIO ALL CRP WET MIX
SEEDING SPECIFICATIONS:

GRASSES:

SCIENTIFIC NAME COMMON NAME SEEDS/FT2 PLS LBS/ACRE PLS LBS TOTAL
ANDROPOGON GERARDII  BIG BLUESTEM 2.369 0.650 0.65
SCHIZACHYRIUM SCOPARIUM LITTLE BLUESTEM 6.129 1.250 1.25
ELYMUS VIRGINICUS VIRGINIA WILDRYE 3.285 1.850 1.85
PANICUM VIRGATUM SWITCHGRASS 6.240 0.900 0.90
BOUTELOUA CURTIPENDULA SIDEOATS GRAMA 1.664 0.500 0.50
SCIRPUS ATROVIRENS BULRUSH, GREEN 5.069 0.030 0.030

SUBTOTAL GRASSES 24.756 5.180 5.180

FORBS/LEGUMES:

SCIENTIFIC NAME COMMON NAME SEEDS/FT2 PLS LBS/ACRE PLS LBS TOTAL
TRIFOLIUM HYBRIDUM ALSIKE CLOVER 0.479 0.030 0.030
TRIFOLIUM INCARNATUM CRIMSON CLOVER 0.503 0.120 0.12
TRIFOLIUM REPENS LADINO CLOVER 0.678 0.050 0.050
RUDBECKIA HIRTA BLACK-EYED SUSAN 1.304 0.030 0.030
VERBENA HASTATA BLUE VERVAIN 4.176 0.082 0.082
ZIZIA AUREA GOLDEN ALEXANDERS 0.105 0.025 0.025
ASCLEPIAS SYRIACA COMMON MILKWEED 0.045 0.030 0.030
LOBELIA SIPHILITICA GREAT BLUE LOBELIA 0.298 0.002 0.0020
MIMULUS RINGENS MONKEYFLOWER 4.346 0.005 0.0050
SYMPHYOTRICHUM NOVAE-ANGLIAE NEW-ENGLAND ASTER 0.195 0.008 0.0080
HELIOPSIS HELIANTHOIDES SMOOTH OXEYE 0.367 0.150 0.15
RUDBECKIA TRILOBA BROWNEYED SUSAN 0.281 0.015 0.015
VERONICASTRUM VIRGINICUM CULVER'S ROOT 0.246 0.001 0.0010
LUDWIGIA ALTERNIFOLIA SEEDBOX 1.433 0.003 0.0030
COREOPSIS TINCTORIA PLAINS COREOPSIS 1.479 0.020 0.020

SUBTOTAL FORBS 24.756 5.180 5.180

NOTE: APPROVED EQUAL TO BE SUBMITTED AND REVIEWED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

(MILLBORN SEEDS, 605-697-6306)

PLANT SCHEDULE
DECIDUOUS TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

ACE 8 ACER SACCHARUM SUGAR MAPLE 2.5" - 3" CAL B&B

GLE 5 GLEDITSIA TRIACANTHOS
INERMIS 'SKYCOLE'

SKYLINE® HONEY
LOCUST 2.5" - 3" CAL B&B

TIL 5 TILIA CORDATA 'GREENSPIRE' GREENSPIRE LITTLELEAF
LINDEN 2.5" - 3" CAL B&B

EVERGREEN TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

JUN 12 JUNIPERUS VIRGINIANA EASTERN RED CEDAR 6` - 7` HT B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

AME 4 AMELANCHIER ALNIFOLIA SERVICEBERRY 1.5" - 2" CAL B&B

SYR 9 SYRINGA RETICULATA JAPANESE TREE LILAC 1.5" - 2" CAL B&B

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

FOR 15 FORSYTHIA X 'ARNOLD'S
DWARF'

ARNOLD'S DWARF
FORSYTHIA 24" - 30" POT

HYD 15 HYDRANGEA MACROPHYLLA
`ENDLESS SUMMER` BAILMER HYDRANGEA 24" - 30" POT

VIB 15 VIBURNUM DENTATUM ARROWWOOD
VIBURNUM 24" - 30" POT

EVERGREEN SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

AZA 45 AZALEA X `DELAWARE VALLEY
WHITE` VALLEY WHITE AZALEA 24" - 30" POT

GLA 57 ILEX GLABRA `COMPACTA` COMPACT INKBERRY 24" - 30" POT

TAX 47 TAXUS X MEDIA 'DENSIFORMIS' DENSE ANGLO-JAPANESE
YEW 24" - 30" POT

PERENNIALS AND GRASSES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SPACING CONTAINER

CAR 540 CAREX PENSYLVANICA PENNSYLVANIA SEDGE 18" o.c. 1 GAL. POT

PAN 16 PANICUM VIRGATUM
`SHENANDOAH`

SHENANDOAH SWITCH
GRASS 36" o.c. 1 GAL. POT

RUD 54 RUDBECKIA FULGIDA 'LITTLE
GOLDSTAR'

LITTLE GOLDSTAR
CONEFLOWER 18" o.c. 1 GAL. POT

NOTE: IF ANY DISCREPANCIES OCCUR BETWEEN AMOUNTS SHOWN ON THE LANDSCAPE PLAN AND WITHIN THE PLANT LIST,
THE PLAN SHALL DICTATE.

MILLBORN SEEDS SHORT & SHOWY GRASS AND
WILDFLOWER MIX SEEDING SPECIFICATIONS:

MIX RATIO:

SCIENTIFIC NAME COMMON NAME MIX RATIO
SCHIZACHYRIUM SCOPARIUM LITTLE BLUESTEM 24%
BOUTELOUA CURTIPENDULA SIDEOATS GRAMA 21%
RUDBECKIA HIRTA BLACK-EYED SUSAN 7%
COREOPSIS TINCTORIA PLAINS COREOPSIS 7%
ACHILLEA MILLEFOLIUM WESTERN YARROW 7%
BOUTELOUA GRACILIS BLUE GRAMA 7%
RATIBIDA COLUMNIFERA PRAIRIE CONEFLOWER 4%
KOELERIA MACRANTHA PRAIRIE JUNEGRASS 4%
PENSTEMON DIGITALIS FOXGLOVE BEARDTONGUE 3%
DALEA PURPUREA PURPLE PRAIRIE CLOVER 3%
YMUS VIRGINICUS VIRGINIA WILDRYE 3%
OTHERS OTHERS 10%

1. SOW ABOVE MIX AT A RATE OF 15 LBS/ACRE OR 57.30 SEEDS/SQUARE FOOT.
2. IF USED IN A COMMERCIAL APPLICATION, MULTIPLY SEEDING RATE TIMES (2).

NOTE: APPROVED EQUAL TO BE SUBMITTED AND REVIEWED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

(MILLBORN SEEDS, 605-697-6306)



V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

08
-0

9-
LA

N
D

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

LANDSCAPING DETAILS

C-9

AS SHOWN

GENERAL LANDSCAPING NOTES:

1. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL MATERIALS AND PERFORM ALL WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THESE
SPECIFICATIONS, APPROVED OR FINAL DRAWINGS, AND INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED BY THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER,
MUNICIPAL OFFICIALS, OR OWNER/OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.  ALL WORK COMPLETED AND MATERIALS FURNISHED AND
INSTALLED SHALL BE IN STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTENTION OF THE SPECIFICATIONS, DRAWINGS, AND
INSTRUCTIONS AND EXECUTED WITH THE STANDARD LEVEL OF CARE FOR THE LANDSCAPE INDUSTRY.

2. WORK MUST BE CARRIED OUT ONLY DURING WEATHER CONDITIONS FAVORABLE TO LANDSCAPE CONSTRUCTION AND TO
THE HEALTH AND WELFARE OF PLANTS.  THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH WEATHER CONDITIONS SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE
PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR GOVERNING MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL.

3. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR, BEFORE ORDERING OR PURCHASING MATERIALS, TO PROVIDE
SAMPLES OF THOSE MATERIALS TO THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR GOVERNING MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL FOR APPROVAL,
IF SO REQUESTED.

4. IF SAMPLES ARE REQUESTED, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR IS TO SUBMIT CERTIFICATION TAGS FROM TREES, SHRUBS AND
SEED VERIFYING TYPE AND PURITY.

5. UNLESS OTHERWISE AUTHORIZED BY THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR GOVERNING MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL, THE
LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NOTICE AT LEAST FORTY-EIGHT HOURS (48 HRS.) IN ADVANCE OF THE
ANTICIPATED DELIVERY DATE OF ANY PLANT MATERIALS TO THE PROJECT SITE.  A LEGIBLE COPY OF THE INVOICE, SHOWING
VARIETIES AND SIZES OF MATERIALS INCLUDED FOR EACH SHIPMENT SHALL BE FURNISHED TO THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE
DESIGNER, OR GOVERNING MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL.

6. THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR GOVERNING MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL RESERVES THE RIGHT TO INSPECT AND REJECT
PLANTS AT ANY TIME AND AT ANY PLACE.

PROTECTION OF EXISTING VEGETATION NOTES:

1. BEFORE COMMENCING WORK, ALL EXISTING VEGETATION WHICH COULD BE IMPACTED AS A RESULT OF THE PROPOSED
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES MUST BE PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE BY THE INSTALLATION OF TREE PROTECTION FENCING.
FENCING SHALL BE LOCATED AT THE DRIP-LINE OR LIMIT OF DISTURBANCE AS DEPICTED WITHIN THE APPROVED OR FINAL
PLAN SET, ESTABLISHING THE TREE PROTECTION ZONE.  FENCE INSTALLATION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
PROVIDED “TREE PROTECTION FENCE DETAIL.”  NO WORK MAY BEGIN UNTIL THIS REQUIREMENT IS FULFILLED.  THE FENCING
SHALL BE INSPECTED REGULARLY BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR AND MAINTAINED UNTIL ALL CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES HAVE BEEN COMPLETED.

2. IN ORDER TO AVOID DAMAGE TO ROOTS, BARK OR LOWER BRANCHES, NO VEHICLE, EQUIPMENT, DEBRIS, OR OTHER
MATERIALS SHALL BE DRIVEN, PARKED OR PLACED WITHIN THE TREE PROTECTION ZONE.  ALL ON-SITE CONTRACTORS SHALL
USE ANY AND ALL PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES WHEN PERFORMING WORK AROUND TREES, WALKS, PAVEMENTS, UTILITIES,
AND ANY OTHER FEATURES EITHER EXISTING OR PREVIOUSLY INSTALLED UNDER THIS CONTRACT.

3. IN RARE INSTANCES WHERE EXCAVATING, FILL, OR GRADING IS REQUIRED WITHIN THE DRIP-LINE OF TREES TO REMAIN, THE
WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED AS FOLLOWS:
· TRENCHING: WHEN TRENCHING OCCURS AROUND TREES TO REMAIN, THE TREE ROOTS SHALL NOT BE CUT, BUT THE

TRENCH SHALL BE TUNNELED UNDER OR AROUND THE ROOTS BY CAREFUL HAND DIGGING AND WITHOUT INJURY TO
THE ROOTS.  NO ROOTS, LIMBS, OR WOODS ARE TO HAVE ANY PAINT OR MATERIAL APPLIED TO ANY SURFACE.

· RAISING GRADES: WHEN THE GRADE AT AN EXISTING TREE IS BELOW THE NEW FINISHED GRADE, AND FILL NOT
EXCEEDING 6 INCHES (6") IS REQUIRED, CLEAN, WASHED GRAVEL FROM ONE TO TWO INCHES (1" - 2") IN SIZE SHALL BE
PLACED DIRECTLY AROUND THE TREE TRUNK.  THE GRAVEL SHALL EXTEND OUT FROM THE TRUNK ON ALL SIDES A
MINIMUM OF 18 INCHES (18") AND FINISH APPROXIMATELY TWO INCHES (2") ABOVE THE FINISH GRADE AT TREE.  INSTALL
GRAVEL BEFORE ANY EARTH FILL IS PLACED.  NEW EARTH FILL SHALL NOT BE LEFT IN CONTACT WITH THE TRUNK OF ANY
TREE REQUIRING FILL.  WHERE FILL EXCEEDING 6 INCHES (6") IS REQUIRED, A DRY LAID TREE WELL SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED.
IF APPLICABLE, TREE WELL INSTALLATION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVIDED “TREE WELL DETAIL.”

· LOWERING GRADES: EXISTING TREES LOCATED IN AREAS WHERE THE NEW FINISHED GRADE IS TO BE LOWERED, SHALL
HAVE RE-GRADING WORK DONE BY HAND TO THE INDICATED ELEVATION, NO GREATER THAN SIX INCHES (6”).  ROOTS
SHALL BE CUT CLEANLY THREE INCHES (3") BELOW FINISHED GRADE UNDER THE DIRECTION OF A LICENSED ARBORIST.
WHERE CUT EXCEEDING 6 INCHES (6") IS REQUIRED, A DRY LAID RETAINING WALL SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED.  IF APPLICABLE,
THE RETAINING WALL INSTALLATION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVIDED “TREE RETAINING WALL DETAIL.”

SOIL PREPARATION AND MULCH NOTES:

1. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN A SOIL TEST OF THE IN-SITU TOPSOIL BY A CERTIFIED SOIL LABORATORY PRIOR TO
PLANTING.  LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL ALLOW FOR A TWO WEEK TURNAROUND TIME FROM SUBMITTAL OF SAMPLE
TO NOTIFICATION OF RESULTS.

2. BASED ON SOIL TEST RESULTS, ADJUST THE RATES OF LIME AND FERTILIZER THAT SHALL BE MIXED INTO THE TOP SIX INCHES
(6”) OF TOPSOIL.  THE LIME AND FERTILIZER RATES PROVIDED WITHIN THE “SEED SPECIFICATION” OR “SOD SPECIFICATION” IS
APPROXIMATE AND FOR BIDDING PURPOSES ONLY.  IF ADDITIONAL AMENDMENTS ARE NECESSARY, ADJUST THE TOPSOIL AS
FOLLOWS:
· MODIFY HEAVY CLAY OR SILT SOILS (MORE THAN 40% CLAY OR SILT) BY ADDING COMPOSTED PINE BARK (UP TO 30% BY

VOLUME) OR GYPSUM.
· MODIFY EXTREMELY SANDY SOILS (MORE THAN 85%) BY ADDING ORGANIC MATTER AND/OR DRY, SHREDDED CLAY LOAM

UP TO 30% OF THE TOTAL MIX.
3. TOPSOIL SHALL BE FERTILE, FRIABLE, NATURAL TOPSOIL OF LOAMING CHARACTER, WITHOUT ADMIXTURE OF SUBSOIL

MATERIAL OBTAINED FROM A WELL-DRAINED ARABLE SITE, FREE FROM ALL CLAY, LUMPS, COARSE SANDS, STONES, PLANTS,
ROOTS, STICKS, AND OTHER FOREIGN MATERIAL GREATER THAN ONE INCH (1”).

4. TOPSOIL SHALL HAVE A PH RANGE OF 5.0-7.0 AND SHALL NOT CONTAIN LESS THAN 6% ORGANIC MATTER BY WEIGHT.
5. OBTAIN TOPSOIL ONLY FROM LOCAL SOURCES OR FROM AREAS HAVING SIMILAR SOIL CHARACTERISTICS TO THAT FOUND AT

THE PROJECT SITE.
6. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A SIX INCH (6") DEEP LAYER OF TOPSOIL IN ALL PLANTING AREAS.  TOPSOIL SHALL BE SPREAD

OVER A PREPARED SURFACE IN A UNIFORM LAYER TO ACHIEVE THE DESIRED COMPACTED THICKNESS.  THE SPREADING OF
TOPSOIL SHALL NOT BE CONDUCTED UNDER MUDDY OR FROZEN SOIL CONDITIONS.

7. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED IN THE CONTRACT, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
INSTALLATION OF TOPSOIL AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF FINE-GRADING WITHIN THE DISTURBED AREA OF THE SITE.

8. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT THE SUB-GRADE ELEVATION MEETS THE FINISHED GRADE ELEVATION (LESS THE
REQUIRED TOPSOIL), IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROVED OR FINAL GRADING PLAN.

9. ALL LAWN AND PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE GRADED TO A SMOOTH, EVEN AND UNIFORM PLANE WITH NO ABRUPT CHANGE
OF SURFACE AS DEPICTED WITHIN THE APPROVED OR FINAL CONSTRUCTION SET UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY THE
PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL.

10. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROPER SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE PLANT BED DRAINAGE PRIOR TO THE
INSTALLATION OF PLANTINGS.  IF POOR DRAINAGE CONDITIONS EXIST, CORRECTIVE ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION. ALL PLANTING AND LAWN AREAS SHALL BE GRADED AND MAINTAINED TO ALLOW A FREE FLOW OF SURFACE
WATER.

11. DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH OR APPROVED EQUAL SHALL BE USED AS A THREE INCH (3") TOP DRESSING IN ALL
SHRUB PLANTING BEDS AND AROUND ALL TREES PLANTED BY LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR. GROUND COVER, PERENNIAL, AND
ANNUAL PLANTING BEDS SHALL BE MULCHED WITH A TWO INCH (2”) TOP DRESSING.  SINGLE TREES OR SHRUBS SHALL BE
MULCHED TO AVOID CONTACT WITH TRUNK OR PLANT STEM.  MULCH SHALL BE OF SUFFICIENT CHARACTER AS NOT TO BE
EASILY DISPLACED BY WIND OR WATER RUNOFF.

12. WHENEVER POSSIBLE, THE SOIL PREPARATION AREA SHALL BE CONNECTED FROM PLANTING TO PLANTING.
13. SOIL SHALL BE LOOSENED WITH A BACKHOE OR OTHER LARGE COARSE-TILING EQUIPMENT UNLESS THE SOIL IS FROZEN OR

EXCESSIVELY WET.  TILING THAT PRODUCES LARGE, COARSE CHUNKS OF SOIL IS PREFERABLE TO TILING THAT RESULTS IN FINE
GRAINS UNIFORM IN TEXTURE.  AFTER THE AREA IS LOOSENED IT SHALL NOT BE DRIVEN OVER BY ANY VEHICLE.

14. APPLY PRE-EMERGENT WEED CONTROL TO ALL PLANT BEDS PRIOR TO MULCHING.  ENSURE COMPATIBILITY BETWEEN
PRODUCT AND PLANT MATERIAL.

15. ALL PLANTING SOIL SHALL BE AMENDED WITH THE FOLLOWING: 

MYCRO® TREE SAVER - A DRY GRANULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI INOCULANT THAT IS MIXED IN THE BACKFILL WHEN
PLANTING TREES AND SHRUBS.  IT CONTAINS SPORES OF BOTH ECTOMYCORRHIZAL AND VA MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI (VAM),
BENEFICIAL RHIZOSPHERE BACTERIA, TERRA-SORB SUPERABSORBENT HYDROGEL TO REDUCE WATER LEACHING, AND
SELECTED ORGANIC MICROBIAL NUTRIENTS.
· DIRECTIONS FOR USE: USE 3-OZ PER EACH FOOT DIAMETER OF THE ROOT BALL, OR 3-OZ PER INCH CALIPER.  MIX INTO THE

BACKFILL WHEN TRANSPLANTING TREES AND SHRUBS. MIX PRODUCT IN A RING-SHAPED VOLUME OF SOIL AROUND THE
UPPER PORTION OF THE ROOT BALL, EXTENDING FROM THE SOIL SURFACE TO A DEPTH OF ABOUT 8 INCHES, AND
EXTENDING OUT FROM THE  ROOT BALL ABOUT 8 INCHES INTO THE BACKFILL. APPLY WATER TO SOIL SATURATION.

· MYCOR® TREE SAVER® IS EFFECTIVE FOR ALL TREE AND SHRUB SPECIES EXCEPT RHODODENDRONS, AZALEAS, AND
MOUNTAIN LAUREL, WHICH REQUIRE ERICOID MYCORRHIZAE.

· SOIL PH: THE FUNGI IN THIS PRODUCT WERE CHOSEN BASED ON THEIR ABILITY TO SURVIVE AND COLONIZE PLANT ROOTS
IN A PH RANGE OF 3 TO 9.

· FUNGICIDES: THE USE OF CERTAIN FUNGICIDES CAN HAVE A DETRIMENTAL EFFECT ON THE INOCULATION PROGRAM. SOIL
APPLICATION OF ANY FUNGICIDE IS NOT RECOMMENDED FOR TWO WEEKS AFTER APPLICATION.

· OTHER PESTICIDES: HERBICIDES AND INSECTICIDES DO NOT NORMALLY INTERFERE WITH MYCORRHIZAL FUNGAL
DEVELOPMENT, BUT MAY INHIBIT THE GROWTH OF SOME TREE AND SHRUB SPECIES IF NOT USED PROPERLY.

HEALTHY START MACRO TABS 12-8-8
· FERTILIZER TABLETS ARE PLACED IN THE UPPER 4 INCHES OF BACKFILL SOIL WHEN PLANTING TREES AND SHRUBS.
· TABLETS ARE  FORMULATED FOR LONG-TERM RELEASE BY SLOW BIODEGRADATION, AND LAST UP TO 2 YEARS AFTER

PLANTING. TABLETS CONTAIN 12-8-8 NPK FERTILIZER, AS WELL AS A MINIMUM OF SEVEN PERCENT (7%) HUMIC ACID BY
WEIGHT, MICROBIAL NUTRIENTS DERIVED FROM SEA KELP, PROTEIN BYPRODUCTS, AND YUCCA SCHIDIGERA, AND A
COMPLEMENT OF BENEFICIAL RHIZOSPHERE BACTERIA. THE STANDARD 21 GRAM TABLET IS SPECIFIED HERE. DIRECTIONS
FOR USE: FOR PLANTING BALLED & BURLAPPED (B&B) TREES AND SHRUBS, MEASURE THE THICKNESS OF THE TRUNK, AND
USE ABOUT 1 TABLET (21-G) PER HALF-INCH. PLACE THE TABLETS DIRECTLY NEXT TO THE ROOT BALL, EVENLY DISTRIBUTED
AROUND ITS PERIMETER, AT A DEPTH OF ABOUT 4 INCHES.

PLANT QUALITY AND HANDLING NOTES:

1. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL CONFORM TO THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK (ANSI Z60.1-2004) OR LATEST
REVISION AS PUBLISHED BY THE AMERICAN NURSERY AND LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATION.

2. IN ALL CASES, BOTANICAL NAMES LISTED WITHIN THE APPROVED OR FINAL PLANT LIST SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER
COMMON NAMES.

3. ALL PLANTS SHALL BE OF SELECTED SPECIMEN QUALITY, EXCEPTIONALLY HEAVY, TIGHTLY KNIT, SO TRAINED OR FAVORED IN
THEIR DEVELOPMENT AND APPEARANCE AS TO BE SUPERIOR IN FORM, NUMBER OF BRANCHES, COMPACTNESS AND SYMMETRY.
ALL PLANTS SHALL HAVE A NORMAL HABIT OR SOUND, HEALTHY, VIGOROUS PLANTS WITH WELL DEVELOPED ROOT SYSTEM.
PLANTS SHALL BE FREE OF DISEASE, INSECT PESTS, EGGS OR LARVAE.

4. PLANTS SHALL NOT BE PRUNED BEFORE DELIVERY.  TREES WITH ABRASION OF THE BARK, SUNSCALDS, DISFIGURING KNOTS OR
FRESH CUTS OF LIMBS OVER ONE AND ONE-FOURTH INCHES (1-1/4") WHICH HAVE NOT COMPLETELY CALLOUSED SHALL BE
REJECTED.

5. ALL PLANTS SHALL BE TYPICAL OF THEIR SPECIES OR VARIETY AND SHALL HAVE A NORMAL HABIT OF GROWTH AND BE LEGIBLY
TAGGED WITH THE PROPER NAME AND SIZE.

6. THE ROOT SYSTEM OF EACH PLANT SHALL BE WELL PROVIDED WITH FIBROUS ROOTS.  ALL PARTS SHALL BE SOUND, HEALTHY,
VIGOROUS, WELL-BRANCHED AND DENSELY FOLIATED WHEN IN LEAF.

7. ALL PLANTS DESIGNATED BALL AND BURLAP (B&B) MUST BE MOVED WITH THE ROOT SYSTEM AS SOLID UNITS WITH BALLS OF
EARTH FIRMLY WRAPPED WITH BURLAP.  THE DIAMETER AND DEPTH OF THE BALLS OF EARTH MUST BE SUFFICIENT TO
ENCOMPASS THE FIBROUS ROOT FEEDING SYSTEMS NECESSARY FOR THE HEALTHY DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLANT.  NO PLANT
SHALL BE ACCEPTED WHEN THE BALL OF EARTH SURROUNDING ITS ROOTS HAS BEEN BADLY CRACKED OR BROKEN
PREPARATORY TO OR DURING THE PROCESS OF PLANTING.  THE BALLS SHALL REMAIN INTACT DURING ALL OPERATIONS.  ALL
PLANTS THAT CANNOT BE PLANTED AT ONCE MUST BE HEELED-IN BY SETTING IN THE GROUND AND COVERING THE BALLS
WITH SOIL OR MULCH AND THEN WATERING.  HEMP BURLAP AND TWINE IS PREFERABLE TO TREATED.  IF TREATED BURLAP IS
USED, ALL TWINE IS TO BE CUT FROM AROUND THE TRUNK AND ALL BURLAP IS TO BE REMOVED.

8. PLANTS TRANSPORTED TO THE PROJECT IN OPEN VEHICLES SHALL BE COVERED WITH TARPS OR OTHER SUITABLE COVERS
SECURELY FASTENED TO THE BODY OF THE VEHICLE TO PREVENT INJURY TO THE PLANTS.  CLOSED VEHICLES SHALL BE
ADEQUATELY VENTILATED TO PREVENT OVERHEATING OF THE PLANTS. EVIDENCE OF INADEQUATE PROTECTION FOLLOWING
DIGGING, CARELESSNESS WHILE IN TRANSIT, OR IMPROPER HANDLING OR STORAGE SHALL BE CAUSE FOR REJECTION OF
PLANT MATERIAL.  ALL PLANTS SHALL BE KEPT MOIST, FRESH, AND PROTECTED.  SUCH PROTECTION SHALL ENCOMPASS THE
ENTIRE PERIOD DURING WHICH THE PLANTS ARE IN TRANSIT, BEING HANDLED, OR ARE IN TEMPORARY STORAGE.

9. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CORRESPONDING LANDSCAPE PLAN AND PLANTING
DETAILS.

10. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE BEST EFFORT TO INSTALL PLANTINGS ON THE SAME DAY AS DELIVERY.  IF PLANTS ARE
NOT PLANTED IMMEDIATELY ON SITE, PROPER CARE SHALL BE TAKEN TO PLACE THE PLANTINGS IN PARTIAL SHADE WHEN
POSSIBLE. THE ROOT BALL SHALL BE KEPT MOIST AT ALL TIME AND COVERED WITH MOISTENED MULCH OR AGED
WOODCHIPS. PROPER IRRIGATION SHALL BE SUPPLIED SO AS TO NOT ALLOW THE ROOT BALL TO DRY OUT. PLANTINGS
SHALL BE UNTIED AND  PROPER SPACING SHALL BE ALLOTTED FOR AIR CIRCULATION AND TO PREVENT DISEASE, WILTING,
AND LEAF LOSS. PLANTS THAT REMAIN UNPLANTED FOR A PERIOD OF TIME GREATER THAN THREE (3) DAYS SHALL BE HEALED
IN WITH TOPSOIL OR MULCH AND WATERED AS REQUIRED TO PRESERVE ROOT MOISTURE.

11. NO PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE PLANTED IN MUDDY OR FROZEN SOIL.
12. PLANTS WITH INJURED ROOTS OR BRANCHES SHALL BE PRUNED PRIOR TO PLANTING UTILIZING CLEAN, SHARP TOOLS.  ONLY

DISEASED OR INJURED PLANTS SHALL BE REMOVED.
13. IF ROCK OR OTHER UNDERGROUND OBSTRUCTION IS ENCOUNTERED, THE LANDSCAPE DESIGNER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO

RELOCATE OR ENLARGE PLANTING PITS OR DELETE PLANT MATERIAL FROM THE CONTRACT.
14. IF PLANTS ARE PROPOSED WITHIN SIGHT TRIANGLES, TREES SHALL BE LIMBED AND MAINTAINED TO A HEIGHT OF EIGHT FEET

(8') ABOVE GRADE, AND SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS, AND ANNUALS SHALL BE MAINTAINED TO A HEIGHT NOT TO
EXCEED TWO FEET (2') ABOVE GRADE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED OR SPECIFIED BY THE GOVERNING MUNICIPALITY OR
AGENCY.

15. INSTALLATION SHALL OCCUR DURING THE FOLLOWING SEASONS:
PLANTS (MARCH 15 - DECEMBER 15)
LAWNS (MARCH 15 - JUNE 15 OR SEPTEMBER 1 - DECEMBER 1)

16. THE FOLLOWING TREES ARE SUSCEPTIBLE TO TRANSPLANT SHOCK AND SHALL NOT BE PLANTED DURING THE FALL SEASON
(STARTING SEPTEMBER 15):
ABIES CONCOLOR CORNUS VARIETIES OSTRYA VIRGINIANA
ACER BUERGERIANUM CRATAEGUS VARIETIES PINUS NIGRA
ACER FREEMANII CUPRESSOCYPARIS LEYLANDII PLATANUS VARIETIES
ACER RUBRUM FAGUS VARIETIES POPULUS VARIETIES
ACER SACCHARINUM HALESIA VARIETIES PRUNUS VARIETIES
BETULA VARIETIES ILEX X FOSTERII PYRUS VARIETIES
CARPINUS VARIETIES ILEX NELLIE STEVENS QUERCUS VARIETIES (NOT Q. PALUSTRIS)
CEDRUS DEODARA ILEX OPACA SALIX WEEPING VARIETIES
CELTIS VARIETIES JUNIPERUS VIRGINIANA SORBUS VARIETIES
CERCIDIPHYLLUM VARIETIES KOELREUTERIA PANICULATA TAXODIUM VARIETIES
CERCIS CANADENSIS LIQUIDAMBAR VARIETIES TAXUX B REPANDENS
CORNUS VARIETIES LIRIODENDRON VARIETIES TILIA TOMENTOSA VARIETIES
CRATAEGUS VARIETIES MALUS IN LEAF ULMUS PARVIFOLIA VARIETIES

NYSSA SYLVATICA ZELKOVA VARIETIES
17. IF A PROPOSED PLANT IS UNATTAINABLE OR ON THE FALL DIGGING HAZARD LIST, AN EQUIVALENT SPECIES OF THE SAME SIZE

MAY BE REQUESTED FOR SUBSTITUTION OF THE ORIGINAL PLANT. ALL SUBSTITUTIONS SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE PROJECT
LANDSCAPE DESIGNER OR MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL PRIOR TO ORDERING AND INSTALLATION.

18. DURING THE COURSE OF CONSTRUCTION/PLANT INSTALLATION, EXCESS AND WASTE MATERIALS SHALL BE CONTINUOUSLY
AND PROMPTLY REMOVED AT THE END OF EACH WORK DAY.  ALL DEBRIS, MATERIALS, AND TOOLS SHALL BE PROPERLY
STORED, STOCKPILED OR DISPOSED OF AND ALL PAVED AREAS SHALL BE CLEANED.

19. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL DISPOSE OF ALL RUBBISH AND EXCESS SOIL AT HIS EXPENSE TO AN OFF-SITE LOCATION
AS APPROVED BY THE LOCAL MUNICIPALITY.

20. A 90-DAY MAINTENANCE PERIOD SHALL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY AFTER ALL PLANTS HAVE BEEN SATISFACTORILY INSTALLED.
21. MAINTENANCE SHALL INCLUDE, BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO, REPLACING MULCH THAT HAS BEEN DISPLACED BY EROSION OR

OTHER MEANS, REPAIRING AND RESHAPING WATER RINGS OR SAUCERS, MAINTAINING STAKES AND GUYS IF ORIGINALLY
REQUIRED, WATERING WHEN NEEDED OR DIRECTED, WEEDING, PRUNING, SPRAYING, FERTILIZING, MOWING THE LAWN, AND
PERFORMING ANY OTHER WORK REQUIRED TO KEEP THE PLANTS IN A HEALTHY CONDITION.

22. MOW ALL GRASS AREAS AT REGULAR INTERVALS TO KEEP THE GRASS HEIGHT FROM EXCEEDING THREE INCHES (3").  MOWING
SHALL BE PERFORMED ONLY WHEN GRASS IS DRY.  MOWER BLADE SHALL BE SET TO REMOVE NO MORE THAN ONE THIRD (1/3)
OF THE GRASS LENGTH.  WHEN THE AMOUNT OF GRASS IS HEAVY, IT SHALL BE REMOVED TO PREVENT DESTRUCTION OF THE
UNDERLYING TURF.  MOW GRASS AREAS IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO PREVENT CLIPPINGS FROM BLOWING ON PAVED AREAS,
AND SIDEWALKS.  CLEANUP AFTER MOWING SHALL INCLUDE SWEEPING OR BLOWING OF PAVED AREAS AND SIDEWALKS TO
CLEAR THEM FROM MOWING DEBRIS.

23. GRASSED AREAS DAMAGED DURING THE PROCESS OF THE WORK SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR, WHO
SHALL RESTORE THE DISTURBED AREAS TO A CONDITION SATISFACTORY TO THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER, MUNICIPAL
OFFICIAL, OR OWNER/OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.  THIS MAY INCLUDE FILLING TO GRADE, FERTILIZING, SEEDING, AND
MULCHING.

24. SHOULD THE OWNER REQUIRE MAINTENANCE BEYOND THE STANDARD 90-DAY MAINTENANCE PERIOD, A SEPARATE
CONTRACT SHALL BE ESTABLISHED.

25. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL WATER NEW PLANTINGS FROM TIME OF INSTALL AND THROUGHOUT REQUIRED 90-DAY
MAINTENANCE PERIOD UNTIL PLANTS ARE ESTABLISHED.  IF ON-SITE WATER IS NOT AVAILABLE AT THE PROJECT LOCATION,
THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH IT BY MEANS OR A WATERING TRUCK OR OTHER ACCEPTABLE MANNER.

26. THE QUANTITY OF WATER APPLIED AT ONE TIME SHALL BE SUFFICIENT TO PENETRATE THE SOIL TO A MINIMUM OF EIGHT
INCHES (8") IN SHRUB BEDS AND SIX INCHES (6") IN TURF AREAS AT A RATE WHICH WILL PREVENT SATURATION OF THE SOIL.

27. IF AN AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM HAS BEEN INSTALLED, IT CAN BE USED FOR WATERING PLANT MATERIAL.  HOWEVER,
FAILURE OF THE SYSTEM DOES NOT ELIMINATE THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY OF PLANT HEALTH AND
ESTABLISHMENT.

PLANT MATERIAL GUARANTEE NOTES:

1. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL GUARANTEE ALL PLANT MATERIAL FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR (1 YR.) FROM APPROVAL
OF LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION BY THE PROJECT LANDSCAPE DESIGNER, MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL, OR OWNER/OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE.

2. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND REPLACE DYING, DEAD, OR DEFECTIVE PLANT MATERIAL AT HIS EXPENSE.
THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DAMAGES CAUSED BY HIS COMPANY'S OPERATIONS.

3. ALL REPLACEMENT PLANTS SHALL BE OF THE SAME SPECIES AND SIZE AS SPECIFIED ON THE APPROVED OR FINAL PLANT LIST.
REPLACEMENTS RESULTING FROM REMOVAL, LOSS, OR DAMAGE DUE TO OCCUPANCY OF THE PROJECT IN ANY PART,
VANDALISM, PHYSICAL DAMAGE BY ANIMALS, VEHICLES, ETC., AND LOSSES DUE TO CURTAILMENT OF WATER BY LOCAL
AUTHORITIES SHALL BE APPROVED AND PAID FOR BY THE OWNER.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTRUCT THE OWNER AS TO THE PROPER CARE AND MAINTENANCE OF ALL PLANTINGS.

LAWN (SEED OR SOD) NOTES:

1. SEED MIXTURE SHALL BE FRESH, CLEAN, NEW CROP SEED.  SOD SHALL BE STRONGLY ROOTED, UNIFORM IN THICKNESS, AND
FREE OF WEEDS, DISEASE, AND PESTS.

2. SEED OR SOD SHALL BE PURCHASED FROM A RECOGNIZED DISTRIBUTOR AND SHALL BE COMPOSED OF THE MIX OR BLEND
WITHIN THE PROVIDED “SEED SPECIFICATION” OR “SOD SPECIFICATION.”

3. REFERENCE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR AREAS TO BE SEEDED OR LAID WITH SOD.
4. SEEDING SHALL NOT BE PERFORMED IN WINDY WEATHER.  IF THE SEASON OF THE PROJECT COMPLETION PROHIBITS

PERMANENT STABILIZATION, TEMPORARY STABILIZATION SHALL BE PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE “TEMPORARY
SEEDING SPECIFICATION.”

5. PROTECT NEW LAWN AREAS AGAINST TRESPASSING WHILE THE SEED IS GERMINATING.  FURNISH AND INSTALL FENCES, SIGNS,
BARRIERS OR ANY OTHER NECESSARY TEMPORARY PROTECTIVE DEVICES.  DAMAGE RESULTING FROM TRESPASS, EROSION,
WASHOUT, SETTLEMENT OR OTHER CAUSES SHALL BE REPAIRED BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR AT HIS EXPENSE.  REMOVE
ALL FENCES, SIGNS, BARRIERS OR OTHER TEMPORARY PROTECTIVE DEVICES ONCE LAWN HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED.

NOTES:

1. FOR CONTAINER-GROWN TREES, USE FINGERS OR SMALL HAND TOOLS TO PULL THE ROOTS OUT OF THE OUTER LAYER OF
POTTING SOIL; THEN CUT OR PULL APART ANY ROOTS CIRCLING THE PERIMETER OF THE CONTAINER

2. THOROUGHLY SOAK THE TREE ROOT BALL AND ADJACENT PREPARED SOIL SEVERAL TIMES DURING THE FIRST MONTH AFTER
PLANTING AND REGULARLY THROUGHOUT THE FOLLOWING TWO SUMMERS.

3. SOIL AMENDMENTS:
· MODIFY HEAVY CLAY OR SILT SOILS (MORE THAN 40% CLAY OR SILT) BY ADDING COMPOSTED PINE BARK (UP TO 30% BY

VOLUME) OR GYPSUM
· MODIFY EXTREMELY SANDY SOILDS (MORE THAN 85% SAND) BY ADDING ORGANIC MATTER AND/OR DRY, SHREDDED CLAY

LOAM UP TO 30% OF THE TOTAL MIX

NOTES:

1.  FOR CONTAINER-GROWN TREES, USE FINGERS OR SMALL HAND TOOLS TO PULL THE ROOTS OUT OF THE OUTER LAYER OF
POTTING SOIL; THEN CUT OR PULL APART ANY ROOTS CIRCLING THE PERIMETER OF THE CONTAINER.
2. THOROUGHLY SOAK THE TREE ROOT BALL AND ADJACENT PREPARED SOIL SEVERAL TIMES DURING THE FIRST MONTH AFTER
PLANTING AND REGULARLY THROUGHOUT THE FOLLOWING TWO SUMMERS.
3.  SOIL AMENDMENTS:

· MODIFY HEAVY CLAY OR SILT SOILS (MORE THAN 40% CLAY OR SILT) BY ADDING COMPOSTED PINE BARK (UP TO 30% BY
VOLUME) OR GYPSUM

· MODIFY EXTREMELY SANDY SOILS (MORE THAN 85% SAND) BY ADDING ORGANIC MATTER AND/OR DRY, SHREDDED CLAY
LOAM UP TO 30% OF THE TOTAL MIX

SPACING CHART

A

ROW "A"SPACING "D"

PLANTED ON CENTER (SEE SPACING CHART)

36" O.C.

6" O.C.
8" O.C.
10" O.C.
12" O.C.
15" O.C
18" O.C.
24" O.C.
30" O.C.

30.00"

5.20"
6.93"
8.66"
10.40"
13.00"
15.60"
20.80"
26.00"

DD

D

NOT TO SCALE

NOTES:

1. THOROUGHLY SOAK THE GROUND COVER ROOT BALL AND ADJACENT PREPARED SOIL SEVERAL TIMES DURING THE FIRST MONTH
AFTER PLANTING AND REGULARLY THROUGHOUT THE FOLLOWING TWO SUMMERS.

2. SOIL AMENDMENTS:
· MODIFY HEAVY CLAY OR SILT SOILDS (MORE THAN 40% CLAY OR SILT) BY ADDING COMPOSTED PINE BARK (UP TO 30% BY VOLUME) OR

GYPSUM
· MODIFY EXTREMELY SANDY SOILDS (MORE THAN 85% SAND) BY ADDING ORGANIC MATTER AND/OR DRY, SHREDDED CLAY LOAM UP

TO 30% OF THE TOTAL MIX
3.     ALL GROUND COVER AREAS SHALL BE TREATED WITH A PRE-EMERGENT PER MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS

2" DOUBLE
SHREDDED
HARDWOOD MULCH
(DO NOT PLACE
MULCH AGAINST
THE BASE OF THE
PLANT)

GENTLY PULL ROOTS AWAY
FROM TOPSOIL MASS WITH
FINGERS

BACKFILL SOIL
· 1 PART SOIL AMENDMENT

(BASED ON SOIL TEST)
· 3 PARTS NATIVE TOPSOIL

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE

GROUND COVER/PERENNIAL/ANNUAL
PLANTING DETAIL

NOT TO SCALE

DECIDUOUS AND EVERGREEN SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL
3

4

4" TO 6" DEEPER
THAN ROOT BALL

X = MINIMUM DIAMETER
OF PREPARED SOIL FOR

TREES. SEE TABLE

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

CONIFEROUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

12" TO 18" (FOR
LARGER SHRUB
ROOT BALLS
MAKE DEPTH
MIN. 4" DEEPER
THAN BALL)

BALLED AND BURLAPPED PLANT

PREPARE SOIL IN THE ENTIRE BED USING PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN TABLE (X)

8" TO 12"

CONTAINER PLANT

NOT TO SCALE

PROVIDE A (48") INCH RIGID TREE
BARK PROTECTOR AROUND THE

TRUNK OF CANOPY TREES AND
UNDERSTORY TREES FOR DEER

PROTECTION.
"TREE BARK PROTECTORS - BG48"
(A.M. LEONARD HORTICULTURAL

SUPPLY) AT 800-433-0633 OR
APPROVED EQUAL

MARK NORTH SIDE OF TREE IN
THE NURSERY AND LOCATE

TO THE NORTH IN THE FIELD.

WHEN IRRIGATION IS NOT
PROVIDED SPECIFICALLY FOR
THE TREE, TREEGATOR BAGS

ARE RECOMMENDED TO HELP
FACILITATE PROPER WATERING
DURING THE FIRST TWO YEARS.

WIRE BASKET TO REMOVED

CUT OFF TWINE, OPEN
BURLAP, CUT AS LOW AS

POSSIBLE AND REMOVE.

DIG WIDE SHALLOW HOLE
WITH TAPERED SIDES

TAMP SOIL SOLIDLY AROUND
BASE OF ROOT BALL

SET ROOT BALL ON UNDISTURBED
SOIL PAD IN BOTTOM OF HOLE.

SOIL TO BE PREPARED
PER TABLE PRIOR TO
PLANTING TREE.

MAXIMUM 3" OF SHREDDED
BARK MULCH. DO NOT
PLACE MULCH WITHIN 6"
OF TREE TRUNK.

FORM EARTH WATERING
SAUCER AROUND TREE
AT EDGE OF ROOT BALL.

SET TOP OF TRUE ROOT
BALL 1" TO 2" ABOVE
FINISHED GRADE OR
SEVERAL INCHES HIGHER IN
POORLY DRAINING SOILS.

SECURE STAKES TO TREE
USING 2 ARBORTIES.

INSTALL (2)  3" dia. 8' LONG
CEDAR POST IN TO
UNDISTURBED SOIL, THEN
BACKFILL.  STAKES SHALL
KEEP TREE VERTICAL AND
PLUMB.

AVOID PURCHASING TREES WITH TWO
LEADERS OR REMOVE ONE AT PLANTING.
OTHERWISE DO NOT PRUNE TREE AT
PLANTING EXCEPT FOR SPECIFIC
STRUCTURAL CORRECTIONS.

MARK NORTH SIDE OF TREE IN
THE NURSERY AND LOCATE TO

THE NORTH IN THE FIELD.

WIRE BASKET TO REMOVED

CUT OFF TWINE, OPEN BURLAP,
CUT AS LOW AS POSSIBLE AND

REMOVE.

X = MINIMUM WIDTH
OF PREPARED SOIL

FOR TREES. SEE TABLE

DIG WIDE SHALLOW HOLE
WITH TAPERED SIDES

TAMP SOIL SOLIDLY AROUND
BASE OF ROOT BALL

SET ROOT BALL ON UNDISTURBED
SOIL PAD IN BOTTOM OF HOLE.

AVOID PURCHASING TREES WITH
TWO LEADERS OR REMOVE ONE

AT PLANTING. OTHERWISE DO
NOT PRUNE TREE AT PLANTING

EXCEPT FOR SPECIFIC
STRUCTURAL CORRECTIONS.

INSTALL (2)  3" dia. 8' LONG CEDAR
POST IN TO UNDISTURBED SOIL,
THEN BACKFILL.  STAKES SHALL
KEEP TREE VERTICAL AND PLUMB.

SECURE STAKES TO TREE USING
2 ARBORTIES.

SET TOP OF TRUE ROOT BALL 1"
TO 2" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE
OR SEVERAL INCHES HIGHER IN
POORLY DRAINING SOILS.

FORM EARTH WATERING
SAUCER AROUND TREE AT EDGE
OF ROOT BALL.

MAXIMUM 3" OF SHREDDED BARK
MULCH. DO NOT PLACE MULCH
WITHIN 6" OF TREE TRUNK.

SOIL TO BE PREPARED PER TABLE
PRIOR TO PLANTING TREE.

4" TO 6" DEEPER
THAN ROOT BALL

PLACE SHRUB IN HOLE REMOVE AS MUCH BURLAP
AS POSSIBLE FROM ROOT BALL.  COMPLETELY
REMOVE ALL PLASTIC OR NYLON STRING. SET

ROOT BALL FLUSH WITH FINISHED GRADE

MAXIMUM 2" MULCH, DO NOT PUT
MULCH WITHIN 4" OF BASE OF PLANT.

SOIL SURFACE ROUGHENED
TO BIND WITH NEW SOILS

SOIL TO BE PREPARED PER
TABLE PRIOR TO PLANTING
TREE.

LAWN OR
PAVING

EXISTING
SUBGRADE

SOIL TO BE PREPARED PER TABLE
PRIOR TO PLANTING TREE.

USE FINGERS OR SMALL
HAND TOOL TO PULL
ROOTS OUT OF BALL.

ARBORTIE DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

ARBOR TIE
NAILED TO

STAKE

ARBOR TIE

STAKES

TREE

TREE

INSTALLATION GUIDELINES:
1. LOOP TIE AROUND TREE AND NAIL TO CEDAR

STAKE.

2. REMOVE ALL STAKING AND TIES AT END OF FIRST
GROWING SEASON.

3. FOLD ENDS OF ARBORTIE BACK. SECURE TO STAKES
WITH 1" GALVANIZED ROOFING NAIL OR USE A
KNOT.

4. CONSULT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR STAKING
OF TREES LARGER THAN 6".

5. SOURCES INCLUDE:
GEMPLERS 1-800-332-6744 or GEMPLERS.COM
CSP OUTDOORS 1-800-592-6940 or 

CSPOUTDOORS.COM

WHEN IRRIGATION IS NOT
PROVIDED SPECIFICALLY FOR

THE TREE, TREEGATOR JR. BAGS
ARE RECOMMENDED TO HELP

FACILITATE PROPER WATERING
DURING THE FIRST TWO YEARS.

21

NOTES:

1. FOR THE CONTAINER-GROWN SHRUBS,
USE FINGERS OR SMALL HAND TOOL TO
PULL THE ROOTS OUT OF THE OUTER
LAYER OF POTTING SOIL; THEN CUT OR
PULL APART ANY ROOTS CIRCLING THE
PERIMETER OF THE CONTAINER.

2. THOROUGHLY SOAK THE SHRUB ROOT
BALL AND ADJACENT PREPARED SOIL
SEVERAL TIMES DURING THE FIRST
MONTH AFTER PLANTING AND
REGULARLY THROUGHOUT THE
FOLLOWING TWO SUMMERS.
· MODIFY HEAVY CLAY OR SILT SOILS

(MORE THAN 40% CLAY OR SILT) BY
ADDING COMPOSTED PINE BARK (UP
TO 30% BY VOLUME) OR GYPSUM

·. MODIFY EXTREMELY SANDY SOILS
(MORE THAN 85% SAND) BY ADDING
ORGANIC MATTER AND/OR DRY, SHREDDED
CLAY LOAM UP TO 30% OF THE TOTAL

5 IRRIGATION DURING ESTABLISHMENT
SIZE AT
PLANTING IRRIGATION FOR VITALITY IRRIGATION FOR SURVIVAL

< 2" CALIPER DAILY FOR TWO WEEKS, EVERY OTHER DAY FOR
TWO MONTHS, WEEKLY UNTIL ESTABLISHED

TWO TO THREE TIMES WEEKLY
FOR TWO TO THREE MONTHS

2"-4 CALIPER DAILY FOR ONE MONTH, EVERY OTHER DAY FOR
THREE MONTHS, WEEKLY UNTIL ESTABLISHED

TWO TO THREE TIMES WEEKLY
FOR THREE TO FOUR MONTHS

4 >" CALIPER DAILY FOR SIX WEEKS, EVERY OTHER DAY FOR FIVE
MONTHS, WEEKLY UNTIL ESTABLISHED

TWICE WEEKLY FOR FOUR TO FIVE
MONTHS

TABLE NOTES:
1. AT EACH IRRIGATION, APPLY TWO TO THREE GALLONS PER INCH TRUNK CALIPER TO THE ROOT BALL SURFACE. APPLY IT IN A MANNER SO ALL WATER SOAKS THE ENTIRE ROOT
BALL. DO NOT WATER IF ROOT BALL IS WET/SATURATED ON THE IRRIGATION DAY.

2. WHEN IRRIGATING FOR VITALITY, DELETE DAILY IRRIGATION WHEN PLANTING IN WINTER OR WHEN PLANTING IN COOL CLIMATES. ESTABLISHMENT TAKES THREE TO FOUR
MONTHS PER INCH TRUNK CALIPER. NEVER APPLY IRRIGATION IF THE SOIL IS SATURATED.

3. WHEN IRRIGATION FOR SURVIVAL, TREES TAKE MUCH LONGER TO ESTABLISH THAN REGULARLY IRRIGATED TREES. IRRIGATION MAY BE REQUIRED IN THE NORMAL HOT, DRY
PORTIONS OF THE FOLLOWING YEAR.



S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

WB-5
0 - In

terme
diate 

Semi-
Traile

r

X X X X X X X

Huber Heights Fire Truck

Hube
r Hei

ghts F
ire Tr

uck

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

10
-1

1-
12

-1
3-

T
R

C
K

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

FUEL DELIVERY TRUCK
CIRCULATION (WB-50)

C-10

1" = 30'

42.5
19.92

Max 56° Horiz
Max 10° Vert

3
33.5 4

35.5
2

15.5
3 10.4 4.2

12.5

WB-50 - Intermediate Semi-Trailer
Overall Length 55.000ft
Overall Width 8.500ft
Overall Body Height 12.052ft
Min Body Ground Clearance 1.334ft
Max Track Width 8.500ft
Lock-to-lock time 6.00s
Max Steering Angle (Virtual) 17.90°



S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

X X X X X X X

Huber Heights Fire Truck

Hube
r Hei

ghts F
ire Tr

uck

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

10
-1

1-
12

-1
3-

T
R

C
K

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

STORE DELIVERY TRUCK
CIRCULATION (WB-67)

C-11

1" = 30'

53
27.9

Max 68.5° Horiz
Max 10° Vert

3
43.5 4

45.5
2.5

23.5
4 17.4 4.2

19.5

WB-67 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
Overall Length 73.501ft
Overall Width 8.500ft
Overall Body Height 13.500ft
Min Body Ground Clearance 1.334ft
Max Track Width 8.500ft
Lock-to-lock time 6.00s
Max Steering Angle (Virtual) 28.40°



S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

Hube
r Hei

ghts F
ire Tr

uck

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

10
-1

1-
12

-1
3-

T
R

C
K

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

FIRE TRUCK
CIRCULATION

(OLD TROY PIKE)

C-12

1" = 30'

40

21

Huber Heights Ladder 22
Overall Length 40.000ft
Overall Width 8.000ft
Overall Body Height 7.745ft
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.656ft
Track Width 8.000ft
Lock-to-lock time 5.00s
Max Wheel Angle 45.00°



S

S

S
S

S

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TP

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y 

PI
KE

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

C
TP

N
 3

° 4
3'

 4
4"

 E
   

46
3.

55
'

S 
3°

 4
1'

 3
7"

 W
   

45
5.

06
'

N 85° 30' 17" W   513.31'

S 84° 33' 23" W   513.21'

E

A

A

X X X X X X X

Huber Heights Fire Truck

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

10
-1

1-
12

-1
3-

T
R

C
K

.D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

0' 60'30'30'

1" = 30'

FIRE TRUCK
CIRCULATION

(CHAMBERSBURG)

C-13

1" = 30'

40

21

Huber Heights Ladder 22
Overall Length 40.000ft
Overall Width 8.000ft
Overall Body Height 7.745ft
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.656ft
Track Width 8.000ft
Lock-to-lock time 5.00s
Max Wheel Angle 45.00°



1 2

3

4

5

6

36"

SIGN POST DETAIL

72"

NOT TO SCALE

U-CHANNEL

MUTCD STANDARD SIGN
(SIZE, SHAPE AND
COLORS). SEE SIGN CHART.

STOP BAR & ARROW DETAILS
NOT TO SCALE

36"

36"

36"

24"

24"

PAINTED 24" WHITE LINE

PAINTED WHITE LETTERING PAINTED WHITE SYMBOL

FLUSH CURB DIMENSIONS

A B C

72" 6" 12"

60" 5" 13"

48" 4" 14"

36" 3" 15"

FLUSH CURB DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

ELEVATION SECTION
A-A

C

B (MAXIMUM)

18" CURB
BELOW

PAVEMENT

A A

6"

18"

0"
(FLUSH)

SEE PLAN

A

A

TOP OF CURB

FINAL PAVEMENT GRADE

TOP OF
PAVEMENT

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE TO ASPHALT
TRANSITION DETAIL

12" 48" 12"

12"

ASPHALT CONCRETE APPROVED DENSE
GRADED AGGREGATE

HOT TAR SEAL

7 8 9

AREA LIGHTS 'A' DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

AREA LIGHTS 'B' DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

AREA LIGHTS 'C' DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN WITH
BOLLARD DETAIL

NOT TO SCALE

52"
(MIN.)

3' - 6"

3000 PSI CONCRETE
FOOTING

6"

12"

BACKFILL WITH SUITABLE
MATERIAL AND COMPACT
THOROUGHLY

60"
(MIN.) 6" Ø STEEL PIPE FILLED

WITH CONCRETE &
PAINTED TRAFFIC YELLOW

REFER TO TENANT SPECIFIC
ADA PARKING SIGNAGE DETAIL

STOP SIGN
(R1-1) WHITE RED 36"x36" GROUND

M.U.T.C.D.
NUMBER TEXT

COLOR

LEGEND BACKGROUND

SIZE OF SIGN
(WIDTH X
HEIGHT)

TYPE OF
MOUNT

NOTE:
1. ALL SIGNS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION

(FHWA) MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES (MUTCD), EXCEPT AS NOTED.
2. ALL SIGNS SHALL BE MOUNTED AS TO NOT OBSTRUCT THE SHAPE OF "STOP" (R1-1) AND

"YIELD" (R1-2) SIGNS.

SIGN DATA TABLE
NOT TO SCALE

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

14
-1

5-
16

-1
7-

18
-D

ET
L.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-14

AS SHOWN



WAWA PAVING SPECIFICATION / NOTES:
A) ASPHALT PAVING FOR DRIVEWAYS AND PARKING AREAS SHALL CONSIST

OF HOT-LAID PLANT-MIX BITUMINOUS CONCRETE PAVING MATERIAL
CONTAINING A BLEND OF COARSE AGGREGATE, FINE AGGREGATE,
MINERAL FILLER AND ASPHALT CEMENT BINDER. ALTHOUGH GRADATION
REQUIREMENTS ARE PROVIDED FOR DIFFERENT TYPES OR COURSES OF
ASPHALT PAVING MIXES, IT IS INTENDED THAT APPLICABLE PROVISIONS
FROM THE SPECIFICATIONS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
(DOT) OF THE STATE WHERE THE PROJECT SITE IS LOCATE SHALL
GOVERN.

B) AT LEAST TWO (2) WEEKS PRIOR TO PAVING, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL
SUBMIT TO WAWA INC. A COPY OF THE STATE DOT APPROVED JOB MIX
FORMULA FOR EACH PAVING MIX PROPOSED FOR USE ON THE PROJECT.
EACH JOB MIX FORMULA MUST INDICATE THE SOURCES AND
PROPORTIONS OF THE MIX COMPONENTS; THE RESULTANT MIX
GRADATION RANGE AND THE MARSHALL STABILITY, FLOW AND AIR
VOIDS TEST RESULTS. APPROVAL OF EACH JOB MIX FORMULA MUST BE
OBTAINED FROM WAWA INC. BEFORE ORDERING MATERIALS.

C) CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT TO WAWA CONSTRUCTION MANAGER ALL
DELIVERY TICKETS FOR ASPHALT MATERIAL, INDICATING FORMULA MIX
APPROVED AS DESCRIBED ABOVE IN SECTION 3.

D) FOR PAVEMENTS CONTAINING A DENSE GRADED AGGREGATE BASE OR A
STABILIZED AGGREGATE BASE, ASPHALT-PAVING LAYERS SHALL CONSIST
OF A BINDER COURSE AND A WEARING SURFACE. FOR FULL-DEPTH
ASPHALT PAVEMENTS, THE PAVING LAYERS SHALL CONSIST OF AN
ASPHALT BASE COURSE, TOGETHER WITH A BINDER COURSE AND
WEARING SURFACE. THE THICKNESS AND LOCATIONS OF THE
RESPECTIVE COURSES OF ASPHALT PAVING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE APPROVED SITE PLAN FOR THE PROJECT.

E) PLACEMENT OF ASPHALT PAVING SHALL COMMENCE AFTER ALL
GRADING AND UTILITY WORK HAS BEEN COMPLETED AND APPROVED.
FOR FULL-DEPTH ASPHALT PAVING, THE ASPHALT BASE COURSE SHALL BE
PLACED ON THE PREPARED SUB GRADE, PROVIDED THE SUB-GRADE IS
NOT FROZEN, MUDDY, OR OVERLY WET. WHEN FULL DEPTH ASPHALT
PAVING IS NOT USED, THE ASPHALT BINDER COURSE SHALL BE PLACED
ON A PROPERLY COMPACTED BASE, CONSISTING OF EITHER DENSE
GRADED AGGREGATE OR STABILIZED AGGREGATE.

F) ALL UTILITY FITTINGS (INLET GRATES, MANHOLE COVERS, VALVE BOXES)
SHALL BE IN PLACE AND AT THE CORRECT ELEVATION AT THE START OF
PAVING. DURING PAVING OPERATIONS, ADEQUATE PROTECTION MUST
BE PROVIDED AGAINST ALL TRAFFIC BY MEANS OF TEMPORARY BARRIERS,
FLASHING LIGHTS, ETC. UNTIL THE COMPLETION AND APPROVAL OF THE
FINISHED PAVEMENT. REMOVE ALL BARRIERS AS SOON AS THE PAVING
WORK HAS BEEN COMPLETED AND APPROVED. ALL PAVING WORK
SHALL BE PERFORMED IN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE DOT
SPECIFICATIONS.

G) FOR FULL-DEPTH ASPHALT PAVEMENTS, THE PREPARED SUB-GRADE SHALL
BE TREATED WITH A BITUMINOUS PRIME COAT APPLIED AT A RATE OF 0.3
TO 0.5 GALLONS PER SQUARE YARD PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF THE BASE
COURSE. FOR ASPHALT PAVEMENTS PLACED ON A DENSE GRADED OR
STABILIZED AGGREGATE BASE COURSE, THE SURFACE OF THE BASE
COURSE SHALL BE TREATED WITH A BITUMINOUS PRIME COAT APPLIED
AT A RATE OF 0.2 GALLONS PER SQUARE YARD. PRIME COAT SHALL BE
EITHER HOT LIQUID ASPHALT OR RAPID SETTING EMULSIFIED ASPHALT.
THE PRIME COAT SHALL BE UNIFORMLY APPLIED BY MEANS OF A
PRESSURE DISTRIBUTOR WITH THE TEMPERATURE RANGE SPECIFIED BY
APPLICABLE STATE DOT SPECIFICATIONS.

H) ALL LAYERS OF ASPHALT PAVING SHALL BE PLACED BY MEANS OF A
SELF-PROPELLED PAVING MACHINE. PAVING MATERIAL SHALL BE PLACED
AT SUFFICIENT LOOSE THICKNESS TO ASSURE THE SPECIFIED FINISHED
LAYER THICKNESS AFTER ROLLING. WAWA INC. REQUIRES THE
COLLECTION OF ALL DELIVERY SLIPS OF PAVING MATERIAL AND ALSO
RESERVES THE RIGHT TO TAKE CORE SPECIMENS TO VERIFY THE FINISHED
PAVEMENT THICKNESS PRIOR TO MAKING FINAL PAVEMENT.

I) ALL ASPHALT PAVING MATERIALS SHALL BE PLACED WITHIN A
TEMPERATURE RANGE OF 300° TO 320° F, OR NOT MORE THAN 15° F
BELOW THE MINIMUM TEMPERATURE SHOWN ON THE MATERIAL
SUPPLIER'S BILL OF LADING. DO NOT PLACE PAVING MATERIAL DURING
PERIODS OF PRECIPITATION, ON WET SURFACES OR WHEN THE AIR
TEMPERATURE IS LESS THAN 40° F. ALL PAVING MATERIAL FOR EACH
COURSE OF PAVEMENT SHALL BE OF UNIFORM APPEARANCE AND
SURFACE TEXTURE THROUGHOUT. CORRECT ANY IRREGULARITIES IN
THE SURFACE OF THE PAVING MATERIAL, PARTICULARLY THE WEARING
SURFACE, DIRECTLY BEHIND THE PAVER AND PRIOR TO COMPACTION.
AVOID BROADCASTING OF THE PAVING MATERIAL.

J) COMMENCE ROLLING AS SOON AS THE PAVING MATERIAL CAN BE
COMPACTED WITHOUT DISPLACEMENT. ROLLING MUST BE DONE WHILE
THE PAVING MATERIAL IS WITHIN 15° TO 25° F OF THE TEMPERATURE OF
THE MATERIAL WHEN DELIVERED. COMPACT ALL PAVING MATERIAL TO A
MINIMUM OF 95 PERCENT OF MAXIMUM MARSHALL DENSITY, AS
DETERMINED AT THE HOT MIX PLANT. FINAL COMPACTION SHALL BE
ACCOMPLISHED USING EITHER A MINIMUM 10 TON STEEL WHEELED
STATIC ROLLER OR A STEEL, SMOOTH DRUM VIBRATORY ROLLER WITH A
MINIMUM 10 TON VIBRATORY RATING. FINAL ROLLING SHALL REMOVE
ALL INDENTATIONS OR IRREGULARITIES IN THE PAVEMENT SURFACE.

K) ALL PAVING WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED WITH UTMOST CARE AND IN
ACCORDANCE WITH ALL INDUSTRY ACCEPTED STANDARDS OF GOOD
PRACTICE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL AVOID ANY DAMAGE OR STAINING
TO CURBS, SIDEWALKS, APRONS, SHRUBBERY OR OTHER WORK. ALL
PAVING EDGES MUST BE SEALED USING RUBBERIZED ASPHALT HOT
POURED SEALING MATERIAL, APPLIED BY SQUEEGEE TO A MINIMUM
6-INCH WIDTH.

L) WHERE ASPHALT PAVEMENT IS BEING PLACED AFTER NOVEMBER 1, THE
BINDER COURSE SHALL BE USED AS A SURFACE UNTIL THE FOLLOWING
SPRING. AT THAT TIME, ANY IRREGULARITIES, POTHOLES OR OTHER
SIGNS OF DISTRESS IN THE BINDER COURSE SHALL BE REPAIRED OR
REPLACED. THE FINISHED WEARING SURFACE SHALL THEN BE APPLIED AT
THE DIRECTION OF A WAWA REPRESENTATIVE.

M) GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS:
ASPHALT PAVING MIXTURES FOR DRIVEWAYS AND PARKING AREAS SHALL
COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION 
REQUIREMENTS AS APPLICABLE. GRADATION REQUIREMENTS FOR
SUPERPAVE MIXES SHALL SUPERSEDE THIS TABLE:

WAWA PAVING
SPECIFICATION AND NOTES

NOT TO SCALE

4

CITY STANDARD DRIVE APPROACH DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE 5

CITY STANDARD RIGHT-OF-WAY SIDEWALK DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

6

CITY STANDARD UTILITY TRENCH DETAIL

NOT TO SCALE

7

NOT TO SCALE

8

CITY STANDARD No. 3 CATCH BASIN DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

CITY STANDARD UTILITY TRENCH DETAIL
(PRIVATE PROPERTY) (PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY)

4

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

14
-1

5-
16

-1
7-

18
-D

ET
L.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-15

AS SHOWN



1 2 3

CITY STANDARD WATER METER PIT DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

CITY STANDARD WATER SERVICE CONNECTION DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

CITY STANDARD FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

4

CITY STANDARD SANITARY CLEANOUT DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

5

CITY STANDARD SANITARY MANHOLE DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

14
-1

5-
16

-1
7-

18
-D

ET
L.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-16

AS SHOWN



1

WAWA STANDARD DETAILS
NOT TO SCALE

6"

8'

8'

8'

6" STANDARD
DUTY CONCRETE

NOTES:
1. ALL LETTERS ARE 1" SERIES "C"

PER MUTCD.
2. TOP SIGN SHALL HAVE A

REFLECTORIZED
(ENGINEERING GRADE) WHITE
BACKGROUND WITH GREEN
REFLECTORIZED LEGEND AND
BORDER.

3. FINE NOTIFICATION AND VAN
ACCESSIBLE SIGN SHALL HAVE
A REFLECTORIZED
(ENGINEERING GRADE) WHITE
BACKGROUND WITH A GREEN
LEGEND AND BORDER.

4. ONE (1) SIGN REQUIRED FOR
EACH ADA PARKING SPACE.

5. INSTALLATION HEIGHT OF
SIGN SHALL BE 60" ABOVE THE
FINISHED GRADE TO THE
BOTTOM OF THE SIGN ON
UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL
DEVICES (MUTCD).

6. SIGN POST TO BE
GALVANIZED BREAKAWAY
STEEL U POST.

7. SIGN TO BE FASTENED TO
POST WITH ACORN NUT.

RESERVED
PARKING

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

$250 FINE
MINIMUM

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

14
-1

5-
16

-1
7-

18
-D

ET
L.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-17

AS SHOWN



1

WAWA STANDARD DETAILS
NOT TO SCALE

MINIMUM 4" #57
CLEAN STONE

MINIMUM 6" #57 CLEAN STONE
OR ODOT EQUIVALENT

NOTE: TO BE CONSTRUCTED PER WAWA & ODOT
SPECIFICATIONS AND GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

NOTE: TO BE CONSTRUCTED PER WAWA & ODOT
SPECIFICATIONS AND GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT NOTE: TO BE CONSTRUCTED PER WAWA & ODOT

SPECIFICATIONS AND GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

2" ODOT ITEM 442 - ASPHALT
CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE,
TYPE A (448)

4" ODOT ITEM 301 -
ASPHALT CONCRETE
BASE, PG 64-22

ODOT ITEM 304 -
AGGREGATE BASE

NOTES:
1. TO BE CONSTRUCTED PER ODOT SPECIFICATIONS, GEOTECHNICAL

ENGINEERING REPORT AND WAWA SPECIFICATIONS.
2. INTENDED FOR CLAY AND SILTY SUB-GRADES CAPABLE TO ACHIEVING

CALIFORNIA BEARING RATIO (CBR) VALUE OF 5 TO 7: (SN NUMBER OF 2.60)

MINIMUM 6" #57
CLEAN STONE
OR ODOT
EQUIVALENT

MINIMUM 6" #57 CLEAN STONE
OR ODOT EQUIVALENT

LOADING ZONE, BUILDING PARKING APRON, AIR PARKING
SPACE, TANK MAT EXTENSION, TRASH MAT

TANK MAT, CANOPY AREA

16'

18"

V
:\D

ET
\2

02
2\

D
ET

-2
20

20
5 

BL
U

E 
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

 -
 4

94
9 

C
H

A
M

BE
R

SB
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

, H
U

BE
R

 H
EI

G
H

T
S,

 O
H

\C
A

D
D

\P
LO

T
\S

D
P-

14
-1

5-
16

-1
7-

18
-D

ET
L.

D
W

G

IS
SU

E
D

A
T

E
D

E
SC

R
IP

T
IO

N

NOT APPROVED FOR CONSTRUCTION

SI
T

E
 D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
 P

LA
N

S

BY

TITLE:

SCALE: PROJECT ID:

DRAWING:

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, O
H

IO

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
CO

N
VE

N
IE

N
CE

ST
O

RE
 W

IT
H 

GA
S 

PU
M

PS

DET-220205

1
04

-1
3-

20
23

FO
R

 C
LI

E
N

T
 R

E
V

IE
W

N
B

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
H

U
B

E
R

 H
E

IG
H

T
S

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
SB

U
R

G
 R

O
A

D
P

IN
: P

70
 0

40
04

 0
01

7 
&

 P
70

 0
40

04
 0

02
6

D
et

ro
it,

 M
I ·

N
ew

 Y
or

k,
 N

Y
 ·

Bo
st

on
, M

A
Pr

in
ce

to
n,

 N
J ·

T
am

pa
, F

L 
·

R
ut

he
rf

or
d,

 N
J

w
w

w
.s

to
ne

fie
ld

en
g.

co
m

60
7 

Sh
el

by
 S

ui
te

 2
00

, D
et

ro
it,

 M
I 4

82
26

Ph
on

e 
24

8.
24

7.
11

15

CHARLES D. OLIVO, P.E.
OHIO LICENSE No. PE.80383

LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

2
05

-1
0-

20
23

FO
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

3
06

-0
9-

20
23

R
E

SU
B

M
IS

SI
O

N
 F

O
R

 B
A

SI
C

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

N
 R

E
V

IE
W

K
H

4
07

-0
8-

20
23

R
E

V
IS

E
 F

O
R

 R
IG

H
T

-O
F-

W
A

Y
 T

A
K

E
K

H

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-18

AS SHOWN



100

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 F
O

R

W
A

W
A

, I
N

C
.

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

B
U

R
G

 R
D

H
U

B
E

R
 H

E
IG

H
TS

, M
O

N
TG

O
M

E
R

Y
 C

O
., 

O
H

IO
, 4

54
24

S
 U

 R
 V

 E
 Y

 I 
N

 G

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD TROY PIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 1 STORY BRICK  AND FRAME HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=866.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=867.50' INV 24" W=862.60' INV 12" N=862.70' INV 24" E=859.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=874.47' INV N,S&NW=869.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=880.05' INV 12"S&NW=874.50' INV 12" N=876.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB 2X2 RIM=868.51' INV E&SW=864.31'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB 2X2 RIM=868.23' INV 12"NE=866.13' INV 12" S=866.43'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=873.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=877.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" STM

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. ROCK CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" CPP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 18" RCP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" RCP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" RCP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 4" RMC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 4" RMC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 4" RMC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. TRAFFIC LOOP DETECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
 EX. 12" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" RCP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" W.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 EX. 12" W.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=868.96' INV E&W=863.61'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=867.58' INV E&W=862.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=871.01' INV=866.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=874.91' INV=870.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=874.87' INV SE&W=870.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=880.47' INV=875.97+/- FULL OF DEBRIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=880.34' INV SE&W=874.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" RCP INV=866.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" RCP STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED O-1  GENERAL OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALONJAO, ADAM PARCEL ID:P70-04004-0026 INSTRUMENT:2022-00056216 4.7964 AC DEED 4.7976 AC SURVEY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAHUM, JOSEPH V PARCEL ID:P70-04004-0018, 0021 INSTRUMENT:2018-00050848 2.992 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MORTON, TED R PARCEL ID:P70-04004-0027 INSTRUMENT:2019-00030578 11.47 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENNEDY, KELLY S PARCEL ID:P70-04004-0001 INSTRUMENT:2014-00014468 1.188 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED R-1 RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED R-1 RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED R-1 RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONED PC  PLANNED COMMERCIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALONJAO, ADAM PARCEL ID:P70-04004-0017 INSTRUMENT:2019-00018975 2.968 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
102570 Sq. Feet  2.3547 Acres 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 3°43'44" E  463.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 84°33'23" E  513.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 3°41'37" W  455.06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 85°30'17" W  513.31'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.9679 AC. 129,280 SQ.FT. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.4426 AC. 106,399 SQ.FT. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.3550 AC. 102,582 SQ.FT. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.4105 AC. 235,679 SQ.FT. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
XREF:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Page

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
12/22/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
KTB

AutoCAD SHX Text
22103

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAMBERSBURG

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-1-2023  ADD INVERT DATA TO STORM STRUCTURES

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASIS OF BEARINGS: THE CENTERLINE OF OLD TROY PIKE (SOUTH 3°41'37" WEST) AS DETERMINED BY GPS OBSERVATIONS UTILIZING THE ODOT VRS/RTK NETWORK, OHIO STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, NAD 83(2011).

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-24-2023  ADD INVERTS, ADJUST & ADD BOUNDARY LABELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2



SCHO
O

L

101

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 F
O

R

W
A

W
A

, I
N

C
.

49
49

 C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

B
U

R
G

 R
D

H
U

B
E

R
 H

E
IG

H
TS

, M
O

N
TG

O
M

E
R

Y
 C

O
., 

O
H

IO
, 4

54
24

S
 U

 R
 V

 E
 Y

 I 
N

 G

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAMBERSBURG ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. SAN MH RIM=853.65' INV=841.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. SAN MH RIM=854.15' INV=844.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 21" SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 18 SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 21" SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 18" SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. DOUBLE GRATE CURB INLET RIM=853.33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. DOUBLE GRATE CURB INLET RIM=852.90'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. DOUBLE GRATE CURB INLET RIM=853.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. DOUBLE GRATE CURB INLET RIM=852.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB 2X2 RIM=856.92'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=861.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=866.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STM. MH RIM=867.50' INV 24" W=862.60' INV 12" N=862.70' INV 24" E=859.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 24" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 18" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 4" RMC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. TRAFFIC LOOP DETECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" W.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 12" W.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CB RIM=867.58' INV E&W=862.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=843.47' CROWN=850.88'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=841.35' CROWN=848.41'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=841.91' CROWN=850.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=841.39' CROWN=850.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CULVERT 24'W X 9'H

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CONC BOX CULVERT 10'W X 7'H

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 18" STM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
XREF:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Page

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
12/22/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
KTB

AutoCAD SHX Text
22103

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAMBERSBURG

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-1-2023  ADD INVERT DATA TO STORM STRUCTURES

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASIS OF BEARINGS: THE CENTERLINE OF OLD TROY PIKE (SOUTH 3°41'37" WEST) AS DETERMINED BY GPS OBSERVATIONS UTILIZING THE ODOT VRS/RTK NETWORK, OHIO STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, NAD 83(2011).

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-24-2023  ADD INVERTS, ADJUST & ADD BOUNDARY LABELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2



F

F

F

EMERGENCY STOP 

 SIDEWALK

10'-0"

4
'-
6

 1
/4

"

ALTERNATIVE 
PROPANE KIOSK 

OVERHANG

1'-7"

PRIMARY 
PROPANE 

KIOSK

OVERHANG

1'-3"

1'-3"

1'-7"

SIDEWALK

9
'-
9

 1
/2

"
4

5
'-
7

"
1

0
'-
9

"
4

'-
5

 1
/2

"

15'-8"32'-11 3/4"20'-1 7/8"22'-9 7/8"

91'-7 1/2" (LIMITS TO EXTERIOR FACE)
7

0
' 
-7

 1
/4

" 
(L

IM
IT

S
 T

O
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
A

C
E

)

4'-0 1/2"25'-3"43'-0 1/2"19'-3 1/2"

91'-7 1/2" (LIMITS TO EXTERIOR FACE)

U59FB-R

5,919 GSF

TYPE VB CONSTRUCTION

CO2
ICE

LADDER

+0.0' +0.0' +0.0'

+0.0'+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'+0.0'
+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'

+0.0'+0.0'

+0.0'

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

1
0

'-
0

"

+0.0'

MAX

4'-0"

M
IN

3
'-
0

"WATER 

SERVICE 

ROOM ELECTRICAL 

ROOM

BOLLARD ONLY 
NEEDED IF 
PROPANE IS 
LOCATED HERE

+0.0'

4
'-
5

"

7
0

'-
 7

 1
/4

" 
(L

IM
IT

S
 T

O
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
A

C
E

)

6
7

'-
9

 1
/2

"
2

'-
9

 3
/4

"

L
O

A
D

IN
G

 Z
O

N
E

1
8

'-
0

"

SIDEWALK

10'-0"

ACCESSIBLE PATH OF TRAVEL 
GUIDELINES
ARCHITECT IS RESPONSIBLE TO COORDINATE ACCESSIBLE PATH TO 
TRAVEL,TO A MINIMUM OF 10FT AWAY FROM THE EXTERIOR FACE OF 
THE BUILDING . 

36" min

32' min

32" min

36" min

2
4

" 
m

a
x

5
2

" 
m

in
2

4
' m

a
x

FIGURE 403.5.1 (A)

CLEAR WIDTH OF AN ACCESSIBLE ROUTE 

(INSIDE BUILDING)

2
4

" 
m

a
x

5
2

" 
m

in
2

4
" 

m
a

x

32" min

48" min

FIGURE 403.5.1 (B)

CLEAR WIDTH OF AN ACCESSIBLE ROUTE 

(INSIDE BUILDING)

32" min

COMPONENTS OF ACCESSIBLE ROUTES

• SURFACES (S403.2) ALL SURFACES OF ACCESSIBLE ROUTES 
MUST BE FIRM,STABLE, AND SLIP RESISTANT. CARPETING 
AND SURFACE OPENING , WHERE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY

• WALKING SURFACE SLOPE (S403.3) THE RUNNING SLOPE OF 
WALKING SURFACE CANNOT EXCEED 1:20 (5%), BUT OTHER 
COMPONENT OF ACCESSIBLE ROUTES,SUCH AS RAMPS AND 
CURB RAMPS,CAN BE MORE STEEPLY SLOPED. CROSS 
SLOPES MUST BE 1:48M MAX.

• LIMITED CHANGES IN LEVEL (s403.4) CHANGES IN LEVEL UP 
TO 1/2" MUST BE BEVELED (BUT CAN HAVE A VERTICAL EDGE 
IF 1/4" MAXIMUM)

• CLEARANCES (S403.5) THE CONTINUOUS CLEAR WIDTH MUST 
BE AT LEAST 36" , WHILE ACCESSIBLE ROUTE CAN REDUCE 
TO 32" AT POINTS FOR A MAXIMUM DISTANCE OF 24". 

LP GAS DISPENSING UNIT/ CONTAINER 
VEHICLE  BARRIER PROTECTION 
GUIDELINES

NFPA 58 (2022) 6.27.3.14 REQUIRES THAT LP-GAS VEHICLE DISPENSER 
CONTAINERS AND DISPENSING SYSTEM SHELL BE PROTECTED FROM 
VEHICULAR DAMAGE. VEHICLE FUEL DISPENSER CONTAINERS LOCATED 
WITHIN 10FT OF A VEHICLE THOROUGHFARE OR PARKING LOCATION 
SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH VEHICULAR BARRIERS PROTECTION (VBP). 
USE THESE GUIDELINES WHEN PLACING VBP'S.
VBP  ALSO APPLIES TO NFPA 58 6.27.3.15 

• THEY SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED OF STL NOT LESS THAN 
4 INCHES IN DIA. & SHALL BE FILLED WITH CONCRETE.

• THEY SHALL BE SPACE NOT MORE THAN 4FT (48") O.C.
• THEY SHALL BE LOCATED NOT LESS THAN 3FT (36") 

FROM THE LP-GAS

*** COORDINATE SPOT ELEVATIONS WITH CIVIL TEAM'S GRADING PLAN 

Date:

Drawing Name:

Proto:

WAWA

42-23-61013

ARCHITECTURAL
SITE PLAN

06/14/23

RENCHARRISONH F
&   A S S O C I A T E S ,   L T D

1705 S. Walton Blvd., Suite 3

Bentonville, Arkansas 72712

t 479.273.7780

www.hfa-ae.com



EXIT
EXITEXIT

EXIT

EXIT
EXIT

EXIT

K

F

F

F

F

3

2

4

1

32' - 8 3/4"20' - 4 1/4"22' - 7 1/2" 15' - 7 7/8"

91' - 4 3/8"

67
' - 

10
"

4' - 1 3/8"25' - 2 1/8"42' - 11 7/8"19' - 1"

4' 
- 7

 1/
8"

10
' - 

8"
45

' - 
4"

9' 
- 1

0 1
/4"

70
' - 

5 3
/8"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. ROOF FRONT
23' - 11 1/2"

T.O. ROOF TOWER
23' - 9"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. ROOF FRONT
23' - 11 1/2"

T.O. ROOF TOWER
23' - 9"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. ROOF TOWER
23' - 9"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O. SLAB
0' - 0"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (HIGH)
18' - 8"

T.O PARAPET (LOW)
16' - 0"

B.O. OVERHANG
11' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. SILL (LOW)
2' - 0"

T.O. ROOF FRONT
23' - 11 1/2"

WAWA U59FB-R

1" = 10'-0"
5

FLOOR PLAN

3/16" = 1'-0"
4

SIDE ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0"
3

SIDE ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0"
2

REAR ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0"
1

FRONT ELEVATION

MATERIALS:

EXTERIOR FINISH PACKAGE: BRICK-1

2 3 4 5BRICK

COMPOSITE
WOOD
SIDING

 EIFS OR
STUCCO

ROOF:
TITANIUM TILE

2

1

2 21
2

1

2

1

1

1

1

3

3 3

3

1

3

3

3

2 2 2

1

2

4

4

555

5 5

55

MATERIAL CALCS - FRONT
ELEVATION:
BRICK - 301 SQFT 
COMPOSITE - 383 SQFT  
STUCCO/EIFS - 446 SQFT 
TILE - 82 SQFT
TOTAL - 1,212 SQFT

MATERIAL CALCS - REAR ELEVATION:
BRICK - 576 SQFT 
COMPOSITE - 543
STUCCO/EIFS - 320 SQFT 
TILE - 69 SQFT - 5%
TOTAL - 1,508 SQFT

MATERIAL CALCS - SIDE ELEVATION:
BRICK - 806 SQFT 
COMPOSITE - 224 SQFT
STUCCO/EIFS - 88 SQFT
TILE - 63 SQFT 
TOTAL - 1,181 SQFT

MATERIAL CALCS - SIDE ELEVATION:
BRICK - 363 SQFT 
COMPOSITE - 552 SQFT
STUCCO/EIFS - 334 SQFT
TILE - 87 SQFT 
TOTAL - 1,336 SQFT

1

2

6

METAL 
OVERHANG
ATAS #17
BRITE RED

666

6

6

GLAZING CALCS - FRONT ELEVATION:
CLEAR GLAZING - 462 SQFT
SPANDREL GLASS - 77 SQFT
TOTAL - 541 SQFT

TOTAL BUILDING - 1,753 SQFT
GLAZING - 541/1,753 = 31%

GLAZING CALCS - REAR ELEVATION:
CLEAR GLAZING - 68 SQFT 
SPANDREL GLASS - 136 SQFT 
TOTAL - 204 SQFT

TOTAL BUILDING - 1,712 SQFT
GLAZING - 204/1,712 = 30%

GLAZING CALCS - SIDE ELEVATION:
CLEAR GLAZING - 110 SQFT 
SPANDREL GLASS - 46 SQFT
TOTAL - 156 SQFT

TOTAL BUILDING - 1,337 SQFT
GLAZING - 300/1,337 = 22%

5

3

2

CHAMBERSBURG ROAD & TROY PIKE 
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, MONTGOMETY COUNTY, OH



K

F

F

F

F

EXIT

1. EXTERIOR WALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF EXTERIOR STUD. INTERIOR WALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF STUD, UNLESS NOTED 
OTHERWISE.

2. FOR SLAB CONTROL JOINT LOCATIONS SEE SHEET "S1.01".

3. FOR EQUIPMENT LAYOUT SEE SHEET EQ1.0

4. FOR UNDERSLAB CONDUIT LOCATIONS SEE SHEETS "P1.0" & "E3.0".

5. REFER TO SHEET A9.0 - FINISH FLOOR PLAN FOR INTERIOR ELEVATION MARKERS AND SHEET A9.1, A10.0 & A10.1 FOR INTERIOR ELEVATIONS.

6. REFER TO SHEET A5.0 FOR STOREFRONT ELEVATIONS AND DIMENSIONS.

7. PROVIDE DIAGONAL BRACING TO ALL METAL STUD SOFFITS THAT ARE SUSPENDED FROM STRUCTURE ABOVE.

8. AT ALL METAL STUD PARTITIONS SYSTEMS THAT EXTEND TO STRUCTURE, PROVIDE DEFLECTION TRACK WITH 2" MIN. DEFLECTION SEE DETAIL 
19/A0.6.

9. SOIL TREATMENT FOR TERMITE CONTROL SHALL BE PER SPECIFICATION SECTION 02282 SOIL TREATMENT.

10. ALL WALLS BEHIND WALK- REFRIGERATORS AND FREEZERS SHALL BE 1/2" CEMENT BOARD CEMENT BOARD TO HEIGHT OF 8" ABOVE TOP OF W.I.B. 
FASTEN BOARDS TO STUDS @ 8" O.C. EA. WAY W/ CEMENT BOARD FASTENERS. EMBED ALKALI-RESISTANT TAPE IN THINSET OVER JOINTS.

GENERAL NOTES

WATER HEATER

K KNOX BOX

XX WALL TAG

CO2 TANKCO2 WOOD COLUMN

STEEL COLUMN

2

2

DD

CC

EE

A.1 A.1

1

13

3

5

5

6.8

6.8

8

8

9

9 2.9

2.9

6.7

6.7

6.6

6.6

6.1

6.1

6

6

4

4

A.2A.2

BB

A A

10

10

29'-3 1/2"

25'-2"42'-2 1/4"8'-4"10'-2 3/4"

33'-4 3/4"11'-6 3/4"4 1/4"

6'-
5"

15
'-4

 3/
4"

23
'-0

 1/
4"

13
'-7

"
7'-

9 1
/2"

8E

8D

8D

8C

8B

8B

8F

8F

8H

8J

8J

8K

8E

8C

6E

8B

22'-1"

2'-
3 1

/2"
3'-

0"
1'-

6" 8'-8"11'-5"

6A

6A

3A

3A

6D

6A

6A

6A

6D

3A

3A

3A

6C

6A

3A

8A

3A

3A

7'-
9 1

/2"
4'-

1 1
/2"

5'-
7"

24'-1"

14'-8"

15'-7"11'-8 1/2"6'-5"13'-10 3/4"

PROVIDE 1/2" CEMENT BOARD FOR 
ALL WALLS BEHIND WALK-IN REFRIG. 
SEE GENERAL NOTE 10

PROVIDE 1/2" CEMENT 
BOARD FOR ALL WALLS 
BEHIND WALK-IN REFRIG. 
SEE GENERAL NOTE 10

PROVIDE 1/2" CEMENT 
BOARD FOR ALL WALLS 
BEHIND WALK-IN REFRIG. 
SEE GENERAL NOTE 10

15'-7 1/4"32'-9 1/2"20'-4 3/4"22'-7"

45
'-4

 1/
4"

10
'-8

"

6'-
10

 1/
4"

6D

3C

8G

8L

15'-0"4'-11"

8F

8B

8B

8C

3A

3A

6A

6A

3A

6A

12'-1 3/4"8'-7 3/4"10'-7 1/4"9 3/4"

6'-
10

 1/
4"

4'-
7 3

/4"
10

'-9
 1/

2"
10

'-7
 1/

2"
36

'-2
 3/

4"

11
'-1

1"
5'-

7"
35

'-9
 1/

4"

3'-6 1/2"

8E

2'-3"11'-0 1/2"

1'-
7 3

/4"
1'-

7 1
/2"

4'-
6"

2'-
4 1

/4"

14'-6"

19'-11 3/4"

8L

8D

DS

DS

SIM.

SIM.

9' - 5 1/2"

91' - 4 3/8"

7 1/4"

4'-4 3/4"

4"

BLACK BOX 
PANELS

ST
AI

NL
ES

S 
ST

EE
L B

OX
 P

AN
EL

S

STAINLESS STEEL BOX PANELS

DS

8F

8F

3" PVC SLEEVES 
FOR SODA AND 
WATER TUBING

ELECTRICAL ROOM
MEN'S RESTROOMS

WOMEN'S RESTROOM
HALLWAY

FOOD SERVICE
WALK-IN FREEZER

FOOD SERVICE
WALK-IN REFRIG.

WASHROOM

WATER SERVICE
ROOM TRASH/STAGING

BACK OF HOUSE

FOOD SERVICESPECIALTY
BEVERAGE

COFFEE

SELF-SERVICE
BEVERAGE

VESTIBULE

OFFICEASSOCIATE AREA

RETAIL WALK-IN
REFRIG.

DELIVERY ROOM

REAR VESTIBULE

1'-
9 3

/4"

14'-11 1/2"8'-4 3/4"10'-2 1/2"3'-4"19'-8 1/4"

6'-7"7'-6"

8F

11 3/4"
R.O.
4'-4"

R.
O.

3'-
4"

7'-
0 1

/4"

20'-1"

7'-
5 1

/2"

1'-
6"

3'-
0"

2'-
3 1

/2"

2"
2"

21'-9 1/4"

1'-4"

19'-1"

10
"

20'-8 1/2"

7"

11
'-6

"

4'-
0"

2'-4 3/4"
5'-2"

2'-
1 1

/4"

3'-1 1/4"

3'-11"

2"

2"

1'-
7 1

/4"

8'-
9 1

/2"
35

'-0
 1/

4"
2"

2"

2"

11
'-0

"

2"

4 1
/2"

10"

R.O.
6'-4"13'-0 1/2"

R.
O.

3'-
6"

2'-
4"

R.
O.

3'-
6"

2'-
4"

R.
O.

3'-
6"

2'-
4"

R.
O.

3'-
6"

4'-3"

INTERNAL DRAINS.
REF PLUMBING FOR SIZE

SELF SERVICE
WALK-IN REFRIG.

(BEER)

RETAIL

HO
LD

1'-
6"

11'-7"

2'-0"

7'-
10

 1/
2"

SI
DI

NG
 L I

MI
T

9'-
8"

R
.O

.

4
' 
- 

4
"

3
' 
- 

2
 1

/4
"

3A

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

3C

67
'-6

 1/
4"

2'-
7"

2'-
4 3

/4"

23
'-6

 1/
2"

4'-
3 1

/4"
9'-

9 3
/4"

42'-11"

8.2

8.2

C.9 C.9

8.4

8.4

GENERATOR BOX. 
RE:ELECTRICAL

13'-2 1/2"8'-0 1/2"

6'-0"

BL
AC

K 
BO

X 
PA

NE
LS

3' 
- 1

1 1
/2"

CO2

4"

16
' - 

4"

2'-
3"

3 3/4" 10'-6 1/2"

3 1
/2"

4'-1 1/2"

4"

3'-
6 1

/2"

7'-5 1/4"

33'-3 1/4"
6' 

- 1
0 1

/2"

3A

25'-2"19'-2"

3C

9'-
7 3

/4"

4"3 3/4"

1. FOR SLAB CONTROL JOINT LOCATIONS SEE STRUCTURAL.

2. FOR EQUIPMENT LAYOUT SEE SHEET EQ1.0

3. FOR UNDERSLAB CONDUIT LOCATIONS SEE MEP

4. REFER TO SHEET A1.0 FOR BLOCKING SCHEDULE, DOOR SCHEDULE, ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE, AND GENERAL NOTES.

5. REFER TO SHEET A9.0 - FINISH FLOOR PLAN FOR INTERIOR ELEVATION MARKERS AND SHEET A9.1, A10.0 & A10.1 FOR INTERIOR 
ELEVATIONS.

6. REFER TO SHEET A5.0 FOR STOREFRONT ELEVATIONS.

7. PROVIDE DIAGONAL BRACING TO ALL METAL STUD SOFFITS THAT ARE SUSPENDED FROM STRUCTURE ABOVE.

8. AT ALL METAL STUD PARTITIONS SYSTEMS THAT EXTEND TO STRUCTURE, PROVIDE DEFLECTION TRACK WITH 2" MIN. DEFLECTION 
SEE DETAIL 19/A0.6 

FLOOR PLAN NOTES

SHEET:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DOCUMENT DATE:

ISSUE BLOCK

S
T
IP

U
L
A

T
IO

N
 F

O
R

 R
E
U

S
E

J
O

B
 N

U
M

B
E
R

:

PROTO:

PROTO CYCLE:

T
H

IS
 D

R
A
W

IN
G

 W
A
S
 P

R
E
P
A
R

E
D

 F
O

R
 U

S
E
 

O
N

 A
 S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 S
IT

E
 A

T
 

C
O

N
T
E
M

P
O

R
A
N

E
O

U
S
L
Y
 W

IT
H

 I
T
S
 I
S
S
U

E

D
A
T
E
 O

N
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 ,
 A

N
D

 I
T
 I
S
 N

O
T

S
U

IT
A
B
L
E
 F

O
R

 U
S
E
 O

N
 A

 D
IF

F
E
R

E
N

T

P
R

O
J
E
C

T
 S

IT
E
 O

R
 A

T
 A

 L
A
T
E
R

 T
IM

E
.

U
S
E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 F
O

R

R
E
F
E
R

E
N

C
E
 O

R
 E

X
A
M

P
L
E
 O

N

A
N

O
T
H

E
R

 P
R

O
J
E
C

T
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
S
 T

H
E

S
E
R

V
IC

E
S
 O

F
 P

R
O

P
E
R

L
Y
 L

IC
E
N

S
E
D

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S
 A

N
D

 E
N

G
IN

E
E
R

S
.

R
E
P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

F
O

R
 R

E
U

S
E
 O

N
 A

N
O

T
H

E
R

 P
R

O
J
E
C

T
 I
S

N
O

T
 A

U
T
H

O
R

IZ
E
D

 A
N

D
 M

A
Y
 B

E

C
O

N
T
R

A
R

Y
 T

O
 T

H
E
 L

A
W

.

PLAN ISSUE:ZONING REVIEW

G
:\

4
2
\4

2
-2

3
-6

1
0
1
3
 W

a
w

a
 -

 M
o
n
tg

o
m

e
ry

, 
O

H
 (

H
u
b
e
r 

H
e
ig

h
ts

)\
0
4
-D

e
s
ig

n
\A

rc
h
\0

1
-S

D
\M

o
d
e
ls

\4
2
-2

3
-6

1
0
1
3
_
W

a
w

a
 H

u
b
e
r 

H
e
ig

h
ts

, 
O

H
_
v
2
2
.r

v
t

5
/1

5
/2

0
2
3
 2

:1
8
:4

0
 P

M

A1.1

DIMENSION

FLOOR PLAN

05/15/23

HW

4
2
-2

3
-6

1
0
1
3

H
U

B
E
R

 H
E
IG

H
T
S
, 
S
ta

te

MD

W
A
W
A

-A
1
.1

-D
IM

E
N

S
IO

N
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A
N

C
H

A
M

B
E
R

S
B
U

R
G

 R
O

A
D

 &
 O

L
D

 T
R

O
Y
 P

IK
E

H
U

B
E

R
 H

E
IG

H
T
S
, 
O

H
 4

5
4
2
4

0
5
/1

5
/2

3

U59FB-R

2023.Q3.V1

S
T
O

R
E

 N
U

M
B

E
R

:x
x
x
x

FLOOR PLAN LEGEND

1/4" = 1'-0"A1.1

1 DIMENSION FLOOR PLAN

RENCHARRISONH F

&   A S S O C I A T E S ,  P L L C

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S
T
R
U

C
T
IO

N

1705 S. Walton Blvd., Suite 3

Bentonville, Arkansas 72712

t 479.273.7780

www.hfa-ae.com



Traffic 
Impact Study 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Proposed Wawa Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales 
Old Troy Pike & Chambersburg Road 
City of Huber Heights 
Montgomery County, Ohio 
 
      
Prepared for: 
Blue Peninsula 
 
 
Date: April 7, 2023    
  
SE&D Job Number: DET-220205 

 
____________________ 
 

Charles D. Olivo, PE 
Principal 
Ohio PE License No. 803983 
 
 

 
____________________ 
 

John R. Corak 
Project Manager 
 

 
607 Shelby St, Suite 200 

Detroit, MI 48226 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................... 1 

METHODOLOGY ......................................................................................................................... 1 

2023 EXISTING CONDITION .................................................................................................... 2 

2023 Existing Roadway Conditions ............................................................................................................... 2 

2023 Existing Traffic Volumes ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2023 Existing LOS/Capacity Analysis ............................................................................................................. 3 

TRIP GENERATION..................................................................................................................... 3 

Trip Generation Calculations .......................................................................................................................... 3 

Trip Assignment/Distribution .......................................................................................................................... 5 

OPENING YEAR TRAFFIC CONDITIONS ............................................................................... 5 

2025 Opening Year No-Build Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................... 5 

2025 Opening Year No-Build LOS/Capacity Analysis ............................................................................... 5 

2025 Opening Year Build Traffic Volumes ................................................................................................... 5 

2025 Opening Year Build LOS/Capacity Analysis ...................................................................................... 5 

DESIGN YEAR TRAFFIC CONDITIONS .................................................................................. 6 

2045 Design Year No-Build Traffic Volumes .............................................................................................. 6 

2045 Design Year No-Build LOS/Capacity Analysis .................................................................................. 6 

2045 Design Year Build Traffic Volumes ...................................................................................................... 7 

2045 Design Year Build LOS/Capacity Analysis .......................................................................................... 7 

BUILD CONDITION DEGRADATION ..................................................................................... 7 

SITE CIRCULATION & ACCESS ............................................................................................... 8 

CONCLUSIONS ........................................................................................................................... 8 

  



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

i i 

 

TECHNICAL APPENDIX 
 
 
LEVEL OF SERVICE/AVERAGE CONTROL DELAY CRITERIA 

Table A1: Comparative Level of Service (Delay) Table 

TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA 

Intersection of Old Troy Pike & Chambersburg Road 

FIGURES 

Figure 1 – Site Location Map 

Figure 2 – 2023 Existing Traffic Volumes 

Figure 3 – “New” Site-Generated Traffic Volumes 

Figure 4 – “Pass-By” Site-Generated Traffic Volumes 

Figure 5 – Total Site-Generated Traffic Volumes 

Figure 6 – 2025 Opening Year No-Build Traffic Volumes 

Figure 7 – 2025 Opening Year Build Traffic Volumes 

Figure 8 – 2045 Design Year No-Build Traffic Volumes 

Figure 9 – 2045 Design Year Build Traffic Volumes 

HIGHWAY CAPACITY ANALYSIS DETAIL SHEETS 

2023 Existing Traffic Conditions 

2025 No-Build Traffic Conditions 

2025 Build Traffic Conditions 

TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING DIRECTIVE 

Intersection of Old Troy Pike & Chambersburg Road 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

1 

INTRODUCTION 

This Traffic Impact Study was prepared to investigate the potential impacts of the proposed convenience 

store with fuel sales on the adjacent roadway network.  The subject property is located at the northwesterly 

quadrant of the intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road in the City of Huber Heights, 

Montgomery County, Ohio.  The site location is shown on appended Figure 1.   

The subject property is designated as Parcel ID P70-04004-0017 and P70-04004-0026. The site has 

approximately 248 feet of frontage along Old Troy Pike and approximately 513 feet of frontage along 

Chambersburg Road.  The existing site is occupied by a single-family residential home. Access is presently 

provided via one (1) full-movement driveway along Chambersburg Road.  Under the proposed development 

program, the existing structures would be razed and a 5,915 square-foot convenience store with eight (8) 

fuel pumps (16 fueling positions) would be constructed.  Access is proposed via one (1) full-movement 

driveway along Old Troy Pike and one (1) full-movement driveway along Chambersburg Road. 

METHODOLOGY 

Stonefield Engineering & Design, LLC has prepared this Traffic Impact Study in accordance with the 

recommended guidelines and practices outlined by the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) within 

Chapter 9 “Traffic Impact Study (TIS)” of the State Highway Access Management Manual (SHAMM).  A 

detailed field investigation was performed to assess the existing conditions of the adjacent roadway network.  

A data collection effort was completed to identify the existing traffic volumes at the study intersections to 

serve as a base for the traffic analyses.  Capacity analysis, a procedure used to estimate the traffic-carrying 

ability of roadway facilities over a range of defined operating conditions, was performed using the Highway 

Capacity Manual, 6th Edition (HCM) and the Highway Capacity Software (HCS7) for all study conditions to 

assess the roadway operations.  

For an unsignalized intersection, Level of Service (LOS) A indicates operations with delay of less than 10 

seconds per vehicle, while LOS F describes operations with delay in excess of 50 seconds per vehicle.  For a 

signalized intersection, LOS A indicates operations with delay of less than 10 seconds per vehicle, while LOS 

F describes operations with delay in excess of 80 seconds per vehicle.  The Technical Appendix contains the 

Highway Capacity Analysis Detail Sheets for the study intersections analyzed in this assessment.  The traffic 

signal timing utilized within the signalized analysis is based on timing directives provided by the City of Huber 

Heights. 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

2 

2023 EXISTING CONDITION 

2023 EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS 

The proposed convenience store with fuel sales is located at the northwesterly quadrant of the 

intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road in the City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, 

Ohio.  The subject property is designated as Parcel ID P70-04004-0017 and P70-04004-0026. The site has 

approximately 248 feet of frontage along Old Troy Pike and approximately 513 feet of frontage along 

Chambersburg Road.  Land uses in the area are a mix of commercial, educational, residential, and retail uses. 

Old Troy Pike (Ohio State Route 202) is classified as a Principal Arterial roadway with a general north-

south orientation and is under the jurisdiction of ODOT.  Along the site frontage, the roadway provides two 

(2) lanes of travel in each direction, separated by a center left-turn lane, with additional lanes provided at key 

intersections to facilitate turning movements.  The roadway has a posted speed limit of 35 mph.  Curb and 

sidewalk are provided along both sides of the roadway, shoulders are not provided, and on-street parking is 

not permitted.  Old Troy Pike provides north-south mobility throughout the City of Huber Heights and 

surrounding municipalities and provides access to Dwight D. Eisenhower Highway (Interstate-70) to the 

north of the site for a mix of commercial, educational, residential, and retail uses along its length. 

Chambersburg Road is classified as a Minor Arterial roadway with a general east-west orientation and is 

under the jurisdiction of the City of Huber Heights.  Along the site frontage, the roadway provides one (1) 

lane of travel in each direction with additional lanes provided a key intersections to facilitate turning 

movements.  The roadway has a posted speed limit of 35 mph.  Along the site frontage, curb and sidewalk 

are not provided along both sides of the roadway, shoulders are not provided, and on-street parking is not 

permitted.  Chambersburg Road provides east-west mobility throughout the City of Huber Heights and 

provides access to Brandt Pike (Ohio State Route 201) to the east of the site for a mix of commercial, 

educational, residential, and retail uses along its length. 

Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road intersect to form a four (4)-leg intersection controlled by a four 

(4)-phase traffic signal operating on a 140-second background cycle length.  The eastbound approach of 

Chambersburg Road provides one (1) exclusive left-turn lane and one (1) shared through/right-turn lane and 

the westbound approach of Chambersburg Road provides one (1) exclusive left-turn lane, one (1) exclusive 

through lane, and one (1) exclusive right-turn lane.  The northbound and southbound approaches of Old 

Troy Pike each provide one (1) exclusive left-turn lane, one (1) exclusive through lane, and one (1) shared 

through/right-turn lane.  Crosswalks, pedestrian signals, and pedestrian ramps are provided across all legs of 

the intersection.  



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

3 

2023 EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Turning movement counts were collected during the typical weekday morning, weekday midday, and 

weekday evening time periods to evaluate existing traffic conditions and identify the specific hours when 

traffic activity on the adjacent roadways is at a maximum and could be potentially impacted by the 

development of the site.  Turning movement counts were collected at the intersection of Old Troy Pike and 

Chambersburg Road.  Specifically, turning movement counts were conducted on Tuesday, February 28, 2023, 

from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. and from 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

The study time periods were chosen as they are representative of the peak periods of both the adjacent 

roadway network and the proposed development and the arrival and dismissal times of Wayne High School 

and Weisenborn Junior High School.  It is noted that the traffic counts were conducted while classes were in 

session for the Huber Heights school district.  The traffic volume data was collected and analyzed to identify 

the design peak hour in accordance with HCM and the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) guidelines.  

Based on the review of the count data the weekday morning peak hour occurred from 7:15 a.m. to 8:15 a.m.; 

the school dismissal peak hour occurred from 2:45 p.m. to 3:45 p.m., and the weekday evening peak hour 

occurred from 5:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. The Technical Appendix contains a summary of the turning movement 

count data.  The 2023 Existing weekday morning, school dismissal, and weekday evening peak hour volumes 

are summarized on appended Figure 2. 

2023 EXISTING LOS/CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Level of Service and Volume/Capacity analysis was conducted for the 2023 Existing Condition during 

the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours at the study intersections.  

Under the existing condition, the signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is 

calculated to operate at overall Level of Service C during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and 

weekday evening peak hours. 

TRIP GENERATION 

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS 

Trip generation projections for the proposed convenience store with fuel sales were prepared utilizing 

ITE’s Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition.  Trip generation rates associated with Land Use 945 

“Convenience Store/Gas Station” were cited for the proposed 5,915-square-foot convenience store with fuel 

sales.  It is noted that the ITE does not provide trip generation data during the school dismissal peak hour. As 

such, the weekday evening peak hour trip generation rates were utilized for the school dismissal peak hour. 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

4 

Table 1 provides the weekday morning, school dismissal, and weekday evening trip generation volumes 

associated with the proposed development. 

TABLE 1 – PROPOSED TRIP GENERATION 

Land Use 

Weekday Morning 
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal 
Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 
Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 
5,915 SF Convenience 
Store/Gas Station 
ITE Land Use 945 

270 271 541 234 233 467 234 233 467 

  
As stated within Chapter 10 of ITE’s Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition, there are instances when 

the total number of trips generated by a site is different from the amount of new traffic added to the street 

system by the generator.  Convenience stores and gas stations are specifically located on or adjacent to busy 

streets to attract motorists already on the roadway.  Therefore, the proposed convenience store with fuel 

sales development would be expected to attract a portion of its trips from the traffic passing the site on the 

way from an origin to an ultimate destination.  These trips do not add new traffic to the adjacent roadway 

system and are referred to as pass-by trips. 

Based upon the published ITE data for Land Use 945 “Convenience Store/Gas Station,” 76% of the site-

generated traffic during the weekday morning peak hour and 75% of the site-generated traffic during the 

weekday evening peak hour is comprised of pass-by traffic. It is noted that the ITE does not publish pass-by 

rates during the school dismissal peak hour. As such, the weekday evening peak hour pass-by rates were 

utilized for the school dismissal peak hour. Table 2 shows the additional site generated traffic for the 

proposed development in terms of newly generated traffic and pass-by traffic.  

TABLE 2 – PROPOSED TRIP GENERATION – NEW & PASS-BY TRIPS 

Trip Type 

Weekday Morning 
Peak Hour 

School Dismissal 
Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 
Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 
“New” Trips 64 65 129 59 58 117 59 58 117 
“Pass-By” Trips 206 206 412 175 175 350 175 175 350 
Total 270 271 541 234 233 467 234 233 467 

At the site driveways, the calculated number of pass-by trips is shown as a negative number at the 

through movement as the vehicles are temporarily diverted from the through travel stream into and out of 

the site access point. 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

5 

TRIP ASSIGNMENT/DISTRIBUTION 

The trips generated by the proposed development were distributed according to the existing travel 

pattern along the adjacent roadways, the location of nearby gas stations and convenience stores, and the 

access management plan of the site. The “New” Site-Generated Traffic Volumes are illustrated on Figure 3 

and the “Pass-By” Site-Generated Traffic Volumes expected to access the site are depicted on Figure 4. The 

Total Site-Generated Traffic Volumes are summarized on appended Figure 5. 

OPENING YEAR TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

2025 OPENING YEAR NO-BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

The 2023 Existing Condition traffic volume data was grown to a future horizon year of 2025, which is a 

conservative estimate for when the proposed convenience store with fuel sales is expected to be fully 

constructed.  To calculate the annual background growth rate, census data published by the United States 

Census Bureau from 2010 and 2020 was analyzed. Based on the census data analyzed, the United States 

Census Bureau forecasts a 1.30% annual population increase between 2010 and 2020. As such, the existing 

traffic volumes at the study intersections were increased by 1.30% annually for two (2) years. 

The background growth rate was applied to the 2023 Existing Traffic Volumes to calculate the 2025 

Opening Year No-Build Traffic Volumes for the weekday morning, school dismissal, and weekday evening 

peak hours. These volumes are summarized on appended Figure 6. 

2025 OPENING YEAR NO-BUILD LOS/CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Level of Service and Volume/Capacity analysis was also conducted for the 2025 Opening Year No-

Build Condition during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours at the 

study intersections.  The signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is calculated to 

operate generally consistent with the findings of the Existing Condition during the weekday morning, school 

dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours. 

2025 OPENING YEAR BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

The site-generated trips were added to the 2025 Opening Year No-Build Traffic Volumes to calculate the 

2025 Opening Year Build Traffic Volumes and are shown on appended Figure 7. 

2025 OPENING YEAR BUILD LOS/CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Level of Service and Volume/Capacity analysis was also conducted for the 2025 Opening Year Build 

Condition during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours at the study 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

6 

intersections and proposed site driveways. Appended Table A1 compares the Existing, No-Build, and Build 

Conditions Level of Service and delay values. 

The signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is calculated to operate generally 

consistent with the findings of the Opening Year No-Build Condition during the weekday morning, school 

dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours peak hours.  The turning movements at the site driveway 

along Old Troy Pike are calculated to operate at Level of Service C or better during the weekday morning, 

school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours. The turning movements at the site driveway along 

Chambersburg Road are calculated to operate at Level of Service B or better during the weekday morning, 

school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours. 

DESIGN YEAR TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

2045 DESIGN YEAR NO-BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

The 2023 Existing Condition traffic volume data was grown to a future horizon year of 2045, which is the 

design year of the proposed convenience store with fuel sales.  To calculate the annual background growth 

rate, census data published by the United States Census Bureau from 2010 and 2020 was analyzed. Based on 

the census data analyzed, the United States Census Bureau forecasts a 1.30% annual population increase 

between 2010 and 2020. As such, the existing traffic volumes at the study intersections were increased by 

1.30% annually for 22 years. 

The background growth rate was applied to the 2023 Existing Traffic Volumes to calculate the 2045 

Design Year No-Build Traffic Volumes for the weekday morning, school dismissal, and weekday evening peak 

hours. These volumes are summarized on appended Figure 8. 

Based on consultations with the City of Huber Heights and Choice One Engineering, it is proposed to 

construct a two-way left-turn lane along the Chambersburg Road site frontage. It is noted that the 

Chambersburg Road improvements are in preliminary planning phase and will not be constructed within the 

next two (2) years. As such, the Chambersburg Road improvements were only included within the Design 

Year analysis and not the Opening Year analysis. 

2045 DESIGN YEAR NO-BUILD LOS/CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Level of Service and Volume/Capacity analysis was also conducted for the 2045 Design Year No-Build 

Condition during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours at the study 

intersections. The signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is calculated to operate 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

7 

generally consistent with the findings of the Existing Condition during the weekday morning, school dismissal, 

and weekday evening peak hours. 

2045 DESIGN YEAR BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

The site-generated trips were added to the 2045 Design Year No-Build Traffic Volumes to calculate the 

2045 Design Year Build Traffic Volumes and are shown on appended Figure 9. 

2045 DESIGN YEAR BUILD LOS/CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Level of Service and Volume/Capacity analysis was also conducted for the 2045 Design Year Build 

Condition during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours at the study 

intersections and proposed site driveways. 

The signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is calculated to operate generally 

consistent with the findings of the Design Year No-Build Condition during the weekday morning, school 

dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours. The turning movements at the site driveway along Old Troy 

Pike are calculated to operate at Level of Service E or better during the weekday morning and weekday 

evening peak hours and at Level of Service D or better during the school dismissal peak hour. The turning 

movements at the site driveway along Chambersburg Road are calculated to operate at Level of Service B or 

better during the weekday morning, school dismissal, and the weekday evening peak hours. 

BUILD CONDITION DEGRADATION 

A capacity analysis was conducted to evaluate the degradation at the signalized and unsignalized 

intersections utilizing the ODOT Analysis and Traffic Simulation Manual (OATS), Section 5.9 – Operational 

Goals of Mainline and Intersections. Based on the criteria set forth within the OATS, signalized intersections 

are to operate at overall Level of Service D or better. Based on the capacity analysis conducted, the 

signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road is calculated to operate at overall Level of 

Service D or better during each of the peak hours studied in both the 2025 Opening Year Build Condition 

and the 2045 Design Year Build Condition.  

Additionally, the OATS requires each individual approach at signalized and unsignalized intersections to 

operate at Level of Service E or better. The turning movements at the signalized intersection of Old Troy 

Pike and Chambersburg Road are calculated to operate at Level of Service E or better during each of the 

peak hours studied in both the 2025 Opening Year Build Condition and the 2045 Design Year Build 

Condition. The turning movements at the site driveways along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road are 



 
 

STONEF IELD ENGINEERING & DES IGN, LLC  PROPOSED CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL SALES 
  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS ,  MONTGOMERY COUNTY,  OHIO 

8 

calculated to operate at Level of Service E or better during each of the peak hours studied in both the 2025 

Opening Year Build Condition and the 2045 Design Year Build Condition. 

Finally, the OATS requires a V/C ratio under 1.0 with a preferred V/C ratio under 0.93. Based on the 

analysis conducted that turning movements at the signalized intersection of Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg 

Road and as well as the site driveways along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road are calculated to have 

V/C ratios under 0.93 during each of the peak hours studied in both the 2025 Opening Year Build Condition 

and the 2045 Design Year Build Condition. As such, the proposed development would meet the operational 

goals of mainlines and intersections as described within the OATS. 

SITE CIRCULATION & ACCESS 

A review was conducted of the proposed convenience store with fuel sales using the Site Plan prepared 

by our office, dated April 4, 2023.  In completing this review, particular attention was focused on the site 

access, circulation, and parking supply. 

Under the proposed development plan, a 5,915-square-foot convenience store would be constructed in 

the center of the site. The fueling area with eight (8) fueling pumps (16 fueling  positions) would be located to 

the east of the proposed convenience store. Access is proposed via one (1) full-movement driveway along 

Old Troy Pike and one (1) full-movement driveway along Chambersburg Road. Right-angle parking spaces 

would be located along the northerly, southerly, and easterly sides of the building and on the northern and 

southern portions of the site. Two-way vehicular circulation throughout the site would be facilitated via a 

minimum 30-foot-wide drive aisles. A trash enclosure would be located on the northwesterly portion of the 

property.  

CONCLUSIONS 

This report was prepared to examine the potential traffic impact of the proposed convenience store with 

fuel sales.  The analysis findings, which have been based on industry-standard guidelines, indicate that the 

proposed development would not have a significant impact on the traffic operations of the adjacent roadway 

network. The site-generated trips of the proposed development would consist largely of “pass-by” trips, as 

opposed to new vehicles on the roadway, due to the land use, location, and the access management plan. The 

intersection delays throughout the roadway network would operate at generally consistent Level of Service 

as the No-Build Conditions in both the opening year and the design year. The Levels of Service, delay, and 

V/C ratios would be compliant with the requirements set forth within the OATS. The site driveways and on-

site layout have been designed to provide effective access to and from the subject property. 

Z:\Michigan\DET\2022\DET-220205 Blue Peninsula - 4949 Chambersburg Road, Huber Heights, OH\Calculations & Reports\Traffic\Reports\2023-04 Traffic Impact Study\2023-04 Traffic 

Impact Study.docx 



TECHNICAL APPENDIX

A1



LEVEL OF SERVICE/AVERAGE CONTROL DELAY 
CRITERIA & COMPARISON TABLES

A2



LEVEL OF SERVICE /AVERAGE CONTROL DELAY CRITERIA 
 
 
The ability of a roadway to effectively accommodate traffic demand is determined through an 
assessment of the volume-to-capacity ratio, delay and Level of Service of the lane group and/or 
intersection.  The volume-to-capacity ratio is the ratio of traffic flow rate to capacity for a given 
transportation facility.  As defined within the Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition (HCM), 
intersection delay is the total additional travel time experienced by drivers, passengers, or 
pedestrians as a result of control measures and interaction with other users of the facility, 
divided by the volume departing from the corresponding cross section of the facility.    Level of 
service is a qualitative measure describing operational conditions within a traffic stream, based 
on service measures such as speed and travel time, freedom to maneuver, traffic interruptions, 
comfort and convenience. 
 
For an unsignalized intersection, LOS A indicates operations with delay less than 10 seconds per 
vehicle, while LOS F describes operations with delay in excess of 50 seconds per vehicle.  For a 
signalized intersection, LOS A indicates operations with delay less than 10 seconds per vehicle 
and LOS F denotes operations with delay in excess of 80 seconds per vehicle. 
 
 
 Level Of 

Service 
(LOS) 

Signalized Delay Range 
(average control delay in 

sec/veh) 

Unsignalized Delay Range 
(average control delay in 

sec/veh) 

 

 
A 

 
<=10 <=10 

 

B >10 and <=20 >10 and <=15 

 

 
C 

 
>20 and <=35 >15 and <=25 

 

D 
 >35 and <=55 >25 and <=35 

 

E 
 >55 and <=80 >35 and <=50 

 

F 
 >80 >50 

 
Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition  

A3



Table A1: Comparative Level of Service (Delay) Table
City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
X (n) = Level of Service (seconds of delay)

Intersection Lane Group
2023 Existing 

Condition
2025 No-Build 

Condition
2025 Build 
Condition

2045 No-Build 
Condition

2045 Build 
Condition

EB Left D (54.8) D (54.5) D (52.3) D (51.6) D (49.6)
EB Through/Right E (66.3) E (66.2) E (65.0) E (64.5) E (63.3)
WB Left D (52.6) D (52.1) D (50.5) D (51.9) D (50.5)
WB Through E (57.6) E (57.2) E (55.3) D (53.8) D (51.9)
WB Right E (58.8) E (58.4) E (56.0) E (55.2) D (52.8)
NB Left A (6.6) A (8.9) A (9.9) B (12.6) B (14.0)
NB Through B (12.7) B (13.1) B (14.4) B (17.6) B (19.4)
NB Through/Right B (12.8) B (13.1) B (14.5) B (17.7) B (19.5)
SB Left A (8.4) A (8.7) A (9.6) B (12.3) B (13.6)
SB Through B (12.9) B (13.4) B (14.8) B (18.8) C (20.6)
SB Through/Right B (13.0) B (13.4) B (14.9) B (18.9) C (20.7)
Overall C (23.3) C (23.5) C (24.5) C (26.7) C (27.9)

EB Left/Right C (24.2) E (42.7)
NB Left B (10.6) B (12.4)

EB Left/Through A (7.8) A (8.0)
SB Left/Right B (11.9) B (12.0)

Intersection Lane Group
2023 Existing 

Condition
2025 No-Build 

Condition
2025 Build 
Condition

2045 No-Build 
Condition

2045 Build 
Condition

EB Left D (47.8) D (47.4) D (47.4) D (42.5) D (42.6)
EB Through/Right E (58.7) E (58.4) E (60.1) E (56.9) E (61.3)
WB Left D (48.2) D (47.8) D (48.2) D (43.8) D (45.2)
WB Through D (54.3) D (53.9) D (54.2) D (49.9) D (50.1)
WB Right E (62.1) E (62.2) E (62.0) E (71.2) E (71.0)
NB Left B (10.2) B (10.5) B (10.5) B (15.0) B (15.2)
NB Through B (16.1) B (16.6) B (16.8) C (25.3) C (25.6)
NB Through/Right B (16.1) B (16.6) B (16.8) C (25.4) C (25.8)
SB Left B (11.0) B (11.4) B (11.6) B (18.3) B (18.7)
SB Through B (14.5) B (14.9) B (15.2) C (21.0) C (21.2)
SB Through/Right B (14.5) B (15.0) B (15.2) C (21.0) C (21.3)
Overall C (27.5) C (27.7) C (28.2) C (33.0) C (33.7)
EB Left/Right C (19.4) D (27.8)
NB Left A (9.9) B (11.1)

EB Left/Through A (7.8) A (8.0)
SB Left/Right B (12.4) B (12.3)

Intersection Lane Group
2023 Existing 

Condition
2025 No-Build 

Condition
2025 Build 
Condition

2045 No-Build 
Condition

2045 Build 
Condition

EB Left D (46.9) D (46.4) D (46.4) D (41.6) D (41.6)
EB Through/Right E (56.4) E (56.0) E (57.1) D (52.6) D (54.7)
WB Left D (46.9) D (46.4) D (46.7) D (41.8) D (42.6)
WB Through D (54.9) D (54.5) D (54.8) D (50.6) D (50.9)
WB Right E (63.1) E (64.2) E (64.0) E (73.4) E (73.2)
NB Left B (11.1) B (11.5) B (11.6) B (17.0) B (17.1)
NB Through B (17.6) B (18.4) B (18.6) C (29.3) C (29.7)
NB Through/Right B (17.6) B (18.4) B (18.6) C (29.5) C (29.9)
SB Left B (12.3) B (12.9) B (13.1) C (23.1) C (23.9)
SB Through B (15.7) B (16.3) B (16.6) C (23.5) C (23.8)
SB Through/Right B (15.8) B (16.4) B (16.6) C (23.5) C (23.8)
Overall C (27.5) C (28.0) C (28.4) C (34.5) C (35.0)
EB Left/Right C (22.8) E (36.9)
NB Left B (10.5) B (12.2)
EB Left/Through A (7.9) A (8.1)
SB Left/Right B (12.6) B (12.6)

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Chambersburg Road 

(E/W)

Weekday Morning Peak Hour

School Dismissal Peak Hour

Weekday Evening Peak Hour

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Chambersburg Road 

(E/W)

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Site Driveway (E)

Chambersburg Road (E/W) & Site Driveway (S)

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Chambersburg Road 

(E/W)

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Site Driveway (E)

Chambersburg Road (E/W) & Site Driveway (S)

Old Troy Pike (N/S) & Site Driveway (E)

Chambersburg Road (E/W) & Site Driveway (S)

A4



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT DATA

A5



File Name : DET-220205.01
Site Code : 220205
Start Date : 2/28/2023
Page No : 1

Intersection of Old Troy Pike
and Chambersburg Rd
Huber Heights, OH
Tuesday, February 28, 2023

Groups Printed- Auto - HV - B/SB
Chambersburg Rd

Eastbound
Chambersburg Rd

Westbound
Old Troy Pike
Northbound

Old Troy Pike
Southbound

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 8 16 15 0 39 14 10 5 0 29 4 57 9 0 70 25 109 9 0 143 281
07:15 AM 8 13 13 0 34 31 11 12 0 54 17 99 25 0 141 21 183 11 0 215 444
07:30 AM 10 20 13 0 43 35 29 29 0 93 7 137 34 0 178 53 166 12 0 231 545
07:45 AM 11 15 5 0 31 10 18 19 0 47 5 117 13 0 135 18 134 21 0 173 386

Total 37 64 46 0 147 90 68 65 0 223 33 410 81 0 524 117 592 53 0 762 1656

08:00 AM 19 12 5 0 36 23 21 21 0 65 8 72 22 0 102 16 94 13 0 123 326
08:15 AM 8 26 5 0 39 20 13 26 0 59 5 97 21 0 123 20 109 9 0 138 359
08:30 AM 14 21 7 0 42 17 25 33 0 75 4 103 12 0 119 18 113 11 0 142 378
08:45 AM 23 17 8 0 48 19 14 21 0 54 6 106 19 0 131 17 116 14 0 147 380

Total 64 76 25 0 165 79 73 101 0 253 23 378 74 0 475 71 432 47 0 550 1443

*** BREAK ***

02:00 PM 13 25 9 0 47 31 24 34 0 89 8 86 19 0 113 34 127 23 0 184 433
02:15 PM 12 19 6 0 37 24 18 46 0 88 5 138 28 0 171 35 150 9 0 194 490
02:30 PM 15 29 5 0 49 22 25 32 0 79 9 147 29 0 185 34 124 12 0 170 483
02:45 PM 18 36 8 0 62 33 31 36 0 100 13 130 34 0 177 44 130 20 0 194 533

Total 58 109 28 0 195 110 98 148 0 356 35 501 110 0 646 147 531 64 0 742 1939

03:00 PM 20 21 6 0 47 17 20 45 0 82 14 161 28 0 203 27 138 17 0 182 514
03:15 PM 25 42 9 0 76 19 39 59 0 117 8 159 33 0 200 43 134 13 0 190 583
03:30 PM 17 54 9 0 80 21 26 60 0 107 11 153 25 0 189 37 139 11 0 187 563
03:45 PM 37 33 8 0 78 34 34 54 0 122 10 170 39 0 219 50 145 26 0 221 640

Total 99 150 32 0 281 91 119 218 0 428 43 643 125 0 811 157 556 67 0 780 2300

04:00 PM 23 43 6 0 72 35 28 49 0 112 3 170 36 0 209 43 154 24 0 221 614
04:15 PM 37 27 6 0 70 34 33 45 0 112 6 188 30 0 224 40 169 15 0 224 630
04:30 PM 26 36 8 0 70 33 45 48 0 126 9 163 31 0 203 30 171 26 0 227 626
04:45 PM 20 42 7 0 69 24 28 32 0 84 8 183 26 0 217 43 177 30 0 250 620

Total 106 148 27 0 281 126 134 174 0 434 26 704 123 0 853 156 671 95 0 922 2490

05:00 PM 28 42 6 0 76 26 33 59 0 118 8 178 32 0 218 38 165 24 0 227 639
05:15 PM 31 44 2 0 77 22 38 45 0 105 12 196 24 0 232 55 155 26 0 236 650
05:30 PM 19 34 7 0 60 27 40 53 0 120 11 190 36 0 237 43 153 20 0 216 633
05:45 PM 23 29 8 0 60 28 35 55 0 118 11 175 20 0 206 45 181 16 0 242 626

Total 101 149 23 0 273 103 146 212 0 461 42 739 112 0 893 181 654 86 0 921 2548

06:00 PM 16 26 8 0 50 26 30 35 0 91 8 147 32 0 187 36 158 26 0 220 548
06:15 PM 27 38 4 0 69 23 29 48 0 100 7 121 19 0 147 43 129 6 0 178 494
06:30 PM 18 23 4 0 45 16 22 35 0 73 4 140 18 0 162 32 171 19 0 222 502
06:45 PM 13 22 4 0 39 20 27 33 0 80 4 104 26 0 134 29 127 13 0 169 422

Total 74 109 20 0 203 85 108 151 0 344 23 512 95 0 630 140 585 64 0 789 1966

Grand Total 539 805 201 0 1545 684 746 1069 0 2499 225 3887 720 0 4832 969 4021 476 0 5466 14342
Apprch % 34.9 52.1 13 0 27.4 29.9 42.8 0 4.7 80.4 14.9 0 17.7 73.6 8.7 0

Total % 3.8 5.6 1.4 0 10.8 4.8 5.2 7.5 0 17.4 1.6 27.1 5 0 33.7 6.8 28 3.3 0 38.1
Auto 528 797 197 0 1522 654 739 1051 0 2444 211 3788 688 0 4687 957 3928 467 0 5352 14005

% Auto 98 99 98 0 98.5 95.6 99.1 98.3 0 97.8 93.8 97.5 95.6 0 97 98.8 97.7 98.1 0 97.9 97.7

Stonefield Engineering & Design, LLC
607 Shelby Street, Suite 200, Detroit, MI 48226

248.247.1115 t. 201.340.4472 f.

A6



File Name : DET-220205.01
Site Code : 220205
Start Date : 2/28/2023
Page No : 2

Intersection of Old Troy Pike
and Chambersburg Rd
Huber Heights, OH
Tuesday, February 28, 2023

Groups Printed- Auto - HV - B/SB
Chambersburg Rd

Eastbound
Chambersburg Rd

Westbound
Old Troy Pike
Northbound

Old Troy Pike
Southbound

Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total
HV 11 8 4 0 23 30 7 18 0 55 14 99 32 0 145 12 93 9 0 114 337

% HV 2 1 2 0 1.5 4.4 0.9 1.7 0 2.2 6.2 2.5 4.4 0 3 1.2 2.3 1.9 0 2.1 2.3
B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chambersburg Rd
Eastbound

Chambersburg Rd
Westbound

Old Troy Pike
Northbound

Old Troy Pike
Southbound

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds
App.
Total

Left Thru Right Peds
App.
Total

Left Thru Right Peds
App.
Total

Left Thru Right Peds
App.
Total

Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 09:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15 AM

07:15 AM 8 13 13 0 34 31 11 12 0 54 17 99 25 0 141 21 183 11 0 215 444
07:30 AM 10 20 13 0 43 35 29 29 0 93 7 137 34 0 178 53 166 12 0 231 545
07:45 AM 11 15 5 0 31 10 18 19 0 47 5 117 13 0 135 18 134 21 0 173 386
08:00 AM 19 12 5 0 36 23 21 21 0 65 8 72 22 0 102 16 94 13 0 123 326

Total Volume 48 60 36 0 144 99 79 81 0 259 37 425 94 0 556 108 577 57 0 742 1701
% App. Total 33.3 41.7 25 0 38.2 30.5 31.3 0 6.7 76.4 16.9 0 14.6 77.8 7.7 0

PHF .632 .750 .692 .000 .837 .707 .681 .698 .000 .696 .544 .776 .691 .000 .781 .509 .788 .679 .000 .803 .780
Auto 48 59 34 0 141 92 76 75 0 243 35 414 85 0 534 106 556 56 0 718 1636

% Auto 100 98.3 94.4 0 97.9 92.9 96.2 92.6 0 93.8 94.6 97.4 90.4 0 96.0 98.1 96.4 98.2 0 96.8 96.2
HV 0 1 2 0 3 7 3 6 0 16 2 11 9 0 22 2 21 1 0 24 65

% HV 0 1.7 5.6 0 2.1 7.1 3.8 7.4 0 6.2 5.4 2.6 9.6 0 4.0 1.9 3.6 1.8 0 3.2 3.8
B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Peak Hour Analysis From 02:45 PM to 03:30 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 02:45 PM

02:45 PM 18 36 8 0 62 33 31 36 0 100 13 130 34 0 177 44 130 20 0 194 533
03:00 PM 20 21 6 0 47 17 20 45 0 82 14 161 28 0 203 27 138 17 0 182 514
03:15 PM 25 42 9 0 76 19 39 59 0 117 8 159 33 0 200 43 134 13 0 190 583
03:30 PM 17 54 9 0 80 21 26 60 0 107 11 153 25 0 189 37 139 11 0 187 563

Total Volume 80 153 32 0 265 90 116 200 0 406 46 603 120 0 769 151 541 61 0 753 2193
% App. Total 30.2 57.7 12.1 0 22.2 28.6 49.3 0 6 78.4 15.6 0 20.1 71.8 8.1 0

PHF .800 .708 .889 .000 .828 .682 .744 .833 .000 .868 .821 .936 .882 .000 .947 .858 .973 .763 .000 .970 .940
Auto 78 151 32 0 261 87 115 198 0 400 42 578 115 0 735 147 527 59 0 733 2129

% Auto 97.5 98.7 100 0 98.5 96.7 99.1 99.0 0 98.5 91.3 95.9 95.8 0 95.6 97.4 97.4 96.7 0 97.3 97.1
HV 2 2 0 0 4 3 1 2 0 6 4 25 5 0 34 4 14 2 0 20 64

% HV 2.5 1.3 0 0 1.5 3.3 0.9 1.0 0 1.5 8.7 4.1 4.2 0 4.4 2.6 2.6 3.3 0 2.7 2.9
B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Stonefield Engineering & Design, LLC
607 Shelby Street, Suite 200, Detroit, MI 48226

248.247.1115 t. 201.340.4472 f.

A7



File Name : DET-220205.01
Site Code : 220205
Start Date : 2/28/2023
Page No : 3

Intersection of Old Troy Pike
and Chambersburg Rd
Huber Heights, OH
Tuesday, February 28, 2023

Chambersburg Rd
Eastbound

Chambersburg Rd
Westbound

Old Troy Pike
Northbound

Old Troy Pike
Southbound

Start Time Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Left Thru Right Peds App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 05:00 PM

05:00 PM 28 42 6 0 76 26 33 59 0 118 8 178 32 0 218 38 165 24 0 227 639
05:15 PM 31 44 2 0 77 22 38 45 0 105 12 196 24 0 232 55 155 26 0 236 650
05:30 PM 19 34 7 0 60 27 40 53 0 120 11 190 36 0 237 43 153 20 0 216 633
05:45 PM 23 29 8 0 60 28 35 55 0 118 11 175 20 0 206 45 181 16 0 242 626

Total Volume 101 149 23 0 273 103 146 212 0 461 42 739 112 0 893 181 654 86 0 921 2548
% App. Total 37 54.6 8.4 0 22.3 31.7 46 0 4.7 82.8 12.5 0 19.7 71 9.3 0

PHF .815 .847 .719 .000 .886 .920 .913 .898 .000 .960 .875 .943 .778 .000 .942 .823 .903 .827 .000 .951 .980
Auto 100 148 22 0 270 102 146 210 0 458 41 730 110 0 881 180 648 86 0 914 2523

% Auto 99.0 99.3 95.7 0 98.9 99.0 100 99.1 0 99.3 97.6 98.8 98.2 0 98.7 99.4 99.1 100 0 99.2 99.0
HV 1 1 1 0 3 1 0 2 0 3 1 9 2 0 12 1 6 0 0 7 25

% HV 1.0 0.7 4.3 0 1.1 1.0 0 0.9 0 0.7 2.4 1.2 1.8 0 1.3 0.6 0.9 0 0 0.8 1.0
B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% B/SB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Stonefield Engineering & Design, LLC
607 Shelby Street, Suite 200, Detroit, MI 48226

248.247.1115 t. 201.340.4472 f.

A8



FIGURES

A9



Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 1
Site Location Map

SITE

A10



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 2
2023 Existing Traffic 

Volumes

[23] (32) 36

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

99 (90) [103]

[101] (80) 48[273] (265) 144
[149] (153) 60

 [
42

] 
(4

6)
 3

7
 [

73
9]

 (6
03

) 4
25

 [
11

2]
 (1

20
) 9

4

 5
7 

(6
1)

 [
86

]
 5

77
 (5

41
) [

65
4]

 1
08

 (1
51

) [
18

1]

Chambersburg 
Road

81 (200) [212]
79 (116) [146]

173 (223) [274]

 [
10

52
] 

(8
83

) 5
54

 7
42

 (7
53

) [
92

1]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A11



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 3
"New" Site-Generated 

Traffic Volumes

[13] (13) 15

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

[6] (6) 8 [8] (8) 8

 [
5]

 (5
) 6

 [
22

] 
(2

2)
 2

3

 1
4 

(1
3)

 [
13

]

Chambersburg 
Road14 (13) [13] 8 (8) [8]

 8
 (7

) [
7]

 2
3 

(2
1)

 [
21

]

[17] (17) 20
[13] (13) 14

 [
22

] 
(2

2)
 2

3

 1
9 

(1
8)

 [
18

]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A12



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 4
"Pass-By" Site-Generated 

Traffic Volumes

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

[19] (21) 25
[-19] (-21) -25

Chambersburg 
Road

24 (17) [19]
-24 (-17) [-19]

 2
4 

(1
7)

 [
19

]
 2

5 
(2

1)
 [

19
]

[35] (35) 21
[102] (102) 136

 [
35

] 
(3

5)
 2

1
 [

-3
5]

 (-
35

) -
21

 1
36

 (1
02

) [
10

2]
 -1

36
 (-

10
2)

 [
-1

02
]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A13



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 5
Total Site-Generated 

Traffic Volumes

[13] (13) 15

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

[25] (27) 33
[-19] (-21) -25

[8] (8) 8

 [
5]

 (5
) 6

 [
22

] 
(2

2)
 2

3

 1
4 

(1
3)

 [
13

]

Chambersburg 
Road

38 (30) [32]
8 (8) [8]-24 (-17) [-19]

 3
2 

(2
4)

 [
26

]
 4

8 
(4

2)
 [

40
]

[52] (52) 41
[115] (115) 150

 [
57

] 
(5

7)
 4

4
 [

-3
5]

 (-
35

) -
21

 1
55

 (1
20

) [
12

0]
 -1

36
 (-

10
2)

 [
-1

02
]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A14



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 6
2025 Opening Year No-
Build Traffic Volumes

[24] (33) 37

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

102 (92) [106]

[104] (82) 49[281] (272) 148
[153] (157) 62

 [
43

] 
(4

7)
 3

8
 [

75
8]

 (6
19

) 4
36

 [
11

5]
 (1

23
) 9

6

 5
8 

(6
3)

 [
88

]
 5

92
 (5

55
) [

67
1]

 1
11

 (1
55

) [
18

6]

Chambersburg 
Road

83 (205) [218]
81 (119) [150]

177 (229) [281]

 [
10

80
] 

(9
06

) 5
68

 7
61

 (7
73

) [
94

5]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A15



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 7
2025 Opening Year Build 

Traffic Volumes

[37] (46) 52

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

102 (92) [106]

[25] (27) 33 [104] (82) 49
[262] (251) 123 [161] (165) 70

 [
48

] 
(5

2)
 4

4
 [

78
0]

 (6
41

) 4
59

 [
11

5]
 (1

23
) 9

6

 5
8 

(6
3)

 [
88

]
 6

06
 (5

68
) [

68
4]

 1
11

 (1
55

) [
18

6]

Chambersburg 
Road

83 (205) [218]
38 (30) [32] 89 (127) [158]
153 (212) [262]

 3
2 

(2
4)

 [
26

]
 4

8 
(4

2)
 [

40
]

[52] (52) 41
[115] (115) 150

 [
57

] 
(5

7)
 4

4
 [

10
45

] 
(8

71
) 5

47

 1
55

 (1
20

) [
12

0]
 6

25
 (6

71
) [

84
3]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A16



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 8
2045 Design Year No-Build 

Traffic Volumes

[31] (43) 48

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

132 (120) [137]

[134] (106) 64[363] (352) 192
[198] (203) 80

 [
56

] 
(6

1)
 4

9
 [

98
2]

 (8
01

) 5
65

 [
14

9]
 (1

59
) 1

25

 7
6 

(8
1)

 [
11

4]
 7

67
 (7

19
) [

86
9]

 1
43

 (2
01

) [
24

0]

Chambersburg 
Road

108 (266) [282]
105 (154) [194]

230 (296) [364]

 [
13

98
] 

(1
17

3)
 7

37

 9
86

 (1
00

1)
 [

12
23

]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A17



not to scale

Proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales
4949 Chambersburg Road

City of Huber Heights, Montgomery County, Ohio
Traffic Impact Study

FIGURE 9
2045 Design Year Build 

Traffic Volumes

[44] (56) 63

O
ld

 T
ro

y 
P

ik
e

132 (120) [137]

[25] (27) 33 [134] (106) 64
[344] (331) 167 [206] (211) 88

 [
61

] 
(6

6)
 5

5
 [

10
04

] 
(8

23
) 

58
8

 [
14

9]
 (1

59
) 1

25

 7
6 

(8
1)

 [
11

4]
 7

81
 (7

32
) [

88
2]

 1
43

 (2
01

) [
24

0]

Chambersburg 
Road

108 (266) [282]
38 (30) [32] 113 (162) [202]
206 (279) [345]

 3
2 

(2
4)

 [
26

]
 4

8 
(4

2)
 [

40
]

[52] (52) 41
[115] (115) 150

 [
57

] 
(5

7)
 4

4
 [

13
63

] 
(1

13
8)

 7
16

 1
55

 (1
20

) [
12

0]
 8

50
 (8

99
) [

11
21

]

AM (School Dismissal) [PM] Peak Hour Volumes

Proposed Driveway

LEGEND

Existing Roadway

Signalized Intersection

Existing Private Driveway

Proposed Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales

A18



CAPACITY ANALYSIS DETAIL SHEETS

A19



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.78

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2023 Existing 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 7:15

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2023 Existing.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 48 60 36 99 79 81 37 425 94 108 577 57

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.7 1.2 87.5 6.4 4.9 12.3
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 11.8 17.4 16.6 22.2 12.1 92.6 13.4 93.9
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 6.3 11.7 11.2 11.0 3.3 5.7
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 0.6 0.1 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.91 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.84 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.15 0.00 0.06 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 62 123 127 101 104 47 342 323 138 413 400
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1810 1752 1711 1841 1522 1739 1856 1739 1781 1841 1782
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 4.3 9.7 9.2 7.2 9.0 1.3 11.9 12.0 3.7 14.8 14.8
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 4.3 9.7 9.2 7.2 9.0 1.3 11.9 12.0 3.7 14.8 14.8
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.13 0.09 0.18 0.12 0.12 0.67 0.63 0.63 0.68 0.63 0.63
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 209 154 211 225 186 472 1160 1087 569 1167 1130
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.295 0.802 0.600 0.450 0.558 0.101 0.295 0.297 0.243 0.354 0.354
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 3.5 7.9 7.2 6.0 6.3 0.8 8.7 8.3 2.5 10.3 10.0
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 54.5 62.7 51.6 57.1 57.9 8.6 12.1 12.1 8.3 12.1 12.1
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 3.7 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.0 0.6 0.7 0.1 0.8 0.9
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 54.8 66.3 52.6 57.6 58.8 8.6 12.7 12.8 8.4 12.9 13.0
Level of Service (LOS) D E D E E A B B A B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 62.5 E 56.1 E 12.5 B 12.3 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 23.3 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.32 B 2.32 B 2.08 B 1.89 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.79 A 1.04 A 1.08 A 1.27 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:00:34 PMA20



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period School Dismissal 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.94

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2023 Existing 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2023 Existing.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 80 153 32 90 116 200 46 603 120 151 541 61

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.8 1.2 82.4 7.4 0.8 20.5
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 12.8 25.6 13.6 26.3 12.2 87.5 13.4 88.6
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.7 16.4 8.4 20.2 3.5 7.0
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.96 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.85 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 85 197 96 123 213 49 396 374 161 325 315
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1767 1828 1767 1885 1598 1682 1841 1734 1767 1856 1789
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 5.7 14.4 6.4 8.3 18.2 1.5 15.8 15.8 5.0 12.0 12.1
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.7 14.4 6.4 8.3 18.2 1.5 15.8 15.8 5.0 12.0 12.1
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.20 0.15 0.20 0.15 0.15 0.64 0.59 0.59 0.65 0.60 0.60
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 243 267 206 286 242 503 1083 1020 482 1107 1068
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.350 0.737 0.465 0.431 0.878 0.097 0.365 0.366 0.333 0.294 0.295
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.5 11.0 5.1 7.2 12.1 1.0 11.1 10.6 3.4 8.9 8.7
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 47.5 57.2 47.6 53.9 58.1 10.1 15.1 15.1 10.9 13.8 13.8
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 1.5 0.6 0.4 4.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.1 0.7 0.7
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 47.8 58.7 48.2 54.3 62.1 10.2 16.1 16.1 11.0 14.5 14.5
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 55.4 E 56.8 E 15.8 B 13.8 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 27.5 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.95 A 1.20 A 1.16 A 1.15 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:44:37 PMA21



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.98

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2023 Existing 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2023 Existing.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 101 149 23 103 146 212 42 739 112 181 654 86

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.5 1.7 80.7 8.6 0.1 21.4
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 14.0 26.5 14.1 26.6 11.9 85.8 13.6 87.5
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 8.7 14.5 8.8 20.6 3.3 7.9
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.98 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.81 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 103 176 105 149 216 43 444 424 185 385 370
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1795 1841 1795 1900 1598 1781 1885 1798 1795 1885 1808
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 6.7 12.5 6.8 10.1 18.6 1.3 18.3 18.3 5.9 14.8 14.8
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 6.7 12.5 6.8 10.1 18.6 1.3 18.3 18.3 5.9 14.8 14.8
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.21 0.15 0.22 0.15 0.15 0.62 0.58 0.58 0.63 0.59 0.59
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 246 281 241 292 246 466 1087 1037 443 1110 1064
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.419 0.624 0.437 0.510 0.880 0.092 0.409 0.409 0.417 0.347 0.348
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 5.4 9.8 5.6 8.5 12.4 0.9 12.8 12.3 4.1 10.7 10.4
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 46.4 55.5 46.4 54.4 58.0 11.1 16.4 16.4 12.1 14.9 14.9
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.4 0.8 0.5 0.5 5.1 0.0 1.1 1.2 0.2 0.9 0.9
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 46.9 56.4 46.9 54.9 63.1 11.1 17.6 17.6 12.3 15.7 15.8
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 52.9 D 56.9 E 17.3 B 15.1 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 27.5 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.95 A 1.26 A 1.24 A 1.26 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:53:17 PMA22



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.78

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 7:15

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2023 Existing.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 49 62 37 102 81 83 38 436 96 111 592 58

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.8 1.2 87.0 6.4 5.1 12.6
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 11.8 17.7 16.9 22.8 12.2 92.1 13.4 93.2
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 6.4 11.9 11.5 11.2 3.3 5.9
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 0.6 0.1 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.91 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.85 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.17 0.00 0.09 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 63 127 131 104 106 49 351 331 142 423 410
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1810 1752 1711 1841 1522 1739 1856 1739 1781 1841 1783
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 4.4 9.9 9.5 7.3 9.2 1.3 12.4 12.5 3.9 15.5 15.5
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 4.4 9.9 9.5 7.3 9.2 1.3 12.4 12.5 3.9 15.5 15.5
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.14 0.09 0.18 0.13 0.13 0.67 0.62 0.62 0.68 0.63 0.63
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 212 157 214 232 192 460 1153 1080 557 1159 1122
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.296 0.806 0.610 0.447 0.554 0.106 0.305 0.306 0.256 0.365 0.365
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 3.6 8.1 7.4 6.2 6.4 0.9 9.0 8.6 2.6 10.7 10.4
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 54.3 62.5 51.0 56.6 57.5 8.9 12.4 12.4 8.6 12.5 12.5
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 3.7 1.0 0.5 0.9 0.0 0.7 0.7 0.1 0.9 0.9
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 54.5 66.2 52.1 57.2 58.4 8.9 13.1 13.1 8.7 13.4 13.4
Level of Service (LOS) D E D E E A B B A B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 62.3 E 55.6 E 12.8 B 12.7 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 23.5 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.32 B 2.32 B 2.08 B 1.89 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.80 A 1.05 A 1.09 A 1.29 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:00:34 PMA23



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period School Dismissal 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.94

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2025 No Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 82 157 33 92 119 205 47 619 123 155 555 63

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.9 1.1 81.7 7.6 0.8 20.9
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 13.0 26.0 13.7 26.8 12.3 86.8 13.4 88.0
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.8 16.8 8.5 20.7 3.6 7.2
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.97 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.86 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 87 202 98 127 218 50 406 383 165 334 323
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1767 1828 1767 1885 1598 1682 1841 1734 1767 1856 1789
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 5.8 14.8 6.5 8.5 18.7 1.6 16.5 16.5 5.2 12.5 12.6
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.8 14.8 6.5 8.5 18.7 1.6 16.5 16.5 5.2 12.5 12.6
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.20 0.15 0.21 0.16 0.16 0.63 0.58 0.58 0.64 0.59 0.59
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 247 273 208 292 248 491 1075 1013 469 1098 1059
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.353 0.739 0.471 0.433 0.880 0.102 0.378 0.379 0.351 0.304 0.305
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.6 11.2 5.2 7.3 12.4 1.0 11.5 11.0 3.6 9.2 9.0
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 47.1 56.9 47.2 53.6 57.9 10.4 15.6 15.6 11.2 14.2 14.2
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 1.5 0.6 0.4 4.3 0.0 1.0 1.1 0.2 0.7 0.7
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 47.4 58.4 47.8 53.9 62.2 10.5 16.6 16.6 11.4 14.9 15.0
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 55.1 E 56.6 E 16.2 B 14.2 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 27.7 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.97 A 1.22 A 1.18 A 1.17 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:35:35 PMA24



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.98

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2025 No Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 104 153 24 106 150 218 43 758 115 186 671 88

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.5 1.9 79.7 8.7 0.1 21.9
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 14.1 27.0 14.3 27.2 11.9 84.8 13.9 86.7
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 8.9 14.8 9.0 21.1 3.4 8.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.82 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 106 181 108 153 222 44 456 435 190 395 379
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1795 1840 1795 1900 1598 1781 1885 1798 1795 1885 1808
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 6.9 12.8 7.0 10.3 19.1 1.4 19.2 19.2 6.1 15.5 15.5
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 6.9 12.8 7.0 10.3 19.1 1.4 19.2 19.2 6.1 15.5 15.5
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.22 0.16 0.22 0.16 0.16 0.62 0.57 0.57 0.63 0.58 0.58
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 250 289 244 300 252 453 1073 1024 432 1099 1054
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.424 0.626 0.443 0.511 0.883 0.097 0.425 0.425 0.440 0.359 0.360
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 5.6 10.0 5.7 8.6 12.8 1.0 13.4 12.9 4.3 11.1 10.8
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 45.9 55.2 45.9 54.0 57.7 11.5 17.1 17.1 12.6 15.4 15.4
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.4 0.8 0.5 0.5 6.5 0.0 1.2 1.3 0.3 0.9 1.0
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 46.4 56.0 46.4 54.5 64.2 11.5 18.4 18.4 12.9 16.3 16.4
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 52.4 D 57.1 E 18.1 B 15.7 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 28.0 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.96 A 1.29 A 1.26 A 1.28 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:08:26 PMA25



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.78

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 7:15

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2023 Existing.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 49 70 52 102 89 83 44 459 96 111 606 58

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.1 0.9 84.7 6.4 4.9 15.1
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 11.8 20.2 16.7 25.1 12.5 89.8 13.4 90.6
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 6.3 14.4 11.3 11.0 3.6 6.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 0.7 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.91 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.89 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.15 0.00 0.07 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 63 156 131 114 106 56 366 345 142 432 419
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1810 1737 1711 1841 1522 1739 1856 1744 1781 1841 1784
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 4.3 12.4 9.3 7.9 9.0 1.6 13.6 13.7 4.1 16.7 16.7
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 4.3 12.4 9.3 7.9 9.0 1.6 13.6 13.7 4.1 16.7 16.7
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.15 0.11 0.20 0.14 0.14 0.66 0.60 0.60 0.66 0.61 0.61
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 227 187 212 263 217 441 1122 1054 527 1124 1090
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.276 0.836 0.616 0.434 0.490 0.128 0.326 0.328 0.270 0.384 0.385
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 3.5 9.5 7.3 6.7 6.3 1.1 9.8 9.4 2.8 11.5 11.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 52.1 61.3 49.4 54.8 55.3 9.8 13.6 13.6 9.5 13.9 13.9
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.2 3.8 1.1 0.4 0.6 0.0 0.8 0.8 0.1 1.0 1.0
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 52.3 65.0 50.5 55.3 56.0 9.9 14.4 14.5 9.6 14.8 14.9
Level of Service (LOS) D E D E E A B B A B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 61.4 E 53.7 D 14.1 B 14.1 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 24.5 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.32 B 2.32 B 2.08 B 1.89 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.85 A 1.07 A 1.12 A 1.31 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:00:34 PMA26



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period School Dismissal 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.94

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2025 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 82 165 46 92 127 205 52 641 123 155 568 63

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.1 0.9 81.7 7.6 0.8 21.0
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 13.0 26.1 13.7 26.9 12.5 86.8 13.4 87.7
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.8 18.8 8.5 20.7 3.7 7.2
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.97 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.88 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 87 224 98 135 218 55 418 395 165 341 330
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1767 1814 1767 1885 1598 1682 1841 1737 1767 1856 1790
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 5.8 16.8 6.5 9.1 18.7 1.7 17.1 17.2 5.2 12.9 13.0
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.8 16.8 6.5 9.1 18.7 1.7 17.1 17.2 5.2 12.9 13.0
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.20 0.15 0.21 0.16 0.16 0.63 0.58 0.58 0.64 0.59 0.59
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 241 272 191 293 248 486 1074 1014 459 1095 1056
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.361 0.825 0.513 0.461 0.878 0.114 0.389 0.390 0.359 0.312 0.313
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.6 12.5 5.2 7.8 12.4 1.2 11.9 11.4 3.6 9.5 9.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 47.1 57.7 47.4 53.8 57.8 10.5 15.7 15.7 11.4 14.4 14.4
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 2.4 0.8 0.4 4.2 0.0 1.1 1.1 0.2 0.7 0.8
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 47.4 60.1 48.2 54.2 62.0 10.5 16.8 16.8 11.6 15.2 15.2
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 56.6 E 56.7 E 16.4 B 14.5 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 28.2 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.00 A 1.23 A 1.20 A 1.18 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:44:37 PMA27



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.98

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2025 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2025 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 104 161 37 106 158 218 48 780 115 186 684 88

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

6.8 1.7 79.7 8.7 0.1 22.0
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 14.1 27.1 14.3 27.2 12.2 84.8 13.9 86.4
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 8.9 16.7 9.0 21.1 3.5 8.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.85 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 106 202 108 161 222 49 467 446 190 402 386
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1795 1824 1795 1900 1598 1781 1885 1800 1795 1885 1809
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 6.9 14.7 7.0 10.9 19.1 1.5 19.9 19.9 6.1 15.9 15.9
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 6.9 14.7 7.0 10.9 19.1 1.5 19.9 19.9 6.1 15.9 15.9
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.22 0.16 0.22 0.16 0.16 0.62 0.57 0.57 0.63 0.58 0.58
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 245 287 227 300 253 449 1073 1024 423 1095 1051
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.433 0.705 0.476 0.537 0.880 0.109 0.436 0.436 0.449 0.367 0.367
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 5.6 11.1 5.7 9.0 12.8 1.1 13.8 13.3 4.4 11.4 11.0
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 45.9 55.9 46.1 54.2 57.6 11.5 17.3 17.3 12.8 15.6 15.6
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.5 1.2 0.6 0.6 6.4 0.0 1.3 1.3 0.3 0.9 1.0
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 46.4 57.1 46.7 54.8 64.0 11.6 18.6 18.6 13.1 16.6 16.6
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 53.4 D 57.2 E 18.3 B 15.9 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 28.4 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.00 A 1.30 A 1.28 A 1.29 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:53:17 PMA28



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.78

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 7:15

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2045 No-Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 64 80 48 132 105 108 49 565 125 143 767 76

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.3 0.8 81.2 7.3 1.3 15.7
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 3.2 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 2.2 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 12.7 20.8 19.4 27.4 12.7 86.3 13.5 87.2
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.6 14.8 13.9 13.8 3.9 7.8
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 0.8 0.1 0.8 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.96 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.91 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 82 164 169 135 138 63 457 428 183 549 532
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1810 1752 1711 1841 1522 1739 1856 1738 1781 1841 1782
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 5.6 12.8 11.9 9.3 11.8 1.9 19.2 19.2 5.8 24.6 24.6
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.6 12.8 11.9 9.3 11.8 1.9 19.2 19.2 5.8 24.6 24.6
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.16 0.11 0.23 0.16 0.16 0.63 0.58 0.58 0.64 0.59 0.59
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 246 196 246 294 243 344 1077 1009 433 1079 1045
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.333 0.837 0.689 0.458 0.570 0.183 0.424 0.424 0.423 0.509 0.509
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.6 9.9 9.2 7.7 8.1 1.3 13.1 12.5 4.1 16.0 15.6
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 51.3 60.9 47.5 53.3 54.4 12.5 16.4 16.4 12.1 17.1 17.1
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 3.6 4.4 0.4 0.8 0.1 1.2 1.3 0.2 1.7 1.8
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 51.6 64.5 51.9 53.8 55.2 12.6 17.6 17.7 12.3 18.8 18.9
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B B B B B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 60.2 E 53.5 D 17.3 B 17.9 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 26.7 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.32 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.89 A 1.22 A 1.27 A 1.53 B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:34:07 PMA29



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period School Dismissal 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.94

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2025 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 106 203 43 120 154 266 61 801 159 201 719 81

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.4 2.9 72.3 9.0 1.0 26.5
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 14.4 31.6 15.4 32.5 12.8 77.4 15.7 80.3
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 9.1 21.0 10.1 26.2 4.4 9.9
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.3 0.0 1.2 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.92 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.01 1.00 0.04 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 113 262 128 164 283 65 526 495 214 433 418
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1767 1828 1767 1885 1598 1682 1841 1734 1767 1856 1789
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 7.1 19.0 8.1 10.7 24.2 2.4 27.1 27.1 7.9 19.7 19.8
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 7.1 19.0 8.1 10.7 24.2 2.4 27.1 27.1 7.9 19.7 19.8
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.25 0.19 0.26 0.20 0.20 0.57 0.52 0.52 0.59 0.54 0.54
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 293 345 237 369 313 373 950 895 358 996 961
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.385 0.758 0.539 0.444 0.904 0.174 0.553 0.553 0.598 0.435 0.435
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 5.7 13.9 6.5 8.8 16.6 1.7 17.9 17.1 5.7 13.7 13.3
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 42.2 53.7 42.7 49.6 55.0 15.0 22.9 22.9 17.7 19.6 19.6
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 3.2 1.1 0.3 16.2 0.1 2.3 2.5 0.6 1.4 1.4
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 42.5 56.9 43.8 49.9 71.2 15.0 25.3 25.4 18.3 21.0 21.0
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B C C B C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 52.6 D 59.0 E 24.7 C 20.4 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 33.0 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.10 B 1.91 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.11 A 1.44 A 1.38 A 1.37 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:44:37 PMA30



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.98

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 No-Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 245 No Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 134 198 31 137 194 282 56 982 149 240 869 114

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.1 4.4 69.3 10.4 0.2 27.6
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 15.8 32.7 16.0 32.9 12.5 74.4 17.0 78.8
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 10.4 18.3 10.6 26.7 4.1 11.2
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.4 0.0 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.89 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 137 234 140 198 288 57 590 564 245 512 491
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1795 1840 1795 1900 1598 1781 1885 1798 1795 1885 1808
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 8.4 16.3 8.6 13.1 24.7 2.1 32.2 32.3 9.2 24.7 24.7
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 8.4 16.3 8.6 13.1 24.7 2.1 32.2 32.3 9.2 24.7 24.7
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.27 0.20 0.27 0.20 0.20 0.55 0.49 0.49 0.59 0.53 0.53
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 293 363 280 377 317 331 933 890 329 993 952
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.467 0.644 0.500 0.525 0.908 0.173 0.633 0.634 0.743 0.516 0.516
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 6.8 12.1 6.9 10.3 17.0 1.6 21.4 20.7 6.8 16.8 16.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 41.1 51.7 41.3 50.2 54.9 16.9 26.0 26.0 21.9 21.5 21.5
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.4 0.9 0.5 0.4 18.6 0.1 3.3 3.4 1.3 1.9 2.0
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 41.6 52.6 41.8 50.6 73.4 17.0 29.3 29.5 23.1 23.5 23.5
Level of Service (LOS) D D D D E B C C C C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 48.5 D 59.1 E 28.8 C 23.4 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 34.5 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.10 B 1.91 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.10 A 1.52 B 1.49 A 1.52 B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:53:17 PMA31



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.78

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 7:15

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2045 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 64 88 63 132 113 108 55 588 125 143 781 76

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.5 0.9 78.7 7.2 1.1 18.1
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 3.2 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 2.2 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 12.6 23.2 19.1 29.8 12.9 83.8 13.8 84.8
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.4 17.3 13.7 13.5 4.3 8.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 0.9 0.1 0.9 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.96 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.94 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.96 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 82 194 169 145 138 71 471 443 183 558 541
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1810 1740 1711 1841 1522 1739 1856 1742 1781 1841 1783
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 5.4 15.3 11.7 9.9 11.5 2.3 20.9 20.9 6.1 26.2 26.3
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.4 15.3 11.7 9.9 11.5 2.3 20.9 20.9 6.1 26.2 26.3
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.18 0.13 0.24 0.18 0.18 0.62 0.56 0.56 0.62 0.57 0.57
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 260 226 243 325 268 328 1044 980 411 1047 1014
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.316 0.858 0.698 0.446 0.516 0.215 0.452 0.452 0.446 0.533 0.533
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.5 11.2 9.0 8.1 7.9 1.6 14.2 13.5 4.3 17.1 16.7
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 49.3 59.7 45.9 51.5 52.2 13.9 18.0 18.0 13.4 18.7 18.7
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 3.7 4.6 0.4 0.6 0.1 1.4 1.5 0.3 1.9 2.0
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 49.6 63.3 50.5 51.9 52.8 14.0 19.4 19.5 13.6 20.6 20.7
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D D B B B B C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 59.2 E 51.7 D 19.0 B 19.6 B
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 27.9 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.32 B 2.31 B 2.09 B 1.90 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 0.94 A 1.23 A 1.30 A 1.55 B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:00:34 PMA32



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period School Dismissal 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.94

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2045 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 106 211 56 120 162 266 66 823 159 201 732 81

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.5 2.8 72.2 9.0 1.0 26.5
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 14.4 31.6 15.4 32.6 12.9 77.3 15.7 80.1
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 9.1 23.0 10.1 26.2 4.6 9.9
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.3 0.0 1.3 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0
Phase Call Probability 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.93 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.02 1.00 0.05 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 113 284 128 172 283 70 537 507 214 440 425
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1767 1817 1767 1885 1598 1682 1841 1736 1767 1856 1790
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 7.1 21.0 8.1 11.3 24.2 2.6 28.0 28.0 7.9 20.2 20.2
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 7.1 21.0 8.1 11.3 24.2 2.6 28.0 28.0 7.9 20.2 20.2
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.25 0.19 0.26 0.20 0.20 0.57 0.52 0.52 0.59 0.54 0.54
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 287 344 220 370 314 369 950 896 350 994 959
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.393 0.826 0.580 0.466 0.902 0.190 0.566 0.566 0.610 0.443 0.443
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 5.7 15.4 6.6 9.2 16.5 1.8 18.4 17.6 5.7 13.9 13.6
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 42.2 54.5 43.0 49.8 55.0 15.1 23.2 23.2 18.1 19.8 19.8
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.3 6.7 2.1 0.3 16.0 0.1 2.4 2.6 0.6 1.4 1.5
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 42.6 61.3 45.2 50.1 71.0 15.2 25.6 25.8 18.7 21.2 21.3
Level of Service (LOS) D E D D E B C C B C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 55.9 E 59.1 E 25.0 C 20.7 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 33.7 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.10 B 1.91 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.14 A 1.45 A 1.41 A 1.38 A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:44:37 PMA33



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency SE&D Duration, h 0.250
Analyst NK Analysis Date Apr 6, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Huber Heights, Ohio Time Period Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour
PHF 0.98

Urban Street Old Troy Pike Analysis Year 2045 Build 
Condtion

Analysis Period 1> 2:45

Intersection Chambersburg Road File Name 2045 Build.xus
Project Description Proposed Wawa w/ Fuel Sales

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 134 206 44 137 202 282 61 1004 149 240 882 114

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

7.3 4.3 69.2 10.4 0.2 27.6
3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1
2.2 0.0 1.0 2.2 0.0 1.0

Cycle, s 140.0 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 0 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated No Simult. Gap E/W On
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S On

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Case Number 1.1 4.0 1.1 3.0 1.1 4.0 1.1 4.0
Phase Duration, s 15.8 32.7 16.0 32.9 12.7 74.3 17.0 78.6
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1 5.4 5.1
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1 0.0 3.1 0.0
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 10.4 20.2 10.6 26.6 4.3 11.2
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.0 1.4 0.0 1.2 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.91 1.00
Max Out Probability 1.00 0.01 1.00 0.10 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 137 255 140 206 288 62 601 575 245 519 498
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1795 1827 1795 1900 1598 1781 1885 1800 1795 1885 1809
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 8.4 18.2 8.6 13.7 24.6 2.3 33.2 33.3 9.2 25.2 25.2
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 8.4 18.2 8.6 13.7 24.6 2.3 33.2 33.3 9.2 25.2 25.2
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.27 0.20 0.27 0.20 0.20 0.55 0.49 0.49 0.58 0.53 0.53
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 287 361 263 378 318 328 932 890 324 990 950
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.476 0.707 0.532 0.546 0.906 0.190 0.645 0.647 0.757 0.524 0.524
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile)
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 6.8 13.4 7.0 10.7 17.0 1.7 22.0 21.2 6.9 17.1 16.5
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 41.2 52.4 41.5 50.4 54.8 17.0 26.3 26.3 22.6 21.8 21.8
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 0.5 2.2 1.1 0.5 18.4 0.1 3.4 3.6 1.4 2.0 2.1
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 41.6 54.7 42.6 50.9 73.2 17.1 29.7 29.9 23.9 23.8 23.8
Level of Service (LOS) D D D D E B C C C C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 50.1 D 59.2 E 29.2 C 23.8 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 35.0 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS 2.31 B 2.31 B 2.10 B 1.91 B
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS 1.13 A 1.53 B 1.51 B 1.53 B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 3:53:17 PMA34



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed Weekday Morning Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.78
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 41 150 0 44 547 625 155
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 245 56
Capacity, c (veh/h) 426 700
v/c Ratio 0.57 0.08
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 3.5 0.3
Control Delay (s/veh) 24.2 10.6
Level of Service (LOS) C B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 24.2 0.8
Approach LOS C A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:23:23 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A35



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed School Dismissal Peak Hr Peak Hour Factor 0.94
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 52 115 0 57 871 671 120
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 178 61
Capacity, c (veh/h) 426 803
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.08
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 2.0 0.2
Control Delay (s/veh) 19.4 9.9
Level of Service (LOS) C A
Approach Delay (s/veh) 19.4 0.6
Approach LOS C A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:27:56 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A36



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed Weekday Evening Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.98
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 52 115 0 57 1045 843 120
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 170 58
Capacity, c (veh/h) 370 711
v/c Ratio 0.46 0.08
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 2.3 0.3
Control Delay (s/veh) 22.8 10.5
Level of Service (LOS) C B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 22.8 0.5
Approach LOS C A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:35:39 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A37



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed Weekday Morning Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.78
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 41 150 0 44 716 850 155
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 245 56
Capacity, c (veh/h) 327 545
v/c Ratio 0.75 0.10
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 5.7 0.3
Control Delay (s/veh) 42.7 12.4
Level of Service (LOS) E B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 42.7 0.7
Approach LOS E A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:23:59 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A38



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed School Dismissal Peak Hr Peak Hour Factor 0.94
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 52 115 0 57 1138 899 120
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 178 61
Capacity, c (veh/h) 331 651
v/c Ratio 0.54 0.09
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 3.0 0.3
Control Delay (s/veh) 27.8 11.1
Level of Service (LOS) D B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 27.8 0.5
Approach LOS D A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:33:51 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A39



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Old Troy Pike & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Site Driveway
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Old Troy Pike
Time Analyzed Weekday Evening Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.98
Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0
Configuration LR L T T TR
Volume (veh/h) 52 115 0 57 1363 1121 120
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.5 6.9 4.1
Critical Headway (sec) 6.80 6.90 4.10
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 3.3 2.2
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.50 3.30 2.20

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 170 58
Capacity, c (veh/h) 276 556
v/c Ratio 0.62 0.10
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 3.8 0.3
Control Delay (s/veh) 36.9 12.2
Level of Service (LOS) E B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 36.9 0.5
Approach LOS E A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:36:48 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A40



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed Weekday Morning Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.78
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration LT TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 33 123 153 38 48 32
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 42 103
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1333 628
v/c Ratio 0.03 0.16
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.6
Control Delay (s/veh) 7.8 0.3 11.9
Level of Service (LOS) A A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 1.9 11.9
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:42:27 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A41



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed School Dismissal Peak Hr Peak Hour Factor 0.94
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration LT TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 27 251 212 30 42 24
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 29 70
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1319 559
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.13
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.4
Control Delay (s/veh) 7.8 0.2 12.4
Level of Service (LOS) A A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 0.9 12.4
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:50:06 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A42



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2025 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed Weekday Evening Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.98
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration LT TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 25 262 262 32 40 26
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 26 67
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1273 540
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.12
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.4
Control Delay (s/veh) 7.9 0.2 12.6
Level of Service (LOS) A A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 0.9 12.6
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:55:26 PM
2025 Build.xtw

A43



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed Weekday Morning Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.78
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration L T TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 33 167 206 38 48 32
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 42 103
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1259 618
v/c Ratio 0.03 0.17
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.6
Control Delay (s/veh) 8.0 12.0
Level of Service (LOS) A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 1.3 12.0
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:51:05 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A44



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed School Dismissal Peak Hr Peak Hour Factor 0.94
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration L T TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 27 331 279 30 42 24
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 29 70
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1242 561
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.13
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.4
Control Delay (s/veh) 8.0 12.3
Level of Service (LOS) A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 0.6 12.3
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:52:41 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A45



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst NK Intersection Chambersburg Road & Site Driveway
Agency/Co. SE&D Jurisdiction Fairborn, Ohio
Date Performed 4/6/2023 East/West Street Chambersburg Road
Analysis Year 2045 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed Weekday Evening Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.98
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description Convenience Store w/ Fuel Sales

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Configuration L T TR LR
Volume (veh/h) 25 344 345 32 40 26
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 0 0 0
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.10 6.40 6.20
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.20 3.50 3.30

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 26 67
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1185 542
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.12
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.4
Control Delay (s/veh) 8.1 12.6
Level of Service (LOS) A B
Approach Delay (s/veh) 0.5 12.6
Approach LOS A B

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2022 Generated: 4/6/2023 4:56:48 PM
2045 Build.xtw

A46



TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING DIRECTIVE

A47



A48



                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

 
 
 

Administrative  Office:  7008 Brandt  Pike Huber Heights ,  Ohio  45424  
Telephone:   (937)  233 -  1564      Fax Number:  (937)  233 -  4520  

 

 Huber Heights Fire Division 
          

Plans reviewed by the Huber Heights Fire Division are reviewed with the intent they comply in ALL respects to this code, as prescribed in SECTION (D) 
104.1 of the 2017 Ohio Fire Code. Any omissions or errors on the plans or in this review do not relieve the applicant of complying with ALL applicable 
requirements of this code. These plans have been reviewed for compliance with the Ohio Fire Code adopted by this jurisdiction. There may be other 
regulations applicable under local, state, or federal statues and codes, which this department has no authority to enforce and therefore have not been 
evaluated as part of this plan review. 
 

 

Inspections require two business days advance notice! (OAC)1301:7-7-09(A)(5) 
 
 

Occupancy Name: WaWa 
Occupancy Address: 4949 Chambersburg Road 

 
Type of Permit: HHP&D Site Plan 
Additional Permits: Choose an item. 
Additional Permits: Choose an item. 

 
MCBR BLD: Not Yet Assigned HH P&D:  
MCBR MEC:  HHFD  Plan: 23-195 
MCBR ELE:  HHFD Box:  
REVIEWER: Susong DATE: 7/6/2023 

 
Fire Department Comments: 

The Huber Heights City Code Part 15 Refers to Fire Code Requirements and has adopted by reference OFC and IFC Appendices 
 

These comments are based only on the proposed sitework, fire department access and basic fire 
protection concept at this time. A full plan review of the building systems, fire protection, egress 
and life safety will need to be conducted once the architectural plans have been submitted for 
permit. The proposed development will need to meet the requirements of the Ohio Fire Code 2017, 
Ohio Building Code 2017, and the Huber Heights Codified Ordinance.   
 
Requirements: 
 

• The canopy over fuel pumps shall have a clearance of 13 feet 6 inches or higher for fire 
apparatus clearance. Ohio Fire Code 503.2.1.   

• The turn radius off both Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road appear to meet the 
requirements for fire department access as required in Ohio Fire Code.  

• Unobstructed access to fire hydrants shall be maintained at all times. The fire 
department shall not be deterred or hindered from gaining immediate access to fire 
protection equipment or fire hydrants. Ohio Fire Code 507.5.4.   

• A 3-foot (914 mm) clear space shall be maintained around the circumference of fire 
hydrants except as otherwise required or approved. (No trees, bushes, plantings, etc.) 
Ohio Fire Code 507.5.5.   

 
Please reference contact information below for questions or concerns with this document. 

 
 
  



 Planning Commission 
July 11, 2023, Meeting 
City of Huber Heights 

 
 
 I. Chair Terry Walton called the meeting to order at approximately 6:02 p.m. 
 
II. Present at the meeting:   Mr. Cassity, Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Thomas, Ms. Vargo, and 

Mr. Walton. 
 
 Members absent:  None. 
 
 Staff Present: Aaron K. Sorrell, Interim City Planner, and Geri Hoskins, Planning 

& Zoning Administrative Secretary. 
 
III. Opening Remarks by the Chairman and Commissioners 
 
 None.  
  
IV. Citizens Comments 
 
 None. 
 
V. Swearing of Witnesses Mr. Walton explained the proceedings of tonight’s 

meeting and administered the sworn oath to all persons wishing to speak or give 
testimony regarding items on the agenda. All persons present responded in the 
affirmative.  
 

VI. Pending Business 
 

1. TEXT AMENDMENT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is 
requesting approval of a text amendment pertaining to Chapter 1181.20 
Building Materials for Dwellings (TA 23-14A).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated that over the years, building materials have improved and 
builders utilize a range of materials to provide a mixture of building facades along 
a street, convey different design aesthetics, and control construction costs as 
prices of materials can vary depending on local and regional demand. This text 
amendment seeks to codify community expectations and provide reasonable 
flexibility for contemporary designs and modern material utilization.  

 
Based on feedback from the Planning Commission this version has been revised 
for clarity and ease of administration. 

 
Staff Analysis 
Currently, there is a significant schism with exterior building material 
requirements between building in a straight zoned area (A, R-1, R-2, etc.) versus 
building on a lot in a Planned Residential areas.  If a buyer seeks to construct a 
new single-story home or build a single-story addition in any district other than a 
PUD, they must fully wrap their single-story home in brick or masonry material.  
New two-story homes must have the first floor wrapped in brick or masonry 
material.  The floors above can be any other material. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 2 

Recent Planning Commission decisions have established a minimum masonry 
limit at approximately 25% of the front façade for single-family homes.  Multi-
family structures have ranged from 10% to 20% in recent years.  

 
Staff is proposing the following standards: 

 
Non-PUD Zoning: 

● One-Story dwellings: 25% of the front façade 
● Multi-Story dwellings: 25% of the first-floor front façade. 

 
PUD Zoning: 

● 1 & 2-family buildings: 25% of the front facades  
● Multi-family and mixed-use buildings: 10% of the aggregate building wall 

surface.  
 

These standards encourage the Planning Commission to consider the types, 
location and layouts of the buildings.  Every development is different, and the 
Planning Commission should include those details.  Specifically, the Planning 
Commission is encouraged to:  

 
When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider the 
types, location, and layout of the buildings to: 

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage 
monotonous building repetition. 

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured 
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public 
streets and thoroughfares. 

 
Additional Comments: 
Staff feels that these revised materials requirements for dwellings reflect the 
recent decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council and are a bridge 
from the previous masonry requirements to a constituent that desires a diverse 
architectural palate within the community.  

 
Fire:  No comments. 

 
City Engineer: No comments. 
 
Discussion on building in phases, each section held to standard, eliminate 
aggregated amount. 

 
Action 

 
Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF 
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval of a Text Amendment pertaining to Chapter 
1181.20 Building Materials for Dwellings (TZ 23-14A) in accordance with the 
recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning 
Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 3 

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

VII. New Business 
 

1. MINOR CHANGE - The applicant, KELLEY KOONS, is requesting approval 
of Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan to construct a four-
season enclosed patio.  Property is located at 5420 Brandt Pike (MC 23-16).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed 
Development Plan to construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side 
of the existing building.  The 30’ by 10’ structure will have overhead doors on 
each end of the building, and windows along the northern wall.  The addition will 
be nearly 500’ from Brandt Pike and barely visible due to its relatively small size.  

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 – General Provisions and 
Chapter 1174 -Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District (PP).     

 
Staff Analysis 

Detailed Development Plan Analysis: 
The applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed Development Plan to 
construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side of the existing 
building. The exterior of the addition is mostly windows on the north side, and 
one window and overhead door on each end.   
Conformance With Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District 
Requirements: 
Uses:  Fraternal organizations are a permitted use.  
Development Standards:  

● The addition meets all setback and yard requirements. 
● No additional parking is necessary.  

 
No other changes are being proposed by the applicant. The existing structure is 
just over 18,000 SF.  This addition represents an enlargement of under 2% of the 
existing  floor area.  No other improvements are required by the zoning code.   
 
Fire:  No comments received. 

 
City Engineer:  No comments received. 
 
Action 
 
Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant KELLY KOONS, for 
approval of a Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan (MC 23-16) in 
accordance with the recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, 
and the Planning Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 4 

Seconded by Mr. Cassity.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Ms. Vargo, Mr. Cassity, Ms. 
Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

2. REPLAT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is requesting 
approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road (RP 23-18).    
 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, 
north of Waynegate Road. This is a stub street intended to connect to the 
subdivision to the north.  The connection was never approved or completed, nor 
will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub serves no municipal purpose, 
and has created drainage problems for the adjacent property owners.   

 
Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two 
parcels will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.  

 
Applicable Subdivision Regulations 
The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 - 
Final Plat.  The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 - 
Vacating Plat by Legislative Authority. 

  
Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission 
(Planning Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.  

 
Staff Analysis 
The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property 
owners who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub.  The stub serves no 
municipal function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never 
completed. The City is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.  

 
Additional Comments: 

 
Fire:  The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat. 

 
City Engineer:  The engineer has approved vacation and replat. 
 
Discussion on changing the deeds, fully restored. 
 
Action 
 
Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF 
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate 
Road (RP 23-18) in accordance with the recommendation of Staff’s 
Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision 
Record attached thereto. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Cassity.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 5 

3. DETAILED DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, METROPOLITAN 
HOLDINGS LTD, is requesting approval of a Detailed Development Plan for 
an apartment project.  Property is located at Executive Boulevard across 
the street from the Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated the applicant requests Detailed Development Plan approval to 
facilitate the construction of 312 residential units (1- and 2-bedroom apartments) 
on approximately 21.3 acres. 

 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of a rezoning and basic 
development plan on February 14, 2023.  The Huber Heights City Council 
approved the rezoning and basic development plan on April 11, 2023. 

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1130 – Amendments, Chapter 
1171 – General Provisions, Chapter 1179 – Planned Mixed Use, Chapter 1181 – 
General Provisions.  

 
The staff analysis addresses the elements of the Detailed Development Plan and 
standards for approval. 

 
Staff Analysis 
The approved rezoning and Basic Development Plan ordinance has the following 
relevant conditions: 

1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted with 
the application dated January 30, 2023. 

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during the 
Detailed Development Plan review. 

Conformance with the approved conditions of the BDP: 
1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted 

with the application dated January 30, 2023. 

The development regulations that were submitted with the Basic Development 
Plan will be recorded as part of the detailed development plan approval.  The 
Project Zoning and Design Standards are attached for reference.  

 
The submitted detailed development plan substantially conforms to these 
requirements.   

 
Setbacks  
  

Minimum Requirements As indicated on the DDP Conforming (Y/N) 
Front yard: 20 feet 25 feet Y 
Rear yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y 

 East Side yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y 
 West Side yard: 25 feet 20 feet N* 

*The applicant has indicated that this is an error and will be sumitting corrected plans.  
 
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 6 

Signage 
The DDP indicates two (2) internal illuminated wall signs on the clubhouse 
building.  The two wall signs total 75 square feet.  

 
Two non-illuminated entrance columns (monument signs) are proposed.  The 
columns are 6 feet high and just under 4 feet wide.  The signage graphic affixed 
to each column is approximately 3.5 square feet. 

 
Staff feels the signs are appropriately located and well designed to showcase the 
music branding of apartment complex.  

 
Architecture and Site Standards 
The detailed development plan appears to satisfy the building material 
requirements outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.  The 
residential buildings are mixture of stone, cement panels, and lap and batten 
siding. The buildings facing Executive Boulevard including the clubhouse have 
extensive stone and masonry elements.  

 
Additionally, the applicant is proposing a significant amenity package for 
residents including pool, outdoor kitchen and gathering areas.  

 
Landscaping 
The landscaping plan is substantially compliant to the standards outlined in the 
Project Zoning and Design Standards.  This includes street tree, perimeter and 
interior landscaping, and open space requirements. Sheets L1 and L2 illustrate 
the proposed landscaping plan.  

 
Lighting 
The lighting plan indicates pedestrian scale decorative poles and fixtures will be 
used the parking areas and travel lanes.  The decorative fixtures are mounted on 
12-foot poles.  The lighting standards limit light trespass to no more the 0.5 foot-
candle.  However, the photometric plan indicates areas of illumination on the 
north property line which exceeds this standard.  As a condition of approval, the 
applicant shall shield the perimeter fixtures adjacent to the north property line.  

 
Street and Transportation Standards 
The detailed development plan complies with the street and transportation 
standards outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.   

 
The only significant change is the multi-use path along Executive Boulevard.  
The basic development plan indicated a 10-foot path.  After discussions between 
the applicant and staff, the path has been reduced to eight (8) feet.  This was 
done to better accommodate decorative street lighting that is being planned for 
Executive Boulevard.  The width of the path matches the width of the path in front 
of the Rose.  

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during 
the Detailed Development Plan review. 

How the project is buffered from the northern neighborhood was a significant 
discussion topic and particular concern to the adjacent neighbors.  Staff 
encouraged the development team to survey the treeline to determine which 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 7 

mature trees are healthy and should remain, and to cluster landscaping between 
the garages to further reduce visual and noise impacts. Additionally, specific 
grading requirements and their impacts to the treeline was unknown at the point 
of basic development plan approval. 

 
Surprisingly, only eight trees within the 25-foot setback must be removed.  They 
are clustered in the areas where two retaining walls must be constructed to 
achieve the grading required for the parking areas and garages.  No trees along 
the property line are indicated to be removed. Sheet C201 and C202 illustrate the 
planned removals.  Sheet C501 and C502 illustrate the grading limits and 
location of the retaining walls. 

 
To mitigate the loss of the trees and increase buffering, the applicant is 
proposing substantial landscaping along the northern property line.  Sheet L2 
and L2.1  There is a dense mixture of evergreen and deciduous trees planned.  
The evergreens will be 6 feet at planting, and the various deciduous trees will 
have a 3-inch diameter.  These are substantially larger than typically planted. 

 
Staff feels the northern property line is adequately buffered between the existing 
trees remaining and the substantial amount of new plantings.  

 
Staff Analysis 
The DDP application substantially conforms with the Basic Development Plan 
ordinance approved by the City Council.  Additionally, the DDP generally 
conforms to all relevant zoning regulations, including landscaping, lighting, 
parking, architectural standards and signs.   

 
Additional Comments: 

 
Fire:  See Attached.   

 
City Engineer:  No comments received. 
 
Discussion on parking compared to Parkview, fire issues, 9 ft. parking spaces, 
another lane on south side of Executive, 8 ft sidewalks, font for sign, what name 
means, tree survey, retaining walls, 1 phase. 
Ryan Young, Jamie Oberschlake,  
Pat Dyer, resident, asked about retaining wall, between buildings and garages, 
dumpsters, maintenance, how long building will take. 
Annamarie Norgrove, resident, asked about tree lines and when construction will 
start. 
Melissa Cleary, resident, said the name was really cool and it’s a great idea. 
  
Action 
 
Ms. Vargo moved to approve the request by the applicant METROPOLITAN 
HOLDINGS LTD, for approval of a Detailed Development Plan for a proposed 
new 312 unit apartment project.  Property is located across the street from the 
Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19) in accordance with the recommendation of 
Staff’s Memorandum dated July 6, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision 
Record attached thereto. 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 8 

 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffries.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

4. BASIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, is requesting 
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a 
gas station convenience mart with fueling pumps.  Property is located at 
4949 Chambersburg Road (BDP 23-17).  
 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant seeks to construct a new 5,915 SF Wawa 
convenience store with eight fueling pumps at the corner of Old Troy Pike and 
Chambersburg Road. Wawa is entering the Dayton area market, and this will be 
its first Huber Heights store. 

 
The proposed store will sit on 5.41 acres, of which approximately three (3) acres 
are zoned Planned Commercial and approximately 2.4 acres are zoned O-1. 
Convenience stores and fueling stations are permitted in the Planned 
Commercial District but not the O-1. Thus, a replat and rezoning are included in 
the Basic Development Plan application.  

 
Nearby commercial and retail uses at this intersection include Walgreens on the 
southwest corner; KeyBank on the northeast corner; and Speedway at the 
southeast corner. 

 
Site Characteristics 
Approximately half the site is currently developed as a single-family house in a 
densely wooded and landscaped lot. The other half is wooded, undeveloped 
land. There is a steep grade change with the plateau of the site approximately 30 
feet above the Chambersburg / OTP intersection. The grade change between the 
road and the site becomes less dramatic as one travels east on Chambersburg 
and north on Old Troy Pike.  

 
While the proposed store is located in the general clearing of the lot, grading will 
be required to develop the building pad, parking area, fueling bays and access 
drives. However, it does appear that grading will end approximately 80 feet from 
the east property line and have no impact on the home north of the site. 

 
The site has access to all necessary utilities. Additionally, the applicant will 
dedicate the required right-of-way for the planned Chambersburg widening and 
multi-use path. 

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 – General Provisions, 
Chapter 1176 – Planned Commercial, Chapter 1181 – General Provisions, 
Chapter 1182 – Landscaping, and Chapter 1185 – Parking and Loading.  

 
Chapter 1171.05 - Contents of basic development plan, states: 
(a) The basic development plan shall consist of at least the following information 
together with such other data and materials as may be required by the City: 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 9 

(1) Site plan showing the actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon or 
to be changed in its use together with the location of the existing and proposed 
structures with approximate square footages, number of stories including heights of 
structures; 
(2) Typical elevation views of the front and side of each type of building; 
(3) Planning location and dimensions of all proposed drives, service access road, 
sidewalks and curb openings; 
(4) Parking lot areas (show dimensions of a typical parking space), unloading areas, 
fire lanes and handicapped parking; 
(5) Landscaping plan, walls and fences; 
(6) Storm water detention and surface drainage; 
(7) Exterior lighting plan; 
(8) Vehicular circulation pattern; 
(9) Location and square footage of signs; 
(10) Topographic survey; and 
(11) Listing of proposed uses taken from the list of permitted and special uses of the 
PUD zoning district to which rezoning is being sought. 
(b) The Planning Commission shall schedule both the proposed rezoning and the 
issue of approval of the basic development plan for a combined public hearing, 
following which it shall make its recommendation indicating approval, approval with 
modification or disapproval. 

   
Chapter 1171.06 - General standards for approval, states:  
The Planning Commission shall review the application, prepared development plan 
and the facts presented at the hearing. The applicant shall have the burden of proof. 
No approval shall be given unless the Commission shall find by a preponderance of 
the evidence that such PUD on the proposed locations: 

 
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 
other applicable plans and policies; 
(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule 
of development submitted by the developer; 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways 
on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or 
occupants of the proposed development; 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police 
protection, and schools; 
(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the 
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health, 
safety and welfare; 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 10 

with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking 
and loading areas, or accessways; 
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to 
the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and 
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily 
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of 
technical reasons; 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities 
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 
(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of 
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall 
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 

Staff Analysis 
The staff analysis addresses the rezoning request and elements of the Basic 
Development Plan and standards for approval.  

Rezoning Analysis: 
The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 2.44 acres from O-1 
General Office to Planned Commercial (PC).     

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan 
The City's comprehensive plan indicates the site is within the Estates pattern 
area adjacent to the Southtown pattern area. The Estates development pattern 
area recognizes that is area is where large-scale development is unlikely to occur 
and where large-lot residential development is appropriate. This is particularly 
true on the west side of the pattern area where environmental constraints, such 
as flooding, limit the development potential. 

However, that is not to say the area is determined to be exclusively residential. 
One of the key elements within the Estates development pattern area is to "allow 
for incremental, contextually relevant non-residential uses and amenities." This 
site is on the east edge of the pattern district, not subject to flooding and at the 
intersection of two major roadways. Additionally, all necessary utilities are 
available.   

Given the location of this site and its context within the Estate pattern district, 
staff feels the rezoning from O-1 to PC is consistent with the comprehensive 
plan. 

 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 11 

Basic Development Plan Analysis: 
The applicant proposes constructing a 5,915 SF convenience store and four-
island fueling center. The applicant has submitted all necessary plans and 
studies for the Basic Development Plan review.  
Conformance With Planned Commercial District Requirements: 
Uses:  Retail uses and filling stations are principally permitted in the district. 
Development Standards:  

• The site plan meets all parking and building setback and yard requirements. 

• Nineteen street trees are required. The preliminary landscaping plan shows 19 
street trees. However, due to grading issues and Chambersburg Road's planned 
widening, most of them are not near the sidewalk. During the Detailed 
Development plan review, staff will work with the applicant to place the required 
trees appropriately. 

• The lighting plan submitted with the application meets all requirements. The 
proposed fixture height is 20 feet, and the fixture types meet the code. The 
photometric analysis indicates no light trespasses across the property lines.  

• The building design substantially meets the exterior material recommendation. 
Not including glazing, the building's entire exterior is 68% masonry. The front 
façade is 78% masonry and glazing. Approximately 28% of the exterior is a wood 
composite accent siding. 

• All utilities are below ground. 
 

Parking and Loading: 
• The applicant proposes 53 parking spaces, more than the code requires. Parking 

stall dimensions are 10' x 20', as required.  
 

 Landscaping:  
• The plans appear to meet the landscaping requirements but will be verified when 

the detailed development plan is submitted.  
 

Signs: 
• A sign package was not submitted with the application and will be reviewed when 

the detailed development plan is submitted. The elevations indicate three wall 
signs, and the site plan indicates two monument signs.  

 
 

Conformance with General Standards of Approval: 
Below is the staff analysis of conformance with the general standards of approval.  

  
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 

other applicable plans and policies; 
 

It is the staff's opinion that the proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan 
and thoroughfare plan. The site is located at the intersection of arterial and collector 
streets.  

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 12 

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule 
of development submitted by the developer; 

 
While no development schedule has been submitted, the applicant has stated to staff 
that they will initiate construction shortly after all plans are approved by the City and 
County. There are no concerns on the part of staff that the applicant would have 
difficulty financing and constructing the project in a reasonable time.   

 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and 
driveways on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the 
residents or occupants of the proposed development; 

 
It is important to note that the traffic counts were taken when school was in session, 
and they represent an accurate assessment of the existing peak traffic volume. The 
traffic study estimates there will be 541 AM and 467 PM weekday peak hour trips. 
This store's net new peak hour trips are estimated at 129 AM and 1179 PM. It's 
important to note that the study estimates that 76% of those trips are pass-by, 
meaning those vehicles are on the road regardless of whether the Wawa 
development is constructed.  
The traffic study indicates that no drop-down lanes are necessary. The applicant is 
required to dedicate additional ROW along Chambersburg Road to facilitate the 
construction of a future roadway widening.  

 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and 
police protection, and schools; 

 
Staff does not anticipate any undue burden on public services. The area has 
adequate utility and street capacity.   We are unaware of any policing concerns, and 
the development will comply will all building and fire code requirements.  

 
(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to 
the proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public 
health, safety and welfare; 

 
Any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission or City Council will be 
memorialized in the PUD legislation and remain in effect unless modified by the 
Planning Commission or City Council.  

 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be 
compatible with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for 
structures, parking and loading areas, or accessways; 

 
The staff believes the site plan is generally well arranged, and internal circulation is 
efficient and compatible with the intended use. Pedestrian connections between the 
streets and the store are provided. The landscaping requirements will be reviewed 
with the Detailed Development application.    

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 13 

(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, 
to the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 

 
The site will retain a significant amount of wooded area to the west and north. 
Additionally, the existing decorative retaining wall will remain.  

 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 

 
As discussed, the site has significant topographic features. The grading plan 
illustrates significant grading on the site's west, south and northeast edges. The 
grading should not impact the properties west or north of the site since there is an 
adequate buffer between the property lines and the extent of the grading activities. 
The applicant is grading to a 3:1 slope and providing vegetative ground cover, which 
will limit erosion.  

 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and 
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily 
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of 
technical reasons; 

 
All utilities will be placed underground. 

 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities 
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 

 
Staff does not anticipate any additional public services required to support this 
development.   

 
(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions 
of operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare 
by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 

 
All proposed uses are consistent with the Planned Commercial district zoning being 
requested as part of this application. The traffic study does not indicate that this 
development will generate excessive traffic.   

 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan 
shall not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 

 
The staff believes the rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan and will not 
adversely affect surrounding properties.  

 
Additional Comments: 

  
Fire:  See attached. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 14 

City Engineer:  The engineer has reviewed the site plan and requested 
additional right of way along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. The 
applicant has indicated that they will revise their plans accordingly. 
   
Recommendation 
Staff supports the partial rezoning from General Office (O-1) to Planned 
Commercial. It is the staff's opinion that the requirements of Section 1171.06 can 
be met, and recommends approval of the rezoning and Basic Development Plan 
with the following conditions: 

• The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site's 
perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. Healthy trees shall 
be identified and incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject 
to approval as part of the Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also 
develop a plan to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval. 

• The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree placement 
during the Detailed Development Plan phase. 

• Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the 
Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission. 

• Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except 
the following are prohibited: 

o Vehicle sales, rental or service 
o Sweepstakes Cafes 
o Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.) 
o Dry cleaners 
o Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission 

• The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the 
corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the 
City engineer requires. 
Discussion on sidewalk width, undeveloped half of site, left turn onto Troy, traffic 
coming south, Chambersburg design timeline, 3-1 slope, full shielding on West 
side, traffic lane on Troy Pike, retaining wall, 19 ft. drop, bike racks, lower the 
crest on Chambersburg. 

Patrick O’Leary, Eric Williams, Patrick Warnemont, Adam Malonjao, Jason 
Waite, Ryan Vickers. 

Action 
 
Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant BP-OPT, LLC, for 
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a gas 
station convenience mart with fueling pumps (BDP 23-17) in accordance with the 
recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning 
Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 
 
Seconded by Ms. Vargo.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 15 

 
VIII.     Additional Business 
 
 None. 

 
 IX.      Approval of the Minutes 
 

Without objection, the minutes of the June 13, 2023, Planning Commission 
meeting are approved. 
 

 
X. Reports and Calendar Review 
 

Mr. Sorrell stated Flying Ace, Huber Health Center, and Technology and Artz 
Road. 

  
XI. Upcoming Meetings 
  
 August 15, 2023 
 September 12, 2023 
  
XII. Adjournment  
 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting 
was adjourned at approximately 8:40 p.m. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Terry Walton, Chair       Date 
  
 
__________________________________   _____________________________ 
Geri Hoskins, Administrative Secretary    Date 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-O- 

 
 

TO APPROVE A REZONING OF APPROXIMATELY 2.44 ACRES FROM OFFICE (O1) TO 
PLANNED COMMERCIAL (PC) AND TO APPROVE A BASIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN OF 
5.41 ACRES FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4949 CHAMBERSBURG ROAD AND 
FURTHER IDENTIFIED AS PARCEL NUMBER P70 04004 0017 ON THE MONTGOMERY 
COUNTY AUDITOR’S MAP AND TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION (CASE BDP 23-17). 
 
WHEREAS, the citizens of Huber Heights require the efficient and orderly planning of land uses 
within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Planning Commission has reviewed Case BDP 23-17 and on July 11, 2023, 
recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 of the Rezoning from Office (O1) to Planned Commercial 
(PC) and a Basic Development Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the issue. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1. The application requesting approval of a Rezoning from Office (O1) to Planned 
Commercial (PC), and a Basic Development Plan (Case BDP 23-17) is hereby approved in 
accordance with the Planning Commission’s recommendation and following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site’s perimeter that 
will be incorporated into the landscaping plan.  Healthy trees shall be identified and 
incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject to approval as part of the 
Detailed Development Plan.  The applicant shall also develop a plan to protect key trees 
during construction, subject to Staff approval. 

 
2. The applicant shall work with Staff to determine the final street tree placement during the 

Detailed Development Plan phase. 
 

3. Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the Detailed 
Development Plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
4. Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except the 

following are prohibited: 
 

a. Vehicle sales, rental, or service 
b. Sweepstakes Cafes 
c. Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.) 
d. Dry cleaners 
e. Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
5. The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the corrected 

ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the City Engineer 
requires. 

 
Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of  this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the 
Charter of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
 



Passed by Council on the ______ day of _______, 2023; 
           Yeas;            Nays. 
 
Effective Date:   
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
______________________________ __________________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
______________________________ __________________________________  
Date      Date 



   
AI-9386     Topics of Discussion      G.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Case RP 23-18 - City Of Huber Heights - Vacate Thorngate Drive
Submitted By: Geri Hoskins
Department: Planning Division: Planning
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: SmartBoard Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Case RP 23-18 - City Of Huber Heights - Vacate Thorngate Drive

Purpose and Background
The applicant, the City of Huber Heights, is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate
Road (Case RP 23-18).  The remnants of the public right of way will be transferred to the adjacent property
owners.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Staff Report 
Decision Record 
Drawing 
Fire Assessment 
Minutes 
Ordinance 



1 

Memorandum 
Staff Report for Meeting of July 11, 2023 

 
To:                 Huber Heights City Planning Commission 
 
From:             Aaron K. Sorrell, City Planner 
   
Date:              July 5, 2023 
 
Subject:         Vacation of Public Right of Way 

RP 23-18  (Thorngate Dr. north of Waynegate Rd.) 
 
 
Department of Planning and Zoning                          City of Huber Heights 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: City of Huber Heights  – Applicant 
   
DEVELOPMENT NAME:  N/A 
 
ADDRESS/LOCATION: Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Road. 

 
ZONING/ACREAGE: Planned Residential (PR) / 0.14 Acres 
 
EXISTING LAND USE:  Right of Way stub 
 
ZONING 
ADJACENT LAND:   North: PR 

East: PR 
     West: PR 
     South: PR  
 
REQUEST:                                    The City of Huber Heights requests approval to 

vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Rd.  The 
remnants of the public right of way will be transferred 
to the adjacent property owners. 
      

ORIGINAL APPROVAL:              N/A  
 
APPLICABLE HHCC:      Chapter 1107, Ohio Revised Code 711.39 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE:      In Favor – None Received 
                                           In Opposition – None Received.  
 
 



2 

Overview  
The city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Road. 
This is a stub street intended to connect to the subdivision to the north.  The connection 
was never approved or completed, nor will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub 
serves no municipal purpose, and has created drainage problems for the adjacent 
property owners.   
 
Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two parcels 
will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.  
 
Applicable Subdivision Regulations 
The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 - Final 
Plat.  The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 - Vacating Plat by 
Legislative Authority. 
 
Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission (Planning 
Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.  
 
 
Staff Analysis 
The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property owners 
who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub.  The stub serves no municipal 
function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never completed. The City 
is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.  
 
 
Additional Comments: 
 
Fire:  The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat. 
 
City Engineer:  The engineer has approved vacation and replat. 

   
Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the Thornburg Drive Vacation as submitted.  

 
Planning Commission Action 
Planning Commission may take the following actions with a motion to:  

1) Recommend approval of the vacation and replat, with or without conditions. 
2) Recommend denial vacation and replat. 
3) Table the application to gather additional information. 

 



RP 23-18 – Decision Record 

 1 

 
 

 

 

Planning Commission Decision Record 
 
 
WHEREAS, on June 22, 2023, the applicant, The City of Huber Heights, 
requested approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road 
(Case RP 23-18), and; 
 
WHEREAS, on July 11, 2023, the Planning Commission did meet and fully 
discuss the details of the request. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission 
hereby recommended approval of the request. 
 
Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant, The City of 
Huber Heights, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of 
Waynegate Road (Case RP 23-18) in accordance with the 
recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, with the 
following conditions: 
 

1. Approve as submitted.  
 
Seconded by  Mr. Cassity.   Roll call showed: YEAS:   Ms. Thomas, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.   
Motion to recommend approval carried 5-0. 
 
_____________________________   _______________ 
Terry Walton, Chair      Date 
Planning Commission 





                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

 
 
 

Administrative  Office:  7008 Brandt  Pike Hu ber Heights ,  Ohio  45424  
Telephone:   (937)  233 -  1564      Fax Number:  (937)  233 -  4520  

 

 Huber Heights Fire Division 
          

Plans reviewed by the Huber Heights Fire Division are reviewed with the intent they comply in ALL respects to this code, 
as prescribed in SECTION (D) 104.1 of the 2017 Ohio Fire Code. Any omissions or errors on the plans or in this review 
do not relieve the applicant of complying with ALL applicable requirements of this code. These plans have been reviewed 
for compliance with the Ohio Fire Code adopted by this jurisdiction. There may be other regulations applicable under 
local, state, or federal statues and codes, which this department has no authority to enforce and therefore have not been 
evaluated as part of this plan review. 
 

 

 
Inspections require two business days advance notice! (OAC)1301:7-7-09(A)(5) 

 
 
 

Occupancy Name: Replat   
Occupancy Address: Thorngate Road 

 
Type of Permit: HHP&D Site Plan 
Additional Permits: Choose an item. 
Additional Permits: Choose an item. 

 
MCBR BLD: N/A HH P&D:  
MCBR MEC:  HHFD  Plan: 23-197 
MCBR ELE:  HHFD Box:  
REVIEWER: Susong DATE: 7/5/2023 

 
Fire Department Comments: 

The Huber Heights City Code Part 15 Refers to Fire Code Requirements and has adopted by reference OFC and IFC Appendices 

 
Plan submittal is approved as shown on drawing, dead end road vacation. Parcel 
to be split between adjoining homeowners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Please reference contact information below for questions or concerns with this document. 
 
 
 
 
  



 Planning Commission 
July 11, 2023, Meeting 
City of Huber Heights 

 
 
 I. Chair Terry Walton called the meeting to order at approximately 6:02 p.m. 
 
II. Present at the meeting:   Mr. Cassity, Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Thomas, Ms. Vargo, and 

Mr. Walton. 
 
 Members absent:  None. 
 
 Staff Present: Aaron K. Sorrell, Interim City Planner, and Geri Hoskins, Planning 

& Zoning Administrative Secretary. 
 
III. Opening Remarks by the Chairman and Commissioners 
 
 None.  
  
IV. Citizens Comments 
 
 None. 
 
V. Swearing of Witnesses Mr. Walton explained the proceedings of tonight’s 

meeting and administered the sworn oath to all persons wishing to speak or give 
testimony regarding items on the agenda. All persons present responded in the 
affirmative.  
 

VI. Pending Business 
 

1. TEXT AMENDMENT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is 
requesting approval of a text amendment pertaining to Chapter 1181.20 
Building Materials for Dwellings (TA 23-14A).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated that over the years, building materials have improved and 
builders utilize a range of materials to provide a mixture of building facades along 
a street, convey different design aesthetics, and control construction costs as 
prices of materials can vary depending on local and regional demand. This text 
amendment seeks to codify community expectations and provide reasonable 
flexibility for contemporary designs and modern material utilization.  

 
Based on feedback from the Planning Commission this version has been revised 
for clarity and ease of administration. 

 
Staff Analysis 
Currently, there is a significant schism with exterior building material 
requirements between building in a straight zoned area (A, R-1, R-2, etc.) versus 
building on a lot in a Planned Residential areas.  If a buyer seeks to construct a 
new single-story home or build a single-story addition in any district other than a 
PUD, they must fully wrap their single-story home in brick or masonry material.  
New two-story homes must have the first floor wrapped in brick or masonry 
material.  The floors above can be any other material. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 2 

Recent Planning Commission decisions have established a minimum masonry 
limit at approximately 25% of the front façade for single-family homes.  Multi-
family structures have ranged from 10% to 20% in recent years.  

 
Staff is proposing the following standards: 

 
Non-PUD Zoning: 

● One-Story dwellings: 25% of the front façade 
● Multi-Story dwellings: 25% of the first-floor front façade. 

 
PUD Zoning: 

● 1 & 2-family buildings: 25% of the front facades  
● Multi-family and mixed-use buildings: 10% of the aggregate building wall 

surface.  
 

These standards encourage the Planning Commission to consider the types, 
location and layouts of the buildings.  Every development is different, and the 
Planning Commission should include those details.  Specifically, the Planning 
Commission is encouraged to:  

 
When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider the 
types, location, and layout of the buildings to: 

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage 
monotonous building repetition. 

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured 
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public 
streets and thoroughfares. 

 
Additional Comments: 
Staff feels that these revised materials requirements for dwellings reflect the 
recent decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council and are a bridge 
from the previous masonry requirements to a constituent that desires a diverse 
architectural palate within the community.  

 
Fire:  No comments. 

 
City Engineer: No comments. 
 
Discussion on building in phases, each section held to standard, eliminate 
aggregated amount. 

 
Action 

 
Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF 
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval of a Text Amendment pertaining to Chapter 
1181.20 Building Materials for Dwellings (TZ 23-14A) in accordance with the 
recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning 
Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 3 

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

VII. New Business 
 

1. MINOR CHANGE - The applicant, KELLEY KOONS, is requesting approval 
of Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan to construct a four-
season enclosed patio.  Property is located at 5420 Brandt Pike (MC 23-16).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed 
Development Plan to construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side 
of the existing building.  The 30’ by 10’ structure will have overhead doors on 
each end of the building, and windows along the northern wall.  The addition will 
be nearly 500’ from Brandt Pike and barely visible due to its relatively small size.  

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 – General Provisions and 
Chapter 1174 -Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District (PP).     

 
Staff Analysis 

Detailed Development Plan Analysis: 
The applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed Development Plan to 
construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side of the existing 
building. The exterior of the addition is mostly windows on the north side, and 
one window and overhead door on each end.   
Conformance With Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District 
Requirements: 
Uses:  Fraternal organizations are a permitted use.  
Development Standards:  

● The addition meets all setback and yard requirements. 
● No additional parking is necessary.  

 
No other changes are being proposed by the applicant. The existing structure is 
just over 18,000 SF.  This addition represents an enlargement of under 2% of the 
existing  floor area.  No other improvements are required by the zoning code.   
 
Fire:  No comments received. 

 
City Engineer:  No comments received. 
 
Action 
 
Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant KELLY KOONS, for 
approval of a Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan (MC 23-16) in 
accordance with the recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, 
and the Planning Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 4 

Seconded by Mr. Cassity.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Ms. Vargo, Mr. Cassity, Ms. 
Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

2. REPLAT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is requesting 
approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road (RP 23-18).    
 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, 
north of Waynegate Road. This is a stub street intended to connect to the 
subdivision to the north.  The connection was never approved or completed, nor 
will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub serves no municipal purpose, 
and has created drainage problems for the adjacent property owners.   

 
Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two 
parcels will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.  

 
Applicable Subdivision Regulations 
The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 - 
Final Plat.  The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 - 
Vacating Plat by Legislative Authority. 

  
Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission 
(Planning Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.  

 
Staff Analysis 
The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property 
owners who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub.  The stub serves no 
municipal function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never 
completed. The City is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.  

 
Additional Comments: 

 
Fire:  The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat. 

 
City Engineer:  The engineer has approved vacation and replat. 
 
Discussion on changing the deeds, fully restored. 
 
Action 
 
Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF 
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate 
Road (RP 23-18) in accordance with the recommendation of Staff’s 
Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision 
Record attached thereto. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Cassity.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 5 

3. DETAILED DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, METROPOLITAN 
HOLDINGS LTD, is requesting approval of a Detailed Development Plan for 
an apartment project.  Property is located at Executive Boulevard across 
the street from the Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19).  

 
Mr. Sorrell stated the applicant requests Detailed Development Plan approval to 
facilitate the construction of 312 residential units (1- and 2-bedroom apartments) 
on approximately 21.3 acres. 

 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of a rezoning and basic 
development plan on February 14, 2023.  The Huber Heights City Council 
approved the rezoning and basic development plan on April 11, 2023. 

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1130 – Amendments, Chapter 
1171 – General Provisions, Chapter 1179 – Planned Mixed Use, Chapter 1181 – 
General Provisions.  

 
The staff analysis addresses the elements of the Detailed Development Plan and 
standards for approval. 

 
Staff Analysis 
The approved rezoning and Basic Development Plan ordinance has the following 
relevant conditions: 

1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted with 
the application dated January 30, 2023. 

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during the 
Detailed Development Plan review. 

Conformance with the approved conditions of the BDP: 
1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted 

with the application dated January 30, 2023. 

The development regulations that were submitted with the Basic Development 
Plan will be recorded as part of the detailed development plan approval.  The 
Project Zoning and Design Standards are attached for reference.  

 
The submitted detailed development plan substantially conforms to these 
requirements.   

 
Setbacks  
  

Minimum Requirements As indicated on the DDP Conforming (Y/N) 
Front yard: 20 feet 25 feet Y 
Rear yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y 

 East Side yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y 
 West Side yard: 25 feet 20 feet N* 

*The applicant has indicated that this is an error and will be sumitting corrected plans.  
 
 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 6 

Signage 
The DDP indicates two (2) internal illuminated wall signs on the clubhouse 
building.  The two wall signs total 75 square feet.  

 
Two non-illuminated entrance columns (monument signs) are proposed.  The 
columns are 6 feet high and just under 4 feet wide.  The signage graphic affixed 
to each column is approximately 3.5 square feet. 

 
Staff feels the signs are appropriately located and well designed to showcase the 
music branding of apartment complex.  

 
Architecture and Site Standards 
The detailed development plan appears to satisfy the building material 
requirements outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.  The 
residential buildings are mixture of stone, cement panels, and lap and batten 
siding. The buildings facing Executive Boulevard including the clubhouse have 
extensive stone and masonry elements.  

 
Additionally, the applicant is proposing a significant amenity package for 
residents including pool, outdoor kitchen and gathering areas.  

 
Landscaping 
The landscaping plan is substantially compliant to the standards outlined in the 
Project Zoning and Design Standards.  This includes street tree, perimeter and 
interior landscaping, and open space requirements. Sheets L1 and L2 illustrate 
the proposed landscaping plan.  

 
Lighting 
The lighting plan indicates pedestrian scale decorative poles and fixtures will be 
used the parking areas and travel lanes.  The decorative fixtures are mounted on 
12-foot poles.  The lighting standards limit light trespass to no more the 0.5 foot-
candle.  However, the photometric plan indicates areas of illumination on the 
north property line which exceeds this standard.  As a condition of approval, the 
applicant shall shield the perimeter fixtures adjacent to the north property line.  

 
Street and Transportation Standards 
The detailed development plan complies with the street and transportation 
standards outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.   

 
The only significant change is the multi-use path along Executive Boulevard.  
The basic development plan indicated a 10-foot path.  After discussions between 
the applicant and staff, the path has been reduced to eight (8) feet.  This was 
done to better accommodate decorative street lighting that is being planned for 
Executive Boulevard.  The width of the path matches the width of the path in front 
of the Rose.  

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during 
the Detailed Development Plan review. 

How the project is buffered from the northern neighborhood was a significant 
discussion topic and particular concern to the adjacent neighbors.  Staff 
encouraged the development team to survey the treeline to determine which 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 7 

mature trees are healthy and should remain, and to cluster landscaping between 
the garages to further reduce visual and noise impacts. Additionally, specific 
grading requirements and their impacts to the treeline was unknown at the point 
of basic development plan approval. 

 
Surprisingly, only eight trees within the 25-foot setback must be removed.  They 
are clustered in the areas where two retaining walls must be constructed to 
achieve the grading required for the parking areas and garages.  No trees along 
the property line are indicated to be removed. Sheet C201 and C202 illustrate the 
planned removals.  Sheet C501 and C502 illustrate the grading limits and 
location of the retaining walls. 

 
To mitigate the loss of the trees and increase buffering, the applicant is 
proposing substantial landscaping along the northern property line.  Sheet L2 
and L2.1  There is a dense mixture of evergreen and deciduous trees planned.  
The evergreens will be 6 feet at planting, and the various deciduous trees will 
have a 3-inch diameter.  These are substantially larger than typically planted. 

 
Staff feels the northern property line is adequately buffered between the existing 
trees remaining and the substantial amount of new plantings.  

 
Staff Analysis 
The DDP application substantially conforms with the Basic Development Plan 
ordinance approved by the City Council.  Additionally, the DDP generally 
conforms to all relevant zoning regulations, including landscaping, lighting, 
parking, architectural standards and signs.   

 
Additional Comments: 

 
Fire:  See Attached.   

 
City Engineer:  No comments received. 
 
Discussion on parking compared to Parkview, fire issues, 9 ft. parking spaces, 
another lane on south side of Executive, 8 ft sidewalks, font for sign, what name 
means, tree survey, retaining walls, 1 phase. 
Ryan Young, Jamie Oberschlake,  
Pat Dyer, resident, asked about retaining wall, between buildings and garages, 
dumpsters, maintenance, how long building will take. 
Annamarie Norgrove, resident, asked about tree lines and when construction will 
start. 
Melissa Cleary, resident, said the name was really cool and it’s a great idea. 
  
Action 
 
Ms. Vargo moved to approve the request by the applicant METROPOLITAN 
HOLDINGS LTD, for approval of a Detailed Development Plan for a proposed 
new 312 unit apartment project.  Property is located across the street from the 
Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19) in accordance with the recommendation of 
Staff’s Memorandum dated July 6, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision 
Record attached thereto. 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 8 

 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffries.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  
 

4. BASIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, is requesting 
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a 
gas station convenience mart with fueling pumps.  Property is located at 
4949 Chambersburg Road (BDP 23-17).  
 
Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant seeks to construct a new 5,915 SF Wawa 
convenience store with eight fueling pumps at the corner of Old Troy Pike and 
Chambersburg Road. Wawa is entering the Dayton area market, and this will be 
its first Huber Heights store. 

 
The proposed store will sit on 5.41 acres, of which approximately three (3) acres 
are zoned Planned Commercial and approximately 2.4 acres are zoned O-1. 
Convenience stores and fueling stations are permitted in the Planned 
Commercial District but not the O-1. Thus, a replat and rezoning are included in 
the Basic Development Plan application.  

 
Nearby commercial and retail uses at this intersection include Walgreens on the 
southwest corner; KeyBank on the northeast corner; and Speedway at the 
southeast corner. 

 
Site Characteristics 
Approximately half the site is currently developed as a single-family house in a 
densely wooded and landscaped lot. The other half is wooded, undeveloped 
land. There is a steep grade change with the plateau of the site approximately 30 
feet above the Chambersburg / OTP intersection. The grade change between the 
road and the site becomes less dramatic as one travels east on Chambersburg 
and north on Old Troy Pike.  

 
While the proposed store is located in the general clearing of the lot, grading will 
be required to develop the building pad, parking area, fueling bays and access 
drives. However, it does appear that grading will end approximately 80 feet from 
the east property line and have no impact on the home north of the site. 

 
The site has access to all necessary utilities. Additionally, the applicant will 
dedicate the required right-of-way for the planned Chambersburg widening and 
multi-use path. 

 
Applicable Zoning Regulations 
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 – General Provisions, 
Chapter 1176 – Planned Commercial, Chapter 1181 – General Provisions, 
Chapter 1182 – Landscaping, and Chapter 1185 – Parking and Loading.  

 
Chapter 1171.05 - Contents of basic development plan, states: 
(a) The basic development plan shall consist of at least the following information 
together with such other data and materials as may be required by the City: 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 9 

(1) Site plan showing the actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon or 
to be changed in its use together with the location of the existing and proposed 
structures with approximate square footages, number of stories including heights of 
structures; 
(2) Typical elevation views of the front and side of each type of building; 
(3) Planning location and dimensions of all proposed drives, service access road, 
sidewalks and curb openings; 
(4) Parking lot areas (show dimensions of a typical parking space), unloading areas, 
fire lanes and handicapped parking; 
(5) Landscaping plan, walls and fences; 
(6) Storm water detention and surface drainage; 
(7) Exterior lighting plan; 
(8) Vehicular circulation pattern; 
(9) Location and square footage of signs; 
(10) Topographic survey; and 
(11) Listing of proposed uses taken from the list of permitted and special uses of the 
PUD zoning district to which rezoning is being sought. 
(b) The Planning Commission shall schedule both the proposed rezoning and the 
issue of approval of the basic development plan for a combined public hearing, 
following which it shall make its recommendation indicating approval, approval with 
modification or disapproval. 

   
Chapter 1171.06 - General standards for approval, states:  
The Planning Commission shall review the application, prepared development plan 
and the facts presented at the hearing. The applicant shall have the burden of proof. 
No approval shall be given unless the Commission shall find by a preponderance of 
the evidence that such PUD on the proposed locations: 

 
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 
other applicable plans and policies; 
(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule 
of development submitted by the developer; 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways 
on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or 
occupants of the proposed development; 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police 
protection, and schools; 
(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the 
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health, 
safety and welfare; 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 10 

with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking 
and loading areas, or accessways; 
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to 
the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and 
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily 
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of 
technical reasons; 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities 
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 
(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of 
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall 
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 

Staff Analysis 
The staff analysis addresses the rezoning request and elements of the Basic 
Development Plan and standards for approval.  

Rezoning Analysis: 
The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 2.44 acres from O-1 
General Office to Planned Commercial (PC).     

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan 
The City's comprehensive plan indicates the site is within the Estates pattern 
area adjacent to the Southtown pattern area. The Estates development pattern 
area recognizes that is area is where large-scale development is unlikely to occur 
and where large-lot residential development is appropriate. This is particularly 
true on the west side of the pattern area where environmental constraints, such 
as flooding, limit the development potential. 

However, that is not to say the area is determined to be exclusively residential. 
One of the key elements within the Estates development pattern area is to "allow 
for incremental, contextually relevant non-residential uses and amenities." This 
site is on the east edge of the pattern district, not subject to flooding and at the 
intersection of two major roadways. Additionally, all necessary utilities are 
available.   

Given the location of this site and its context within the Estate pattern district, 
staff feels the rezoning from O-1 to PC is consistent with the comprehensive 
plan. 

 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 11 

Basic Development Plan Analysis: 
The applicant proposes constructing a 5,915 SF convenience store and four-
island fueling center. The applicant has submitted all necessary plans and 
studies for the Basic Development Plan review.  
Conformance With Planned Commercial District Requirements: 
Uses:  Retail uses and filling stations are principally permitted in the district. 
Development Standards:  

• The site plan meets all parking and building setback and yard requirements. 

• Nineteen street trees are required. The preliminary landscaping plan shows 19 
street trees. However, due to grading issues and Chambersburg Road's planned 
widening, most of them are not near the sidewalk. During the Detailed 
Development plan review, staff will work with the applicant to place the required 
trees appropriately. 

• The lighting plan submitted with the application meets all requirements. The 
proposed fixture height is 20 feet, and the fixture types meet the code. The 
photometric analysis indicates no light trespasses across the property lines.  

• The building design substantially meets the exterior material recommendation. 
Not including glazing, the building's entire exterior is 68% masonry. The front 
façade is 78% masonry and glazing. Approximately 28% of the exterior is a wood 
composite accent siding. 

• All utilities are below ground. 
 

Parking and Loading: 
• The applicant proposes 53 parking spaces, more than the code requires. Parking 

stall dimensions are 10' x 20', as required.  
 

 Landscaping:  
• The plans appear to meet the landscaping requirements but will be verified when 

the detailed development plan is submitted.  
 

Signs: 
• A sign package was not submitted with the application and will be reviewed when 

the detailed development plan is submitted. The elevations indicate three wall 
signs, and the site plan indicates two monument signs.  

 
 

Conformance with General Standards of Approval: 
Below is the staff analysis of conformance with the general standards of approval.  

  
(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and 

other applicable plans and policies; 
 

It is the staff's opinion that the proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan 
and thoroughfare plan. The site is located at the intersection of arterial and collector 
streets.  

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 12 

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule 
of development submitted by the developer; 

 
While no development schedule has been submitted, the applicant has stated to staff 
that they will initiate construction shortly after all plans are approved by the City and 
County. There are no concerns on the part of staff that the applicant would have 
difficulty financing and constructing the project in a reasonable time.   

 
(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be 
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and 
driveways on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the 
residents or occupants of the proposed development; 

 
It is important to note that the traffic counts were taken when school was in session, 
and they represent an accurate assessment of the existing peak traffic volume. The 
traffic study estimates there will be 541 AM and 467 PM weekday peak hour trips. 
This store's net new peak hour trips are estimated at 129 AM and 1179 PM. It's 
important to note that the study estimates that 76% of those trips are pass-by, 
meaning those vehicles are on the road regardless of whether the Wawa 
development is constructed.  
The traffic study indicates that no drop-down lanes are necessary. The applicant is 
required to dedicate additional ROW along Chambersburg Road to facilitate the 
construction of a future roadway widening.  

 
(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and 
police protection, and schools; 

 
Staff does not anticipate any undue burden on public services. The area has 
adequate utility and street capacity.   We are unaware of any policing concerns, and 
the development will comply will all building and fire code requirements.  

 
(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to 
the proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public 
health, safety and welfare; 

 
Any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission or City Council will be 
memorialized in the PUD legislation and remain in effect unless modified by the 
Planning Commission or City Council.  

 
(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of 
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be 
compatible with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for 
structures, parking and loading areas, or accessways; 

 
The staff believes the site plan is generally well arranged, and internal circulation is 
efficient and compatible with the intended use. Pedestrian connections between the 
streets and the store are provided. The landscaping requirements will be reviewed 
with the Detailed Development application.    

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 13 

(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, 
to the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD; 

 
The site will retain a significant amount of wooded area to the west and north. 
Additionally, the existing decorative retaining wall will remain.  

 
(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide 
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of 
proposed services; 

 
As discussed, the site has significant topographic features. The grading plan 
illustrates significant grading on the site's west, south and northeast edges. The 
grading should not impact the properties west or north of the site since there is an 
adequate buffer between the property lines and the extent of the grading activities. 
The applicant is grading to a 3:1 slope and providing vegetative ground cover, which 
will limit erosion.  

 
(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and 
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily 
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of 
technical reasons; 

 
All utilities will be placed underground. 

 
(j) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities 
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; 

 
Staff does not anticipate any additional public services required to support this 
development.   

 
(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions 
of operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare 
by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and 

 
All proposed uses are consistent with the Planned Commercial district zoning being 
requested as part of this application. The traffic study does not indicate that this 
development will generate excessive traffic.   

 
(l) Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan 
shall not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare. 

 
The staff believes the rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan and will not 
adversely affect surrounding properties.  

 
Additional Comments: 

  
Fire:  See attached. 

 



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 14 

City Engineer:  The engineer has reviewed the site plan and requested 
additional right of way along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. The 
applicant has indicated that they will revise their plans accordingly. 
   
Recommendation 
Staff supports the partial rezoning from General Office (O-1) to Planned 
Commercial. It is the staff's opinion that the requirements of Section 1171.06 can 
be met, and recommends approval of the rezoning and Basic Development Plan 
with the following conditions: 

• The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site's 
perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. Healthy trees shall 
be identified and incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject 
to approval as part of the Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also 
develop a plan to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval. 

• The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree placement 
during the Detailed Development Plan phase. 

• Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the 
Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission. 

• Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except 
the following are prohibited: 

o Vehicle sales, rental or service 
o Sweepstakes Cafes 
o Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.) 
o Dry cleaners 
o Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission 

• The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the 
corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the 
City engineer requires. 
Discussion on sidewalk width, undeveloped half of site, left turn onto Troy, traffic 
coming south, Chambersburg design timeline, 3-1 slope, full shielding on West 
side, traffic lane on Troy Pike, retaining wall, 19 ft. drop, bike racks, lower the 
crest on Chambersburg. 

Patrick O’Leary, Eric Williams, Patrick Warnemont, Adam Malonjao, Jason 
Waite, Ryan Vickers. 

Action 
 
Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant BP-OPT, LLC, for 
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a gas 
station convenience mart with fueling pumps (BDP 23-17) in accordance with the 
recommendation of Staff’s Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning 
Commission Decision Record attached thereto. 
 
Seconded by Ms. Vargo.  Roll call showed:  YEAS:  Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr. 
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton.  NAYS:  None.  Motion to approve carried 
5 -0.  



Planning Commission Meeting 
July 11, 2023                                                                                            

 15 

 
VIII.     Additional Business 
 
 None. 

 
 IX.      Approval of the Minutes 
 

Without objection, the minutes of the June 13, 2023, Planning Commission 
meeting are approved. 
 

 
X. Reports and Calendar Review 
 

Mr. Sorrell stated Flying Ace, Huber Health Center, and Technology and Artz 
Road. 

  
XI. Upcoming Meetings 
  
 August 15, 2023 
 September 12, 2023 
  
XII. Adjournment  
 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting 
was adjourned at approximately 8:40 p.m. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Terry Walton, Chair       Date 
  
 
__________________________________   _____________________________ 
Geri Hoskins, Administrative Secretary    Date 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-O- 

 
 

TO APPROVE VACATING THORNGATE DRIVE, NORTH OF WAYNEGATE ROAD, TO 
TRANSFER THE REMNANTS OF THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY TO THE ADJACENT 
PROPERTY OWNERS, AND TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION (CASE RP 23-18). 
 
WHEREAS, the citizens of Huber Heights require the efficient and orderly planning of land uses 
within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Planning Commission has reviewed Case RP 23-18 and on July 11, 2023, 
recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 of the Replat; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the issue. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1. The application requesting approval of vacating Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate 
Road, (Case RP 23-18) is hereby approved in accordance with the Planning Commission’s 
recommendation. 
 
Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of  this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the 
Charter of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _______, 2023; 
           Yeas;            Nays. 
 
Effective Date:   
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9397     Topics of Discussion      H.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Fishburg Road Widening Project - Solicit Bids
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/18/2023 and 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Fishburg Road Widening Project - Solicit Bids

Purpose and Background
This legislation will allow the City Manager to solicit bids for the Fishburg Road Widening Project.  The south side
of Fishburg Road will be widened from Old Troy Pike to Tomberg Street to make the road three lanes wide to
match the rest of Fishburg Road from Old Troy Pike to Brandt Pike.  The City has applied through the Ohio Public
Works Commission and has received Issue II funding for the construction of this project.  49.9% of the cost will be
reimbursed from the grant.  The Capital Issue II Fund will be utilized to cover the City’s local share of the cost.  A
revised proposal sheet has been included in the attachments.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Map 
Request For Proposal 
Proposal 
Resolution 





 
 

City of Huber Heights 
6131 Taylorsville Rd. 

Huber Heights, OH 45424 
 

937.233.1423 
937.233.1272 fax 

 
www.hhoh.org 

8 
 
 

REQUEST FOR BID PROPOSALS 
INSTRUCTIONS 
RFP 23-008-ENG 

 
City of Huber Heights 

Fishburg Road Widening 
 

The City of Huber Heights, a municipal corporation, is seeking bid proposals for 
the FISHBURG ROAD WIDENING project that consists of widening the south side 
of Fishburg from Old Troy Pike to Tomberg Street to make the road three lanes 
wide.  The work includes the installation of new curb and gutter, storm sewer, curb 
ramps, and drive aprons. 
A complete bid package can be obtained from the offices of the City of Huber 
Heights 6131 Taylorsville Road, Huber Heights, Ohio 45424. 

Attached to this RFP are the listed Instructions for Bidders in the first seven (7) 
pages of this document.  All potential bidders must thoroughly review and certify 
their understanding of the Instructions and this RFP process. 

  



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 1 of 7 

 

GE NER AL INS TRUC TIONS TO BIDDERS 
For the purposes of this Document, the terms “Bid” and Proposal” have the same 
meaning, and the terms “Bidder, Offeror, Contractor, Vendor” are intended to mean 
the company or firm who is the respondent Bidder for this RFP. 
 

 The following instructions are to be considered an integral part of this proposal. 
The person signing the bid/proposal form must initial any changes or corrections 
made to this proposal. 

 No proposal may be withdrawn or modified in any way after the bid/proposal-
opening deadline. Quotes must remain valid for ninety (90) days after the 
quote date. Quotes submitted with a less than ninety (90) day validity will be 
found non-responsive and will not be considered.  

 Bids/Proposals will be received no later than September 1, 2023 at 11:00 
A.M at the City of Huber Heights 6131 Taylorsville Rd. Huber Heights, Ohio 
45424 at which time they will be opened and publicly read aloud. Bids/proposals 
received after the above date and time, or in any other location other than the 
City of Huber Heights City Hall as noted above will not be considered. 

 If descriptive literature is attached to the bid/proposal, bidder’s name must 
appear on all sheets. 

 Communication: If there is any question whatsoever regarding any portion of 
the instructions or specifications, it shall be the bidder’s responsibility to seek 
clarification immediately from the City of Huber Heights No later than close of 
business on August 28, 2023 unless otherwise stated in the documents.  

All questions shall be submitted in writing or via e-mail to the attention of Hanane 
Eisentraut at heisentraut@hhoh.org If mailed, the address is as follows: City of Huber 
Heights ATTN: RFP 23-008-ENG, 6131 Taylorsville Rd., Huber Heights, OH 45424.   

Under no circumstances should respondents contact City personnel or officials outside 
of the opportunity provided herein. 

 Proprietary Information: Any information contained in the RFP response that is 
proprietary must be clearly designated. Marking of the entire response as 
proprietary will neither be accepted nor honored. The City cannot guarantee that 
all such material noted remains proprietary, particularly if it becomes a significant 
consideration in contract award. Information will be kept confidential only to the 
extent allowed by Public Records Laws of Ohio. 

 

 Any variation from the specifications must be clearly stated by the bidder in 
writing and submitted with his/her proposal. 



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 2 of 7 

 The apparent silence of any specifications or any supplement specifications to 
any details or the omission of a detailed description concerning any point shall 
be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to 
prevail, and that only materials of first quality and correct type, size and design 
are to be used. All workmanship is to be of first quality. All interpretations of this 
specification shall be made upon the basis of this statement. 

 Section 171.04 of the Codified Ordinances of Huber Heights provides for a 
process and description for opening, tabulating and awarding responses to 
RFP/bids as stated in reference: 

   (a)    In the case of sealed competitive bids, the bids shall be opened and 
tabulated publicly by the Purchasing Agent. An investigation of the responsibility 
of the bidders and the responsiveness of the bid shall be made as the 
Purchasing Agent deems necessary. The Purchasing Agent shall determine the 
lowest and best bid. The Purchasing Agent may reject all bids if the Purchasing 
Agent determines that it is in the best interest of the City to do so.  

 The City of Huber Heights reserves the right to accept, reject or waive any 
irregularities in the proposal and/or any and all bids received for the work 
contemplated herein and to accept or reject any or all proposals and/or bids.  The 
proposal and/or bids will be compared on the basis of the total cost of the project 
and the award will be made to the lowest and best bidder (or bidders), provided 
the proposal and/or bid is reasonable and is in the best interest of the City 
(owner) to accept.  In determining the lowest and best bid the City (owner), in its 
sole discretion, may consider factors, including but not limited to, the bidder’s 
work history, (including work done under other names), experience, conduct and 
performance on previous contracts, management skills, ability to execute the 
contract properly, customer satisfaction, work on comparable projects, ability to 
timely complete the work in accordance with the contract documents, the 
Bidder’s financial condition and facilities, and the Bidder’s compliance with 
federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations, (including but not limited to 
the Prevailing Wage Laws, Occupational Safety and Health Act, and the State of 
Ohio’s Equal Employment Opportunity Commission requirements, as may be 
applicable). 

 The City desires delivery of the material or services specified at the earliest 
possible time after the date of award. An unreasonable delivery proposal may 
be cause for disqualifying a bid. Each bidder shall state a definite time and 
avoid using terms such as “ASAP” or “approximately so many days”. 

 Bidder shall submit a BID GUARANTY in the form of either: 
 
a. A bond in the amount of TEN PERCENT (10%) of the bid, or 
 
b. A certified check, cashier’s check, or letter of credit pursuant to Chapter 
1305, Ohio Revised Code, in the amount of TEN PERCENT (10%) of the bid. 
 
The successful bidder must replace the bid guaranty with a one hundred percent 



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 3 of 7 

(100%) Performance bond upon award of the bid. 
 

 Each bidder must insure that all employees and applicants for employment are 
not discriminated against because of race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 
 

 References: Contractor must provide references of customers with successful 
implementations of similar size and scope with work performed within the past 
five (5) years. Please include name, address, contact and phone number. If sub-
contractors or business partners will be used in conjunction with the installation 
or maintenance of this project, please provide references as stipulated above. 
References should be included in bid documents 

 Inspection: It is understood within this agreement that any problems such as 
equipment failure, unspecified maintenance, lack of performance and any 
other conditions outlined in the scope of service not performed by the 
Contractor will be under immediate review by the City of Huber Heights. 

 License and Permits: It shall be the responsibility of the successful bidder to 
obtain all licenses and permits IF NECESSARY to perform this service at no 
additional cost to the City of Huber Heights.  NO CITY PERMITS WILL BE 
REQUIRED. 

 Timeline: Provide an estimated, standard timeline for installation, 
implementation and creative design services. Timeline should be included in 
bid documents. 

 
RFP Checklist: 
Please review and check off these 7 most important items to consider when 
responding to an RFP for the City of Huber Heights: 
 Read the entire document. Note critical items such as: mandatory requirements; 

supplies/services required; submittal dates; contract requirements (i.e., contract 
performance, insurance requirements, performance and/or reporting requirements, 
etc.). 

 Note the procedures for communication with the City during the RFP 
process. All communication during the RFP process must be by E-Mail or phone.  
Contractors should not contact City personnel or officials outside of the opportunity 
provided in the document.  

 Follow the format required in the RFP when preparing your response. Provide 
point-by-point responses to all sections in a clear and concise manner. 

 Provide complete answers/descriptions. Read and answer all questions and 
requirements. Don’t assume the City or the evaluating staff will know what your 
company capabilities are or what items/services you can provide, even if you have 



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 4 of 7 

previously contracted with the City of Huber Heights. The proposals are evaluated 
based solely on the information and materials provided in your response. 

 Use the forms provided, if any. e.g., bidders submittal page, reference forms, 
attachment forms, etc. 

 Before submitting your response, check the City’s website at: www.hhoh.org to 
see whether any addenda were issued for the RFP. 

 Submit your response on time. Note all the dates and times listed and be sure to 
submit all required items on time. Late proposal responses are never accepted. 

 
Please Note: 
All potential contractors are strongly urged to submit supporting documentation as to 
their qualifications to perform the Scope of Work. 
If additional comments or conditions are desired, please attach a separate sheet 
providing details. 
Certification: 

The undersigned on the Bid Proposal certifies that the Instructions to Bidder has 
been carefully examined, is thoroughly familiar with the terms and specifications 
applicable to and made part of this Request for Proposal, and understands and is 
capable of meeting the provisions within to the quality, type and grade of work 
requested.  The undersigned further certifies the prices shown in the schedule of 
items contained within the Proposal/Bid are in accordance with the conditions, 
terms and specifications of the proposal and that any exception taken thereto may 
disqualify the bid. 

 
_______________________________________  ____________________ 
Signature        Date 
 
_______________________________________  ____________________ 
Print Name        Title 
 
_______________________________________  ____________________ 
Email Address       Phone 
 
_______________________________________   
Company Name  
 
 
 
 

 

http://www.hhoh.org/


 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 5 of 7 

City of Huber Heights Request for Proposals 
RFP 23-008-ENG 

Advertised as: Fishburg Road Widening 
Release Date: 08-18-23  Closing Date: 09-01-23 
 
1. General Information 

1.1. The City of Huber Heights invites qualified contractors to submit proposals for 
the FISHBURG ROAD WIDENING project 23-008-ENG. Proposals shall be 
submitted in accordance with the Documents and Requirements as set forth in 
this formal "Request for Proposals." The Contract that will result from this 
“Request for Proposals” will include what is indicated in Section 4 “Scope of 
Work” of this RFP. 

1.2. A City Review and Selection Committee will evaluate the proposals submitted. 
1.3. During evaluation, the City Review and Selection Committee reserves the right, 

where it may serve the City's best interest, to request additional information 
or clarification from the Offeror, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions.  

1.4. Submission of a proposal indicates acceptance by the Offeror of the 
conditions contained in this Request for Proposals, unless clearly and 
specifically noted in the proposal submitted and confirmed in the resultant 
contract between the City of Huber Heights and the Contractor selected. 

1.5. There is no expressed or implied intent or obligation for the City of Huber 
Heights to reimburse responding firms for any expenses incurred in preparing 
proposals, as well as, travel expenses in response to this Request for 
Proposals. 

1.6. The City of Huber Heights shall reserve the right to terminate any agreement 
resultant from this solicitation and subsequent action for cause but not 
limited to inadequacy of performance. 
 

2. Contact Person/Communication 
2.1. Until the receipt and opening of proposals, the proposers’ principal contact with the 

City of Huber Heights will be as listed below. All questions are to be submitted to:  
 
   
 Hanane Eisentraut 
 City of Huber Heights 
 Engineering Division 
 6131 Taylorsville Rd. 
 Huber Heights, Ohio 45424 
 937-237-5811 
 Email:  heisentraut@hhoh.org 
 



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 6 of 7 

2.2. All contacts and communication regarding the proposal should be with the above 
named individual only.   

 
3. Scope of Work 

This project consists of widening the south side of Fishburg from Old Troy Pike to 
Tomberg Street to make the road three lanes wide.  The work includes the installation 
of new curb and gutter, storm sewer, curb ramps, and drive aprons. 
 

4. Evaluation of Proposals and Required Information 
4.1. Proposals submitted will be evaluated by City Staff.  Review and Selection 

Committee. 
4.2. The City reserves the right to retain all proposals submitted and use and idea in 

a proposal regardless of whether or not said proposal is selected. 
 

5. Right to Reject Proposals 
5.1. Submission of proposals indicates acceptance by the Offering Firm of the 

Conditions contained in this RFP, unless clearly and specifically noted in the 
proposal submitted and confirmed in the subsequent Agreement between the 
City of Huber Heights and the selected firm. 

5.2. The City of Huber Heights reserves the right to reject any or all proposals and to 
award to the proposer the City determines to be most qualified and whose award 
of the contract will be in the best interests of the City. 

5.3. Late proposals will not be accepted.  Offerors are held responsible that their 
proposals arrive at the City of Huber Heights on or before the designated date 
and time. 

 
6. Withdrawal of Proposals 

 
6.1. Requests to withdraw proposals received after the date and time set for bid 

opening will not be considered.  Only requests to withdraw proposals prior to 
that date and time will be considered. 

7. Contract Termination 
7.1. The City of Huber Heights reserves the right to terminate any subsequent 

Agreement or Contract as a result of this RFP if the Contractor does not perform 
as required by the Terms and Conditions therein.  

 
 

*** END OF DOCUMENT *** 



 
 

Request for Proposals 

Page 7 of 7 

 
 

 



FISHBURG ROAD WIDENING

                                                                                        PROPOSAL

The CITY of Huber Heights is requesting that contractors fill out this proposal  indicating the cost needed to complete this project by December 
31, 2023 (Columns 6 and 7) and/or the cost needed to complete this project by June 30, 2024 ( Columns 8 and 9).  The City reserves the right to 
award this project to the lowest bidder or the fastest bidder.

To: The City of Huber Heights

The undersigned, having full knowledge of the site, plans and specifications for the Fishburg Road Widening hereby agrees to furnish all services, labor, 
materials, and equipment necessary to complete the entire project according to the plans, specifications and completion dates, and to accept the unit prices below for 
each item as full compensation for the work performed in this proposal.

Column 6 Column 7 Column 8 Column 9

Description Qty. Units

ROADWAY

1 201 Clearing and Grubbing 1.00 L.S

2 201 Tree Removed, 18" 2.00 EA

3 201 Tree Removed, 30" 1.00 EA

4 202 Pavement Removed 736.00 S.Y

5 202 Walk Removed 184.00 L.F

6 202 Curb & Gutter Removed 486.00 L.F

7 202 Pipe Removed, 24" and Under 483.00 L.F

8 202 Catch Basin Removed 3.00 EA

9 202 Fence Removed 118.00 LF

10 202 Gate Removed 2.00 EA

Ref. 
No.

Item 
No.

Unit Cost (Project to 
be completed by 

December 31, 2023)

Item Cost (Project to 
be completed by 

December 31, 2023)

Unit Cost (Project 
to be completed by 

June 30, 2024)

Item Cost (Project 
to be completed by 

June 30, 2024)



11 203 Excavation 955.00 C.Y

Proposal - Fishburg Road Widening
Page 2

12 203 Embankment 45.00 C.Y

13 204 Subgrade Compaction 2501.00 S.Y

14 204 Excavation of Subgrade, As Per 100.00 S.Y
Plan

15 607 Fence, Type CLT 111.00 LF

16 607 Gate, Type CLT 1.00 EA

17 204 Geotextile Fabric 150.00 S.Y

18 608 4" Concrete Walk, Including 5812.00 S.F
3" #304, As Per Plan

19 608 Curb Ramp, As Per Plan 244.00 SF

20 630 Removal of Ground Mounted 1.00 EA.
Sign and Reerect

21 653 Topsoil Furnished & Placed as 147.00 CY
Per Plan

22 659 Seeding & Mulching 394.00 SY

23 659 Commercial Fertilizer 0.06 TON

24 659 Water 1.84 MGAL

25 690 Special: Mailbox Removed 4.00 EA.
and Reset

Unit Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Item Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Unit Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024

Item Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024



EROSION CONTROL

26 832 Storm Water Pollution 1.00 L.S
Control Plan

27 832 Erosion Control 1000.00 EA

Proposal - Fishburg Road Widening
Page 3

DRAINAGE

28 611 6" Conduit, Type B,  for Drainage 50.00 L.F
Connection

29 611 6" Conduit, Type C,  for Drainage 50.00 L.F
Connection

30 611 6" Conduit, Type F,  for Drainage 50.00 L.F
Connection

31 611 8" Conduit, Type E, 707.42 (ADS 8.00 L.F
N-12)

32 611 12" Conduit, Type B 643.00 L.F

33 611 Catch Basin, NO 3A 7.00 EA

34 611 Catch Basin, NO 2-2B 6.00 EA

35 611 Catch Basin Adjusted to Grade 1.00 EA

36 611 Manhole, NO. 3 1.00 EA

37 611 Manhole, NO. 3, Modified, As 2.00 EA
Per Plan

38 611 Manhole, Adjusted to Grade 1.00 EA
Grade

PAVEMENT

39 304 Aggregate Base 216.00 C.Y

Unit Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Item Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Unit Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024

Item Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024



40 407 Non-Tracking Tack Coat 136.00 GAL
(0.085 Gal/S.Y)

41 408 Prime Coat (0.40 Gal/S.Y) 678.00 GAL

42 442(A) Asphalt Concrete Surface 186.00 C.Y
Course,Type 1, (448), PG64-22

43 442(A) Asphalt Concrete Intermediate 283.00 C.Y
Course, Type 1, (448)

Proposal - Fishburg Road Widening
Page 4

44 452 6" Non-Reinforced Concrete 216.00 SY
Pavement, Class QC1P1

45 452 7" Non-Reinforced Concrete 202.00 SY
Pavement, Class QC1P1

46 609 Huber Heights Combined Curb 312.00 L.F.
and Gutter

609 Huber Heights Mountable (Roll) 2072.00 L.F.
Combined Curb and Gutter

INCIDENTALS

47 614 Maintaining Traffic 1.00 LS

48 623 Construction Layout Stakes 1.00 LS
and Surveying

49 624 Mobilization 1.00 LS

TOTAL COST:           $ $

TIME OF COMPLETION December 31, 2023 June 30, 2024

Unit Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Item Cost Project to be 
completed by 

December 31, 2023

Unit Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024

Item Cost Project to 
be completed by 
June 30, 2024



Proposal - Fishburg Road Widening
Page 5

COMPANY

SIGNED

ADDRESS

DATE

PHONE #

E-MAIL 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SOLICIT, ADVERTISE, AND RECEIVE BIDS 
FROM QUALIFIED FIRMS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE FISHBURG ROAD 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights has applied to the Ohio Public Works Commission and 
has received Issue II funding for the construction of the Fishburg Road Improvement Project; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, engineering plans, specifications and cost estimates have been completed by 
Brumbaugh Engineering; and 
 

WHEREAS, Council has determined to proceed with this project including the installation of curb 
and gutter, handicap ramps, storm sewer and pavement.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to solicit, advertise, and receive responses 
from qualified firms for the construction of the Fishburg Road Improvement Project at a cost not to 
exceed $850,000.00. 
 
Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 
concerning and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this 
Council and that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in 
such formal action were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal 
requirements including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 3. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the 
Charter of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ____________day of _________, 2023; 
           Yeas;            Nays. 
 
Effective Date:   
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
Clerk of Council     Mayor 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
Date        Date 
 
 
 
 
 



   
AI-9407     Topics of Discussion      I.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
2024 Sidewalk Program - Resolution Of Necessity
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
2024 Sidewalk Program - Resolution Of Necessity

Purpose and Background
The Engineering Division has identified properties requiring work within the 2024 Sidewalk Program area. 
Additionally, each property has been measured and an estimate of the repair costs has been completed.  The first
step in the assessment process will be to notify the property owners of the need to repair their sidewalks and/or
aprons.  Property owners will have until December 31, 2023 if they wish to hire their own contractor or perform the
work themselves.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 
Exhibit A 



 

 

  CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
 STATE OF OHIO 
 
 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 
 
 
DECLARING THE NECESSITY OF REPAIRING SIDEWALKS, CURBS, GUTTERS, 
DRIVEWAY APPROACHES AND APPURTENANCES THERETO ON PORTIONS 
OR ALL OF CERTAIN STREETS IN THE 2024 SIDEWALK PROGRAM, 
PROVIDING THAT ABUTTING OWNERS REPAIR THE SAME. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio, 
two-thirds of the members concurring, that: 
 
Section 1.   It is necessary to repair sidewalks, curbs, gutters, driveway approaches, 
and appurtenances thereto on those streets listed in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a 
part of this Resolution.  All such repairs shall be made in accordance with the plans, 
specifications and estimates of cost prepared by the Engineer of this City and now on file 
in the Office of the City Engineer. 
 
Section 2.   The owners of the lots and lands bounding and abutting upon the streets, 
sidewalks, curbs, gutters, and driveway approaches, and appurtenances thereto described 
in Section 1 of this Resolution shall repair sidewalks, curbs, gutters and driveway 
approaches and the appurtenances thereto in front of their premises in accordance with 
the plans and specifications now on file with such repair work to be completed by 
December 31, 2023.  If such repair by any such property owner is not completed within 
said period, this Council shall have the same done and the entire cost thereof shall be 
assessed upon the property of each such defaulting owner and made a lien thereon, to be 
collected in the manner provided by law and with penalty and interest as provided by law.  
The cost of such repair and improvement shall include the cost of preliminary and other 
surveys, plans, specifications, profiles and estimates and of printing, serving and 
publishing notices, resolutions and ordinances.  Such costs shall further include the costs 
incurred in connection with the preparation, levy, and collection of the special 
assessments, expenses of legal services, including obtaining and approving legal opinion, 
costs of labor and materials, and interest on any bonds and notes that could be sold at the 
time to finance the improvements plus administration and collection costs, together with 
all other necessary expenditures. 
 
Section 3.  The Clerk of Council is directed to cause written notice of the adoption of 
this Resolution to be served as required by law. 
 
Section 4.   The plans, specifications and estimates of cost for such repair work, as 
referred to above in this Resolution and as heretofore filed with the Office of the City  
Engineer, are hereby approved. 
 
 Section 5.   It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 
concerning and relating to the adoption of this Resolution were adopted in an open 
meeting of this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its 
committees that resulted in such formal action were in meetings open to the public, in 
compliance with all legal requirements including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised 
Code. 
 
Section 6.   This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law 
and the Charter of The City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the  
           Yeas             Nays. 
 
Effective Date:   
 



 

 

 AUTHENTICATION: 
 
____________________________ ___________________________ 
Clerk of Council   Mayor 
 
____________________________ ___________________________ 
Date     Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
2024 SIDEWALK PROGRAM 

STREET LISTING 
 
 
 

Greydale Drive from 7300 Greydale Drive to 7409 Greydale Drive 
Maringo Drive from 7301 Maringo Drive to 7416 Maringo Drive 
Howland  Place:  7201 Howland Place 
Glengate Court from 7300 Glengate Court to 7315 Glengate Court 
Encanto Place from 7100 Encanto Place to 7138 Encanto Place 
Longford Road from 6212 Longford Road to 6712 Longford Road 
Citadel Drive from 7100 Citadel Drive to 7308 Citadel Drive 
Highbury Drive from 6600 Highbury Drive to 6868 Highbury Drive 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A



   
AI-9358     Topics of Discussion      J.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Mast Arm/Stamped Cross Walk Installation - Brandt Pike/Old Troy Pike
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Mast Arm/Stamped Cross Walk Installation - Brandt Pike/Old Troy Pike

Purpose and Background
This agenda item is for discussion regarding the installation of stamped crosswalks and mast arm traffic signals on
Brandt Pike and Old Troy Pike upon completion of Ohio Department Of Transportation (ODOT) repaving this fall. 
The average cost to install stamped crosswalks on newly paved intersections is $25,000 to $35,000 per
intersection.  The average cost to install mast arm traffic signals at intersections already signalized is
approximately $300,000 to $400,000 per intersection. 

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
AI-9395     Topics of Discussion      K.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
East Sanitary Sewer Extension Project Design - Contract Modification
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
East Sanitary Sewer Extension Project Design - Contract Modification

Purpose and Background
This legislation will allow the modification of the contract with Lockwood Jones and Beals (LJB) to increase the
not to exceed amount by $25,000 to a new total of $425,000 for the design of the East Sanitary Sewer Extension
Project.  The increase is necessary to cover the cost for additional Shop Drawing Reviews by LJB and a
subconsultant (Heapy Engineering).   The Shop Drawing Review is for checking the equipment specifications for
the two sanitary pump stations on the project to make sure that the design standards have been met.  In the
original LJB proposal, there was a fixed amount to cover Shop Drawing Reviews and the City has gone over that
amount by approximately $10,000.  City Staff are asking for an additional $15,000 (for a total of $25,000) to
cover any unforeseen technical reviews or other engineering issues that may arise during the construction of the
pump stations.  The Sanitary Sewer Fund will be utilized for this modification.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: Sewer Capital Fund
Cost: $25,000
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 
 
 
AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 2021-R-7055 TO INCREASE THE NOT TO EXCEED 
AMOUNT FOR THE DESIGN OF THE EAST SANITARY SEWER EXTENSION PROJECT. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council had previously authorized the City Manager to enter into a 
contract with Lockwood Jones and Beals (LJB) to design the East Sanitary Sewer Extension 
project at a cost not to exceed $400,000.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, a certain individual contract has exceeded the appropriation making it necessary to 
make adjustment to this contract; and 
 
WHEREAS, funds are available to cover the cost of this modification. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1. Section 2 of Resolution No. 2021-R-7055 is hereby amended to increase the not to 
exceed cost of the contract with Lockwood Jones and Beals (LJB) for the design of the East 
Sanitary Sewer Extension Project by $25,000.00 to a new total of $425,000.00. 
 
Section 2. Authorization is hereby given to compensate Lockwood Jones and Beals (LJB) for 
additional work already completed. 
 
Section 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 
concerning and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this 
Council and that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in 
such formal action were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal 
requirements including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the 
Charter of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of_____________ , 2023; 
______  Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
Clerk of Council     Mayor 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
Date           Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
AI-9398     Topics of Discussion      L.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Powell Road Realignment Project Design - Award Contract
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Engineering Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Powell Road Realignment Project Design - Award Contract

Purpose and Background
Three quotes were received for the design of the Powell Road S Curve Realignment Project.  The three quotes
were received from Choice One Engineering at a cost of $43,100, from Brumbaugh Engineering and Surveying at
a cost of $49,450, and from DLZ at a cost of $75,946.  This project consists of realigning approximately 675 lineal
feet of Powell Road, ditch relocation, and driveway culvert replacements.
 
This legislation will authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with Choice One Engineering to design the
Powell Road S Curve Realignment Project at a cost not to exceed $50,000.  The Capital Fund will be utilized for
this project.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: Capital Fund
Cost: $50,000
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR THE DESIGN 
OF THE POWELL ROAD S CURVE REALIGNMENT PROJECT AND WAIVING THE 
COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS. 
 
WHEREAS, Council has determined to proceed with this project to realign Powell Road; and  
 
WHEREAS, the cost of the project will be in excess of $25,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council may waive the competitive bidding procedures whenever it deems to 
be in the best interest of the City to do so as defined in Section 171.12 of the Huber Heights Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1.      The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with Choice One 
Engineering for the design of the Powell Road S Curve Realignment Project at a cost not to exceed 
$50,000.00.  
 
Section 2.       Consistent with the provisions of the City of Huber Heights Codified Ordinances, the 
competitive bidding requirements are hereby waived. 
 
Section 3.   It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2023; 
______  Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
______________________________ _______________________________ 
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
______________________________ _______________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9409     Topics of Discussion      M.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Water Infrastructure Update/Water Main Replacement Project
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 03/27/2023 and 04/04/2023 and

04/20/2023 and 05/02/2023 and
05/16/2023 and 06/06/2023 and
06/20/2023 and 07/05/2023 and
07/18/2023 and 08/08/23

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Water Infrastructure Update/Water Main Replacement Project

Purpose and Background
This agenda item has been requested by Councilmembers Glenn Otto, Anita Kitchen, and Ed Lyons for an update
on City water infrastructure.  The updated spreadsheet on the City's current water infrastructure projects has been
provided (see attached).

Additionally, Councilmembers Anita Kitchen, Richard Shaw, Mark Campbell, and Ed Lyons requested that an
agenda item be added to discuss the City's Water Main Replacement Project to discuss the execution of the
project in the most cost effective way.  A map of the 2023 Water Main Replacement Project has been included in
the meeting packet (see attached).

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Spreadsheet 
Map 





SI
LV

E
R

O
A

K

WEDNESDAYVILLAS

THURSDAY VILLAS

H
U

BE
R

 E
N

TE
R

PR
IS

E
AP

T 
C

O
M

PL
EX

 R
O

AD

M
O

N
D

AY
VILLAS

HARTLEY

CALICO

TR
O

Y
M

A
N

O
R

JOHANNSEN
PERSIAN

LONGFORD

BRANDTVISTA
BARBARA

TABBY

SABRA

KI
N

G
JA

M
E

S

CRAFTMORE

FA
LK

LA
N

D

WAYNE
ESTATES

C
H

IV
E

D
O

N

M
A

LT
O

N

TI
GER

SH
AD

Y
O

A
K

C
AR

D
IF

F

MAROSE

AL
M

O
N

T

MILLRIDGE

TURNBRIDGE

LO
CU

ST
VI

EW

BA
R

BA
R

A

ALP

C
IC

ER
O

KI
TT

Y

HE
RI

TA
G

E
CR

O
SS

IN
G

SI
LV

E
R

 O
A

K

SE
AM

AN

UNNAMED

CHEVIOT

TAUNTON

BO
TH

W
EL

L

HEMINGWAY

MIAMI VALLEY

OAK R
ID

GE

OAK CREEK

FLOTRON

FARMBOROUGH

COPLEY

H
AD

D
O

N

CELESTINE

BA
VA

R
IA

M
ER

CE
DE

S

R
O

SE
BU

R
Y

HARSHMANVILLE

BA
SC

O
M

BE

TILBURY

SIAM
ESE

H
AR

SH
M

AN
VI

LL
E

WHITE OAK

CLIF
FW

OOD

FO
X

TR
AC

E

TOM
BERG

BR
AN

DT

R
EN

A

M
A

R
O

SE

C
IT

AD
EL

FISHBURG

EN
C

AN
TO

MONDAY
VILLAS

SILVER OAK

QUEENSBURY

R
O

SA
LI

E

TROY
VILLA

CHESHAM

LU
N

C
EF

O
R

D

PENNSWOOD

CRANWELL

HANDEL

RED OAK

SABRA

ANGELITA

LEYCROSS

AN
SB

U
R

Y

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y

PI
KE

FR
O

N
TA

G
E

TUESDAY
VILLAS AL

TE
R

LA
U

R
EL

VI
E

W

TE
LL

E
A

CORSICA

UNNAMED

ST
O

N
EY

 C
R

EE
K

TIBET

AN
G

O
R

A

BEECHVIEW

KITTYHAWK
COMMONS

O
LD

 T
R

O
Y

M
O

N
TA

G
U

E

MOOREFIELD

C
H

AR
IN

G

LE
IB

OLD

STORCK

BRANDONVIEW

CHAMBERSBURG

MORLEY

IN
N

SD
A

LE

LUTON

BU
R

R
 O

A
K

CHANNING WAY

TA
BB

Y

C
R

U
XT

E
N

C
O

LER
AIN

E

HUBBARD

LE MANS

LEYDEN

WOODGATE

C
LA

YB
EC

K

HARTWICK

JO
N

E
TT

A

MENLO

FALKLAND

CHATSWORTH
CL

IF
FS

TO
NE

SH
AD

Y 
O

AK

MANDRAKE

H
ER

ITAG
E C

R
O

SSIN
G

HOLBROOK

MILLHOFF

TEWKESBURY

C
H

IP
P

IN
G

D
O

N

SANDBURY

HELWIGHINCKLEY

PA
R

K 
LO

O
P

3

1

2

4
5

6

´Proposed Replacement
Existing Water Mains

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT

2023
Plot Date: 7/20/2023



   
AI-9396     Topics of Discussion      N.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Metro Rose - Development Agreement
Submitted By: Bryan Chodkowski
Department: Economic Development
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Metro Rose - Development Agreement

Purpose and Background
On April 10, 2023, City Council approved the Basic Development Plan and Rezoning of the Newbauer Farm on
Executive Boulevard for 312 market-rate multifamily housing units.  On July 11, 2023, the Planning Commission
approved the Detailed Development Plan for this project.  Based on the information provided to the City by the
developer, this project will net to the City approximately $5.4 million over 30 years.  This agreement also provides
the City with a 4 acre lot, at no cost, to develop with a specific focus on the development of a full-service
restaurant or brewery-type establishment.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:
The City estimates 30-year net proceeds associated with this project to total approximately $5.4 million.

Attachments
Resolution 
Exhibit A 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH METRO 
ROSE, LLC. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights (the “City”) and Metro Rose, LLC (the “Developer”) plan to 
enter into a development agreement (the “Agreement”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Agreement provides for the development of approximately 25 acres of real property 
located on the north side of Executive Boulevard, across from 6800 Executive Boulevard, and 
commonly referred to as the Newbauer Farm; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Developer proposes to construct, or cause to be constructed, approximately 320 
units of market rate multifamily housing as well as provide the City with approximately 4 acres for 
commercial/retail uses (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City and Developer have determined to enter into the Agreement (attached hereto 
as Exhibit A) to provide for the construction of the Project and associated development incentives 
including the provision of related real property tax exemptions; and 
 
WHEREAS, to facilitate economic development within the City and the development of the Project, 
thereby improving the economic welfare of the people of the State of Ohio, City of Huber Heights, 
this Council finds that it is in the best interest of the City to provide for the execution and delivery of 
the Agreement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1. The Agreement, by and between the City and Developer, providing for the 
construction of the Project and the provision of development incentives, including the provision of 
related real property tax exemption for the purposes of facilitating economic development within the 
City and the creation of new jobs and employment opportunities thereby improving the economic 
welfare of the people of the State of Ohio and City of Huber Heights is hereby approved and 
authorized with changes therein not inconsistent with this Resolution and not substantially adverse to 
this City and which shall be approved by the City Manager and the Law Director.   
 
Section 2. The City Manager, for and in the name of this City, is hereby authorized to execute 
the Agreement provided further that the approval of changes thereto by that official, and their 
character as not being substantially adverse to the City, as reviewed and approved to form and 
content by the Law Director, shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution thereof. 
 
Section 3.  The Council further hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager, Director of 
Finance, City Attorney, Clerk of Council, or other such appropriate offices of the City to prepare and 
sign all agreements and instruments and to take any other actions as may be appropriate to 
implement this Resolution.  
 
Section 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2023; 
______  Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 



 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
______________________________ ________________________________  
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
______________________________ ________________________________  
Date      Date 



SPB Comments 07-13-23 
EXHIBIT A 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 

by and between 
 
 
 

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, OHIO 
 

and 
 

METRO ROSE, LLC 
 
 
 

relating to 
 

______________________________________________________ 
 

NEWBAUER PROPERTY MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT 
______________________________________________________ 

 
 

dated as of 
 

__________, 2023



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 

- i - 

RECITALS .................................................................................................................................... 1 
ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 
Section 1.1 Use of Defined Terms ...................................................................................... 5 
Section 1.2 Definitions........................................................................................................ 5 
Section 1.3 Interpretation .................................................................................................. 10 

ARTICLE II 
GENERAL AGREEMENT AND TERM 

Section 2.1 General Agreement Among Parties ............................................................... 12 
Section 2.2 Term of Agreement ........................................................................................ 12 
Section 2.3 Declaration of Covenants ............................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE III 
REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES 

Section 3.1 Representations and Covenants of the City ................................................... 14 
Section 3.2 Representations and Covenants of the Developer ......................................... 15 

ARTICLE IV 
MULTIFAMILY PROJECT 

Section 4.1 General ........................................................................................................... 17 
Section 4.2 MultiFamily Project ....................................................................................... 17 
Section 4.3 Submittal of Plans for Development Project ................................................. 18 
Section 4.4 Installation of Utilities, Roadways, Sidewalks and Streetlights .................... 18 
Section 4.5 Developer Obligations ................................................................................... 24 
Section 4.6 Permits ........................................................................................................... 26 
Section 4.7 Fees, Charges and Taxes ................................................................................ 26 
Section 4.8 Provision of City Services ............................................................................. 27 
Section 4.9 Insurance and Bonds ...................................................................................... 27 
Section 4.10 Compliance with Laws .................................................................................. 27 
Section 4.11 Expeditious Completion of Multifamily Project............................................ 28 
Section 4.12 Waiver of Unpaid Special Assessments ........................................................ 28 

ARTICLE V 
COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA 

Section 5.1 General ........................................................................................................... 30 
Section 5.2 Community Reinvestment Area # 7 ............................................................... 30 
Section 5.3 Compliance and Remedies Relating to the CRA Exemption ........................ 31 
Section 5.4 Priority of Tax Exemptions ............................................................................ 32 

ARTICLE VI 
TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 

Section 6.1 General ........................................................................................................... 33 
Section 6.2 Statutory Service Payments ........................................................................... 33 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 - ii -  

 

Section 6.3 Minimum Service Payment Obligation ......................................................... 33 
Section 6.4 Information Reporting ................................................................................... 36 
Section 6.5 Non Discriminatory Hiring Policy ................................................................. 37 

ARTICLE VII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES 

Section 7.1 Developer Default .......................................................................................... 38 
Section 7.2 City Default .................................................................................................... 38 
Section 7.3 Remedies ........................................................................................................ 39 
Section 7.4 Other Rights and Remedies; No Waiver by Delay ........................................ 41 
Section 7.5 Force Majeure ................................................................................................ 42 

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1 Assignment .................................................................................................... 43 
Section 8.2 Binding Effect ................................................................................................ 43 
Section 8.3 Captions and Headings .................................................................................. 44 
Section 8.4 Day for Performance ...................................................................................... 44 
Section 8.5 Developer Mortgagee Rights ......................................................................... 44 
Section 8.6 Document Submissions to the City ................................................................ 45 
Section 8.7 Entire Agreement ........................................................................................... 45 
Section 8.8 Executed Counterparts ................................................................................... 45 
Section 8.9 Extent of Covenants; Conflict of Interest; No Personal Liability .................. 46 
Section 8.10 Governing Law .............................................................................................. 46 
Section 8.11 Limits on Liability ......................................................................................... 47 
Section 8.12 No Third-Party Beneficiary ........................................................................... 47 
Section 8.13 Notices ........................................................................................................... 47 
Section 8.14 Recitals and Exhibits...................................................................................... 48 
Section 8.15 Severability .................................................................................................... 48 
Section 8.16 Survival of Representations and Warranties .................................................. 48 
 
Exhibit A -  Legal Description of the Property 
Exhibit B -  Depiction of Multifamily Project 
Exhibit C -  Form of Developer Declaration of Covenants 
Exhibit D-1 - Preliminary Legal Description of Restaurant Parcel 
Exhibit D-2 -  Approximate General Depiction of Restaurant Parcel 
Exhibit E -  Waived, Unpaid Assessments Due to City of Huber Heights 
Exhibit F - Permitted Uses – Restaurant Parcel 
 
 

(END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS) 
 
 



 

- 1 - 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into this _____ 

day of __________, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, 

OHIO (the “City”), a municipal corporation duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and the laws of the State of Ohio (the “State”) and its Charter and METRO ROSE, 

LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (the “Developer” and together with the City, the “Parties” 

and each of the Parties individually referred to herein as a “Party”), under the circumstances 

summarized in the following recitals (terms used but not defined in the Recitals shall have the 

meaning set forth in Section 1.2): 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Developer, through its affiliate, Metropolitan Holdings Acquisitions LLC, has 

entered into a purchase agreement with Nancy A. Newbauer, Trustee of The Ruth L. Newbauer Trust 

A and B, dated July 10, 1991 and Nancy A. Newbauer, Successor Trustee of The John S. Newbauer 

Trust, collectively the Seller, dated July 10, 1992, as such purchase agreement may hereafter be 

reasonably modified, extended or amended (the “Purchase Agreement”) for the purpose of acquiring 

approximately 25.30 contiguous acres of real property located within the City (which real property 

is described on EXHIBIT A attached hereto and is collectively referred to herein as the “Newbauer 

Property” or the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Developer and City propose to create a mixed-use development of 

commercial and housing uses (the “Mixed-Use Development”) on the Property, and following 

acquisition of the Property and approval and recordation of a minor subdivision and lot split thereto, 

the Developer proposes to construct, or cause to be constructed, on an approximate 21.3 acre portion 

of the Property, an approximate 320+/- unit apartment development project (the “Multifamily 

Project”), a sample depiction of which appears on EXHIBIT B attached hereto; and 



 

 - 2 -  

 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the construction of the Multifamily Project is 

expected to result in the creation of employment opportunities within the City as well as the creation 

of various types of housing for its residents; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the TIF Statute, City Council heretofore passed (i) Ordinance No. 

2003-O-1409 on April 28, 2003 (the “Original TIF Ordinance”) thereby exempting from taxation 

any improvements to the real property subject to the Original TIF Ordinance (which includes the 

Property) and requiring the current and future property owners of such real property to make service 

payments in lieu of taxes (those payments, and any other payments received by the City in connection 

with the TIF Ordinance under Ohio Revised Code Sections 319.302, 321.24, 323.152 and 323.156, 

or any successor provisions thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time, are collectively 

referred to as the “TIF Payments”) and (ii) Ordinance No. 2020-O-2456 on December 14, 2020 (the 

“Amendment to the Original TIF Ordinance”), pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.51, to 

extend the exemption from taxation of improvements to each parcel under the Original TIF 

Ordinance for a period of thirty (30) years (the Original TIF Ordinance and the Amendment to the 

Original TIF Ordinance are collectively referred to herein as the “TIF Ordinance”); and  

WHEREAS, City Council heretofore adopted Resolution No. 94-R-1453 on June 20, 1994, 

declaring a certain area within the City to be a Community Reinvestment Area (“CRA #7” which is 

also referred to as a Pre-1994 CRA), which CRA #7 was amended by Resolution No. 2010-R-5333, 

adopted on September 27, 2010, as modified by Resolution No. 2015-R-6195, adopted on June 8, 

2015, and Resolution No. 2021-R-7036, adopted on September 13, 2021, and as amended by 

Resolution No 2022-R-7211, adopted on December 15, 2022 (collectively, the “CRA Legislation”); 

and 

WHEREAS, the Property, in its entirety, is located within CRA #7; and 



 

 - 3 -  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the CRA Legislation, the City granted tax exemptions within CRA 

#7 for improvements to real property, as authorized by the CRA Statute, as follows: (i) a ten (10) 

year, 100% exemption for the remodeling of any dwelling existing as of June 20, 1994, containing 

not more than two family units upon which the cost of remodeling is at least three thousand dollars 

($3,000.00), as described in division (A) of Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code, (ii) a twelve 

(12) year, 100% exemption for every dwelling containing more than 2 units, commercial or industrial 

properties, upon which the cost of remodeling is at least five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) as 

described in division (B) of Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code, and (iii) a fifteen (15) year, 

100% exemption for the construction of every commercial or industrial structure as described in 

division (C) of Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code, (collectively, the “CRA Exemption”); and 

WHEREAS, the CRA Exemption is applicable to a mixed-use development on the Property, 

which the Parties acknowledge would include the construction of the Multifamily Project, including 

but not limited to its approximate 320+/- unit apartment development contained in multiple 

dwellings (with each such structure having more than two residential units) and located collectively 

on one parcel, amenity building(s), and accessory structure(s); and 

WHEREAS, the City wishes to confirm that Multifamily Project proposed to be constructed 

upon the Property is eligible for the CRA Exemption so as to allow the Developer to acquire the 

Property and to develop the Multifamily Project in reliance on the availability of the CRA 

Exemption under the terms set forth in the CRA Legislation and subject to Ohio law governing the 

CRA Exemption; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have determined to enter into this Agreement to provide for the 

construction of the Multifamily Project, to confirm the availability of the CRA Exemption to support 

the Multifamily Project and to provide for the payment of Minimum Service Payments; and 



 

 - 4 -  

 

WHEREAS, the City, by [Ordinance/Resolution] No. ___________ passed by City Council 

on _________, 2023 authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants contained herein and for 

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree and obligate themselves as follows: 

(END OF RECITALS)



 

- 5 - 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Use of Defined Terms.  In addition to the words and terms defined 

elsewhere in this Agreement or by reference to another document, the words and terms set forth in 

Section 1.2 shall have the meanings set forth in Section 1.2 unless the context or use clearly 

indicates another meaning or intent. 

Section 1.2 Definitions.  As used herein: 

“Agreement” means this Development Agreement dated as of the Effective Date, by and 

between the City and the Developer. 

“Apartment Housing Complex” means collectively all of the buildings and structures, or 

portion thereof, occupied or constructed as apartments or living units within one or more dwellings 

or multi-unit housing structures, to be occupied by multiple families or occupants, and located on 

the Property, or a subdivided portion thereof.  It shall also include any building constructed as a 

dedicated amenity or accessory used to support and sustain the operation of an apartment housing 

community on the Property.  For the avoidance of doubt, it shall not include any building or 

structure constructed on the Restaurant Parcel. 

“City” means the City of Huber Heights, Ohio, an Ohio municipality. 

“City Attorney” means the City Attorney of the City or any person serving in an interim or 

acting capacity with respect to that office. 

“City Codified Ordinances” means the Codified Ordinances of the City, as amended and 

supplemented from time to time. 

“City Council” means the City Council of the City. 

“City Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2. 



 

 - 6 -  

 

“City Manager” means the City Manager of the City or any person serving in an interim 

or acting capacity with respect to that office. 

“County” means the County of Montgomery, Ohio. 

“County Auditor” means the County Auditor of the County or any person serving in an 

interim or acting capacity with respect to that office. 

“County Recorder” means the County Recorder of the County or any person serving in an 

interim or acting capacity with respect to that office. 

“CRA #7” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“CRA Exemption” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“CRA Legislation” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.  

“CRA Statute” means, collectively, Sections 3735.65 through 3735.70 of the Ohio Revised 

Code, and those sections as each may hereafter be amended from time to time. 

“Declaration” means the Declaration of Covenants (which shall be substantially in the 

form attached hereto as EXHIBIT C).   

“Developer” means Metro Rose, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company. 

“Developer Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1. 

“Developer Mortgage” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.5. 

“Developer Mortgagee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.5. 

“Development Completion Deadline” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

“First Annual MSP Invoice Deadline” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(b). 

“Fixture Maintenance Fee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(d). 

“Improvements” shall have the same meaning as set forth in Ohio Revised Code Section 

5709.40(A)(4). 



 

 - 7 -  

 

“Minimum Service Payment” means each payment required to be made to the City pursuant 

to Section 6.3(c). 

“Minimum Service Payment Obligation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3. 

“Mixed-Use Development” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“MSP Invoice Deadline” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(b). 

“MSP First Payment Year” means, with respect to each parcel upon which Multifamily 

Project is constructed, the calendar year next succeeding the first tax year in respect of which that 

Multifamily Project is exempted from real property taxation pursuant to the CRA Legislation and 

in accordance with this Agreement.  For purposes of this Agreement, the Parties agrees that: (a) 

the first tax year of such exemption shall be the next succeeding calendar year in which such 

Multifamily Project (or such portion if constructed upon multiple parcels) is completed, (b) a 

Multifamily Project shall be deemed “completed” in the calendar year in which a certificate of 

occupancy is issued for the final phase of improvements to be constructed as part of the applicable 

portion of the Multifamily Project and (c) the City shall provide written notification to the County 

Auditor as to the calendar year in which such exemption shall commence.  For purposes of example, 

if the Multifamily Project (or such portion if constructed upon multiple parcels) is completed in 

calendar year 2024 and first assessed for taxation in calendar year 2025 (calendar year 2025 also 

being the initial tax year), the MSP First Payment Year would be calendar year 2026.  

“MSP Last Payment Year” means, with respect to each parcel upon which the Multifamily 

Project (or such portion if constructed upon multiple parcels) is constructed, the calendar year next 

succeeding the last tax year in respect of which that the Multifamily Project (or such portion if 

constructed upon multiple parcels) is exempted from real property taxation pursuant to the CRA 

Legislation and in accordance with this Agreement.  For purposes of example, if a fifteen (15) year 



 

 - 8 -  

 

real property tax exemption is granted for the Multifamily Project which is completed in calendar 

year 2024 and first assessed for taxation in calendar year 2025 (calendar year 2025 also being the 

initial tax year), the MSP Last Payment Year (unless earlier revised by the City in accordance with 

this Agreement) would be calendar year 2040. 

“Multifamily Project” means the Apartment Housing Complex built and owned under a 

common or affiliated owners, and operated and managed collectively under a common brand or 

similar community name. 

“Multifamily Project Site” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3. 

“Notice Address” means: 

 as to the City: City of Huber Heights, Ohio 
  6131 Taylorsville Road 
  Huber Heights, Ohio 45424 
  Attention:  City Manager 
  Telephone: (937) 233-1423 
  Facsimile: (937) 233-1272 
 
 With a duplicate to: City of Huber Heights-Law Department 
  2700 Kettering Tower 
  Pickrel Schaeffer & Ebeling 
  Dayton, Ohio 45423 
  Attention:  Law Director 
  Telephone: (937) 223-1130 
 
 as to the Developer: Metro Rose, LLC 
  1429 King Avenue 
  Columbus, Ohio 43212 
  Attention:  Matthew R. Vekasy 
  Telephone: (614) 488-1900 
  Facsimile: (614) 488-1905 
  Email:  mvekasy@metropolitanholdings.com 
 

mailto:gjenkins@carriage-trails.com


 

 - 9 -  

 

 With a duplicate to: Andrew Lemmon, CPA 
  Metropolitan Holdings 
  1429 King Avenue 
  Columbus, Ohio 43212 
  Telephone: (614) 488-1900 
  Facsimile: (614) 488-1905 
  Email:  alemmon@metropolitanholdings.com  
 

Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP 
  c/o Scott Ziance, Esq. 
  52 East Gay Street 

Columbus, OH 43215 
Phone: 614-464-8287 
Email: sjziance@vorys.com 

 
“Option Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

“Owner” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3. 

“Parties” means, collectively, the City and the Developer.   

“Permitted Use” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

“Purchase Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“Real Property Tax Exemption Recipient” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3. 

“Repurchase Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

“Restaurant Parcel” means, collectively, all of the buildings and structures, or portion 

thereof, not occupied or constructed as apartments, living units or associated uses connected to the 

Multifamily Project or the Apartment Housing Complex, and specifically designated for 

development of acceptable commercial, non-residential uses as set forth in Section 4.5(b), and to 

be located on an independent designated parcel following an approval and recordation of a lot split 

and minor subdivision of the Property.  

“Right of First Refusal” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

“Second Annual MSP Invoice Deadline” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(b). 

“Sidewalk Fee-in-Lieu” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(f). 

mailto:alemmon@metropolitanholdings.com
mailto:sjziance@vorys.com


 

 - 10 -  

 

“State” means the State of Ohio. 

“TIF Exemption” means the exemption from real property taxation for the Improvements 

as authorized by the TIF Statute and the TIF Ordinance. 

“TIF Ordinance” means, collectively, the Original TIF Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2003-

O-1409 passed by the City Council on April 28, 2003 in Montgomery County, Ohio), and the 

Amendment to the Original TIF Original Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2020-O-2456 passed by the 

City Council on December 14, 2020 in Montgomery County, Ohio). 

“TIF Payments” means those monies distributed by the County to the City in respect of the 

TIF Exemption and which will include service payments in lieu of taxes remitted by owners of real 

property subject to the TIF Exemption and any other payments received by the City in connection 

with the TIF Ordinance under Ohio Revised Code Sections 319.302, 321.24, 323.152 and 323.156, 

or any successor provisions thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“TIF Statute” means, collectively, Sections 5709.40, 5709.42, 5709.43 and 5709.51 of the 

Ohio Revised Code, and those sections as each may hereafter be amended from time to time. 

“Waived Assessments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.12. 

Section 1.3 Interpretation.  Any reference in this Agreement to the City or to any 

officers of the City includes those entities or officials succeeding to their functions, duties or 

responsibilities pursuant to or by operation of law or lawfully performing their functions. 

Any reference to a section or provision of the Constitution of the State, a section, provision 

or chapter of the Ohio Revised Code, or a section or provision of the City Codified Ordinances 

includes the section, provision or chapter as modified, revised, supplemented or superseded from 

time to time; provided, that no amendment, modification, revision, supplement or superseding 



 

 - 11 -  

 

section, provision or chapter will be applicable solely by reason of this paragraph if it constitutes 

in any way an impairment of the rights or obligations of the Parties under this Agreement. 

Unless the context indicates otherwise, words importing the singular number include the 

plural number, and vice versa; the terms “hereof”, “hereby”, “herein”, “hereto”, “hereunder” and 

similar terms refer to this Agreement; and the term “hereafter” means after, and the term 

“heretofore” means before, the date of this Agreement.  Words of any gender include the 

correlative words of the other gender, unless the sense indicates otherwise.  References to articles, 

sections, subsections, clauses, exhibits or appendices in this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated, 

are references to articles, sections, subsections, clauses, exhibits or appendices of this Agreement. 

(END OF ARTICLE I) 



 

 - 12 -  

 

ARTICLE II 
 

GENERAL AGREEMENT AND TERM 

Section 2.1 General Agreement Among Parties.  For the reasons set forth in the Recitals 

hereto, which Recitals are incorporated herein by reference as a statement of the public purposes 

of this Agreement and the intended arrangements between the Parties, the Parties intend to and 

shall cooperate in the manner described herein to facilitate the design, financing, construction, 

acquisition and installation of the Multifamily Project. 

Section 2.2 Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall become effective as of the 

Effective Date and will continue until the Parties’ respective obligations set forth herein have been 

fulfilled, unless earlier terminated in accordance with this Agreement. 

Section 2.3 Declaration of Covenants.   

(a) Filing.  It is intended and agreed, and it will be so provided by the Developer in the 

Declaration relating to the portion of the Property upon which the Multifamily Project is 

constructed (the “Multifamily Project Site”) that certain covenants set forth herein shall hereafter 

be binding upon owners of the Multifamily Project Site (each, including the Developer, during its 

period of ownership of the Multifamily Project Site, an “Owner”).  Except as otherwise provided 

in the Declaration, the covenants set forth in the Declaration are hereby incorporated into this 

Agreement by this reference.   

(b) Termination.  Upon satisfaction of the obligations of the Developer related to the 

Multifamily Project to make the TIF Payments and the Minimum Service Payments, the City will, 

upon the request of the Developer or an Owner, execute an instrument in recordable form 

evidencing the termination of the Declaration with respect to the Property, or any applicable 



 

 - 13 -  

 

portion thereof, and releasing the covenants running with the land as set forth in the Declaration 

with respect to the Developer’s or that Owner’s portion of the Property. 

(END OF ARTICLE II) 



 

 - 14 -  

 

ARTICLE III 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES 

Section 3.1 Representations and Covenants of the City.  The City represents and 

covenants that: 

(a) It is a municipal corporation duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and applicable laws of the State and its Charter. 

(b) It is not in violation of or in conflict with any provisions of the laws of the State or 

of the United States of America applicable to it that would impair its ability to carry out its 

obligations contained in this Agreement. 

(c) It is legally empowered to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and to enter 

into and carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  That execution, delivery and 

performance does not and will not violate or conflict with any provision of law applicable to it, 

including its Charter, and does not and will not conflict with or result in a default under any 

agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound. 

(d) This Agreement has, by proper action, been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by it and all steps necessary to be taken by it have been taken to constitute this Agreement, 

and its covenants and agreements contemplated herein, as its valid and binding obligations, 

enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(e) There is no litigation pending or threatened against or by it wherein an unfavorable 

ruling or decision would materially adversely affect its ability to carry out its obligations under 

this Agreement. 

(f) It will do all things in its power in order to maintain its existence or assure the 

assumption of its obligations under this Agreement by any successor public body. 



 

 - 15 -  

 

(g) Ordinance/Resolution No. ___________ passed by City Council on _________, 

2023 authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement, has been duly passed and is in full 

force and effect as of the Effective Date. 

Section 3.2 Representations and Covenants of the Developer.  The Developer represents 

and covenants that: 

(a) It is a for profit limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under 

the applicable laws of the State. 

(b) It is not in violation of or in conflict with any provisions of the laws of the State or 

of the United States of America applicable to it that would impair its ability to carry out its 

obligations contained in this Agreement. 

(c) It is legally empowered to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and to enter 

into and carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  That execution, delivery and 

performance does not and will not violate or conflict with any provision of law applicable to the 

Developer and does not and will not conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or 

instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound.  

(d) This Agreement has, by proper action, been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by it and all steps necessary to be taken by it have been taken to constitute this Agreement, 

and its covenants and agreements contemplated herein, as its valid and binding obligations, 

enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(e) It is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened against or by it wherein an 

unfavorable ruling or decision would materially adversely affect its ability to carry out its 

obligations under this Agreement. 



 

 - 16 -  

 

(f) It will do all things in its power in order to maintain its existence or assure the 

assumption of its obligations under this Agreement by any successor entity. 

(END OF ARTICLE III) 



 

 - 17 -  

 

ARTICLE IV 
 

MULTIFAMILY PROJECT 

Section 4.1 General.  The Developer agrees that it will proceed in good faith and with 

all reasonable dispatch to design, finance and construct, or cause to be designed, financed and 

constructed, the Multifamily Project and to perform any and all of its duties and obligations relating 

to the Multifamily Project in a manner consistent with this Agreement, subject to market conditions 

as they may exist from time to time during the term of this Agreement. 

Section 4.2 Multifamily Project.  Subject to economic conditions supporting the 

development of the Multifamily Project and the Developer securing adequate approvals, including, 

but not limited to, approvals from any jurisdiction to which the Multifamily Project is subject, 

including any zoning changes or variance, as each are determined by the Developer in its sole and 

complete discretion, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the Multifamily Project that will be 

developed, or caused to be developed, by the Developer and is expected to be approved by the City 

(which approval will not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld) as follows: 

(a) The Developer will construct an approximate 320+/- unit Apartment Housing 

Complex on the Multifamily Project Site.  The Multifamily Project is targeted for completion and 

available for occupancy in December 2029, or as may be reasonably economically feasible to 

complete at any time before or after that estimated date. The Developer estimates that the 

Multifamily Project will have a total fair market value of approximately Forty Million Five 

Hundred Sixty Thousand ($40,560,000.00) dollars upon completion.  

(b) The Developer anticipates that approximately 100 temporary jobs will be created 

in connection with the construction of the Multifamily Project and approximately 4 permanent 

jobs will be created at the Multifamily Project when it is fully completed and occupied. 



 

 - 18 -  

 

Section 4.3  Submittal of Plans for Development Project.  For the Multifamily Project, 

the Developer shall prepare and submit a site plan, architectural rendering(s), project zoning and 

design standards, and related development plans to the City, in such detail as is reasonably 

necessary for review and approval by appropriate City Boards or Commissions in accordance with 

the ordinary exercise of their respective rights and duties, all pursuant to and in accordance with 

the pertinent City Codified Ordinances. 

Section 4.4 Installation of Utilities, Roadways, Sidewalks and Streetlights. To support 

the development of the Multifamily Project, including the installation of utilities, roadways, 

sidewalks and streetlights, each Party shall have the responsibilities set forth below:  

(a) Water.  Except as otherwise provided herein, at no cost to the City, it shall be the 

obligation of the Developer to construct the water lines, hydrants, valves, and related 

appurtenances within the Multifamily Project to service only the Apartment Housing Complex, 

which water lines, hydrants, valves, and related appurtenances shall be installed and inspected 

pursuant to plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer in accordance with the City’s 

standard requirements.  The domestic water network will be composed of a tap connection and 

public extension within a recorded public easement onto the Apartment Housing Complex portion 

of the Property, connecting to a municipal utility provider-approved meter and backflow assembly, 

generally thereafter further consisting of an appropriately sized underground fire water loop routed 

throughout the site and to building structures within a recorded public easement, servicing fire 

hydrants, fire sprinkler systems, standpipes and other emergency connections, as well as an 

appropriately sized underground private water loop routed throughout the site and to building 

structures servicing the domestic and potable water infrastructure requirements.  The City hereby 

confirms that it will supply water services to the Multifamily Project under the terms and 



 

 - 19 -  

 

conditions that it supplies such services to similarly situated customers and that it has, and will 

have, sufficient capacity to supply such services to the Multifamily Project during the term of this 

Agreement. 

(b) Sanitary Sewer.  Except as otherwise provided herein, at no cost to the City, it shall 

be the obligation of the Developer to construct the sanitary sewer lines and related appurtenances 

within the Multifamily Project to service exclusively the Apartment Housing Complex, which 

sanitary sewer lines and related appurtenances shall be installed and inspected pursuant to plans 

and specifications approved by the City Engineer in accordance with the City’s standard 

requirements and will be dedicated and an easement granted to the City.   The City hereby confirms 

that it will supply sanitary sewer services to the Multifamily Project under the terms and conditions 

that it supplies such services to similarly situated customers and that it has, and will have, sufficient 

capacity to supply such services to the Multifamily Project during the term of this Agreement.  

(c) Storm Sewer.  Except as otherwise provided herein, at no cost to the City, the 

Developer shall provide to the City storm sewer drainage easements, as necessary, and will 

dedicate a storm sewer collection system and related onsite detention and/or retention ponds to the 

City which will be designated on the detailed development plan(s) and plat(s) to service the 

Apartment Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project.  The Developer shall provide all of the 

detention to service the Apartment Housing Complex for the Multifamily Project on the Property 

and the City shall not require Developer to handle any off-site detention or detention from portions 

of the Property not dedicated to use as the Apartment Housing Complex.  The exact location and 

size of such storm sewer drainage easements and on-site ponds shall be determined by (i) the 

detailed development plan(s) and final plat(s) as approved by the City, consistent with the zoning 

thereof, as herein provided, (ii) engineering standards and (iii) all other applicable rules and 



 

 - 20 -  

 

regulations.  Except for underground storm sewer pipes, the Developer shall be responsible for all 

maintenance of the storm sewer management system (including but not limited to easements and 

ponds) located within the Property and servicing the Apartment Housing Complex of the 

Multifamily Project. 

 Each Party covenants and agrees that all roadway, utility and other construction and 

development work undertaken by that Party (or any third-party upon the direction of that Party) 

will be designed and performed in such a manner as not to disrupt or otherwise interfere with any 

existing storm sewer drainage systems (surface, field tile or other) on or off of the Property. 

(d) Streetlights.  The City and Developer have an interest to define the area in which 

the Apartment Housing Complex is located as a uniquely identifiable area through the utilization 

of decorative streetlights.  The City and Developer agree to work together to define this concept, 

and the City agrees to advance the design, construction, and installation of such decorative 

streetlights.  The costs associated therewith shall be shared amongst all benefiting property owners 

in accordance with provisions of City of Huber Heights Ordinance No. 90-O-419 as well as 

Chapter 727 of the Ohio Revised Code; unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties.  The Developer 

will annually reimburse the City, at a cost not to exceed $10,152 annually, its proportionate share 

of the costs of the fixture maintenance and electric utility to service the streetlights located along 

the Developer’s frontage along Executive Boulevard and servicing the Apartment Housing 

Complex (the “Fixture Maintenance Fee”).  The Fixture Maintenance Fee shall be charged as a 

single, annual fee to the Developer and any successor as set forth in the Declarations, and shall 

not be due until at least sixty (60) days after the Developer receives a written invoice from the City 

setting forth the amount of the Fixture Maintenance Fee for that year in accordance with this 

Section. 



 

 - 21 -  

 

(e) Roadways.   

(i) Private Roads.  Except as otherwise provided herein, all private drives and 

internal roads on the Property servicing the Apartment Housing Complex within the 

Multifamily Project shall be constructed by the Developer, at no cost to the City, as needed 

for its intended use of the Multifamily Project.  All private drives and internal roads 

servicing the Apartment Housing Complex shall be (A) constructed in accordance with the 

standards customarily employed by a multi-family developer for projects of a similar scope 

and size, (B) designed in accordance by a licensed professional engineering firm using the 

degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by reputable professionals practicing in the 

same field of service in the State of Ohio, and (C) located in accordance with final 

development plans and permits approved by the City. 

(ii) Public Roads on Property.  If the Parties agree that the construction of any 

public roads or public road modifications are required on the Property, all such public roads 

or public road modifications on the Property shall be constructed by the Developer, at no 

cost to the City, in accordance with City standards, and as may be applicable and 

appropriate to the type of road being constructed.   Any such public roads or public road 

modifications constructed on the Property under this Agreement shall be (A) located within 

current or future dedicated right of way, and (B) reviewed, inspected and approved by the 

City.  

(iii) Off-Site Roadway Improvements.  The City does not anticipate that any 

roadway improvements will be needed outside the boundary of the Property as a result of 

the Multifamily Project . The City  shall be specifically In no event shall the Developer 

be responsible for constructing, or causing the construction of, if applicable, any future 



 

 - 22 -  

 

turn lane at entryways as may be required to effectively and efficiently operate The Rose 

Music Center at The Heights even if said improvements benefits, directly or indirectly,  the 

Apartment Housing Complex.  

(f) Pedestrian Sidewalks.  Developer shall at its sole cost design and install sidewalks 

along the Executive Boulevard frontage of the portion of the Property servicing the Apartment 

Housing Complex.  All pedestrian sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with the City 

standards and the Americans with Disability Act and in accordance with final development plans 

and permits approved by the City.  Alternatively, since installation of a new pedestrian sidewalk 

or a multipurpose path along the frontage of Executive Boulevard may not be immediately required, 

and deferment of installation would be beneficial to the comprehensive or long range planning 

efforts of the City, and further extending the lifespan of the infrastructure within the public right-

of-way, the Developer, with the consent of the City, may opt to make a one-time payment of a 

sidewalk fee-in-lieu of $60.00 per lineal foot of frontage of the portion of the Property servicing 

the Apartment Housing Complex (the “Sidewalk Fee-In-Lieu”). The Developer’s option to pay the 

Sidewalk Fee-In-Lieu shall expire upon either (i) commencement of installation of sidewalks along 

Executive Boulevard or (ii) the occupancy of the last structure to be built as part of the Apartment 

Housing Complex.  The City shall construct or cause to be constructed pedestrian sidewalks or a 

multipurpose path of the same design and quality along the northern side of Executive Boulevard, 

commencing at minimum starting at the western [shouldn’t this be “eastern”?] property line of 

the Property, and extending eastward until the intersection of Executive Boulevard and SR-201 

Brandt Pike.  

(g) Cross Easements for Utility Services.  The Parties agree among themselves to grant, 

without charge, reciprocal cross-easements or easements to public or private utilities, as 



 

 - 23 -  

 

appropriate, for construction of utilities described in this Section 4.4, or other public or private 

utilities to service the Multifamily Project [and Restaurant Parcel?]; provided, however, that all 

easements shall be within or adjacent to the various proposed public roads or driveway rights-of-

way, as set forth on the revised basic development plan for the Multifamily Project, except as may 

otherwise be reasonably necessary to assure utility services to all parts of the Apartment Housing 

Complex.  Easements for surface drainage shall follow established water courses, unless otherwise 

agreed to by the affected Party.  The Developer shall restore any easement areas to a condition 

which is reasonably satisfactory to the City promptly following any construction work by the 

Developer.  The City shall restore any easement areas following any construction work by the City 

in accordance with the City Codified Ordinances. 

(h) Dedication.  All public utilities and public roadways (including related rights-of-

way) installed and/or constructed within the Multifamily Project (except certain of the storm sewer 

improvements referenced in Section 4.4(c) which may hereafter be identified by the City and the 

utility cross easements described in Section 4.4(g) [Is this applicable or was this carried over 

from the “regional detention” concept?]shall be dedicated (free and clear of any liens, 

encumbrances and restrictions except as may be permitted in writing by the City) to the City, which 

agrees to accept such dedication, and recorded with the County Recorder at such time as is 

consistent with the City Codified Ordinances and the terms of this Agreement.    

(i) Rezoning.  The Parties acknowledge that the Property needs to be rezoned from 

“PEP” – Planned Employee Park District to “PM” – Planned Mixed-Use District to permit the 

Multifamily Project.  City agrees that its staff and administration involved in planning and zoning 

supports the filing of said zoning application and shall process said application without undue 

delay.  However, staff and administration reserve the right to provide comments on said application 



 

 - 24 -  

 

and the Parties acknowledge the final approval of said Zoning Application rests with the Huber 

Heights Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. 

(j) Cooperation.  The City agrees to work cooperatively with the Developer to support 

the Mixed-Use Development and the Multifamily Project and timely review and act on any 

requests for City approvals, permits or inspections. 

Section 4.5 Developer Obligations. 

(a) The Developer shall be responsible for developing the Apartment Housing 

Complex and the Multifamily Project [is there a difference between Apartment Housing Complex 

and the Multifamily Project ?]in accordance with the detailed development plans, as may be 

modified from time to time, and as such plans are approved by the City as hereinbefore provided.  

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Developer shall provide all funds necessary 

to develop the Apartment Housing Complex and to design, finance and construct the Apartment 

Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project.  Unless a later date applies to a given obligation, as 

expressly set forth in this Agreement, the obligations under this Agreement of the Developer shall, 

as to the Multifamily Project, commence on the later of (i) the first date on which all titles to the 

parcel(s) upon which the Multifamily Project is to be constructed is/are transferred to the 

Developer as evidenced by the recordation of the deed(s) to said parcel(s); or (ii) the Effective 

Date of this Agreement. 

(b) The Developer agrees to transfer, and the City agrees to accept, title and deed of an 

approximately 4+/- acre portion of the Property as approximately described on EXHIBIT D-1 

attached hereto and generally shown and depicted on EXHIBIT D-2 attached hereto (the 

“Restaurant Parcel”) to the City for the amount of zero dollars and no cents ($0.00).  The 

Restaurant Parcel shall be transferred to the City in “as-is” condition.  For the purposes of this 



 

 - 25 -  

 

agreement, the term “as-is,” shall mean after the Developer’s performance of maintenance 

activities including the cutting of high grass, weeds, and brush, and the Developer’s removal of 

any existing minor trees or scrub along the frontage of the Restaurant Parcel for  visual [not sure 

what visual access means]and physical access that do not constitute creation of impacts, are not 

considered preserved trees defined under City Codified Ordinance Section 1182.11, and do not 

constitute commencement of any Construction Activity on the Restaurant Parcel.  Upon receiving 

title to the Restaurant Parcel, the City agrees, as part of the Mixed-Use Development, to facilitate 

and cause development of the Restaurant Parcel by an entity that will construct and operate on the 

parcel a full-service restaurant or brewery-type establishment (or a reasonably similar 

establishment of character and quality consistent with a Mixed-Use Development within an 

“entertainment district”) (each a “Permitted Use”).  The City shall not allow on the Restaurant 

Parcel any of the prohibited uses identified within EXHIBIT F attached hereto and any such use so 

identified shall not constitute a Permitted Use.  The City, at no cost to the Developer, shall 

endeavor to cause the development of the Restaurant Parcel for a Permitted Use.  If such 

development is not materially demonstrating timely and commercially reasonable and good faith 

efforts of advancement through the City’s development planning commission, building permit 

review process, under construction with active building permit(s), or substantially completed no 

later than thirty-six (36) months after a certificate of occupancy is awarded for any phase of the 

Apartment Housing Complex (the “Development Completion Deadline”), (i) the Developer shall 

have the option to repurchase the Restaurant Parcel, which option may be exercised by Developer, 

in Developer’s sole discretion, at any time within eighteen (18) months after the Development 

Completion Deadline (the “Option Period”), at a price equal to One and 00/100 dollars ($1.00)(the 

“Repurchase Option”), or (ii) if the Developer does not exercise the Repurchase Option, then for 



 

 - 26 -  

 

a period of five (5) years after the Option Period expires, the Developer shall have a right of first 

refusal to purchase the Restaurant Parcel if the City receives a bona fide offer to buy the Restaurant 

Parcel on terms equal to that which the City is willing to accept (the “Right of First Refusal”).  The 

City shall notify the Developer in writing of any offer subject to the Right of First Refusal, and 

Developer shall have at least sixty (60) days to decide whether it will exercise the Right of First 

Refusal for that offer.  Upon Developer’s transfer of the Restaurant Parcel to the City as set forth 

in this Section, Developer shall have no further obligations with respect to the Restaurant Parcel 

under this Agreement.  

Section 4.6 Permits.  Prior to commencing construction of the Apartment Housing 

Complex of the Multifamily Project, the Developer shall obtain all necessary permits from all 

levels of government having jurisdiction thereover to allow the Developer to build and develop 

the Apartment Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project consistent with the detailed 

development plan(s) for the Multifamily Project.  Standards for permit approval shall comply with 

all applicable standards (as may be set forth in City Codified Ordinances or elsewhere) at the time 

of zoning permit application or, in the case of the City administrative plan review requirements, at 

the time of application for those predevelopment permits. 

Section 4.7 Fees, Charges and Taxes.  The Developer shall, as and when customarily 

payable to the City on projects comparable to the Apartment Housing Complex of the Multifamily 

Project, pay the then-current standard fees in connection with any construction of the Apartment 

Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project, which fees shall include, but not be limited to, fees 

for the provision of water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer services, and which fees, the City agrees, 

will be determined in a manner consistent and uniform with the manner of fee determination by 

the City on projects comparable to the Multifamily Project.  The Developer acknowledges and 



 

 - 27 -  

 

agrees that the City reserves the right to adjust the standard fees described in this Section 4.7 from 

time to time in a manner consistent and uniform with the manner of fee determination by the City 

on projects comparable to the Apartment Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project.  The 

Developer shall also ensure that any other standard fees, sales and use taxes, if any, and license 

and inspection fees necessary for the completion of the Apartment Housing Complex of the 

Multifamily Project shall be timely paid.  

Section 4.8 Provision of City Services.  The City agrees to provide to the Multifamily 

Project all City services usually and customarily provided by the City, including but not limited 

to, fire and police protection and road maintenance on dedicated and accepted public streets 

consistent with its City-wide street maintenance program; provided however, the City shall not 

be required to construct and install improvements related to the provision of those services except 

as otherwise provided herein. 

Section 4.9 Insurance and Bonds.  Insurance and bonds shall be provided by the 

Developer or its contractors and subcontractors during the course of development of the Apartment 

Housing Complex of the Multifamily Project only if, and as otherwise required by, the City 

Codified Ordinances and other applicable development regulations. 

Section 4.10 Compliance with Laws.  In connection with the construction of the 

Multifamily Project and in performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Developer agrees 

that it shall comply with, and require all of its employees, agents, contractors and consultants to 

comply with, all applicable federal, state, county, or municipal laws (including City Codified 

Ordinances) in all material respects; provided, however, that nothing in this Section shall prohibit 

Developer from contesting in good faith the application of any such laws in an appropriate forum.   



 

 - 28 -  

 

Section 4.11 Expeditious Completion of the Multifamily Project.  The Parties agree that 

the expeditious completion of the Multifamily Project will benefit both Parties.  To that end, the 

Parties agree to act in good faith and in a cooperative manner to complete the Multifamily Project 

in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The City also agrees to act in good faith and 

diligently review the various applications and other matters which must be approved by the City 

as compliant with applicable laws and regulations in connection with the Multifamily Project; 

provided, however, the Developer acknowledges and agrees that the various approvals of the City 

relating to planning and zoning described in this Article IV shall not be effective until approved 

by the appropriate body as contemplated hereby.  The Parties each agree that the City shall have 

no responsibility relative to the marketing or sale of the real property or improvements thereto 

within the Multifamily Project. 

Section 4.12 Waiver of Unpaid Special Assessments.  In consideration for the 

Developer’s agreement to construct the Multifamily Project and thereby create employment 

opportunities within the City as well as create various types of housing for its residents, the City 

agrees to waive, and not charge the Developer, for any unpaid assessments due to the City as of 

the Effective Date for the Property, or any parcel thereon, including, but not limited to, the unpaid 

assessments identified on EXHIBIT E (collectively, the “Waived Assessments”).  The City 

represents that (a) EXHIBIT E is a certified summary, prepared by the City, of the Waived 

Assessments, and (b) except as set forth on EXHIBIT E, the City is not aware of any other unpaid 

assessments due to the City with respect to the Property, or any parcel thereon, including any 

accrued, deferred, or future known assessments on such property.  The Parties agree that the City 

shall not levy any assessments on the Property which are not levied on all of the surrounding 



 

 - 29 -  

 

property in a fair and equitable manner, except those assessments, if any, requested by Petition 

from an Owner of the Property. 

(END OF ARTICLE IV) 



 

 - 30 -  

 

ARTICLE V 
 

COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA 

Section 5.1 General.  The Parties acknowledge that the provision of real property tax 

exemptions in respect of the Multifamily Project Site will be important to facilitate the construction 

of the Multifamily Project.  

Section 5.2 Community Reinvestment Area #7. The Parties agree that: 

(a) In accordance with the CRA Legislation, the City has provided for a CRA 

Exemption applicable to the Multifamily Project Site, which as set forth in the CRA Legislation, 

includes a fifteen (15) year, 100% real property tax exemption for the construction of every 

commercial or industrial structure (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes each structure that 

comprises a portion of the Apartment Housing Complex) as described in division (C) of Section 

3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code for properties located within CRA #7. 

(b) To facilitate the construction of the Multifamily Project, to create employment 

opportunities within the City as well as the creation of various types of housing for its residents, and 

in consideration for the Developer’s covenants set forth herein, the City hereby confirms that it 

has, through the CRA Legislation, provided for the aforementioned CRA Exemption, and that such 

CRA Exemption is available to Developer for the Multifamily Project Site under the terms of the 

CRA Legislation, the CRA Statute and this Agreement. 

(c) The Developer agrees related to the Multifamily Project Site to file with the City 

one or more CRA real property tax exemption applications.  The Parties agree that the CRA 

Exemption shall commence for each tax parcel that comprises a portion of the Apartment Housing 

Complex with the tax year identified by the Developer for that tax parcel in the CRA real property 

tax exemption application, provided that the CRA Exemption for each tax parcel shall commence 



 

 - 31 -  

 

no later than the first tax year after that the portion of the Apartment Housing Complex is 

completed upon that tax parcel.  The Developer shall file a CRA real property tax exemption 

application for the tax parcel that contains the final living unit within the Apartment Housing 

Complex no later than within ninety (90) days following the issuance (which issuance will not be 

unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed) by the City of a certificate occupancy therefor and 

shall include with that application (i) confirmation that construction of the final unit in the 

Apartment Housing Complex has been completed, and (ii) confirmation of the number of units 

included in the Apartment Housing Complex.  The Parties acknowledge that the Developer may 

develop the Apartment Housing Complex in one or more phases, as determined by the Developer 

in its sole and complete discretion, and that the Developer may submit a CRA real property tax 

exemption application to the City for any tax parcel included within a phase or portion of the 

development of the Apartment Housing Complex. 

The City agrees that promptly following confirmation of each application filed in 

accordance with this Section 5.2(c), the City will approve a fifteen (15) year, 100% real property 

tax exemption in respect of each tax parcel that comprises the Apartment Housing Complex, all in 

accordance with the CRA Legislation. 

Section 5.3 Compliance and Remedies Related to the CRA Exemption. 

(a) The City agrees that for so long as an Owner is the recipient of a real property tax 

exemption in accordance with Section 5.2(c) (each a “Real Property Tax Exemption Recipient”) 

and that Real Property Tax Exemption Recipient is complying with the terms of Section 5.2(c), 

and then notwithstanding the occurrence of a Developer Default or any other default hereunder by 

actions or inactions of the Developer (provided that such default is not caused by the action or 

inaction of that Real Property Tax Exemption Recipient), the City shall not take action to reduce 



 

 - 32 -  

 

the exemption percentage and/or the term of the real property tax exemption as such would apply 

to the Real Property Tax Exemption Recipient. 

(b) The Developer further agrees that if the City determines in good faith that an Owner 

fails to make any required Minimum Service Payment, or fails to construct the Multifamily 

Project with a total fair market value of approximately $40,560,000.00, the City may thereafter 

take action against the Owner, which shall be proportionate to the default to reduce the applicable 

exemption percentage and/or the term of the real property tax exemption and/or the City may 

increase the Minimum Service Payments applicable to the Owner under Section 6.3 to a higher 

amount but in no event higher than the amount that Owner would have paid in real estate taxes but 

for the CRA exemption.  The remedies set forth in this paragraph shall not be subject to the 30 

days’ notice under Section 7 of this Agreement. 

Section 5.4 Priority of Tax Exemptions.  The City agrees that the TIF Exemption shall 

be subordinate to the CRA Exemption.  The Housing Officer shall designate in the Housing 

Officer’s approval of a CRA real property tax exemption application that the CRA Exemption 

shall have priority with respect to the Multifamily Project Site over the TIF Exemption. 

(END OF ARTICLE V) 

  



 

 - 33 -  

 

ARTICLE VI 
 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 

Section 6.1 General.  The Parties acknowledge that City Council heretofore passed the 

TIF Ordinance which provides for, among other terms, the application of the TIF Exemption to 

the Multifamily Project Site and identification of certain public infrastructure improvements made, 

to be made or in the process of being made that directly benefit, or that once made will directly 

benefit, the Multifamily Project Site. 

Section 6.2 Statutory Service Payments.  The Developer, on behalf of itself and each 

Owner, agrees to make TIF Payments attributable to its respective period of ownership of the 

Multifamily Project Site, all pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 

Statutes, and any subsequent amendments or supplements thereto, the TIF Ordinance and this 

Agreement, and as further set forth in the Declaration. 

Section 6.3 Minimum Service Payment Obligation. 

(a) General.  The Developer, on behalf of itself and each Owner, acknowledges and 

agrees that the Multifamily Project Site is also subject to a minimum service payment obligation 

(the "Minimum Service Payment Obligation"), which constitutes a minimum service payment 

obligation under Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.91 (the Restaurant Parcel is not subject to the 

Minimum Service Payment Obligation or any other type of minimum service payment obligation).  

The Minimum Service Payment Obligation shall begin in the MSP First Payment Year and 

continue through and including the MSP Last Payment Year.  Notwithstanding any other provision 

of this Agreement, the Minimum Service Payment Obligation shall cease after the MSP Last 

Payment Year. 



 

 - 34 -  

 

(b) Invoices and Timing.  The City shall send invoices to collect the Minimum Service 

Payments as follows: 

(i) No later than __________ in each year in which the Minimum Service 

Payment is due, the City shall send an invoice to each Owner (at the registered address for 

purpose of receiving real property tax statements) stating the amount due which shall equal 

50% of the applicable Minimum Service Payment for that year, and state that payment is 

due the later of: (i) thirty (30) days after the date the invoice is delivered to the Owner or 

(ii) February 15 of the year for which the Minimum Service Payment is being collected 

(the “First Annual MSP Invoice Deadline”), and 

(ii) No later than __________ in each year in which the Minimum Service 

Payment is due, the City shall send an invoice to each Owner (at the registered address for 

purpose of receiving real property tax statements) stating the amount due which shall equal 

50% of the applicable Minimum Service Payment for that year, and state that payment is 

due the later of: (i) thirty (30) days after the date the invoice is delivered to the Owner or 

(ii) July 15 of the year for which the Minimum Service Payment is being collected (the 

“Second Annual MSP Invoice Deadline” and collectively with the First Annual MSP 

Invoice Deadline, the “MSP Invoice Deadline”). 

(c) Annual Minimum Service Payment Obligations.  The aggregate annual amount of 

the Minimum Service Payments for the Multifamily Project Site shall equal: 

Year Annual Amount 
  

MSP Payment Year 1 $10,000.00 
MSP Payment Years 2-5 $60,000.00 

MSP Payment Years 6-10 $70,000.00 
MSP Payment Years 11-15 $150,000.00 

 



 

 - 35 -  

 

(d) Apportionment of Minimum Service Payment Obligation Among Multiple Owners.  

In the event the Multifamily Project Site is owned by more than one Owner, the City shall collect 

the Minimum Service Payments on a pro rata basis among such Owners based on the then-assessed 

value of each such Owner’s property in proportion to the assessed value of all such Owners’ 

property. 

(e) Delinquencies, Administrative Fees and Interest.  If a Minimum Service Payment 

is not received by the City within thirty (30) days after the applicable MSP Invoice Deadline, the 

City may assess a non-paying Owner with a 10% administrative fee together with interest accruing 

at an annual rate of 10% on the portion of any Minimum Service Payment that remains unpaid 

from that Owner.  The City may certify delinquent Minimum Service Payments, fees and interest 

to the County Auditor for collection on real property tax bills.  Any late payments of amounts so 

certified will bear penalties and interest at the then current rate established under Ohio Revised 

Code Sections 323.121 and 5703.47 or any successor provisions thereto, as the same may be 

amended from time to time.  In no event shall the Minimum Service Payment Obligation for the 

Multifamily Project Site equal less than zero dollars.  The Developer, on behalf of itself and the 

Owners, acknowledges that the provisions of Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.91, which specify 

that the TIF Payments and the Minimum Service Payments will be treated in the same manner as 

taxes for all purposes of the lien described in Ohio Revised Code Section 323.11 including, but 

not limited to, the priority of the lien and the collection of TIF Payments and Minimum Service 

Payments applies to the Multifamily Project Site and any improvements thereon. 

(f) Failure to Send Invoice.  Failure by the City to send an invoice to an Owner for the 

a Minimum Service Payment in accordance with this Section shall not invalidate 

Developer's/Owner’s obligation to make such payment(s).  However, such failure shall invalidate 



 

 - 36 -  

 

City’s right to assess fees and interest as outlined in this Section for Developer’s/Owner’s failure 

to remit or timely remit Minimum Service Payments as required herein. The MSP Payment 

obligation contained herein shall not be subject to the Force Majeure provision of section 6.5. 

(g) Foreclosure and Acceleration.  In the event that any portion of the Multifamily 

Project Site is subject to an action that would impair or foreclose the lien created by the Declaration 

(such as a property tax foreclosure action), and provided that the Multifamily Project Site is still 

subject to the Minimum Service Payment Obligation at the time that such foreclosure becomes 

effective, the City may declare immediately due and payable all Minimum Service Payments 

projected to be due from that portion in the then-current year or any future year (through and 

including the Minimum Service Payment Last Payment Year).  Except as set forth in this Section 

this Section 6.3, no other Minimum Service Payment shall be owed for the Multifamily Project 

Site, or any portion thereof. 

Section 6.4 Information Reporting.  The Developer covenants to cooperate in all 

reasonable ways with, and provide necessary and reasonable information to, the designated tax 

increment review council to enable that tax increment review council to review and determine 

annually during the term of this Agreement the Developer’s compliance with the terms of this 

Agreement.  Any information supplied to such tax increment review council will be provided 

solely for the purpose of monitoring the Developer's compliance with this Agreement. 

The Developer further covenants to cooperate in all reasonable ways with, and provide 

necessary and reasonable information to the City to enable the City to submit the status report 

required by Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.40(I) to the Director of the Ohio Department of 

Development on or before March 31 of each year the exemption for the Multifamily Project Site 



 

 - 37 -  

 

provided by the TIF Ordinance is in effect.  Any information supplied to the City will be provided 

solely for the purpose of enabling the City to comply with this requirement. 

Section 6.5 Non Discriminatory Hiring Policy.  With respect to operations within the 

City, the Developer will comply with the City’s policies adopted pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

Section 5709.832 to ensure that recipients of tax exemptions (under the TIF Ordinance and the 

CRA Legislation) practice nondiscriminatory hiring in its operations.  In furtherance of that policy, 

the Developer will agree that it will not deny any individual employment solely on the basis of 

race, religion, sex, disability, color, national origin or ancestry.  

(END OF ARTICLE VI) 



 

 - 38 -  

 

ARTICLE VII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES 

Section 7.1 Developer Default.  Any one or more of the following shall constitute a 

Developer Default under this Agreement: 

(a) Default by the Developer in the due and punctual performance or observance of 

any material obligation under this Agreement and such default is not cured within thirty (30) days 

after written notice from the City, provided that if the default is of a non-monetary nature and 

cannot reasonably be cured within thirty days, a Developer Default shall not be deemed to occur 

so long as the Developer commences to cure the default within the thirty-day period and diligently 

pursues the cure for completion within a reasonable time; 

(b) Any representation or warranty made by the Developer in this Agreement is false 

or misleading in any material respect as of the time made; 

(c) The filing by the Developer of a petition for the appointment of a receiver or a 

trustee with respect to it or any of its property; 

(d) The making by the Developer of a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

(e) The filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief 

pursuant to the federal bankruptcy laws, as the same may be amended from time to time, with the 

Developer as debtor; or 

(f) The filing by the Developer of an insolvency proceeding with respect to such party 

or any proceeding with respect to such party for compromise, adjustment or other relief under the 

laws of any country or state relating to the relief of debtors. 

Section 7.2 City Default.  Any one or more of the following shall constitute a City 

Default under this Agreement: 



 

 - 39 -  

 

(a) Default by the City in the due and punctual performance or observance of any 

material obligation under this Agreement and such default is not cured within thirty (30) days after 

written notice from the Developer, provided that if the default is of a non-monetary nature and 

cannot reasonably be cured within thirty days, a City Default shall not be deemed to occur so long 

as the City commences to cure the default within the thirty day period and diligently pursues the 

cure for completion within a reasonable time; 

(b) Any representation or warranty made by the City in this Agreement is false or 

misleading in any material respect as of the time made; 

(c) The filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief 

pursuant to the federal bankruptcy laws, as the same may be amended from time to time, with the 

City as debtor; or 

(d) Any repeal of the CRA Legislation or the TIF Ordinance or reduction or elimination 

of the real property tax exemptions granted thereunder except as otherwise provided herein. 

Section 7.3 Remedies.   

(a) In the event that the Developer shall create or suffer a Developer Default under this 

Agreement which remains uncured as aforesaid, or in the event that the City shall create or suffer 

a City Default under this Agreement which remains uncured as aforesaid, or in the event of any 

dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement which does not necessarily rise to the level of 

a default hereunder, then absent facts or circumstances which compel a Party’s pursuit of 

immediate injunctive or other equitable relief, the Parties agree to and shall first proceed as follows 

prior to pursuit of any other remedies hereunder, in equity or at law: 



 

 - 40 -  

 

(i) the complaining Party shall notify the other Party of the dispute and/or 

claimed default, and thereafter the Parties shall undertake good faith discussions for the 

purpose of resolving the dispute and/or the issues giving rise to the claimed default. 

(ii) If the dispute and/or the issues giving rise to the claimed default are not 

resolved by such good faith discussions within thirty (30) days after such notice is provided 

under foregoing clause (i), then, upon the request of either Party by written notice to the 

other Party, mediation shall be initiated through the use of a mutually-acceptable neutral 

mediator not affiliated with either of the Parties, and thereafter the Parties shall proceed in 

good faith with such mediation for the purpose of resolving the dispute and/or the issues 

giving rise to the claimed  default.  If the Parties are unable to agree upon a neutral mediator, 

then either Party may solicit the Administrative Judge of the Common Pleas Court of 

Montgomery County, Ohio to appoint the mediator.  If the dispute and/or the issues giving 

rise to the claimed default are not resolved within thirty (30) days after the identification 

or appointment of the mediator, then the Parties may pursue their other remedies hereunder, 

in equity or at law.  Each Party shall pay its own costs and one-half (1/2) of the mediator’s 

fees and expenses in connection with any such mediation.  The Developer acknowledges 

that before the Parties may proceed with mediation in accordance with this Section 8.3(a), 

City Council must first authorize and appropriate sufficient monies to pay the City’s 

portion of the cost.  

(b) In the event that the Developer shall create or suffer a Developer Default under this 

Agreement and the Parties are unable to resolve all issues arising out of such a Developer Default 

in accordance with the discussion and mediation provisions set forth in Section 7.3(a) above, then, 

in addition to any other rights or remedies available to the City hereunder, in equity or at law, the 



 

 - 41 -  

 

City, at its option, shall have the right to cancel and terminate this Agreement by written notice to 

the Developer.  

(c) In the event that the City shall create or suffer a City Default under this Agreement 

and the Parties are unable to resolve all issues arising out of such a City Default in accordance 

with the discussion and mediation provisions set forth in Section 7.3(a) above, then, in addition to 

any other rights or remedies available to the Developer hereunder, in equity or at law, the 

Developer, at its option, shall have the right to cancel and terminate this Agreement by written 

notice to the City.  

Section 7.4 Other Rights and Remedies; No Waiver by Delay.  The Parties each have 

the further right to institute any actions or proceedings (including, without limitation, actions for 

specific performance, injunction or other equitable relief) as it may deem desirable for effectuating 

the purposes of, and its remedies under, this Agreement; provided, that any delay by any Party in 

instituting or prosecuting any actions or proceedings or otherwise asserting its rights under this 

Agreement will not operate as a waiver of those rights or to deprive it of or limit those rights in 

any way; nor will any waiver in fact made by either Party with respect to any specific default or 

breach by any other Party under this Agreement be considered or treated as a waiver of the rights 

of that Party with respect to any other defaults by the other Party or with respect to the particular 

default or breach except to the extent specifically waived in writing.  It is the further intent of this 

provision that no Party should be constrained, so as to avoid the risk of being deprived of or limited 

in the exercise of any remedy provided in this Agreement because of concepts of waiver, laches, 

or otherwise, to exercise any remedy at a time when it may still hope otherwise to resolve the 

problems created by the default involved. 



 

 - 42 -  

 

Section 7.5 Force Majeure.  Except as otherwise provided herein, no Party will be 

considered in default in or breach of its obligations to be performed hereunder if delay in the 

performance of those obligations is due to unforeseeable causes beyond its control and without its 

fault or negligence, including but not limited to, acts of God, acts of terrorism or of the public 

enemy, acts or delays of the other party, fires, floods, unusually severe weather, epidemics, freight 

embargoes, unavailability of materials, strikes or delays of contractors, subcontractors or 

materialmen but not including lack of financing capacity; it being the purpose and intent of this 

paragraph that in the event of the occurrence of any such enforced delay, the time or times for 

performance of obligations shall be extended for the period of the enforced delay; provided, 

however, that the Party seeking the benefit of the provisions of this Section must, within a 

reasonable period following commencement of the enforced delay, notify the other Party in writing 

of the delay and of the cause of the delay and of the duration of the delay or, if a continuing delay 

and cause, the estimated duration of the delay, and if the delay is continuing on the date of 

notification, within thirty (30) days after the end of the delay, notify the other Parties in writing of 

the duration of the delay.  Delays or failures to perform due to lack of funds shall not be deemed 

unforeseeable delays. 

(END OF ARTICLE VII) 



 

 - 43 -  

 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1 Assignment.  This Agreement may not be assigned without the prior written 

consent of the non-assigning Party; provided, however, that the Developer may without the consent 

of the City assign its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement to any affiliate of Developer; 

provided, further, any assignment shall not have an effective date earlier than the date title to the 

parcel upon which such Multifamily Project is to be constructed is/are transferred to the affiliate 

as evidenced by the recordation of the deed(s) to said parcel(s). 

 For purposes of this Agreement, an “affiliate” of the Developer shall mean any entity 

controlled by or under common control with the Developer and, “controlled by” or “under common 

control with” will refer to the possession, directly or indirectly, of the legal power to direct or cause 

the direction of the management and policies of an entity, whether through the exercise of, or the 

ability to exercise, voting power or by contract. 

 Once the Multifamily Project has been completed, the Developer may assign this 

Agreement to an unrelated third party, which has the financial resources and expertise to own and 

operate the Multifamily Project, with the prior written consent of the City, which consent will not 

be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld. 

Section 8.2 Binding Effect.  The provisions of this Agreement are binding upon the 

successors or permitted assigns of the Parties, including successive successors and assigns.  The 

Parties acknowledge that all matters subject to the approval of City Council will be approved or 

disapproved in City Council’s sole discretion.  All rights, remedies, and interests held, created in, 

or received by Developer in this Agreement or in any agreement attached to or entered into 

pursuant to this Agreement, shall, unless the same are specifically and expressly reserved by this 



 

 - 44 -  

 

Agreement to Developer, be rights, remedies, and interests automatically transferred by Developer 

to an affiliate of Developer with, and at such time as, the deed to any parcel upon which 

Multifamily Project is to be constructed is executed and delivered by Developer; provided, 

however, that the automatic transfer of such rights, remedies, and interests described in this 

sentence are herein limited to the rights, remedies, and interests as they relate to and affect the 

Multifamily Project owned by the Developer. 

Section 8.3 Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Agreement are 

solely for convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of the intent 

of any article, section, subsection, clause, exhibit or appendix of this Agreement. 

Section 8.4 Day for Performance.  Wherever herein there is a day or time period 

established for performance and the day or the expiration of the time period is a Saturday, Sunday 

or legal holiday, then the time for performance will be automatically extended to the next business 

day. 

Section 8.5 Developer Mortgagee Rights.  The City hereby acknowledges that, from 

time to time during the development of the Multifamily Project, the Developer may obtain 

financing in connection with the Multifamily Project which will be secured in whole or in part by 

assignments, pledges or mortgages of the Developer’s interests in the Property (each a “Developer 

Mortgage”).  In connection therewith, the City agrees to and shall cooperate with the Developer 

to provide to the holder of any such Developer Mortgage (each a “Developer Mortgagee”) such 

reasonable factual representations and/or consents regarding this Agreement and/or the 

Developer’s rights hereunder as such Developer Mortgagee may request from time to time.  By 

way of example, such reasonable factual representations and/or consents may take the form of: (a) 

estoppel certificates certifying that this Agreement is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if 



 

 - 45 -  

 

there have been modifications that it is in full force and effect as modified and stating the 

modifications), that neither the City nor the Developer is in default in the performance of any 

obligations under this Agreement (or specifying any such default of which the City has knowledge), 

and certifying as to other facts as reasonably requested by such Developer Mortgagee; and/or (b) 

consents to the collateral assignment of certain of the Developer’s rights under or in respect of this 

Agreement.  Any such requested assurance and/or consent shall be in a form reasonably approved 

by the City, and the City shall endeavor reasonably to respond to any such request in a prompt and 

timely manner.  The Developer shall pay on behalf of the City any reasonable fees and expenses 

incurred by the City in connection with any request pursuant to this Section.  

Section 8.6 Document Submissions to the City.  Except as otherwise required by the 

City Codified Ordinances, any documents required to be submitted to the City pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be submitted to the City Manager or such other City department as may be 

directed by the City Manager. 

Section 8.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the exhibits and the corollary 

agreements contemplated hereby, embodies the entire agreement and understanding of the Parties 

relating to the subject matter herein and therein and may not be amended, waived or discharged 

except in an instrument in writing executed by the Parties. 

Section 8.8 Executed Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which will be deemed to constitute an original, but all of which together shall 

constitute but one and the same instrument.  It is not necessary in proving this Agreement to 

produce or account for more than one of those counterparts.  The Parties may deliver executed 

versions of this Agreement and any amendments or addendums hereto by electronic means (e.g., 

PDF or similar format delivered by electronic mail), and such electronic versions shall be deemed 



 

 - 46 -  

 

to be original versions of this Agreement.  The Parties agree that this Agreement may be 

electronically signed by one or more Parties.  Any electronic signature used by a Party to sign this 

Agreement shall be treated the same as handwritten signatures for the purposes of validity, 

enforceability and admissibility. Without limiting the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall 

be construed to require a Party to sign this Agreement by electronic signature. 

Section 8.9 Extent of Covenants; Conflict of Interest; No Personal Liability.  All 

covenants, obligations and agreements of the Parties contained in this Agreement are effective to 

the extent authorized and permitted by applicable law.  No member, official or employee of the 

City shall have a personal interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, nor shall any such member, 

official or employee participate in any decision relating to this Agreement that affects his personal 

interest or the interests of any corporation, partnership, association or other entity in which he is, 

directly or indirectly, interested.  No covenant, obligation or agreement may be deemed to be a 

covenant, obligation or agreement of any present or future member, officer, agent, director, 

member or employee of the City or the Developer, or its successors or permitted assigns, other 

than in his or her official capacity, and neither the members of the legislative body of the City nor 

any official executing this Agreement nor any present or future member, officer, agent, director or 

employee of the Developer, or its successors or permitted assigns, are liable personally under this 

Agreement or subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution hereof 

or by reason of the covenants, obligations or agreements of the City and the Developer contained 

in this Agreement. 

Section 8.10 Governing Law.  This Agreement is governed by and is to be construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio.  All claims, counterclaims, disputes and other 

matters in question between the City, its agents and employees and the Developer, its employees 



 

 - 47 -  

 

and agents, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its breach will be decided in a court of 

competent jurisdiction within Montgomery County, Ohio or any appellate court therefrom. 

Section 8.11 Limits on Liability.  Notwithstanding any clause or provision of this 

Agreement to the contrary, in no event will the City or the Developer, or its successors or permitted 

assigns, be liable to each other for punitive, special, consequential or indirect damages of any type 

and regardless of whether those damages are claimed under contract, tort (including negligence 

and strict liability) or any other theory of law unless otherwise expressly agreed by the Party 

against which the damages could be assessed.   

Section 8.12 No Third-Party Beneficiary.  Except relative to a permitted assignee 

pursuant to an assignment effected pursuant to Section 7.1, nothing expressed or mentioned in or 

to be implied from this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other 

than the Parties, any legal or equitable right, remedy, power or claim under or with respect to this 

Agreement or any covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions contained herein. This 

Agreement and all of those covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions are intended to be, 

and are, for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Parties hereto, as provided herein.  With the 

exception of the Parties and any assignee effected pursuant to Section 7.1, it is not intended that 

any other person or entity shall have standing to enforce, or the right to seek enforcement by suit 

or otherwise of any provision of this Agreement whatsoever. 

Section 8.13 Notices.  Except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement, all 

notices, demands, requests, consents or approvals given, required or permitted to be given 

hereunder must be in writing and will be deemed sufficiently given if actually received by email, 

or if hand-delivered or sent by recognized, overnight delivery service or by certified mail, postage 

prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to the recipient at the Notice Address, or to another 



 

 - 48 -  

 

address of which the recipient has previously notified the sender in writing, and the notice will be 

deemed received upon actual receipt, unless sent by certified mail, in which case the notice will 

be deemed to have been received when the return receipt is received, signed or refused.   

Section 8.14 Recitals and Exhibits.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that the facts and 

circumstances as described in the Recitals hereto and the information contained in the Exhibits 

hereto are an integral part of this Agreement and as such are incorporated herein by reference.  

Section 8.15 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement, or any covenant, 

obligation or agreement contained herein is determined by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, 

that determination will not affect any other provision, covenant, obligation or agreement contained 

herein, each of which will be construed and enforced as if the invalid or unenforceable portion 

were not contained herein.  If any provision, covenant, obligation or agreement contained herein 

is subject to more than one interpretation, a valid and enforceable interpretation is to be used to 

make this Agreement effective.  An invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this 

Agreement will not affect any valid and enforceable application, and each provision, covenant, 

obligation or agreement will be deemed to be effective, operative, made, entered into or taken in 

the manner and to the full extent permitted by law. 

Section 8.16 Survival of Representations and Warranties.  All representations and 

warranties of the Parties in this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this 

Agreement. 

(END OF ARTICLE VII – SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW) 



 

 - 49 -  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representatives, all as of the date first written above. 

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, OHIO 
 
 
By:   
 
Printed:  Bryan Chodkowski  
 
Title:  Interim City Manager  
 

Approved as to Form and Correctness: 

 

By:        
 
Printed:  David Montgomery   
 
Title:   City Attorney    

 

STATE OF OHIO   ) 
     )  SS: 
COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY ) 

On this _____ day of __________, 2023, before me a Notary Public personally appeared 

Bryan Chodkowski, the authorized representative of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio, and 

acknowledged the execution of the foregoing instrument, and that the same is his voluntary act 

and deed on behalf of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio and the voluntary act and deed of the City 

of Huber Heights, Ohio. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my official 

seal on the date and year aforesaid. 

 
  
Notary Public 



 

 - 50 -  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Developer has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representatives, all as of the date first written above. 

METRO ROSE, LLC, an Ohio limited 
liability company 
 
By:    
 
Printed:   Matthew R. Vekasy  
 
Title:   Manager  

 
 
STATE OF OHIO  ) 
    )  SS: 
COUNTY OF FRANKLIN ) 

On this _______ day of __________, 2023, before me a Notary Public personally appeared 

Matthew R. Vekasy, the Manager of Metro Rose, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, and 

acknowledged the execution of the foregoing instrument, and that the same is his voluntary act 

and deed on behalf of Metro Rose, LLC. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my official 

seal on the date and year aforesaid. 

 
  
Notary Public 

 



 

 - 51 -  

 

FISCAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, Director of Finance of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio under the foregoing 

Agreement, certifies hereby that the moneys required to meet the obligations of the City during the 

year 2023 under the foregoing Agreement have been appropriated lawfully for that purpose, and are 

in the Treasury of the City or in the process of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund, free 

from any previous encumbrances.  This Certificate is given in compliance with Ohio Revised Code 

Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44. 

 

Dated:  __________, 2023         
 James A. Bell 
 Director of Finance 
 City of Huber Heights, Ohio 
 
 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 
Newbauer Property Legal Description (25.3 Acres), to be consolidated: 

 
 

PARCEL I: (P70 01820 0003) 
 
Located in the city of Huber Heights and in Section 24, Town 2, Range 8 M.RS., County 
of Montgomery, state of Ohio and being all of lot 3 of the plat of Newbauer Park 
Section One as recorded in plat book 196, page 38-38a in the plat records of 
Montgomery County, Ohio. 0.9093 acres. 
 
 
PARCEL II: (P70 01820 0004) 
 
Located in the city of Huber Heights and in Section 24, Town 2, Range 8 M.RS., County 
of Montgomery, state of Ohio and being all of lot 4 of the plat of Newbauer Park 
Section One as recorded in plat book 196, page 38-38a in the plat records of 
Montgomery County, Ohio. 24.3907 acres. 
 
 
 

 



 

C-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 
DEPICTION OF MULTIFAMILY PROJECT 

 

 



 

C-2 
 

EXHIBIT C 
FORM OF DEVELOPER DECLARATION OF COVENANTS 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DECLARATION OF COVENANTS 

This TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DECLARATION OF COVENANTS (this 
“Declaration”) is made by METRO ROSE, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company having its 
address at 1429 King Avenue, Columbus, Ohio 43212 (the “Declarant”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Declarant has acquired certain parcels of real property located in the City of 
Huber Heights, Ohio (the “City”), a description of which real property is attached hereto as 
ATTACHMENTS A-1 AND A-2 (with each parcel as now or hereafter configured, a “Parcel”, and 
collectively, the “Parcels”), having acquired such fee simple title by instrument No. ____________ 
recorded in the Official Records of the Office of the Recorder of Montgomery County, Ohio (the 
“County Recorder”), as O.R. _____, Page _____; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant contemplates making private improvements to the referenced 
Parcels; and 

WHEREAS, the City, by its Ordinance No. 2003-O-1409, as amended by Ordinance No. 
2020-O-2456 (collectively, the “TIF Ordinance”), has declared that one hundred percent (100%) of 
the increase in the assessed value of each Parcel subsequent to the effective date of the TIF Ordinance 
(such increase hereinafter referred to as the “Improvement” as further defined in Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 5709.40, but which term, as specified in the TIF Ordinance, shall not include the increase in 
assessed value of any CRA Exempted Improvement (as defined therein) located upon such Parcel for 
so long and to the extent that such CRA Exempted Improvement is exempt from real property taxation 
pursuant to the CRA Statute (as defined therein) and the Agreement (defined below) is a public 
purpose and is exempt from taxation (such exemption referred to herein as the “TIF Exemption”) for 
a period as set forth in the TIF Ordinance, commencing on the effective date and ending on the earlier 
of (a) sixty (60) years after such commencement or (b) the date on which the City can no longer 
require service payments in lieu of taxes, all in accordance with the requirements of Ohio Revised 
Code Sections 5709.40, 5709.42, 5709.43 and 5709.51 (collectively, the “TIF Statute”) and the TIF 
Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to acknowledge the construction of certain public infrastructure 
improvements (the “Existing Public Infrastructure Improvements”) which have heretofore been 
designated by the City as benefiting the Parcels and which Declarant agrees will directly benefit the 
Parcels; and 

WHEREAS, the TIF Ordinance provides that the owner of the Parcels makes service 
payments in lieu of taxes with respect to any Improvement on that Parcels (the “TIF Payments”) 
which TIF Payments will be used to pay costs of the Public Infrastructure Improvements, all pursuant 
to and in accordance with the TIF Statute and the TIF Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant and the City entered into a Development Agreement dated as of 
____________, 2023 (the “Agreement”), a copy of which may be obtained from the office of the City 
Manager of the City at 6131 Taylorsville Road, Huber Heights, Ohio 45424; and 



 

C-3 
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement creates an obligation on the owners of certain Parcels containing 
the Multifamily Project (the “Multifamily Project Site”, as defined in the Agreement) to make certain 
minimum service payments with respect to those Parcels (the “Minimum Service Payments”); and 

WHEREAS, this Declaration is being made and filed of record with respect to the Parcels 
comprising the Multifamily Project Site pursuant to Section 2.3 of that Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant, for itself and its successors and assigns to or of each 
Parcel (collectively, the “Owners” and individually, each an “Owner”), hereby declares that the 
forgoing recitals are incorporated into this Declaration by this reference and that the Parcels and any 
improvements thereon will be held, developed, encumbered, leased, occupied, improved, built upon, 
used and conveyed subject to the terms and provisions of this Declaration: 

Section 1. Defined Terms.  Any terms which are used but not defined herein shall have 
the meaning as set forth in the Agreement. 

Section 2. Provision of Real Property Tax Exemptions Pursuant to CRA Legislation.  
The Owners agree that the City shall not be required to provide any real property tax exemption 
with respect to the Parcels under the CRA Legislation until the conditions set forth in Article V of 
the Agreement are satisfied and for as long as the conditions set forth in Article V of the Agreement 
are satisfied.  The TIF Exemption and the obligation to make TIF Payments are subject and 
subordinate to any real property tax exemptions granted pursuant to the CRA Legislation. 

Section 3. TIF Payments.  Each Owner will make the TIF Payments attributable to its 
period of ownership of any Parcel, all pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of the 
TIF Statute, the TIF Ordinance and any subsequent amendments or supplements thereto.  TIF 
Payments will be made semiannually to the County Treasurer of Montgomery County, Ohio (or to 
such Treasurer’s designated agent for collection of the TIF Payments) on or before the due dates 
for payment of real property taxes for each Parcel, until expiration of the TIF Exemption.  Any 
late payments will bear penalties and interest at the then current rate established under Sections 
323.121 and 5703.47 of the Ohio Revised Code or any successor provisions thereto, as the same 
may be amended from time to time.  TIF Payments will be made in accordance with the 
requirements of the TIF Statute and the TIF Ordinance and, for each Parcel, will be in the same 
amount as the real property taxes that would have been charged and payable against the 
Improvement to that Parcel (after credit for any other payments received by the City under Sections 
319.302, 321.24, 323.152 and 323.156 of the Ohio Revised Code, or any successor provisions 
thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time, with such payments referred to herein as 
the “Property Tax Rollback Payments”) if it were not exempt from taxation pursuant to the TIF 
Exemption, including any penalties and interest.  (For avoidance of doubt, the Owner will not be 
required to make TIF Payments with respect to any increase in assessed value that is exempt from 
real property taxation pursuant to CRA Legislation because the TIF Exemption is subordinate to 
the CRA Exemption.)  No Owner will, under any circumstances, be required for any tax year to 
pay both real property taxes and TIF Payments with respect to any portion of the Improvement, 
whether pursuant to Section 5709.42 of the Ohio Revised Code or the Agreement; provided, 
however, this shall not preclude payment of any sum otherwise required to be paid under the 
Agreement. 



 

C-4 
 

The Owners acknowledge and agree that the Existing Public Infrastructure Improvements 
do, and will, directly benefit the Parcels. 

Section 4. Minimum Service Payments.  In addition to the obligation to make TIF 
Payments, the Owners of each Parcel located on the Multifamily Project Site (collectively, the 
“Multifamily Parcels”, a description of which is attached hereto as ATTACHMENT A-3) agree 
to a minimum service payment obligation (the “Minimum Service Payment Obligation”) for each 
Multifamily Parcel owned by such respective Owner, pursuant to and in accordance with the 
Agreement.  The Owners of the Multifamily Parcels agree that the Minimum Service Payment 
Obligation is intended to constitute a minimum service payment obligation under Ohio Revised 
Code Section 5709.91 and shall be supported by a first lien on the Multifamily Parcels pursuant to 
Ohio Revised Code Sections 5709.91 and 323.11.  The total Minimum Service Payment Obligation 
due for each Multifamily Parcel for any calendar year will be equal to the amount set forth in the 
Agreement; provided that the Minimum Service Payment Obligation shall not equal less than zero 
dollars.  The Minimum Service Payment Obligation for each Multifamily Parcel shall be effective 
for the term relating to each Parcel as set forth in the Agreement.  The Minimum Service Payment 
Obligation does not apply to the Restaurant Parcel as defined in the Agreement. 

Section 5. Preservation of Exemption.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set 
forth in the Agreement, neither City nor any Owner, nor their respective successors, assigns or 
transferees, shall take any action that may endanger or compromise the status of or cause the 
revocation of the TIF Exemption. 

Section 6. Failure to Make Payments.  Should any Owner of any Parcel fail to make 
any payment required hereunder, such Owner shall pay, in addition to the payments it is required 
to pay hereunder, such amount as is required to reimburse the City for any and all reasonably and 
actually incurred costs, expenses and amounts (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) required by 
the City to enforce the provisions of the Agreement and this Declaration against that Owner. 

Section 7. Provision of Information.  The Owners agree to cooperate in all reasonable 
ways with, and provide necessary and reasonable information to, the designated tax incentive 
review council to enable that tax incentive review council to review and determine annually the 
compliance of each Owner with the terms of this Declaration during the term of the TIF Exemption 
for the Parcel. 

The Owners further agree to cooperate in all reasonable ways with, and provide necessary 
and reasonable information to the City to enable the City to submit the status report required by 
Ohio Revised Code Sections 5709.40(I), as applicable, to the Director of the Ohio Development 
Services Agency on or before March 31 of each year following any year in which the TIF 
Exemption for the applicable Parcel remains in effect. 

Section 8. Nondiscriminatory Hiring Policy.  The Owners agree to comply with the 
City’s policies adopted pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.832 to ensure that recipients 
of tax exemptions practice nondiscriminatory hiring in its operations.  In furtherance of that policy, 
each Owner agrees that it will not deny any individual employment solely on the basis of race, 
religion, sex, disability, color, national origin or ancestry. 



 

C-5 
 

Section 9. Covenants to Run With the Land.  The Owners agree that each of their 
covenants contained in this Declaration are covenants running with the land and that they will, in 
any event and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or otherwise, be 
binding to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for the benefit and in favor of, and 
enforceable by, the City against each Parcel, as applicable, any improvements thereon and the 
owner of the Parcel, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, remains or is an 
owner of any land or interest therein to, or in favor of, which these covenants relate.  The City has 
the right in the event of any breach of any covenant herein contained to exercise all of the rights 
and remedies as set forth in Section 7.3 of the Agreement. 

The Owners further agree that all covenants herein, whether or not these covenants are 
included by any owner of a Parcel in any deed to that owner’s successors and assigns, are binding 
upon each subsequent owner and are enforceable by the City, and that any future owner of that Parcel, 
or any successors or assigns of an Owner with respect to a Parcel, will be treated as a Declarant, with 
respect to that Parcel for all purposes of this Declaration. 

The Owners further agree that their covenants herein will remain in effect so long as the 
TIF Payments can be collected pursuant to the TIF Statute and the TIF Ordinance and the Minimum 
Service Payments can be collected pursuant to the Agreement, and in each case, unless otherwise 
modified or released in writing by the City in a written instrument filed in the Official Records of the 
County Recorder.  At any time when this Declaration is no longer in effect, the City agrees to 
cooperate with any reasonable request by the Owner(s) to execute (for recording by such Owner(s)) 
an instrument to evidence this fact. 

The Declarant acknowledges that the provisions of Ohio Revised Code Section 5709.91, 
which specify that the TIF Payments and the Minimum Service Payments will be treated in the 
same manner as taxes for all purposes of the lien described in Ohio Revised Code Section 323.11 
including, but not limited to, the priority of the lien and the collection of TIF Payments and 
Minimum Service Payments applies to the Parcels and any improvements thereon. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed and 
effective as of ____________, 2023. 

METRO ROSE, LLC, an Ohio limited 
liability company 
 
By:    
 
Printed:   Matthew R. Vekasy  
 
Title:   Manager  

 
 



 

C-6 
 

STATE OF OHIO  ) 
    )  SS: 
COUNTY OF FRANKLIN ) 

On this _______ day of __________, 2023, before me a Notary Public personally appeared 
Matthew R. Vekasy, the Manager of Metro Rose, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, and 
acknowledged the execution of the foregoing instrument, and that the same is his voluntary act 
and deed on behalf of Metro Rose, LLC. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my official 

seal on the date and year aforesaid. 

 

   
Notary Public 

This instrument is prepared by:  
Scott J. Ziance 
Vorys Sater Seymour and Pease LLP 
52 East Gay Street 
Columbus, OH 43215 
 
  



 

C-7 
 

(Exhibit C Continued) 
 

Attachment A-1 
 

DESCRIPTION OF PARCELS SUBJECT TO DECLARATION 
 
 
  



 

C-8 
 

(Exhibit C Continued) 
 

Attachment A-2 
 

DEPICTION OF PARCELS SUBJECT TO DECLARATION  
 

  



 

C-9 
 

Attachment A-3 
 

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIFAMILY PARCELS  
(SUBJECT TO MINIMUM SERVICE PAYMENTS) 



 

D-1-1 
 

 
EXHIBIT D-1 

PRELIMINARY LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF RESTAURANT PARCEL 
 

Proposed Preliminary Legal Description of Restaurant Parcel (4.04+/- Acres), subject to change: 
 
 
 
Situated in Sections 18 and 24, Town 2, Range 8, MRS, City of Huber Heights, Montgomery 
County, Ohio, being part of Lots 3 and 4 of Newbauer Park as recorded in P.B. 196 Pg. 38 and as 
conveyed to Nancy A. Newbauer Tr. in Deed MF #96-630C08, the boundary of which being 
more particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the north corner of said Lot 3; 
 
Thence along the north right of way line of Executive Boulevard the following three (3) courses: 
 
1. S78°44’53”W a distance of 297.60 feet; 
2. Along a curve to the right an arc distance of 160.40 feet, said curve having a radius of 
552.67 feet, a central angle of 16°37’44” and a chord bearing S87°03’45”W a distance of 159.84 
feet; 
3. N84°37’23”W a distance of 391.15 feet; 
 
Thence through the aforesaid Newbauer Park, N05°22’22”E a distance of 482.94 feet to a point 
in the north line of said Newbauer Park; 
 
Thence along the lines of said Newbauer Park, the following three (3) courses: 
 
1. S84°33’27”E a distance of 282.84 feet; 
2. S05°18’08”W a distance of 374.78 feet; 
3. S84°40’07”E a distance of 551.17 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
Containing 4.047 acres, more or less and being subject to easements, restrictions and rights of 
way of record. 
 
The above description is for development agreement area only and not intended for conveyances 
purposes. 

 



 

D-2-1 
 

EXHIBIT D-2 
APPROXIMATE GENERAL DEPICTION OF THE RESTAURANT PARCEL 

 
Proposed Approximate General Depiction of Restaurant Parcel (4.04+/- Acres), subject to 
change and jurisdictional approvals: 

 



 

E-1 
 

EXHIBIT E 
WAIVED, UNPAID ASSESSMENTS DUE TO CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS  

PARCELS P70 01820 0004 AND P70 01820 0003 
 



 

F-1 
 

EXHIBIT F 
PROHIBITED USES – RESTAURANT PARCEL 

 
1. Any adult bookstore, strip club, or any other establishment which provides live adult 

entertainment, or which sells, rents, or exhibits pornographic, illicit or obscene materials. 
 

2. Any gas or fueling station.  
 
3. Any automobile, truck, trailer, or recreational vehicle sales, leasing, display or repair or 

maintenance facility.  
 

4. Any operation primarily used as a warehouse operation and any assembling, manufacturing, 
refining, mineral extraction or industrial operation. 

 
5. Any short-term retail booths or outdoor sales.  
 
6. Any mobile home park, trailer court, labor camp, junkyard, or stockyard; provided, however, 

this prohibition shall not be applicable to the temporary use of construction trailers during 
periods of construction, reconstruction or maintenance.  

 
7. Any dumping, disposing, incineration, sorting or reduction of garbage; provided, however, this 

prohibition shall not be applicable to garbage and recycling collection receptacles or 
compactors located near the rear of any building.  

 
8. Any central laundry, dry cleaning plant or laundromat; provided, however, this prohibition 

shall not be applicable to either any accessory or secondary laundry use connected to a primary 
multifamily use, or storefront retail facilities for on-site service oriented to pickup and delivery 
by the ultimate consumer.   

 
9. Any residential use, including but not limited to, single family dwellings, townhouses, other 

multi-family units, and other forms of living quarters, sleeping apartments or lodging rooms. 
 

10. Any pet, animal or dog boarding operation to the extent it uses exterior kennels, runs and/or 
pens.   
 

11. Any mortuary or funeral home.   
 

12. Any gambling facility or operation, including but not limited to:  off-track or sports betting 
parlor; table games such as blackjack or poker; slot machines, video poker/blackjack/keno 
machines or similar devices; so-called “internet cafes”; or bingo hall.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, this prohibition shall not be applicable to government sponsored gambling activities 
or charitable gambling activities, so long as such activities are incidental to the business 
operation being conducted by the occupant of such property, and this prohibition shall not be 
applicable to an establishment that has a game room or similar as an ancillary use (including, 
without limitation, the use of pinball machines, electronic games or similar apparatus).   
 



 

F-2 
 

13. Any sexually-oriented massage parlors or similar adult establishments; provided, however, that 
this restriction shall not prohibit the operation of massage therapy establishments operated by 
professional state-licensed therapists or medical practitioners.   

 
14. Any business establishments engaged in the primary business of payday lending, check 

cashing, or providing small-dollar short- term unsecured loans, however, that this restriction 
shall not prohibit the operation of any Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)-insured 
bank or financial institution. 
 

 



   
AI-9393     Topics of Discussion      O.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
CR Dayton - Lease Amendment - 6061 Brandt Pike
Submitted By: Bryan Chodkowski
Department: Economic Development
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
CR Dayton - Lease Amendment - 6061 Brandt Pike

Purpose and Background
As part of the CR Dayton strip mall renovation project, the City intends to demolish the north strip mall building. 
There is currently one tenant with an active lease in the north building who needs to be relocated to the south
strip mall building as part of this project.  This lease amendment will allow for this relocation so the bigger
renovation project may proceed. 

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: TED Fund
Cost: TBD
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 

AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT TO A LEASE FOR CR DAYTON UNIT #9 ADDRESSED 
AS 6061 BRANDT PIKE. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights (the “City”) is the owner of the former CR Dayton shopping 
center property; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2021-R-7070 the City entered into a lease for Unit #9 at 
6061 Brandt Pike, erroneously denoted as Unit #10 in previous legislation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s commercial real estate agent is recommending an amendment to said lease. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1.   The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute an amendment to an existing rental 
agreement on behalf of the City of Huber Heights as landlord with respect to Unit #9 at 6061 Brandt 
Pike, subject to the review and approval of the Law Director as to form and content. 
 
Section 2.  It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 3.   This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2023; 
______  Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
____________________________  _________________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
____________________________  _________________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9394     Topics of Discussion      P.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
Title Sponsorship - The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night
Submitted By: Bryan Chodkowski
Department: Economic Development
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
Title Sponsorship - The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night

Purpose and Background
The City of Huber Heights is the western neighbor to Wright-Patterson Air-Force Base, which employs over
30,000 military, civilian, and contractor personnel making Wright-Patterson Air Force Base the largest single site
employer in the state of Ohio with an economic impact of $4.2 billion per year.  Specifically to Huber Heights,
Department of Defense associated business activities make up our largest collective source of earned income tax
proceeds. 
 
The Big Hoopla, which supports the annual NCAA Men's Basketball First Four play-in games at the University of
Dayton and annually generates $4.5 million of economic impact, hosts an annual concert for active-duty military
personnel and veterans within the region in appreciation for their service and commitment to our country.  The Big
Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night on September 16, 2023, will be held at The Rose Music
Center which is owned by the City of Huber Heights. 
 
In support for The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night, and as a show of gratitude to those
who serve, and have served, in the defense of the security of our nation, it is recommended that the City provide a
Title Sponsorship for The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night on September 16, 2023.
 

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: General Fund - Department Of Economic Development 
Cost: $25,000
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS 
STATE OF OHIO 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R- 

 
 

PROVIDING FOR TITLE SPONSORSHIP OF THE BIG HOOPLA’S HOMETOWN HEROES 
MILITARY APPRECIATION NIGHT AT THE ROSE MUSIC CENTER. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights (the “City”) is neighbor to Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, 
which employs over 30,000 military, civilian, and contractor personnel making Wright-Patterson 
Air-Force Base the largest single site employer in the state of Ohio with an economic impact of $4.2 
billion per year; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Big Hoopla hosts an annual concert for active-duty military personnel and veterans 
in the region in appreciation for their service and commitment to this country; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City owns and operates the Rose Music Center, a professional concert venue, which 
has been selected to host The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night on 
September 16, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to demonstrate its support for The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes 
Military Appreciation Night and its gratitude for those who serve, and have served, in the defense of 
the security of this nation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that: 
 
Section 1.   The City shall provide for a Title Sponsorship of The Big Hoopla’s Hometown 
Heroes Military Appreciation Night on September 16, 2023 at The Rose Music Center. 
 
Section 2.   Funds necessary to provide said sponsorship shall be drawn from the General Fund 
line-item 101.305.5247 in accordance with, and in the spirit of, Section 171.02(d) and Section 
171.12(b) of the City Code of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio.   
 
Section 3.  It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and 
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action 
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Section 4.   This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter 
of the City of Huber Heights. 
 
Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________, 2023; 
______ Yeas; ______  Nays. 
 
Effective Date: 
 
AUTHENTICATION: 
 
______________________________ ________________________________   
Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
______________________________ ________________________________   
Date      Date 



   
AI-9410     Topics of Discussion      Q.        
Council Work Session
Meeting Date: 08/08/2023  
City Manager Search Process Update
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023

Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
City Manager Search Process Update

Purpose and Background
This agenda item was requested by Councilmembers Ed Lyons, Glenn Otto, Anita Kitchen, and Richard Shaw for
an update on the City Manager search process.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.


	Agenda
	AI_9408_Board Of Zoning Appeals Update
	AI_9360_Thomas Cloud Park - Shelter #1 - Roof Repair/Replacement - Award Contract
	       ATT_Quotes
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9392_Thomas Cloud Park - Walking Path
	       ATT_Map
	       ATT_Map - Existing Pipeline Locations
	AI_9406_Pickleball Courts - Contract Amendment
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9388_Case BDP 23-17 - BP-OTP, LLC - Rezoning/Basic Development Plan - 4949 Chambersburg Road
	       ATT_Staff Report
	       ATT_Decision Record
	       ATT_Drawings
	Sheets and Views
	01-COVR
	02-SITE
	03-GRAD
	04-STRM
	05-STRM
	06-UTIL
	07-LGHT
	08-LAND
	09-LAND
	10-FUEL
	11-DELV
	12-FIRE
	13-FIRE
	14-DETL
	15-DETL
	16-DETL
	17-DETL
	18-DETL


	       ATT_Site Plan
	Sheets
	SE2 - ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN


	       ATT_Elevations
	Sheets
	xxxxx - Colored elevations


	       ATT_Floor Plan
	Sheets
	A1.1 - DIMENSION FLOOR PLAN


	       ATT_Traffic Impact Study
	01_Cover Sheet
	02_text
	03_Appendix
	01_Cover Pages
	02_LOS Summary Table
	03_TMC
	04_Volume Figures
	05_HCS
	2023 Existing
	2025 Opening Year Build
	2025 Opening Year No Build
	2045 Design Year Build
	2045 Design Year No Build

	06_Signal Timing Directive


	       ATT_Fire Assessment
	       ATT_Minutes
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI_9386_Case RP 23-18 - City Of Huber Heights - Vacate Thorngate Drive
	       ATT_Staff Report
	       ATT_Decision Record
	       ATT_Drawing
	       ATT_Fire Assessment
	       ATT_Minutes
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI_9397_Fishburg Road Widening Project - Solicit Bids
	       ATT_Map
	       ATT_Request For Proposal
	       ATT_Proposal
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9407_2024 Sidewalk Program - Resolution Of Necessity
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	AI_9358_Mast Arm/Stamped Cross Walk Installation - Brandt Pike/Old Troy Pike
	AI_9395_East Sanitary Sewer Extension Project Design - Contract Modification
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9398_Powell Road Realignment Project Design - Award Contract
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9409_Water Infrastructure Update/Water Main Replacement Project
	       ATT_Spreadsheet
	       ATT_Map
	AI_9396_Metro Rose - Development Agreement
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	AI_9393_CR Dayton - Lease Amendment - 6061 Brandt Pike
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9394_Title Sponsorship - The Big Hoopla’s Hometown Heroes Military Appreciation Night
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_9410_City Manager Search Process Update

